
 

BOLTON MANCHESTER ROCHDALE STOCKPORT TRAFFORD 

BURY OLDHAM SALFORD TAMESIDE WIGAN 
 
Please note that this meeting will be livestreamed via www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk, please speak to a  
Governance Officer before the meeting should you not wish to consent to being included in this recording. 

 

GMCA OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA 

 

Annual Meeting Business  

1.   APOLOGIES  

 

 

2.   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR  

 

To appoint a Chair to the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for the 2022/23 municipal year. 
 

 

3.   MEMBERSHIP OF THE GMCA OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 2022/23  

 

To note that at its meeting on 24 June 2022 the GM Combined 
Authority appointed the following Members to the GMCA Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee for the 2022/23 municipal year: 
 
 
 
 

 

DATE: Wednesday, 27th July, 2022 

 

TIME: 1.00 pm – 3.00 pm  

 

VENUE: The Tootal Buildings - Broadhurst House , 1st Floor, 56 

Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 6EU 

 

Public Document

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/


2 
 

 
Members:  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Substitutes:  
 

District Name 

Bury Mary Whitby (Lab) 

Bolton Nick Peel (Lab) 

Bolton Martin Donaghy (Lab) 

Bolton Marie Brady (Con) 

Manchester Paula Sadler (Lab) 

Manchester Linda Foley (Lab) 

Oldham Hazel Gloster (Lib Dem) 

Oldham Sam Al Hamdani (Lib Dem 

Oldham Nazrul Islam (Lab) 

Rochdale Patricia Dale (Lab) 

Salford Mishal Saeed (Lab) 

Salford Stuart Dickman (Lab) 

Stockport To be confirmed (Lab) 

Stockport Rory Leonard (Lab) 

District Name 

Bury Nathan Boroda (Lab) 

Bolton Hamid Khurram (Lab) 

Bolton Champak Mistry (Lab) 

Bolton John Walsh (Con) 

Manchester Greg Stanton (Lab) 

Manchester Mandie Shilton-Goodwin (Lab) 

Manchester John Leech (Lib Dem) 

Oldham Colin McLaren (Lab) 

Oldham Umar Nasheen (Lab) 

Rochdale Tom Besford (Lab) 

Rochdale Vacancy  

Salford John Mullen (Lab) 

Salford Jim King (Lab) 

Salford Alex Warren (Lib Dem 

Stockport Elise Wilson (Lab) 

Stockport Amanda Peers (Lab) 

Tameside Naila Sharif (Lab) 

Trafford Barry Brotherton (Lab) 

Wigan Kath Houlton (Con) 

Wigan Joanne Marshall (Lab) 



3 
 

Stockport Mike Hurleston (Con) 

Tameside Jacqueline Owen (Lab) 

Tameside Liam Billington (Con) 

Trafford Jill Axford (Lab) 

Wigan Charles Rigby (Lab) 
 

 

 

  

4.   MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT AND ANNUAL 

DECLARATION OF INTEREST FORM  

 

To note the requirements under the Members Code of Conduct 
and request that all members complete their Annual Declaration of 
Interest Form and return it to the Governance & Scrutiny Officer. 
 

1 - 20 

5.   TERMS OF REFERENCE  

 

To note the draft Terms of Reference of the GMCA Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee, which will be formally approved by the 
GMCA. 
 

21 - 26 

ORDINARY BUSINESS 

 

 

6.   CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS  

 

 

7.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

To receive declarations of interest in any item for discussion at the 
meeting. A blank form for declaring interests has been circulated 
with the agenda; please ensure that this is returned to the 
Governance & Scrutiny Officer 48 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 
 

27 - 30 

8.   GREATER MANCHESTER STRATEGY - PROGRESS REPORT  

 

Report of Simon Nokes, Executive Director of Policy & Strategy, 
GMCA and Amy Foots, Head of Implementation, GMCA. 
 

31 - 234 



4 
 

 
9.   UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND  

 

Report of Simon Nokes, Executive Director Policy & Strategy, 
GMCA and Alison Gordon, Assistant Director Business Innovation 
& Enterprise, GMCA. 
 

235 - 278 

10.   FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  

 

Report of Nicola Ward, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, GMCA. 
 

279 - 298 

11.   FUTURE MEETING DATES  

 

 Wednesday 27 July 1-3pm  

 Wednesday 24 Aug 1-3pm 

 Wednesday 28 Sept 1-3pm 

 Wednesday 26 Oct 1-3pm 

 Wednesday 23 Nov 1-3pm 

 Wednesday 14 Dec 1-3pm 

 Wednesday 25 Jan 1-3pm 

 Wednesday 22 Feb 1-3pm 

 Wednesday 29 Mar 1-3pm 
 

 

 

 

 

 

For copies of papers and further information on this meeting please refer to the website 

www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk.  Alternatively, contact the following 

Governance & Scrutiny Officer: Ninoshka Martins 

 Ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

 

 

This agenda was issued on 19 July 2022 on behalf of Julie Connor, Secretary to the  

Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Broadhurst House, 56 Oxford Street, 

Manchester M1 6EU 

 

mailto:Ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

 

Date:   27 July 2022   

Subject:  Code of Conduct and Register of Interests  

Report of:  Liz Treacy, Monitoring Officer, GMCA 

 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

   

To remind Members that the GMCA’s Member Code of Conduct sets out high 

expectations with regard Members’ conduct. As Members are co-opted on to a GMCA 

Committee the GMCA’s code applies to them when they are acting in this capacity. 

   

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

Members are requested to: 

 

1. Note the GMCA’s Member Code of Conduct (Appendix A) and to complete an 
annual register of interest form (Appendix B). 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 

   

Ninoshka Martins, Governance & Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 

ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

mailto:ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

Risk Management – none 

Legal Considerations – none 

Financial Consequences – none  

Financial Consequences – Capital – none 

 

Number of attachments included in the report: 2 

GMCA’s Member Code of Conduct (Appendix A) and Annual Register of Interest Form 

(Appendix B). 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

The following is a list of the background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100D (1) of the Local Government Act 

1972. It does not include documents, which would disclose exempt or confidential 

information as identified by that Act. 

 

None.  

 

 

 

Page 2



Appendix A 

SECTION A:  CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS  

Part 1 General Provisions 

1. Introduction and Scope 

1.1. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority is determined to promote and 

maintain high standards of conduct by its Members, Co-opted Members and 

those councillors from Greater Manchester’s districts appointed to roles in which 

they act on behalf of the GMCA. The GMCA has adopted a Code of Conduct for 

Members in line with its obligations under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011. 

1.2. This Code mandatorily applies to those acting as Members of the GMCA 

(including the directly elected Mayor and Substitute Members), voting Co-opted 

Members of the GMCA’s committees or Appointed Members of Joint 

Committees, and references to “official capacity” are to be construed 

accordingly. 

1.3. Compliance with this Code is a statutory requirement for those identified in 

paragraph 1.2. To promote good governance the GMCA strongly recommends 

voluntary compliance with the Code by non-voting Co-opted Members of the 

GMCA’s committees and by elected members from Greater Manchester’s ten 

districts when they otherwise act for or represent the GMCA. Where a member is 

only subject to the Code through voluntary compliance (as described in this 

paragraph) they will not in law be subject to the statutory obligations relating to 

member conduct under Chapter 7, Part 1 of the Localism Act 2011 nor can the 

conduct of such a member, insofar as it concerns that member’s GMCA role, 

amount to any of the criminal offences referred to in this Code. However, the 

conduct of a member who has agreed to voluntarily be subject to the Code may 

be considered under the GMCA’s arrangements for determining whether a 

member has breached the Code. 

1.4. In this Code – ‘meeting’ means any meeting of: 

 the GMCA; or 

Page 3



 any of the GMCA’s Committees or Sub-Committees, Joint Committees or 

Joint Sub-Committees. 

 

For the purposes of this Code “Committee” includes any Fire Committee that may 

be established by the Mayor. 

 

This Code does not have effect in relation to a member’s conduct other than 

where it is in that member’s official capacity. 

 

This Code will be reviewed every two years by the GMCA’s Standards Committee 

or earlier if required by a change in legislation.  

Page 4



2. General Principles 

2.1. The Code and the associated guidance are based on the following general 

principles. 

2.2. Members must behave according to the highest standards of personal conduct in 

everything they do when acting as a Member or voting Co-opted Member (or in 

the case of those voluntarily subject to compliance with the Code in accordance 

with paragraph 1.3 above, where they are otherwise acting on behalf of the 

GMCA). They must observe the following principles of conduct, some of which 

are set out in law. The seven principles of Standards in Public Life known as the 

Nolan Principles underpin the provisions of the GMCA’s Code of Conduct for 

Members. They are set out in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.9 below. 

2.3. Selflessness: holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 

interest. 

2.4. Integrity: holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 

obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence 

them in the work.   They should not act or take decisions on order to gain 

financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their 

friends.  They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 

2.5. Objectivity: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, 

fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or 

bias. 

2.6. Accountability: Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and 

must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to ensure this. 

2.7. Openness: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open 

and transparent manner.  Information should not be withheld from the 

public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for doing so. 

2.8. Honesty: Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests 

relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a 

way that protects the public interest. 

Page 5



2.9. Leadership: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their 

own behaviour.  They should actively promote and robustly support the 

principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it 

occurs.Where those covered by this Code act as a representative of the GMCA: 

a) on another relevant authority, they must, when acting for that other authority, 

comply with that other authority’s code of conduct; or 

 

b) on any other body, they must comply with this Code, unless it conflicts with 

any other lawful obligations to which that other body may be subject. 

2.10. It is an individual’s responsibility to comply with this Code.  Failure to do so 

may result in a sanction being applied by the GMCA.  A failure by a Member 

coming within the scope of paragraph 1.2 above to declare a Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interest may result in a criminal conviction and an unlimited fine 

and/or disqualification from office for a period of up to 5 years.  

3. General Obligations for Members 

3.1. You must not:-   

a) Do anything which may knowingly cause the GMCA to breach the Equality 

Act 2010; 

b) Bully or be abusive to any person;  

c) Intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be: 

d) a complainant 

e) a witness, or 

f) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings,  

g) in relation to an allegation that a Member (including yourself) has failed to 

comply with the GMCA’s Code of Conduct; or  

h) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of 

those who work for, or on behalf of, the GMCA. 

Page 6



3.2. You must not: 

a) Disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information 

acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 

confidential nature, except where: 

i. You have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

ii. You are required to do so by law; 

iii. The disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional legal advice, provided that the third party agrees not to 

disclose the information to any other person; or  

iv. the disclosure:  

 is reasonable and in the public interest; and 

 is made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the GMCA; and I have consulted with the 

Monitoring Officer prior to its release or 

b) Do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of your role as a 

Councillor for the advancement of yourself, friends, family members, 

employer or business interests 

c) Prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 

person is entitled by law.  

 

3.3. You must not conduct yourself in such a way which could reasonably be 

regarded as bringing your office or the GMCA into disrepute. 

3.4. You: 

a) must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member improperly to the 

advantage or disadvantage for myself or any other person, ; and  

b) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 

GMCA:  

 act in accordance with the GMCA’s reasonable requirements.  

 ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 

(including party political purposes) or be conductive to, the discharge of the 

functions of the GMCA or of the office to which I have been appointed; and 

Page 7



c) must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made 

under the Local Government Act 1986. 

3.5. When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant 

advice provided to you by: 

a) The GMCA’s Treasurer (section 73 officer); or  

b) The GMCA’s Monitoring Officer 

 

where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her personal statutory duties.  

3.6. You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory 

requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by the 

GMCA. 

  

 

Page 8



2022/23 

 

 

LOCALISM ACT 2011 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY (GMCA) 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

 

Register of Members’ and Substitute Members’ Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (in 

accordance with Sections 30 and 31 of the Localism Act 2011 and the relevant authorities 

(disclosable pecuniary interests) Regulations 2012 (S.I 2012 No.1464) and Members and 

Substitute Members personal interests in accordance with paragraph 2.1 of the GMCA’s 

Code of Conduct for Members. 

 

I, 

 

Member of the GMCA (or one of its Committees) give notice that I have set out at Part 1 

below under the appropriate heading the disclosable personal interests that I am required 

to notify to the GMCA’s Monitoring Officer in accordance with Sections 30 and 31 of the 

Localism Act 2011 and The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012 and/or by virtue of Rule 21  of the GMCA’s Procedure Rules and that I 

have set out at PART 2 below the personal interests which I am required to notify to the 

GMCA’s Monitoring Officer under Paragraphs 7.1 and 7.2 of the Code of Conduct for 

Members adopted by the GMCA at its meeting on the 27 July 2012 and have put ‘NONE’ 

where I am not required to notify any disclosable personal interests or personal interests 

under any heading.   

 

I am aware that in accordance with Section 30(3) of the Localism Act 2011, I am required 

to notify at Part 1 both my own disclosable personal interests and also any disclosable 

personal interests of: 

  

1. my spouse or civil partner, 

2. a person with whom I am living as husband and wife, or 

3. a person with whom I am living as if we were civil partners  

 

(“my partner”), where I am aware that my partner has the disclosable personal interest. 

Page 9



2022/23 

 

 

PART 1 

 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

 

1. Any employment, office, trade, profession, or vocation carried out for profit or 

gain 

 

Member 

 

 

 

 

 

Partner 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NB: You need to include details of any employment or business in which you or your 

Partner are engaged.   Employees should give the name of their employer.  You should 

give the name of any company of which you or your Partner are a partner or remunerated 

director.  Where you or your Partner hold an office, give the name of the person of the 

body which appointed you or your Partner (in the case of a teacher in a maintained 

school – the local education authority; in the case of an aided school – the school’s 

governing body) 

 

 

2. Sponsorship 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 10



2022/23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NB: You must declare any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

from the GMCA) made or provided to you in respect of any expenses incurred by you in 

carrying out your duties as a Member / Substitute Member of the GMCA, or towards your 

election expenses, within the period of 12 months ending with the day on which you give 

your notification to the GMCA’s Monitoring Officer for the purposes of Section 30(1) of the 

Localism Act 2011 and/or by virtue of Rule 21 of the GMCA’s Procedure Rules.  This 

includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the 

Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.  

 

3. Contracts with the GMCA  

 

Member  

 

 

 

 

Partner 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NB: You should describe all contracts of which you are aware, which are made between 

the GMCA and  

either yourself or your Partner or  

a body in which you or your Partner have a beneficial interest (being a firm in which you 

or your Partner is a partner, or a body corporate of which you or your Partner is a 

director, or in the securities of which you or your partner have a beneficial interest),  

Page 11



2022/23 

 

 

which are not fully discharged and which are contracts under which goods or services are 

to be provided or works are to be executed. 

 

Please note that the reference to “securities” means “shares, debentures, debenture 

stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of 

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, 

other than money deposited with a building society. 

 

4. Land in the area of the GMCA 

 

Member  

 

 

 

 

Partner 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NB: You should include any land (including houses, buildings or parts of buildings and 

any interests as mortgagee) within the GMCA’s boundaries in which you or your Partner, 

either alone or jointly, have a proprietary interest for your or your Partner’s benefit.  You 

should give the address or brief description to identify it.  If you live within the GMCA’s 

boundaries you should include your home under this heading either as owner, 

lessee or tenant.  You should also include any property from which you or your partner 

receive rent, or of which you or your partner are the mortgagees. 

 

If you wish to redact your home address you must apply for a sensitive interest 

redaction via your Local Authority giving the reasons for this request, once 

approved this can also be applied to your GMCA declaration, subject to the 

approval of the GMCA Monitoring Officer. 

Page 12



2022/23 

 

 

 

5. Licences to occupy land 

 

Member 

 

 

 

 

 

Partner 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NB: You should include any land (including buildings or parts of buildings) within the 

GMCA’s boundaries which you or your Partner have a right to occupy for 28 days or 

longer (either alone or jointly with others).  You should give the address or a brief 

description to identify it. 

 

6. Corporate tenancies 

 

Member 

 

 

 

 

 

Partner 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



2022/23 

 

 

NB: You should list here any tenancies of properties of which you are aware, where the 

landlord is the GMCA and the tenant is a body in which you or your Partner have a 

beneficial interest (being a firm in which you or your Partner is a partner, or a body corporate 

of which you or your Partner is a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 

have a beneficial interest).  

 

Please note that the reference to “securities” means “shares, debentures, debenture stock, 

loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than 

money deposited with a building society. 

 

 

7. Securities  

 

Member 

 

 

 

 

 

Partner 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NB: You should list here any beneficial interest of you or your Partner in securities of a 

body where – 

a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land within the GMCA’s 

boundaries; and  

b) either – 

i. the total nominal value of the securities held by you or your Partner exceeds 

£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

Page 14



2022/23 

 

 

ii. if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value 

of the shares of any one class in which you or your Partner has a beneficial 

interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 

Please note that the reference to “securities” means “shares, debentures, debenture 

stock. 

Loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other 

than money deposited with a building society. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



2022/23 

 

 

PART 2 

 

PERSONAL INTERESTS  

 

 

1. Bodies to which you are appointed or nominated by the GMCA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NB: You should record here details of your position of general control or 

management, in any – 

 

 Body to which you have been appointed or nominated by the GMCA as its 

representative.   

 

2. Interests in charities, societies and other bodies 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



2022/23 

 

 

 

 

NB: You should record here details of your position of general control or 

management, in any – 

 

 Public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature; 

 Company, industrial and provident society, charity, or body directed to charitable 

purposes.  (Freemasons should include here membership of the Masonic Grand 

Charity) 

 Body whose principal purposes include the influence of public policy, including 

party associations, trade union or professional association. 

 

3. Gifts and hospitality 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

You should list here any person from whom you have received a gift(s) or hospitality with 

an estimated value of at least £100 (including multiple gifts and/or hospitality with an 

aggregate value of at least £100 from the same person). You should provide a 

description of the gift(s) or hospitality and the person you believe to be the source of the 

gift(s) and hospitality (including accumulative gifts and/or hospitality). 

 

Page 17



2022/23 

 

 

You should list any such gifts or hospitality which you have received within whichever is 

the shortest of the period of 3 years or the period since you were first elected as a 

Member / Substitute Member of the GMCA. 

 

 

I recognise that it can be a CRIMINAL OFFENCE under Section 34 of the Localism 

Act 2011 to: - 

 

1. fail to comply with the obligation to notify the GMCA’s Monitoring Officer of any 

disclosable pecuniary interests as required by Section 30(1) of the Localism Act 

2011;  

2. provide information in relation to disclosable pecuniary interests  that is 

materially false or misleading, and 

3. fail to comply with the obligation to notify the GMCA’s Monitoring Officer of any 

further disclosable pecuniary interests that require notification in accordance with 

Sections 30(2) and 30(3) of the Localism Act 2011.  

 

I authorise this information to be made available in the GMCA’s Public Register of 

Member’s / Substitute Member’s Interests which will be published on the GMCA’s website 

as required by Section 29(6)(b) of the Localism Act 2011.  

 

 

 

Signed:  

 

 

Date:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



2022/23 

 

 

 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

 

 

Received Date:  

 

 

Signed: GMCA   

 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



GMCA OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

ROLE AND PURPOSE AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

Greater Manchester recognises that its ways of working and formal governance 
need to support transparent and publicly accountable decision-making. Effective 
Scrutiny is even more important in the light of the new powers that devolution brings.  
 

In a Mayoral combined authority like Greater Manchester, there are three points of 
power and accountability.  
 
o The directly elected Mayor exercising mayoral functions; 

o The Combined Authority (GMCA), consisting of  the 10 GM local authority 

Leaders and the directly elected Mayor acting collectively; 

o The GMCA’s overview and scrutiny committee, holding both of the above to 

account.  

Ultimately, all three of these sets of people are accountable to local people. An 
effective scrutiny function is a key part of this decision-making process.  
 
The GMCA has established an overview and scrutiny committee whose overarching 
purpose is to improve the quality of decisions made by the GMCA and the elected 
Mayor.  
 
The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is – 

 To review and evaluate the performance of the Mayor and GMCA, and the 
way it works with its partners to deliver for local people; 

 To contribute to policy development in respect of high profile, complete issues 
affecting the whole of Greater Manchester; 

 To investigate complex cross-cutting issues with a particular focus on the 
delivery of the Greater Manchester Strategy. 

 

A singular committee gives the GMCA’s scrutiny function the capacity to respond and 
contribute to the volume and variety of work flowing through the Mayoral GMCA and 
this structure also meets legislative requirements1.  The Committee may wish to set up 

task and finish groups to undertake specific in-depth scrutiny on specific issues.  
 

                                                           
1 Schedule 5A of the Local Democracy Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 and the 

Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit 
Committees) Order 2017. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Membership 
 

 

 Twenty members for the overview and scrutiny committee and a 
substitute pool of an additional twenty members, appointed annually 
by the GMCA. 

 At least one member from each of GM’s ten Constituent Councils. 

 Membership must reflect (as far as reasonably practicable) the 
political balance of the whole GMCA area.  

 The GMCA will have regard to any nominations made by 
Constituent Councils. 

 Members of the GMCA (including a Substitute Member) may not be 
a member of the overview and scrutiny committee. 

Chair 

 

The overview and scrutiny committee will appoint its own chair, who must 
be a member of one of the Constituent Councils who is an ‘appropriate 
person’. An appropriate person is:  

i. A person who is not a member of a registered political party of 
which the Mayor is a member; or,  

ii. If the Mayor is not a member of a registered political party, a person 
who is not a member of the registered political party who has the 
most representatives on the GMCA; or, 

iii. If the Mayor is not a member of a registered political party and two 
or more parties have the same number of representatives, a person 
who is not a member of any of those parties. 

The Committee may chose to appoint a Vice Chair, and they should also 
be an appropriate person. 
These requirements also apply to the Chairing of any of the Task and 
Finish Groups established. 

Quorum 
 Two-thirds, that is fourteen committee members must be present for 

a meeting to be quorate.  

 The two thirds requirement also applies to sub committees. 

Voting 
 Each member of the overview and scrutiny committee to have one 

vote and no member is to have a casting vote. 

 Whenever a vote is taken at a meeting it shall be by a show of 
hands, and voting can be recorded at the request of members 
present at the meeting.  

  

Page 22



Terms of 
Reference 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The GMCA’s overview and scrutiny committee’s role and function are as 
follows: 
 

1. To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other actions taken 
by: 
i. the GMCA, including decisions delegated to officers and 

committees of the GMCA;  
ii. the Mayor in the exercise of general functions (but not Police and 

Crime Commissioner or fire and rescue functions) including 
decisions delegated to officers, or to other members of the GMCA. 

  
2. To make reports or recommendations to the GMCA or the Mayor 

with respect to general functions  (but not Police and Crime 
Commissioner or fire and rescue functions) concerning the discharge 
of their functions.. 
 

3. To make reports or recommendations to the GMCA or the Mayor 
on matters that affect the GMCA's area or the inhabitants of the area. 
 

4. To Call-In decisions made by the GMCA or the Mayor (general 
functions  but not Police and Crime Commissioner or fire and rescue 
functions). Decisions that have been delegated by the GMCA or the 
Mayor to other committees or officers (or by the Mayor to another 
member of the GMCA) may also be called-in. If a scrutiny committee 
does call a decision in they can: 
i. Direct that a decision is not to be implemented while it is under 

review or scrutiny by the overview and scrutiny committee; and, 
ii. Recommend that the decision be reconsidered.  
 

5. To establish formal sub committees or informal task and finish 
groups if they wish. 

 

Who Can Refer Matters to the GMCA’S Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees? 
 

 A member of the overview and scrutiny committee 

 A member of the GMCA, including the Mayor 

 A member of a constituent council 
 

Who Must Attend Meetings of the GMCA’S Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees? 

 Members (including the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor) or officers of 
the GMCA must attend meetings, if invited, to answer questions. 

 Other people may be invited to attend meetings of the overview 
and scrutiny committee, but are not obliged to attend. 

 

Access to Information Requirements  

 Combined Authorities’ decision-making is covered by Access to 
Information requirements, which means that 28 clear days’ notice 

Page 23



has to be given before a key decision can be taken (unless the 
general exception or special urgency rules apply). 

 The Forward Plan of Key Decisions enables the scrutiny committee 
to keep abreast of major decisions that are going to be taken by 
the GMCA, the Mayor or decisions that have been delegated to 
officers. 
https://democracy.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386 
 

Call in 

 Members have the power to call in decisions made by the 
Combined Authority, GM Mayor, Transport Committee or any key 
decisions taken by GMCA Statutory Officers under delegated 
powers. 

 Electronic records of any decision taken will be published on the 
website and circulated to members of the scrutiny committee.  
These decisions will be implemented at 4pm on the fifth day after 
they have been published, unless three members write to the 
GMCA Chief Executive to request a call-in, stating their reasons for 
this request. 

 

Reporting 
Structures 

 

 

 The formal governance of the relationship between scrutiny and those 
who exercise the functions of the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (the GMCA, the Mayor, and officers) is set out in the GMCA’s 
constitution.  

 The work programme of the committee will focus on the delivery of the 
priorities within the Greater Manchester Strategy and will require 
continuous dialogue between the Committee, the GMCA, the Mayor 
and senior officers. 

Agenda 
Management 

& Report 
Format 

 

 A work programme will be agreed and prioritised by the committee, but 
further items may be referred to the committee at any time. 

 Reports or presentations should be brief – approximately four pages of 
text wherever possible and less than 10 slides. 

 All agenda items should state the reason the item is being taken by 
the meeting and be clear what ‘the ask’ of the committee is.  

 Background documents and for information items should be listed on 
the front page of the report. 

 Any papers (reports and presentations) will be circulated in line with 
statutory requirements five working days before the meeting.  

Meeting 
Organisation 
 

 

Meeting Frequency:  Monthly, supported by Task and Finish Groups as 
required.   

Meeting Duration:    Usually 2 hours    
 

These meetings are held in public and will be livestreamed (except where 
confidential or exempt information is being considered). 

Page 24

https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386


Key Contacts 
 

 

Nicola Ward 
GMCA Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
nicola.ward@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  
07973875454 
 

Ninoshka Martins  
Senior Governance & Scrutiny Officer 
ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
0161 778 7009 
 

Julie Connor  
Assistant Director of Governance & Scrutiny 
Julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  
 

 
 

Page 25

mailto:nicola.ward@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Declaration of Councillors’ Interests in Items Appearing on the Agenda 
 

Name and Date of Committee…………………………………………………………………… 
 
 

Agenda 

Item 

Number 

Type of Interest - PERSONAL 

AND NON PREJUDICIAL Reason 

for declaration of interest 

NON PREJUDICIAL Reason for 

declaration of interest Type of Interest – 

PREJUDICIAL Reason for declaration of 

interest 

Type of Interest – DISCLOSABLE 

PECUNIARY INTEREST Reason 

for declaration of interest  

    

    

    

    

    

    

 
Please see overleaf for a quick guide to declaring interests at GMCA meetings. 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 7



 

Quick Guide to Declaring Interests at GMCA Meetings 
 
Please Note: should you have a personal interest that is prejudicial in an item on the agenda, you should leave the meeting for the duration of the 
discussion and the voting thereon.  
 

This is a summary of the rules around declaring interests at meetings. It does not replace the Member’s Code of Conduct, the full 
description can be found in the GMCA’s constitution Part 7A.  
 
Your personal interests must be registered on the GMCA’s Annual Register within 28 days of your appointment onto a GMCA committee 
and any changes to these interests must notified within 28 days. Personal interests that should be on the register include: 
 
1. Bodies to which you have been appointed by the GMCA 
2. Your membership of bodies exercising functions of a public nature, including charities, societies, political parties or trade unions. 
 
You are also legally bound to disclose the following information called Disclosable Personal Interests which includes: 
 
1. You, and your partner’s business interests (eg employment, trade, profession, contracts, or any company with which you are 

associated). 
2. You and your partner’s wider financial interests (eg trust funds, investments, and assets including land and property).  
3. Any sponsorship you receive. 

 
Failure to disclose this information is a criminal offence 
 

Step One: Establish whether you have an interest in the business of the agenda 
 
1. If the answer to that question is ‘No’ then that is the end of the matter.  
2. If the answer is ‘Yes’ or Very Likely’ then you must go on to consider if that personal interest can be construed as being a prejudicial 

interest.  
 

 

P
age 28



 

Step Two: Determining if your interest is prejudicial 
 
A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest: 
 
1. where the wellbeing, or financial position of you, your partner, members of your family, or people with whom you have a close 

association (people who are more than just an acquaintance) are likely to be affected by the business of the meeting more than it 
would affect most people in the area.  

2. the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it 
is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest. 
 

For a non-prejudicial interest, you must: 
 
1. Notify the governance officer for the meeting as soon as you realise you have an interest. 
2. Inform the meeting that you have a personal interest and the nature of the interest. 
3. Fill in the declarations of interest form. 

 

To note:  
1. You may remain in the room and speak and vote on the matter  

If your interest relates to a body to which the GMCA has appointed you to, you only have to inform the meeting of that interest if you 
speak on the matter. 
 

For prejudicial interests, you must:  
 
1. Notify the governance officer for the meeting as soon as you realise you have a prejudicial interest (before or during the meeting). 
2. Inform the meeting that you have a prejudicial interest and the nature of the interest. 
3. Fill in the declarations of interest form. 
4. Leave the meeting while that item of business is discussed. 
5. Make sure the interest is recorded on your annual register of interests form if it relates to you or your partner’s business or financial 

affairs. If it is not on the Register update it within 28 days of the interest becoming apparent.  
 

You must not: 
 
Participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become aware of your disclosable pecuniary interest during the 
meeting participate further in any discussion of the business,  

1. participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

Date:  27th July 2022 

Subject: Greater Manchester Strategy - Progress Report  

 

Purpose of Report:  

To provide Overview & Scrutiny Committee Members with the first six-month progress 

report for the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy, with a view to supporting the 

development of the forward plan of priorities for the Committee embedding the critical 

role of the committee in supporting and overseeing the delivery of the Greater 

Manchester Strategy (GMS). 

Attached is the full progress report which will be considered, and subject to comments, 

approved by GMCA at their meeting on 29th July.   In summary the new GMS sets the 

direction of travel and strategic frame for the coming 10 years for the whole of the city-

region.    The attached progress report provides a baseline position at six months into 

the new strategy, for the whole system, with every part of the public, private and 

voluntary sectors in GM having a role to play if the shared outcomes and commitments 

are to be attained.  Collated evidence of activity supporting the delivery of the 15 

shared commitments, and current use of the ways of working are included.  These 

commitment reports, along with the detailed data dashboards and agreed targets, 

were used to inform the issues paper, which draws out whole system issues which 

need to be responded to across GM, and with further work with Government if GMS 

outcomes and commitments are to be achieved.  

The GMS data dashboards have been developed (GMS performance dashboards 

(draft)) to provide an online resource and central hub for all the progress measures 

related to the GMS, allowing the monitoring of collective progress and enabling ease 

of access to data and evidence that can be interrogated by place or population group, 

enabling better targeting of policies and delivery.  The information in the dashboards 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSREFRESHDRAFT-LandingIndicator/SharedCommitments?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSREFRESHDRAFT-LandingIndicator/SharedCommitments?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

will be updated in line with the GMS progress reporting cycle and will be available to 

access online for Members to support scrutiny activity.  

The progress reporting process, including the role of O&S Committee, is intended to 

drive change and see actions being taken which support whole system responses to 

the issues identified.  Notably, the GMS progress report highlights the need to go 

further and faster if GM is to meet net zero and equalities ambitions.  

The GMCA core team will undertake a dissemination exercise to share the progress 

report and to provide explanation and discussion with stakeholders, thematic groups 

and equalities panels.  The purpose of this activity will be to ensure the whole system 

understanding of the nature of the issues identified and that all parts of the system are 

giving due consideration to what those issues mean to them, and for them to determine 

the relevant actions they may need to take. This will form the basis of the second 

progress report (at 12 months).  

As the O&S Committee determines its forward work programme, there is a need and 

opportunity for the Committee in maintaining visibility and scrutiny of the actions that 

are developed and being taken forward in response to the issues paper, this would 

add accountability for their overall delivery and progress of individual actions, but also 

collective progress as the whole system seeks to deliver together against the GMS 

outcomes and commitments.  

 

Recommendations: 

The GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to: 

 Comment as to where can scrutiny really add value to the monitoring and 

implementation of the GMS priorities.  Members to agree how scrutiny can 

question / challenge the extent to which activity in all areas in consistent with 

GMS outcomes, commitments and ways of working, and in particular in 

support of the GM net zero target and tackling inequalities.   

 Select key areas of the GMS Performance Report to inform the future Work 

Programme of the Committee 

 Consider any future training / information sessions that could strengthen the 

knowledge base of the Committee as it progresses its work 

Page 32



 

 

Contact Officers: 

Simon Nokes, Executive Director, GMCA  

simon.nokes@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

Amy Foots, Head of Implementation, GMCA 

amy.foots@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

 

Page 33

mailto:simon.nokes@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:amy.foots@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority  

Date:  29th July 2022 

Subject: Greater Manchester Strategy Progress Report  

Report of: Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester and Portfolio Lead for 

Policy & Strategy, and Eamonn Boylan, Portfolio Lead Chief Executive 

for Policy & Strategy  

 

Purpose of Report: 

 

To provide GMCA with the draft progress report at six months into delivery of the 

new Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS).  The report provides an overview of some 

of the activities currently underway which support the delivery of the GMS shared 

commitments and draws out whole system issues and areas for further progression 

in an issues paper.  

A self-assessment process, including input from across GM delivery groups and 

engagement with a stakeholder panel, has been undertaken to understand where 

GM is currently and where we need to see change if we are to collectively deliver the 

GMS ambitions.    

At six months into the new Strategy, the self-assessment has identified areas for 

development for GM and supporting proposals to Government, which can unlock 

GM’s potential and support the achievement of the GMS. 

 

Recommendations: 

The GMCA is requested to: 

1. Discuss and comment on the progress report, the systemic issues identified 

and possible GM responses and further dialogue with Government in support 

of the attainment of the GMS shared outcomes and commitments.  

Page 35



 

2 

 

2. Agree that all recipients of this progress report, stakeholder groups, 

partnerships and agencies, are requested to give due consideration and 

reflection to the issues identified in this report, driving change and actions in 

all parts of the system if the GMS is to be delivered.     

3. Note that a review of the progress reporting process will be undertaken to 

refine and develop for future iterations.  

 

Contact Officers: 

Simon Nokes, Executive Director, GMCA  

simon.nokes@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

Amy Foots, Head of Implementation, GMCA 

 amy.foots@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

 

Equalities Impact, Carbon and Sustainability Assessment: 

 

Page 36

mailto:simon.nokes@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:amy.foots@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

3 

 

 

Impacts Questionnaire
Impact Indicator Result Justification/Mitigation

Equality and Inclusion A

There is evidence of some good practice in place, however the report identifies the need for further 

and faster actions, targeting and prioritisation of the equalities agenda more systemically in order to 

meet GMS ambitions 

Health G

Activity is being delivered under the shared commitment to tackle health inequalities, however there 

are systemic challenges relating to covid backlog, waiting lists and infrastucture changes through the 

establishment of the ICS  

Resilience and Adaptation A
Work is underway to support this agenda, however the progress report has found further and faster 

activity is needed in this area

Housing A

Activities are in place, however the report has idenitified the need for additional resource and further 

work with Government to support deivery of affordable housing ambitions 

The report has highlighted the need for further focus on delivering new properties in line with net zero 

ambitions. 

Economy G

A range of activities are in place to support wider economic development of the whole of GM, 

including Innovation GM and local centres work

The Growth Locations will provide employment oportunities, the report highlights the need to 

develop mechanisms to ensure local people and places can benefit in the short and longer term from 

such investments and development, and the need for economic activities to more holisitically embed 

social and environmental goals 

Mobility and Connectivity A

Active travel and intergrated transport network will support more people to use public transport, 

however it is recognised further economic growth will in part be driven by road vehicle use 

Activities underway but also reliant on Government to achieve longer term infrastucture ambitions 

including HS2.  Clean Air Zone under review

Carbon, Nature and 

Environment
A

Clean Air Zone currently under review 

Insufficient detail to assess as part of this report 

Carbon neutrality activities and the tree planting programme will support this agenda 

Consumption and 

Production
A

Activities such as the circular economy work and the GM zero waste strategy will support this agenda

Biodiversity emergency declared

The collective efforts required to achieve carbon neutrality by 2038 are not evident across the 

breadth of thematic areas and activities at present, with the need for greater whole system 

responses and actions necessarily 'pivoted' to meet this agenda 

Further Assessment(s): Equalities Impact Assessment and Carbon Assessment

Contribution to achieving the GM 

Carbon Neutral 2038 target

Positive impacts overall, 

whether long or short 

term.

Mix of positive and 

negative impacts. Trade-

offs to consider.

Mostly negative, with at 

least one positive aspect. 

Trade-offs to consider.

Negative impacts overall. 

Page 37



 

4 

 

 

Risk Management 

The report updates on progress of activities supporting the delivery of GMS 

outcomes and commitments.  While the report does not generate any specific risks, 

the update provides an overview of the need for greater collective action and 

prioritisation if GMS ambitions are to be attained.  

Legal Considerations 

N/A  

Financial Consequences – Revenue 

No direct financial decisions resulting from this paper 

Financial Consequences – Capital 

No direct financial decisions resulting from this paper 

Number of attachments to the report: 0 

Comments/recommendations from Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

N/A  

Carbon Assessment
Overall Score -0.61

Buildings Result Justification/Mitigation

New Build residential -0.29
Sufficient detail is not gathered through this progress report process to assess these 

elements.  Individual assessments have been undertaken for any associated delivery

Residential building(s) 

renovation/maintenance
-0.8 As above

New Build Commercial/ 

Industrial
-0.8 As above

Transport

Active travel and public 

transport
-0.57 As above

Roads, Parking and 

Vehicle Access
-0.33 As above

Access to amenities -0.67 As above

Vehicle procurement -1 As above

Land Use

Land use -0.75

No associated 

carbon impacts 

expected.

High standard in 

terms of practice 

and awareness on 

carbon.

Mostly best practice 

with a good level of 

awareness on 

carbon.

Partially meets best 

practice/ awareness, 

significant room to 

improve.

Not best practice 

and/ or insufficient 

awareness of carbon 

impacts.

Page 38



 

5 

 

Background Papers 

https://democracy.greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk/documents/s18222/GM%20Strategy%20Report%2017.12.21.pdf  

Tracking/ Process  

 Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in the GMCA 

Constitution  

Yes  

Exemption from call in  

N/A  

GM Transport Committee 

N/A  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

To be discussed at O&S committee on 27th July  

 

1. Introduction/Background 

1.1 The full progress report is included below, and is structured with an Executive 

Summary, followed by the Issues Report and 15 Shared Commitment updates.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1 Recommendations appear at the front of this report.  

 

  

Page 39

https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/documents/s18222/GM%20Strategy%20Report%2017.12.21.pdf
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/documents/s18222/GM%20Strategy%20Report%2017.12.21.pdf


 

6 

 

Greater Manchester Strategy Progress Report – July 2022  

Executive Summary  

The Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) seeks to deliver Good Lives For all, and for 

our city-region to be greener, fairer, and more prosperous in all parts.  

The Strategy sets out shared commitments – the GM we want to see; shared 

commitments – the actions we are going to take; ways of working – how we will 

deliver.  

 

The GMS adopts a whole system approach, with every part of the public, private and 

voluntary sectors in GM having a role to play if the shared outcomes and 

commitments are to be attained.  In that context, the use of the term ‘GM system’ 

should be interpreted in this widest possible context, not specific to any sector, 

partnership or agency.  

This report, like the overarching strategy, does not seek to ‘prescribe out’ actions to 

the GM system, instead it draws attention to systemic issues, which should be given 

due consideration and reflection, driving change and actions in all parts of the 

system if the GMS is to be delivered.    Individual actions, aligned to each of the 

issues identified are not therefore provided, instead the due consideration by report 

recipients should determine the extent to which the issues identified are relevant in 

Page 40



 

7 

 

any given area, and specific actions, delivered via the Ways of Working, developed 

as appropriate in response.    

A self-assessment has been undertaken to understand where GM is currently and 

where we need to see change if we are to collectively deliver the GMS ambitions.   

This report builds from evidence gathering / baselining assessment against the 15 

shared commitments, ways of working, and the data and targeting information (GMS 

performance dashboards (draft)) developed as part of the progress monitoring 

framework. Under the three pillars of greener, fairer and more prosperity in all parts 

of Greater Manchester, it identifies where we are now; what we are already doing; 

the issues GM needs to respond to with areas for Greater Manchester development 

and areas where we need different working arrangements with Government.  

At six months into the new Strategy, the self-assessment has identified areas for 

development for GM and supporting proposals to Government, which can unlock 

GM’s potential and support the achievement of the GMS (summarised below):  

Page 41

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSREFRESHDRAFT-LandingIndicator/SharedCommitments?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSREFRESHDRAFT-LandingIndicator/SharedCommitments?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

8 

 

Our Ambition For GM to improve further we need to respond to 

the following issues 

What the GM system can and needs to do 

We will create 

a carbon 

neutral Greater 

Manchester by 

2038, with 

better air 

quality and 

natural 

environment. 

The collective efforts required to achieve carbon 

neutrality by 2038 are not evident across the 

breadth of thematic areas and activities at present, 

with the need for greater whole system responses 

and actions necessarily ‘pivoted’ to meet this 

agenda. 

 Unless we pivot action now, and deliver a step 

change in activities and associated funding, 

achieving the 2038 carbon neutrality target will be 

incredibly challenging 

 There is some way to go for these to form an 

intrinsic and embedded set of system-wide actions 

in support of this agenda  

 Current resources are not sufficient to deliver this 

target.  

 Conflicting and difficult trade-offs between agendas 

need to be faced head on.  

 Build on existing partnership working, to firmly 

embed the understanding, ownership and 

actions required in ‘everybody’s business’   

 Address the need for urgent action, by reframing 

actions required and referring more directly to 

the need to take action now in order to meet our 

2024 carbon budget, en route to 2038 carbon 

neutrality 

 Pivot activity and associated funding to focus on 

our environmental ambitions and as part of this 

approach stop activity counter to these ambitions 

 Develop opportunities for furthering coordination 

/ alignment of funding, commissioning and 

investment decisions, to deliver a more complete 

pipeline of programmes and interventions 

 Deliver Sector specific targeted activities  

 Broadening the use of impact assessment tools  

P
age 42



 

9 

 

 An increased sense of urgency is required to meet 

this ambition   

 Ensure we build into all areas of work open, 

honest and timely communication mechanisms 

 Work with Government to further decentralise 

powers and resources which can unlock GM’s 

potential to deliver the GMS and national 

ambitions 

Greater 

Manchester 

will be a place 

where our 

people have 

good lives, 

with better 

health; better 

jobs; better 

homes; and 

better 

transport; A 

Greater 

Manchester of 

To meet our ambition GM needs to embed 

equalities more systematically into all thematic 

areas. This should include a review of current 

activity to determine where changes or necessary 

pivots could be made and through more effective 

data collection, analysis and use maximise 

targeting of resources to meet the evidenced need.  

 Responding to equalities and fairer issues are not 

routinely, systematically embedded into all thematic 

areas, with the necessary policy delivery or system 

‘pivots’ to meet the challenges.   

 Act with urgency to address inequality, 

recognising a lack of pivoted action coupled with 

the cost of living crisis is creating/has created a 

burning platform 

 Adopt more consistent approaches to the 

collection, analysis and use of data in the design 

and development of policy, but also in the 

collection of services user data for delivered 

activities 

 Proactively draw on community insight, for 

example through discussion at Equality Panels, 

to discuss issues and co-design of policy with 

communities of identity 

P
age 43



 

10 

 

vibrant 

communities, a 

great place to 

grow up get on 

and grow old 

with 

inequalities 

reduced in all 

aspects of life. 

 There is scope for the greater and more consistent 

collection and use of equalities data to further target 

policy and delivery across the whole system.  

 Use of community insight across all thematic areas 

could be more routinely and systemically utilised  

 More routinely roll out pilots to deliver pan-GM 

approaches and responses, and where resources 

are limited the learning, good practice and 

knowledge gained through the piloting of 

approaches to be embedded within the GM system 

and used to inform future policy and delivery 

 The prevention agenda and the expansion and 

evolution of place-based integrated working across 

all services has however slowed across GM 

 Undertake greater evaluation and expansion of 

piloted activities, seeking to embed good practice 

pan-GM, and build greater mechanisms for 

minimum standards and minimum offers 

available to all people and places  

 Broaden the use of impact assessment tools  

 The GM system to consider how to reenergise 

the proactive prevention agenda and integrated 

place-based working, in the face of the reactive 

responses as well as wider financial and demand 

pressures 

 Track and monitor progress of the three 

neighbourhood floor targets, with the whole GM 

system responding if any area is falling behind 

 Work with Government to further decentralise 

powers and resources which can unlock GM’s 

potential to deliver the GMS and national 

ambitions 

P
age 44



 

11 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

will flourish 

driving local 

and UK growth 

through a 

fairer, greener, 

growing 

economy built 

on our 

innovation 

assets, putting 

people and 

place first, and 

recognising 

our global 

strengths and 

progressive 

thinking in 

advanced 

To deliver the GMS, and the levelling up agenda 

that it sets, GM needs to translate opportunities 

into economic benefit for all parts and 

communities of GM, whilst also positively 

impacting upon environmental, social and wider 

economic ambitions. 

 There is potential for greater targeting of provision 

or evaluation/monitoring of provision for economic 

programmes to directly respond to inequalities  

 There is scope to further maximise opportunities 

linked to our environmental goals and mitigate 

against the negative impacts of growth  

 Skills supply and demand provision may struggle to 

deliver to the scale and volume required to meet 

current and projected future growth in some 

industries 

 The need to be mindful of the potential differential 

take up of projects was identified, highlighting the 

need for inclusive and targeted approaches 

 Undertake a review of current activity to support 

the embedding of social and environmental goals 

within policy and delivery  

 Better communicate and tailor advice to different 

business sectors  

 Adopting more consistent approaches to the 

collection, analysis and use of data in the design 

and development of policy, but also in the 

collection of services user data for delivered 

activities  

 Undertake a pipeline analysis/mapping to fully 

understand breaks in the skills system, and 

therefore understand better what can be done to 

address these 

 Developing a programme to encourage 

employers, however small, to make a 

commitment to support skills development  

 Implementing specific success measures / 

targets for projects and programmes including 

P
age 45



 

12 

 

materials and 

manufacturing, 

health 

innovation, 

digital and 

creative, and 

clean growth 

ensuring access and take up from across different 

communities and places  

 There may be opportunities to broaden 

programmes and delivery to make them more 

systemic 

those linked to equalities and environmental 

measures 

 Broaden the use of impact assessment tools  

 Work with Government to further decentralise 

powers and resources which can unlock GM’s 

potential to deliver the GMS and national 

ambitions 

To maximise 

the impact of 

our actions 

and ultimately 

achievement of 

our GM 

ambitions 

through a 

system wide 

coordinated 

approach to 

activity, 

underpinned 

 It has not been possible to form a view as to 

whether the collective actions being taken will 

deliver the GMS as a whole.  Good intelligence and 

lines of sight are in place by individual thematic lens 

or individual project /programme, but it has proven 

difficult to use this information to form an aggregate 

view of volume and scale of delivery to meet the 

GMS ambitions 

 Where good cross-thematic coordination / dialogue 

in strategy and delivery are in place this has 

resulted in shared objectives, collaboration on 

resources and an in-built understanding across 

thematic areas of shared outcomes and 

 Progressive procurement practices have the 

potential to unlock untapped potential and benefit 

for GM.  The GM Social Value Framework 

provides the mechanism by which this can be 

achieved.  Further review of current procurement 

practices and consistent use of the Social Value 

Framework going forward can support delivery of 

the GMS ambitions. 

 GM should consider the future role and levels of 

involvement in driving the GMS through the 

established delivery groups including their role 

in: leading/facilitating a more holistic view and 

delivery of collective actions in support of 

P
age 46



 

13 

 

by our ‘Ways 

of Working’ 

appreciation of the necessary interdependencies of 

other parts of the system to achieve identified 

outcomes 

 Increased awareness, and more consistent use of 

the VCSE Accord will support the delivery of the 

GMS, particularly as a key enabler of the ways of 

working 

 Where good communication channels are in place, 

this is enabling effective policy design, delivery and 

partnership working, with opportunity to replicate 

this more widely across the GM system  

 There appears to be scope for the development of 

more opportunities for the GM system to share and 

embed learning and good practice, and to 

collectively develop a greater ‘collective memory’ of 

interventions, pilots and programmes that have 

proven successful from which to build  

 There is greater scope for more joined up funding 

sources, delivering on locally determined priorities 

and coordinated at the city-region level to increase 

delivery of the GMS commitments; 

communicating and driving sharing and 

learning/good practice across groups/thematic 

areas 

 Build the capacity to review the current activity 

on the prevention agenda and work together to 

determine ways in which this can be 

reenergised, balanced against the urgent need 

priorities 

 Work with Government to further decentralise 

powers and resources which can unlock GM’s 

potential to deliver the GMS and national 

ambitions 

P
age 47



 

14 

 

impact and efficiency. Embedding the GM social 

value framework is supporting better outcomes 

through commissioning and procurement  

 A proactive prevention agenda and place-based 

integrated working have the potential to support the 

GM system to better respond to community need   

 Challenges and opportunities posed as the current 

health and care system transitions to the Integrated 

Care System (ICS) have been identified 

Delivering on the GMS, supporting greener, fairer, more prosperous national growth, will require 

commitment from the Government to work in partnership through… 

 

Further and faster devolution of powers and resources to GM which can unlock our potential to deliver on the ambitions we and 

Government have set, for example in areas such as: 

 Devolved arrangements and local flexibilities around post-19 skills and skills and technical / vocational post-16 

 Greater local influence over employment support, design and delivery  

 Development of the Bee Network and public transport improvements, in support of developing a London style integrated 

transport network 

P
age 48



 

15 

 

 Work with Government to develop ways to improve standards and quality of GM’s private rental sector  

 Joint working with Government to develop new national standards for home building which are in support of local and 

national carbon neutrality goals  

 New and further developed partnering arrangements with Government, and departments, to deliver on our ambitious 

housing and regeneration plans 

 Work with Government to secure additional resources (including funding) to deliver shared priorities at pace and scale, 

including responding to local capacity constraints and responsive to current and future demand  

 Further devolved arrangements for GM proportions of fundings nationally allocated, e.g. Eco Funding  

 Work towards a devolved single funding allocation for GM, enabling greater coordination, systemic alignment and delivery 

of more efficient and effective outcomes  

 Further our work with Government to improve collection of and access to data, in particular those datasets which can be 

analysed by communities of identity or small geographic areas  

 

  

P
age 49



 

16 

 

 

Index Page  

Introduction 

Greener Greater Manchester 

Fairer Greater Manchester  

More Prosperous Greater Manchester 

Systemic / Coordination / Organisational  

What we need from Government to deliver  

Shared Commitment Reports  

 

 

Introduction   

The GMS seeks to deliver Good Lives For all, and for our city-region to be greener, 

fairer, and more prosperous in all parts.  

We have challenged ourselves with the new GMS, and we are now responding to 

that challenge.  

We have undertaken a thorough and honest review of where we are as a system 

and where we need to be in order to deliver our GMS ambitions.  

We have reviewed and understand how our systems work, how we work collectively 

and holistically in order to deliver for the people and places of GM. We have looked 

at systemic issues in the round and drawing on the embedded good practice we see 

across our partnerships, have identified areas where we can go further, faster. 

Detailed data dashboards have been developed to target, measure and monitor 

overall GMS progress, these can be viewed in full at GMS performance dashboards 

(draft) 

 

Building on examples of good practice, piloting, partnering and pivoting our 

approaches and activities we are equipping ourselves to deliver a greener, fairer, 

Page 50

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSREFRESHDRAFT-LandingIndicator/SharedCommitments?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSREFRESHDRAFT-LandingIndicator/SharedCommitments?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

17 

 

more prosperous GM. But this requires a step change, driving improvement in the 

way we operate at GM level, ensuring our policies and decisions are supportive of 

our ambitions, and working with Government to devolve the necessary resources to 

the city-region equipping us to deliver.   

The self-assessment we have undertaken six months into the new strategy has 

provided us with substantial evidence and understanding of what we are doing well, 

good practice from which we can build, and where we need to do adapt or do more.  

The challenges GM faces are not singular, they are not issues which can be siloed 

or pigeon-holed with single, linear responses.  GM faces complex, interconnected 

challenges, and only through holistic, multidisciplinary responses will we be able to 

meet those challenges. Decisions we take need to move us towards a greener, 

fairer, more prosperous city-region.  Understanding the interconnected nature of 

these three pillars, and designing policies and delivery which are responsive to all 

three pillars will deliver a more sustainable, efficient and effective set of interventions 

driving greener, fairer, prosperity.  

All thematic areas have a role to play in achieving the GMS, driven through the 

shared outcomes and commitments – of which all parts of the GM system have a 

role to play. Without this whole system approach we will not be able to deliver the 

GMS.  

How we organise ourselves, coordinate activity and resources and how we commit 

to truly shared outcomes and commitments and embed the ways of working is our 

key to success.    Through our review and the actions we will take we will ensure GM 

is in the best possible shape to deliver on these ambitions, but this cannot be done 

without further devolution.  

Decentralising powers and resources will enable us to have the best possible chance 

to level up, to step up, and to deliver our GMS and support the national ambitions.  

 

 

 

  

Page 51



 

18 

 

Greener Greater Manchester 

Our Ambition… 

We will create a carbon neutral Greater Manchester by 2038, with better air 

quality and natural environment 

 

Where we are… 

 

Greater Manchester carbon emissions vs. carbon 

budget, 2018-19, Mt CO2e 

 

Source: UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions 

national statistics (BEIS, 2021) 

The carbon emissions data confirm that we are currently 

behind where we need to be in order to achieve our 

ambition for GM to be carbon neutral by 2038.  By 2019, 

we were 6.0 Mt CO2e behind where we need to be on our 

2018-38 carbon budget.  Although annual estimated carbon 

emissions in GM in 2019 (11.8 Mt CO2e) were slightly below 

those in 2018 (12.2 Mt CO2e), the gap between actual 

emissions and budget had widened from 2.5 Mt CO2e to 3.5.  

Greater Manchester carbon emissions by sector, 2019 

 

Source: UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions 

national statistics (BEIS, 2021) 

In 2019, transport was the principal driver of GM’s carbon 

emissions, followed by domestic emissions. The data 

emphasise the importance of activity under the Bee Network 

and wider transport initiatives in accelerating our transition 

to a low carbon transport system.  Similarly, addressing 

domestic emissions requires rapid and widespread adoption 

of retrofit and green energy initiatives. 

Greater Manchester additional renewable generation 

capacity 2019-21 (MW) 

Proportion of trips made via public transport and active 

travel, 2017-19 

 

9.7
8.3

2.5
3.5

12.2 11.8

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2018 2019

Ca
rb

on
 e

m
is

si
on

s 
/ 

bu
dg

et
 p

er
 a

nn
um

 
(M

t 
CO

2e
)

GM carbon budget Gap GM carbon emissions

0.3%

4.3%

10.1%

14.4%

32.2%

38.7%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%

Land use, land-use change and
forestry

Public sector

Commercial

Industry

Domestic

Transport

% of carbon emissions by sector, 2019

Page 52

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/CarbonEmissions?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

19 

 

 

Source: Renewable Energy Planning Database (BEIS, 2022) 

By 2021, GM had generated 12.0MW in additional 

renewable generation capacity since 2019.  The GM target 

associated with this indicator is currently being revised. 

 

Source: Greater Manchester Travel Diary Survey data (Transport for 

Greater Manchester), 2021 

Around two out of five trips (41%) made by survey 

respondents resident in GM in 2017-19 were by public 

transport or active travel.  Since 2014-16, this proportion has 

increased, up 1.5 percentage points over the three-year 

period to 2017-19. 

Number of trees planted per annum, 2018/19-2020/21 

 

Source: GM City of Trees monitoring data (2021) 

In 2020/21, 188,244 trees were planted across the city-

region, 68% more than in 2019/20.  Our target is to plant an 

additional 350,000 trees over the period from 2020/21 to 

2023/24. 

Properties at risk of flooding, March 2022 

 

Source: GM City of Trees monitoring data (2021) 

3.4% of GM properties were at risk of flooding from rivers in 

March 2022.  There was considerable variation across the 

ten localities, ranging from 1.6% to 9.5% of properties at 

risk.   

What we are already doing as a Greater Manchester system… 

Some of the GM activity currently supporting our ambition includes: 

 

 UK’s first regional Clean Growth Mission -  focusing both on rapidly reducing 

our carbon emissions and stimulating business innovation to achieve our goals. 

 Go Neutral Smart Energy Programme-  3-year programme which aims to 

accelerate the delivery of up to 85MW of solar power generation with battery 

storage and electric vehicle charging infrastructure across Greater Manchester 

by trusted, stringently procured suppliers   

3.7

7.5

12.0

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2019 2020 2021

A
dd

it
io

na
l r

en
ew

ab
le

 g
en

er
at

io
n 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 s
in

ce
 2

01
9 

(M
W

)

2020/21
188,244

2023/24
538,244

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Number of trees planted Target trajectory

1.7%
2.6%

4.2%

1.6% 2.0%

9.5%

2.1% 1.6%
2.3%

4.6%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

GM average, 3.4%

England average, 8.1%

Page 53

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-CarbonNeturalGM/Summary?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-CarbonNeturalGM/Summary?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-PublicTransport/PublicTransportTrips?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-PublicTransport/PublicTransportTrips?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-CarbonNeturalGM/Summary?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/PropertiesatRiskofFlooding?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

20 

 

 Energy Innovation Agency: a new delivery mechanism to accelerate the 

introduction of energy related innovation to tackle the net zero challenge, 

increase energy security and bridge the energy innovation gap. The first energy 

innovation challenge, launched in April, is to drive and a new innovative model 

for non-domestic buildings retrofit.  

 Trafford Energy Park - A multi energy system deployed on one site including, 

Cyro storage, Battery Storage, renewable generation, Green Hydrogen 

Production alongside an existing Gas-powered peaking plant.  

 Local Energy Market and Development of Local Area Energy Plans - The Local 

Energy Market project is looking to deliver a smarter local energy system that 

will revolutionise how energy is used, stored and distributed across Greater 

Manchester’s 10 boroughs. Proposals will pave the way for new technologies 

and low-carbon infrastructure in the future from renewable energy sources like 

air source heat pumps to solar panels and electric vehicle charging points.  

 Retrofit Action: Green Homes Grant programme – expected outputs c2200 

domestic properties retrofitted, with increased EPC ratings; Retrofit Action Plan 

to galvanise action including Retrofit Accelerator and Heat Pump Accelerators 

for the ‘Able to Pay Market’ – expected outputs include c1000 retrofit 

assessments leading to 500 properties retrofitted in year1 and 500-750 air 

source heat pumps installed respectively; and Successful LA bid to the Social 

Housing Decarbonisation Fund Bid in February 2022 with expected outputs of 

1,200 social housing retrofits being delivered by May 2023 -  further bid round 

is anticipated in the Autumn, and preparatory work is underway;  Retrofit Skills 

Hub (£1.1m) commissioned through Skills for Growth programme and AEB 

Local Level 3 qualifications – including retrofit green skills.   

 Public Sector Decarbonisation Programme is looking at how we can improve 

public sector buildings in Greater Manchester to make them greener and more 

energy efficient 

 Delivery of 50,000 affordable homes by 2038 -  with at least 30,000 being net 

zero carbon social rented homes. GMCA has signed an MOU with Homes 

England to drive additional investment and activity with investors. This will 

embed effective joint partnership working as business as usual in support of 

Page 54



 

21 

 

housing delivery and broader strategic objectives, agreeing a strategic 

partnership and quantum of support from both sides – this is a leading edge 

partnership as cited in the Levelling Up White Paper. 

 Carbon Neutral Transport Network: Greater Manchester has an ambition to 

become the first city region to develop a carbon neutral transport network.  

Under the plans, the city region’s bus fleet will be 50% electric by 2027 and 

100% electric within a decade, the Greater Manchester Ring and Ride fleet will 

also transition to zero emission technology by 2027. Metrolink already runs on 

100% renewable energy, and funding has been secured to the develop the 

next stage of plans for expanding the network. Active travel is also an important 

feature of plans including the Bee Network Cycle Hire Scheme. 

 Places for Everyone: seeks to connect the supply of new housing to wider 

strategies and policies including around the quality of place, town centres and 

other spatial priorities, infrastructure provision including schools, health 

facilities and other social infrastructure as well as power, water and transport, 

access to open space, economic growth, flood risk and sustainability. 

 Journey to Net Zero is a fully funded online programme exclusively for SMEs in 

Greater Manchester that want to get on the path to net zero emissions, but 

aren’t sure where to start. With expert support, businesses build a strategic 

plan to cut their carbon footprint, reduce costs, minimise risk and capitalise on 

the many opportunities awaiting you in the net zero world. Activity focused on 

Journey to Net Zero (and Bee Net Zero) will thus deliver on multiple agenda – 

supporting both a More Prosperous and Greener GM. 

 Bee Net Zero is a Business Engagement Programme launched in October with 

targets of 12.5k/10% of GM businesses pledged to the Net Zero approach per 

annum and/or 287.5k/10% KtCO2 of carbon footprint of GM businesses 

pledged to the Net Zero approach per annum with ambition to scale up further 

if Business Rates Funding is confirmed.  

 Clean Air Plan: GM is committed to cleaning up the air our residents breathe - 

but in a way that helps people to make the change to cleaner vehicles and 

does not put jobs, livelihoods and businesses at risk.and are working with 

Government to deliver a new Clean Air Plan 

Page 55



 

22 

 

 Natural Environment:  Various programmes including: GM Green Spaces Fund, 

Local Nature Recover Strategy, IGNITION – 12 partner innovation project to 

establish innovative ways of financing urban nature based solutions that build 

resilience to climate change, Natural course – partnership working to deliver 

integrated water management solutions; City of Trees 

 Infrastructure Tripartite Agreement A Memorandum of Understanding with the 

Environment Agency and United Utilities on sustainable water management 

working to increase resilience to flood risk and impacts of climate change 

 Sustainable Production/Consumption programmes 

 Sustainable Food programmes 

 GM Environment Fund: The Greater Manchester Environment Fund is uniting 

public, private and philanthropic funders in a mission to tackle urgent 

environmental challenges facing the city region. The GMEF has attracted over 

£2m of funding to deliver environmental projects. 

 In addition to those key programmes outlined above, there are other 

programmes and projects being delivered which respond to the climate 

emergency – as set out in the report for Commitment 5. 

 

Our self-assessment has shown in order for GM to improve 

further we need to respond to the issues below: 

 

The collective efforts required to achieve carbon neutrality by 2038 are not 

evident across the breadth of thematic areas and activities at present, with 

the need for greater whole system responses and actions necessarily 

‘pivoted’ to meet this agenda.   

 

 Unless we pivot action now, and deliver a step change in activities and 

associated funding, achieving the 2038 carbon neutrality target will be 

Page 56



 

23 

 

incredibly challenging. In addition, there is a need to stop doing activity which is 

counter to our ambitions ie ‘stop doing bad stuff’. 

 Despite a good systemwide understanding of the target, and evidence of 

actions under thematic areas being responsive to the environmental agenda, 

there is some way to go for these to form an intrinsic and embedded set of 

system-wide actions in support of this agenda  

 Current resources are not sufficient to deliver this target. Targeted 

investment and activities such as skills investment are paying dividends 

however, gaps in the scale, pace and funding of activities are preventing GM 

going further and faster.  To address this there is a need to (i) pivot activity and 

associated funding to focus on our environmental ambitions and as part of this 

approach stop activity counter to these ambitions; and (ii) once activity has 

been pivoted across whole system funding allocations, identify gaps in the 

nature and level of funding required to action and thus achieve our ambitions. 

 Conflicting and difficult trade-offs between agendas need to be faced 

head on. Policy and investment decisions need to be taken with the fullest 

possible understanding of the impacts of the proposition on the 2038 carbon 

neutrality target.  Where decisions are then taken which are counter to this 

ambition, the whole GM system needs the ability to deliver more and further 

mitigating actions to maintain a course to 2038.  

 An increased sense of urgency is required to meet this ambition.  GM 

should reframe actions required and should refer more directly to the need to 

take action now in order to meet our 2024 carbon budget, en route to 2038 

carbon neutrality.  

 

What the GM system can and needs to do… 

 

 Build on existing partnership working, adopting a cross-thematic approach / 

team to the refresh of the Environment Plan, to firmly embed the 

understanding, ownership and actions required in ‘everybody’s 

Page 57



 

24 

 

business’.  The existing 5 Year Environment Plan Board provides the ideal 

foundation from which to develop this broader partnership for the evolution and 

wider embedding of this agenda and driving the urgent action needed.  

 Address the need for urgent action, by reframing actions required and 

referring more directly to the need to take action now in order to meet our 2024 

carbon budget, en route to 2038 carbon neutrality. 

 Pivot activity and associated funding to focus on our environmental 

ambitions and as part of this approach stop activity counter to these 

ambitions; and (ii) once activity has been pivoted across whole system funding 

allocations, identify gaps in the nature and level of funding required to action 

and thus achieve our ambitions 

 There are some excellent examples of commissioned activity being delivered in 

GM which will support the carbon neutrality target.   There is scope however for 

further coordination / alignment of funding, commissioning and 

investment decisions, to deliver a more complete pipeline of programmes 

and interventions, which are complementary with each other and enable 

greater impact. 

 Effective and appropriately tailored and targeted activities will ensure GM 

activities are more aligned to this agenda and supportive of the 2038 target.  

Sector specific targeted activities are highly effective at engaging 

stakeholders, with direct and tangible impacts and actions.  There appears to 

be scope for a furthering of this approach in GM wide activities.  

 Broadening the use of impact assessment tools (such as the Decision 

Support Tool) at inception phases of policy and delivery design to fully 

understand the conflicting and difficult trade-off between agendas, amending 

policy/programme design to address issues identified or, where not possible, 

ensure that mitigating measures are included within design of the 

policy/programme. 

 Across GM there is a network of complex stakeholders, groups, agencies, 

organisations and communities.  In order for that complex network to continue 

to work effectively ensuring we build into all areas of work open, honest and 

timely communication mechanisms. We will seek to further strengthen and 

Page 58



 

25 

 

broaden mechanisms to ensure all parties are engaged with the agenda and 

proactively taking the relevant actions, with good vertical and horizontal 

communication channels, to ensure the right mix of people are engaged, 

inputting and responding. 

 Work with Government to further decentralise powers and resources which 

can unlock GM’s potential to deliver the GMS and national ambitions. 

 

  

Page 59



 

26 

 

A Fairer Greater Manchester 

Our Ambition… 

Greater Manchester will be a place where our people have good lives, with 

better health; better jobs; better homes; and better transport; A Greater 

Manchester of vibrant communities, a great place to grow up get on and 

grow old with inequalities reduced in all aspects of life. 

 

 

Where we are… 

 

Children living in relative low-income families: 

distribution by GM neighbourhood, 2021 

 

Source: Children in low-income families: local area statistics 

(Department for Work and Pensions, 2022) 

Just under a third (32%) of GM children were living in 

relative low-income families in 2021. There was significant 

variation between localities, and at neighbourhood level the 

gap was even wider, ranging from 5% to 72%. 

Employment rate gap by demographic group, GM 

working-age (16-64) population, 12 months to 

December 2021 

 

Source: Annual Population Survey (Office for National Statistics, 

2022) 

The employment rate for the GM working-age population 

in the year to December 2021 (72%) contrasted markedly 

with that for certain demographic groups: the employment 

rate gap was 3 percentage points for females, 4 points for 

older (50-64 year old) workers, 13 points for people from 

racially minoritised communities, and 21 points for people 

with a disability. 

Neighbourhood floor target: take-up of funded early 

education places for two-year olds, 2021 

Neighbourhood floor target: proportion of young 

people (Year 10s) reporting good or higher wellbeing, 

2021 

GM average, 31.5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

68.4% 68.1%
58.8%

50.7%

3.2% 3.5%
12.8%

20.9%

GM working-age population average, 71.6%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Females 50-64 year olds People from racially
minoritised communities

People with a disability

Employment rate Gap GM working-age population average

Page 60

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/LowIncomeHouseholds?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/LowIncomeHouseholds?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/WAPinEmployment?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

27 

 

 

Source: Department for Education / bespoke GM locality data 

(2021/22) 

Take-up of funded childcare and early education places 

for two-year-olds from more disadvantaged families in 2021 

varied across the GM localities from 57% to 88%.  The GMS 

floor target focuses on one priority neighbourhood in each GM 

locality, committing to improve take-up by ten percentage 

points by April 2024, to help close the gap with the rest of the 

locality.  This will benefit children’s educational, cognitive and 

socio-emotional outcomes, as well as supporting parents to 

balance home and work life. 

 

 

Source: Greater Manchester #BeeWell Survey (2021) 

The 2021 #BeeWell Survey showed that the proportion of 

young people (Year 10s) reporting good or higher 

wellbeing varied considerably, ranging from 36% to 56% 

across the 66 neighbourhoods.  Alongside a pan-GM 

target to improve from the city region baseline average of 

45%, the floor target commits to reducing the range or 

‘spread’ of scores across neighbourhoods, achieved by 

improving support and sharing best practice, place-based 

targeting and prioritisation where appropriate, and 

catalysing community-led ownership of wellbeing as a local 

objective that helps to create the conditions for young 

people to thrive. 

Neighbourhood Floor Target: premises unable to access 

download speeds of at least 30MBits/s per second, 2021 

 

 

Due to considerable sub-neighbourhood level variation, the 

digital download speed floor target focuses on smaller 

LSOA (lower-layer super output area) geographies.  The 

proportion of premises unable to access download speeds of 

at least 30 MBits/s in 2021 varied from 0% in some GM 

LSOAs to 71% in one more rural LSOA.  We are targeting the 

5% of GM LSOAs (84 in total) with more than 12.1% of 

premises unable to access speeds at this level.  The aim is to 

Proportion of adults who are current smokers, 2016-20 

 

 

Whilst overall smoking prevalence amongst the GM adult 

population as whole is falling, those employed in routine 

and manual occupations are considerably more likely to 

smoke (25% were current smokers in 2019, compared to 

an all adult rate of 15%).  

2020
14.9%

2020
12.1%

2024
10.0%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Smoking prevalence in adults (18+)

GM England GM target trajectory

The 2019 and 2020 data are 
not directly comparable due 
to Annual Population Survey 
methodological changes 
linked to the pandemic

Page 61

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-LifeReadiness/2YOFundedChildcare?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-LifeReadiness/2YOFundedChildcare?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-LifeReadiness/BeeWell?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-LifeReadiness/BeeWell?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-LifeReadiness/BeeWell?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-World-classDigitalInfrastructure/PremisesDownloadSpeeds?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-World-classDigitalInfrastructure/PremisesDownloadSpeeds?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-HealthInequalities/SMOKINGINDICATOR?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-HealthInequalities/SMOKINGINDICATOR?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-HealthInequalities/SMOKINGINDICATOR?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

28 

 

help address one of the core drivers of digital exclusion, as 

well as bringing growth and productivity benefits alongside 

 

 

 

 

What we are already doing as a Greater Manchester system… 

 

Some of the GM activity currently supporting our ambition includes: 

 

Better Health 

 Public Service Reform including:  

Integrated Care System - The transition of GM’s health and care system from 

the current health & Care partnership structures to the new Integrated Care 

Partnership is currently underway. 

Population Health - Proposals for Population Health functional requirements at 

GM and locality / place-based levels were agreed at the ICS Transition Board 

in February 2022. Confirmed continued investment in good start and good work 

activities. A Build Back Fairer Expert Assessment Group has been established 

to provide expert interpretation of inequalities intelligence and data as a means 

of identifying priorities and driving activity 

Delivering Services in Place – Through the Unified Model of Public Services - 

Development of health and care Locality Boards, to determine and drive local 

priorities for health and care system under ICS development now underway. 

 Wellbeing (including social prescribing) including: 

GM average, 
14.9%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Routine and
manual

occupations

Never worked /
long-term

unemployed

Intermediate
occupations

Managerial and
professional
occupations

Page 62



 

29 

 

A Live Well working group has been established with membership from HSCP, 

GMCA, VCSE. The Live Well programme will build on local prescribing 

services and create a GM Live Well minimum offer, designed with communities 

and offering routes into supported activities, information and advice across all 

10 districts.  

GM Mental Wellbeing Programme: This programme is aimed at: building the 

capacity and capability within the GM system to promote good mental health; 

challenging the stigma associated with poor mental health; and strengthen 

system leadership. 

 Early intervention and prevention including: programmes focusing on 

supporting vulnerable & marginalised women, domestic violence, older people, 

drugs and alcohol, making smoking history, ending new cases of HIV, diabetes 

prevention 

 Children & Young People:  programmes focused around addressing: Obesity in 

Reception aged children - GM is a pathfinder site for an NHSE national 

integration pilot (one of 5 nationally) with investment of £300k for 3 years from 

2021/22; childhood asthma, Early Years integrated digital solution, improved 

maternity outcomes 

 Physical activity:  GM Moving is the comprehensive plan to reduce inactivity 

and increase participation in physical activity and sport that is aligned to the 

Greater Manchester Population Health Plan priority themes and wider reform 

agenda. GM Moving brings together partners in Greater Manchester, including 

GM Active to work together collaboratively. Activity focused around: Active lives 

for all; Widening Access and Participation in Sport, Leisure, Walking and Active 

Travel; Active Places; Integrated system; Culture Change. The programme is 

reflective of prioritising, resourcing and delivering results. 

 Healthcare COVID Recovery: The recovery plan will build upon the successful 

collaborative and structured approach employed during COVID to manage the 

significant challenges of recovery. The plan will build upon the previously 

agreed Provider Federation Board (PFB) operating model and put forward 

areas of focus - it will cover Urgent Care; Elective Care; specialist and fragile 

Page 63



 

30 

 

services; Cancer; Mental Health; Clinical support services; Community 

services; Health inequalities; Finance; Workforce and Digital. 

 

Better Jobs 

 Foundational Economy Programme: Work is ongoing within both existing 

support structures and in creating new ones to understand better what works, 

as well as demonstrating leadership and building networks and collaborations 

that increase the capacity for positive change for both workers and businesses 

in the foundational economy. A Fund is being developed to stimulate a series 

of experiential projects addressing specific "Challenge Areas" where innovative 

solutions could improve outcomes in the Foundational Economy and provide 

learning on the resources and policy levers required to create wider 

development, and develop innovation capacity in the foundational economy. 

Four sectors that the fund will support projects in are Health and Social Care, 

Early Years and Childcare, Retail and Hospitality, Leisure & Tourism. 

Complementary skills activity has also been commissioned, including new 

social care progression programmes. 

 GM’s real Living Wage (RLW) City Region campaign: In November 2021, 

Greater Manchester became the first Living Wage City-Region officially 

recognised by the Living Wage Foundation. Through close partnership with the 

Foundation, Greater Manchester has put in place a dedicated taskforce 

working across different sectors of the economy to engage with employers and 

encourage them to support our ambitions. As of the start of April 2022, there 

are 466 accredited employers across Greater Manchester. Building on the 

RLW campaign, it was announced in March that by the end of the year, more 

than half of Greater Manchester’s 10 boroughs will be paying the real Living 

Wage to directly and indirectly employed adult social care staff, soon to be 

£9.90 per hour. The remaining boroughs are on track to deliver the RLW for 

their adult social care staff soon after. 

 Progressive Procurement & Social Value: It was announced in March that 

GMCA and local authorities will move by 2023 to only procuring from 

Page 64



 

31 

 

companies that pay the real Living Wage, support good employment and have 

developed plans to become carbon neutral.  In addition, a commitment was 

also made to improve supplier diversity by reserving some contracts for GM 

SMEs or VCSE organisations.  Furthermore, GM NHS has been included in 

discussions with GMCA around “Driving Social Value in Greater Manchester 

Public Procurement” with a joint action plan being developed.  There are 

opportunities presented through the development of the ICS but these will 

require capacity and embedding in the early design stages. The Growth 

Company has published a Progressive Procurement Policy and is tracking 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion measures for their supply chain. This baseline 

will give them a better understanding of the impacts of procurement patterns. 

 Greater Manchester Good Employment Charter:  a voluntary membership and 

assessment scheme which has been created to improve employment 

standards across all GM employers, regardless of size, sector or geography. 

Organisations – including public sector bodies, private sector businesses, 

service providers, the third sector, and voluntary and community organisations 

– can sign up to the Charter. Over 850 employers are engaged with the Charter 

Unit as of the start of April. 

 GM Age Friendly Employer Toolkit: GMCA has become the first UK city-region 

to launch a toolkit designed to help and inform employers on the positive 

impact an age-friendly workplace can bring 

 Working Well Programmes: Working Well refers to a family of services that 

support people in Greater Manchester who are experiencing or at risk of long-

term unemployment. Across the Working Well programmes almost 55,000 

people have been supported, with 17,500 supported into work, bringing in 

support and investment from a range of agencies, including direct health & care 

investment in the Early Help programme. Contracts are now live also for sector 

specific skills contracts (responsive to employer demand), and which have a 

focus on real living wage employment.  

 

Better Homes 

Page 65



 

32 

 

 Places for Everyone: the Joint Development Plan Document for 9 of the 10 

districts, sets the spatial planning framework in which development can be 

brought forward within GM. It seeks to take advantage of the opportunities for 

delivering high levels of economic growth, whilst addressing the challenges for 

securing genuinely inclusive growth and prosperity, including making the most 

of the key assets at the core of the conurbation. boosting significantly the 

competitiveness of the northern parts of Greater Manchester, whilst ensuring 

that the southern area continues to make a considerable contribution to growth 

by making the most of its key assets. Set within the context of Places for 

Everyone, six Growth Locations [LINK] have been identified which represent 

opportunities for the whole city-region to bring forward development at a scale 

that can drive the transformational change we want to see in GM 

 Delivery of Affordable Homes: A Tripartite Agreement has been signed 

between GMCA, GM Housing Providers and GMHSCP bringing together a 

broad coalition of key organisations working together (with Homes England) to 

address housing, place, health and inequality issues at GM scale.  There are 

several different groups of households under particular pressure to be able to 

live in decent and affordable housing, which will only increase with the cost of 

living crisis. GMCA has committed with Greater Manchester Housing Providers, 

Homes England and other partners to address challenges and aim to deliver 

50,000 affordable homes by 2038 with at least 30,000 being net zero carbon 

social rented homes 

 Decent Homes: Work is ongoing to retrofit and adapt existing homes to provide 

safe, warm and affordable homes for all ages. By August 2022 expected 

outputs of c.2200 domestic properties will be retrofitted, with increased EPC 

ratings. 

 Safe Homes: The Gender-Based Violence Board has defined ‘Housing’ as one 

of its priorities over the next 12-18 months. A multi-agency working group will 

be established over the coming weeks with a view in due course to implement 

the Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance’s ‘Whole Housing Approach’ across 

Greater Manchester. 

Page 66



 

33 

 

 System Change to End Rough Sleeping: There is continued investment in and 

development of new ways of working to end rough sleeping through regional 

programmes, including A Bed Every Night, Housing First, Community 

Accommodation Programme (Tier 3), and the Young Persons Homelessness 

Prevention Pathfinder. Rough sleeping has reduced by 57% in four years and 

will continue to innovate to progress this target. In addition, work is progressing 

towards a coordinated Health system response to homelessness and rough 

sleeping with a focus of embedding principles of Inclusion Health 

 Housing Investment Fund -GMCA manages a loan fund which supports 

housebuilders deliver projects within GM. Since its inception it has invested 

£571m into residential property supporting the development of 7,693 new 

homes. The Housing Fund is on track to achieve its target of delivering 10,000 

new homes across GM. The Fund was £300m at its inception in 2015 - to date 

that funding has been recycled 1.9 times. It continues to support a variety of 

schemes ranging from SME developers delivering small schemes of family 

homes to large strategically important apartment schemes in Manchester City 

Centre and Stockport Town Centre. The GMCA retains the surpluses’ 

generated by operating the Fund which have been used to support GM/District 

capacity instrumental in securing further funding and driving regeneration 

across the conurbation.. 

 

Better Transport 

 Bee Network delivery including via CRSTS and Bus Services Improvement 

Plan  

GM’s vision is for an integrated transport system which will join buses, trams, 

tram-train, cycling and walking by 2024, with rail incorporated by 2030, 

transforming how people travel in Greater Manchester. Our hope is that 

designing and delivering public transport and active travel within one system – 

with local control and accountability – will deliver an inclusive transport 

experience. 

Page 67



 

34 

 

 

Funding via the City Regional Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS), Bus 

Service Improvement Plan and other funding (such as the Levelling Up Fund, 

from which several GM local authorities have been successful in securing 

funding) will form a significant step towards the Bee Network, as the first city 

region to take forward plans for bus franchising, integrated with our Metrolink 

network and with the largest cycling and walking network in development in the 

UK. Moving to the franchised bus network will help to address affordability 

issues.  Other initiatives to address affordability and accessibility include:  Our 

Pass - membership scheme for young people who live in GM, and supports 

both school leavers and care leavers;  and the ongoing roll-out of the Access 

for All programme and development of potential new rail stations. 

 Streets for All Schemes GM’s ambition is to design more welcoming and 

greener streets - which enable people to incorporate more physical activity into 

their daily lives; which have clean air; which are safe and secure for everyone; 

which provide good access to public transport and which are accessible for 

those with mobility impairments. Streets for All helps to support both inclusivity 

and address our environmental concerns.  A number of strands of this work are 

being driven forward including: work in neighbourhoods, town and city centres, 

high streets and corridor proposals. 

 

Good Lives: Children & Young People 

 Supporting Families Programme: The programme supports families to access 

the help they need to address multiple disadvantages through whole family 

approaches, predominantly delivered through keyworkers. The Government 

has extended the programme for a further three years, with GM set to receive 

c£15m in 2022/23 with the expectation that a minimum of 4511 additional 

families will be supported.  

 School Readiness Programme: An early education focus on improving take up 

of funded 2 & 3 year old early education offer.  The baseline of the floor target 

Page 68



 

35 

 

has now been established.    Activity under this programme includes targeted 

comms campaigns for hard to reach communities. 

 GM Early Education:: The pilot programme provides an extension of the Early 

Years Application to be used in early years setting across GM, providing 

additional information on communication needs using established 

assessments. 

 GM Apprenticeship & Careers Service: Business opportunities: GMACs helps 

young people explore and design their next steps before leaving school. The 

website brings together different stages of the career planning process, helping 

students navigate the choices open to them and develop the tools to start 

working life. 

 GM ESF Not in Employment, Education or Training (NEETs) and Youth 

Employment programmes: include: Skills Support for Unemployed (led by The 

Growth Company) – offering one to one support to young people aged 15-24 to 

increase confidence and access employability skills; and GM Future Workforce 

Fund (led by The Princes Trust) – offering a range of courses and tailored 

support to provide vulnerable young people with the practical and financial 

support needed to stabilise their lives, develop self-esteem and confidence, 

and gain valuable skills for work. Going forward it will be important to maximise 

the delivery of programmes offered, including new programmes such as a GM 

ESF NEET & Youth Employment programme, which will support 6,000 young 

people aged 15-24. The £10m ESF NEET and Youth Employment programmes 

have been commissioned and gone live. 

 

Good Lives:  Addressing Poverty 

 GM Food Security Action Network: The GM wide network is now well 

established with three multi-sector action groups formed and focusing on, 1. 

Increasing uptake of healthy start vouchers, 2. Ending holiday hunger, 3. Doing 

more for those that miss out.  A range of activities are delivered to support 

these with a 12 month action plan being developed 

Page 69



 

36 

 

  Poverty in GM -  work is underway led by GM Poverty Action to identify 

practical steps and actions that GMCA and partners might take to tackle 

poverty across the city-region 

 Care Leavers Digital Support: A pilot has been launched to test models for 

addressing digital poverty in care leavers, responsive to analysis suggesting all 

3,900 care leavers in GM are believed to be digitally excluded in some way. 

 Digital Inclusion Taskforce and Digital Inclusion Action Network: A collaboration 

of over 150 public, private and VCSE sector members to share information, 

resource and good practice and drive forward scaled delivery of initiative to 

address digital exclusion.  The network, meets monthly to drive direct action to 

deliver digital enablement across GM.  The focus of the network is to respond 

to the needs of the target groups u25s, over75s and disabled people. Other 

initiatives include:  Tackling Digital Poverty, GM Digital Inclusive Homes, GM 

Care Leavers Initiative, Digital Bootcamps, GM Data Bank, GM Single Point of 

Contact, GM Digital Technology Fund. 

 

Pension Top Up Campaign 

 A new programme of activities has been agreed in February, with social media 

assets and messaging around cost of living.  The promotion of the availability 

of pension credits supports those people who are eligible to access the funds 

available to them, although capacity challenges have been highlighted to meet 

the demand.    

 

Good Lives: Safer Communities 

 Policing and crime: Improvements in victims’ services are a key priority for 

GMP, with evidence being provided by and responsive to the Victim’s Survey 

results. The digitisation of victim’s services will be integrated within the 

commissioning of the new service and will provide better quality, more timely 

information, enabling service improvement. Work is underway to increase the 

diversity of the police and fire services at all levels.  

Page 70



 

37 

 

 

Our self-assessment has shown in order for GM to improve 

further we need to respond to the issues below: 

 

To meet our ambition GM needs to embed equalities more systematically 

into all thematic areas. This should include a review of current activity to 

determine where changes or necessary pivots could be made and through 

more effective data collection, analysis and use maximise targeting of 

resources to meet the evidenced need.  

 

 

 There is good systemwide understanding and concern of the likelihood that 

inequalities will be further exacerbated by the cost of living crisis.  However, in 

reality and rather starkly, this means that inequalities persisting at current 

levels going forward may actually reflect success/progress being made due to 

the increased nature of the scale of the challenge. There is a clear 

understanding of the need to target activity to ensure those experiencing 

discrimination or who are achieving poorer outcomes are supported to 

succeed, and examples of where this is done successful from which to build.  

However, responding to equalities and fairer issues are not routinely, 

systematically embedded into all thematic areas, with the necessary 

policy delivery or system ‘pivots’ to meet the challenges.  GM’s use of 

evidence based policy and decision making was evident throughout the 

breadth of activities.  There does however seem to be scope for the greater 

and more consistent collection and use of equalities data to further target 

policy and delivery across the whole system.  

 The GM Equalities Panels provide excellent forum for discussion of issues and 

co-design of policy with communities of identity.  To further develop GM could 

Page 71



 

38 

 

more routinely and systematically draw on community insight across all 

thematic areas.  

 The GM system is a highly successful test bed, innovator and early adopter.  

There are many examples of pilot programmes delivering across GM targeted 

at different cohorts or places.  GM needs to more routinely roll out these 

pilots to deliver pan-GM approaches and responses, and where 

resources are limited the learning, good practice and knowledge gained 

through the piloting of approaches needs to be embedded within the GM 

system and used to inform future policy and delivery.  

 The ambitions described in GM’s reform white paper called for ‘unified public 

services’ which has the potential to support the system to better respond to 

community needs, delivered locally in place and appropriately targeted to local 

circumstances.  The commitment to these approaches have been adopted by 

the whole GM system and provide the ideal platform from which to deliver 

some of the GMS ambitions.  However, the prevention agenda and the 

expansion and evolution of place-based integrated working across all 

services has however slowed across GM.   This has happened for a number 

of legitimate reasons including current financial pressures on agencies, post-

pandemic growth in demand, broader system capacity and resourcing all 

playing a part.  The current focus on the cost of living crisis requires an urgent 

and reactive response.  However, if GMS ambitions are to be achieved the GM 

system will also need to build the capacity to prioritise and reenergise the 

proactive prevention agenda and place-based integrated working, in particular 

at neighbourhood level.   

 

What the GM system can and needs to do… 

 Act with urgency to address inequality, recognising a lack of pivoted 

action coupled with the cost of living crisis is creating/has created a 

burning platform 

 The development of the GMS dashboards GMS performance dashboards 

(draft) provide a comprehensive and robust evidence and data resource for use 

Page 72

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSREFRESHDRAFT-LandingIndicator/SharedCommitments?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSREFRESHDRAFT-LandingIndicator/SharedCommitments?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

39 

 

by the whole GM system. In order to fully embed and respond to the 

inequalities agenda, the whole GM system needs to adopt more consistent 

approaches to the collection, analysis and use of data in the design and 

development of policy, but also in the collection of services user data for 

delivered activities 

 Proactively draw on community insight, for example through discussion at 

Equality Panels, to discuss issues and co-design of policy with communities of 

identity. 

 Examples of piloted approaches, new innovations and targeted interventions 

are proving highly effective and providing many examples of good practice 

across GM, but they also produce a patchy or uneven set of interventions 

across all communities and places.   There is potential for greater evaluation 

and expansion of piloted activities, seeking to embed good practice pan-

GM, and build greater mechanisms for minimum standards and minimum 

offers available to all people and places.  This would also facilitate the 

sharing of learning and embedding of experiences from the design and delivery 

of interventions which GM needs to systemically work from in developing new 

ideas.  

 Broadening the use of impact assessment tools (such as the Decision 

Support Tool), and looking further than just the Equalities Impact Assessment, 

will help to ensure the full impacts on communities and places are understood 

and that policy and delivery is appropriate adapted and targeted to meet need.   

 Post-pandemic and the cost of living crisis has resulted in a significant set of 

responses across agencies to crisis repose and solutions to immediate 

challenges.  However, if GM is to meet our fairer ambitions in the GMS the 

system as a whole needs to consider how to reenergise the proactive 

prevention agenda and integrated place-based working, in the face of the 

reactive responses as well as wider financial and demand pressures 

 Track and monitor progress of the three neighbourhood floor targets, with the 

whole GM system responding is any area is falling behind.  

Page 73



 

40 

 

 Work with Government to further decentralise powers and resources which 

can unlock GM’s potential to deliver the GMS and national ambitions. 

 

  

Page 74



 

41 

 

A More Prosperous Greater Manchester in all parts of the 

conurbation 

Our Ambition… 

Greater Manchester will flourish driving local and UK growth through a 

fairer, greener, growing economy built on our innovation assets, putting 

people and place first, and recognising our global strengths and progressive 

thinking in advanced materials and manufacturing, health innovation, digital 

and creative, and clean growth 

 

Where we are… 

 

Business births per 10,000 working-age population, 

2015-2019 

 

 

Source: Business Demography – 2019: Enterprise Deaths, Births 

and Survivals; Mid-year population estimates (both Office for 

National Statistics, 2019) 

 

Start-up rates for new businesses business births in 2019 

(the latest available data) peaked in 2017 and have 

declined since, in part likely to reflect business uncertainty 

following the Brexit referendum result.    There is variation in 

business birth patterns across the localities  

Proportion of employees paid above the Real Living 

Wage  

 

 

The proportion of GM employees earning above the Real 

Living Wage increased between 2020 and 2021, reaching 

81% in the latter year, sub-regionally there is a locality gap 

of 13 percentage points.  

60

80

100

120

140

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Greater Manchester England North West

2021
83.0%

2021
80.9%

2024
88.0%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

%
 o

f 
em

p
lo

ye
es

 p
ai

d
 a

b
o

ve
 t

h
e 

R
LW

GM England GM Target trajectory

Page 75

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/BusinessBirths?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/BusinessBirths?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-BetterJobsGoodEmployment/EmployeesEarningAbovetheRealLivingWage?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-BetterJobsGoodEmployment/EmployeesEarningAbovetheRealLivingWage?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-BetterJobsGoodEmployment/EmployeesEarningAbovetheRealLivingWage?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

42 

 

The gap between female and male employees has narrowed 

since 2018, but remains high at 3.6 percentage points. 

 

Source: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (Office for National 

Statistics, 2017-21); GMCA modelling of target trajectory 

Median resident earnings – hourly pay, 2017-21 (real 

terms)  

 

 

Source: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (Office for National 

Statistics, 2017-21).  Data are quoted at 2021 prices 

 

In 2021, the median hourly wage for GM residents (all 

workers) was £13.03, £1.20 below the England average.  

Before adjustment for inflation, GM wages increased 

steadily over the period from 2017, but in real terms they 

decreased by £0.15 between 2020 and 2021.  There was 

considerable variation across the GM localities, and 

between female and male workers. 

Number of engagements by the Growth Company with 

Greater Manchester businesses, 2018/19-2020/21 

 

Source: Growth Company Performance Management Framework 

(2018/19-2020/21) 

Recent data on Growth Company engagements with GM 

businesses are heavily skewed by the impact of the 

pandemic, demonstrating the increased support that was 

made possible by setting up a new call centre, 

#HereForBusiness, in response to heightened demand. Just 

over a quarter (27%) of the owners of businesses supported 

by the Growth Company were female, and around 1 in 8 

(13%) were from an ethnic background. 

Proportion of the working-age population with Level 4+ 

qualifications, 2017-21 

 

Proportion of the working-age population with sub-Level 

2 qualifications, 2017-21 

 

74% 73%
77% 78%

79%

82% 81%
84% 82% 83%

0

2

4

6

8

10

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

G
ap

 b
et

w
en

 m
al

es
 a

n
d

 f
em

al
es

 
(p

er
ce

n
ta

ge
 p

o
in

ts
)

%
 o

f 
em

p
lo

ye
es

 p
ai

d
 a

b
o

ve
 t

h
e 

R
LW

Female employees Male employees Gap

£13.03

£14.23

£11

£12

£13

£14

£15

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

GM England

2018/2019 Q4
11,138

2019/2020 Q4
9,580

2020/2021 Q4
30,840

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

2018/2019 Q4 2019/2020 Q4 2020/2021 Q4

Page 76

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/MedianPay?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/MedianPay?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/MedianPay?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-ProsperousandSustainableBusinesses/BusinessesEngaged?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-ProsperousandSustainableBusinesses/BusinessesEngaged?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

43 

 

 

Source: Annual Population Survey (Office for National Statistics, 

2017-21) 

39% of the GM working-age population had qualifications at 

Level 4 and above (a higher apprenticeship, or other 

qualifications equivalent to the first year of a degree) in the 

year to December 2021, ranging from 27% to 55% across 

the localities. 

 

 

Source: Annual Population Survey (Office for National Statistics, 

2017-21) 

In the year to December 2021, around a quarter (24%) of the 

GM working-age population had sub-Level 2 qualifications 

(equivalent to 5+ GCSE standard passes); over time, the 

data show an improving trend.  As with higher-level skills, 

there was considerable variance across the GM localities, 

ranging from 16% with sub-Level 2 qualifications to 30%.   

Adult Education Budget qualifications – achievements 

by level, 2020/21 

 

Source: GM Adult Education Budget monitoring data, 2020/21 

We have an ambition to upskill residents through targeted 

use of the devolved Adult Education Budget (AEB), and 

particularly to support progression through to Level 2 (for 

essential life skills) and onward to Level 3 (for relevant 

vocational skills).  The 2020/21 data show that well over half 

(61%) of the AEB-funded qualifications achieved by GM 

residents were below Level 2; around a quarter (23%) were 

Level 2 courses, and 1% Level 3 (the remaining 16% were 

uncertificated).  

Apprenticeship qualifications – achievements by level, 

2020/21  

 

 

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency, 2020/21 

Nearly half (47%) of apprenticeship achievements in 

2020/21 were advanced apprenticeships (Level 3, equivalent 

to 2 A-level passes), and a fifth (20%) were higher 

apprenticeships (Level 4 and above, or from the first year of 

an undergraduate degree upwards).  The remainder (32%) 

were intermediate (Level 2, or 5+ GCSE standard passes). 

 

What we are already doing as a Greater Manchester system… 

39.1%

43.1%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

GM England

23.6%

21.8%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

GM England

Level 3, 
1%

Page 77

https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/Level4?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/Level4?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/Level4?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/SubLevel2?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedOutcomes/SubLevel2?%3Aembed=y&%3Aiid=1&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-ASkilledWorkforce/AEB?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y
https://www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/t/GMCA/views/GMSSharedCommitment-ASkilledWorkforce/Apprenticeships?%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y


 

44 

 

 

Some of the GM activity currently supporting our ambition includes: 

 

Places for Everyone: Delivery of the Places for Everyone Plan, setting the spatial 

planning framework in which development in nine of the districts can be brought 

forward. The overall spatial strategy of the Plan seeks to take advantage of the 

opportunities for delivering high levels of economic growth, whilst addressing the 

challenges for securing genuinely inclusive growth and prosperity. Set within the 

context of Places for Everyone, six ‘Growth Locations  [LINK] each provides a 

platform to lever the unique opportunities and assets within those locations to 

respond to the variety of needs and challenges present in different parts of the 

conurbation whilst also representing opportunities for the wider city-region have 

been identified which represent opportunities for the whole city-region to bring 

forward development at a scale that can drive the transformational change we 

want to see in GM. 

 

Innovation GM:  Led by business, scientific, academic and local government 

leaders, Innovation Greater Manchester is a model for creating a network of 

innovation zones across towns and cities and leveraging science assets and 

strengths to support innovation-led business growth in Greater Manchester, the 

North West, and the wider North.  It is closely aligned with UK national policy 

which seeks to deliver the Government’s laudable aims of achieving 2.4% of GDP 

related to R&D, establishing the UK as a science superpower and supporting 

international trade through global Britain. It demonstrates how deeper local-

national partnerships, underpinned by shared outcomes and ring-fenced funds, 

can deliver more and better.  The recent Levelling Up White paper made a 

headline commitment that BEIS will invest at least 55% of its R&D funding outside 

the Golden Triangle by 2024-25. In addition it announced three ‘Innovation 

Accelerators’ in Greater Manchester, West Midlands and Greater Glasgow. £100m 

is available to support these plans - there is a private sector match funding 

contribution required. GMCA is working with Government officials on a co-design 

Page 78



 

45 

 

process for the Accelerator, part of which will include developing a GM Innovation 

Plan and a Business Case to draw down the available funding.  

 

Frontier Sectors: 

Advanced Materials & Manufacturing:  Key strands of activity driving forward the 

Advanced Materials and Manufacturing Frontier sector include the Greater 

Manchester Advanced Materials and Manufacturing Alliance (GAMMA). Work has 

also started on developing a full business case for investment for a ‘sustainable 

materials translational research centre’ to be located in the Atom Valley growth 

location. This centre would complement the Advanced Machinery and Productivity 

Institute (AMPI). In addition, programme delivery continues on the Made Smarter 

programme which is focused on helping manufacturers to modernise by adopting 

digital technologies enabling them to become more productive and profitable, and 

support the growth of Greater Manchester’s economy 

 

Health Innovation: The Innovation Partnership on Healthy Ageing continues to 

meet regularly and work is currently underway to create linkages into both 

Innovation Greater Manchester and the new integrated care structure for the city-

region.  Other activity includes: NHS at Home - A two-year programme is in 

development, building from the Covid experience, this work will create a blueprint 

for optimisation of “virtual wards”. This will include standard operating models and 

effective inclusive digital solutions and Digital Care Record. 

 

Digital and Culture: A Digital Cluster Development Plan is being developed with 

evidence-based proposals to maximise economic growth from GM's key digital 

specialisms and assets.  The Plan focuses on  Cyber, E-Commerce and Median 

and Content. An eContent proposition is being developed which sets out the sub-

sector assets of GM. In addition, there is collaborative development of a GM Cyber 

Strategy to uplift the sector and shape future working. Additionally,  the North West 

Cyber Resilience Centre is a not-for-profit venture between North West Police 

Page 79



 

46 

 

forces and Manchester Digital aiming to equip business within our region with the 

skills and knowledge to protect themselves from online attacks. The COVID 

pandemic has hit the culture and leisure sector hard and through the Culture 

Recovery Plan, work is ongoing to draw on all available resources to support the 

sector, taking advantage of significant digital advances to widen access to culture, 

and a greater love and pride in our local place 

 

Clean Growth : Ten Local Area Energy Plans and 1 GM Masterplan are under 

development and will be completed by July 22.  These will include activity 

associated with our 6 Growth Locations. An Energy Innovation Agency with 

Greater Manchester’s Universities, public and private sector partners. The aim of 

the Agency is to accelerate the commercialisation of technologies which can 

reduce carbon emissions. Work is ongoing to fully establish the Agency and 

support a pipeline of innovations to commercialisation 

 

Provision for Business:  

The Growth Company Business Growth Hub supports businesses at all stages 

of their growth journey with a broad range of services.  The Hub offers expert one-

to-one and peer-to-peer business support, events, specialist programmes, funding 

and much more.  

The Business, Productivity, Innovation and Inclusive Growth Programme is 

delivered in support of creating a thriving and productive economy in all parts of 

GM. The programme focuses on building resilience and delivering sustainable and 

inclusive growth across the GM business base, enabling local businesses to 

survive and thrive. The programme has been extended to June 2023.  

 

GM Leadership & Management programmes are providing a range of tools, 

resources and training to develop leadership and management skills and capacity 

across GM businesses.  The Leadership Hive will bring together the best 

leadership and management training into one place.   Open SME is now live, the 

Page 80



 

47 

 

realisation of a £2m investment to support SME leaders to access world-class 

business leadership training, working collaboratively across GMCA, the Growth 

Hub and GM universities to develop an online modular learning platform for SME 

leaders.  

 

MIDAS is the inward investment promotion agency for Greater Manchester, with a 

strategic aim to secure significant levels of new investment for the city region to 

create and safeguard jobs. Performance remains strong in terms of projects 

concluding, with 51 project wins to date, creating 4,849 jobs and safeguarding 922. 

Project wins are 31% higher than this time last year and jobs created is now over 

double the YTD pre-COVID19 average of 2,350. 

 

Innovation and Angel Finance: High-innovation potential, early-stage businesses 

haven't always been able to access the growth capital they need. GC Angels was 

formed to respond this imbalance in the early-stage equity market across the 

North. It invests alongside angel investors and funds, de-risking and unlocking 

deals with a focus on exciting, high-growth opportunities innovating across digital, 

creative and technology sectors 

 

Innovation and growth finance: GMCA manages its own investment funds. Its 

focus is to help companies operating in the key industrial sectors get access to the 

finance they need to grow. It achieves this via direct investment into GM based 

businesses alongside private sector investment and the creation of sector specific 

investment funds 

 

Journey to Net Zero is a fully funded online programme exclusively for SMEs in 

Greater Manchester that want to get on the path to net zero emissions, but aren’t 

sure where to start. With expert support, businesses build a strategic plan to cut 

their carbon footprint, reduce costs, minimise risk and capitalise on the many 

opportunities awaiting you in the net zero world. Activity focused on Journey to Net 

Page 81



 

48 

 

Zero (and Bee Net Zero) will thus deliver on multiple agenda – supporting both a 

More Prosperous and Greener GM. 

 

Bee Net Zero is a Business Engagement Programme launched in October with 

targets of 12.5k/10% of GM businesses pledged to the Net Zero approach per 

annum and/or 287.5k/10% KtCO2 of carbon footprint of GM businesses pledged to 

the Net Zero approach per annum with ambition to scale up further if Business 

Rates Funding is confirmed.  

 

Self-employed support (including Enterprising You): Enterprising You is a 

government-funded programme specially designed to support self-employed 

individuals, including those who work in the gig economy and small business 

owners in Greater Manchester 

 

GM Digital Business Support:  Business support is being provided through the 

Growth Company channels and vehicles including: The Digital Innovation 

Programme; Made Smarter; Digital and Technology Theme Support; ESF Skills 

Support for the Workforce; Digital Springboard, Tech adoption Service, Global 

Scale Up, Greater Connected, Exceed and Creative Accelerator Programmes; 

Creative Leaders Festival and through the efforts of Digital Account Managers in 

each LA area. 

 

Foundational Economy Programme: Work is ongoing within both existing 

support structures and in creating new ones to understand better what works, as 

well as demonstrating leadership and building networks and collaborations that 

increase the capacity for positive change for both workers and businesses in the 

foundational economy. A Fund is being developed to stimulate a series of 

experiential projects addressing specific "Challenge Areas" where innovative 

solutions could improve outcomes in the Foundational Economy and provide 

learning on the resources and policy levers required to create wider development, 

Page 82



 

49 

 

and develop innovation capacity in the foundational economy. Four sectors that 

the fund will support projects in are: Health and Social Care, Early Years and 

Childcare, Retail and Hospitality, Leisure & Tourism. Workers and enterprises in 

these four sectors have seen the most significant changes due to Covid 19 and 

EU-exit; have long-standing issues with labour markets and progression routes 

(caused by cost-focused business models and cultural issues about working in 

service), share labour markets (workers move between them) and are the furthest 

from existing economic policy and programmes. They are often distant from 

innovation funding and support and their workforce contains larger numbers of 

female workers and workers from minority ethnic groups.  Activity focused on the 

Foundational Economy will thus deliver on multiple agenda – supporting both a 

More Prosperous and Fairer GM. Complementary skills activity has also been 

commissioned related to the Foundational Economy, including new social care 

progression programmes 

 

Social Enterprise/Cooperative Activity: GMCA has launched a co-design 

process for the development of a GM Community Wealth Hub to support and grow 

co-operatives, mutuals, social and community enterprises, staffed by people from 

the co-operative and community sector who understand the market’. This 

addressed one of the strands of community wealth building directly – plural 

ownership of the economy. In addition, the Social Enterprise Action Plan continues 

to be delivered, coordinated through the Social Enterprise Advisory Group. 

 

Progressive Procurement: It was announced in March that GMCA and local 

authorities will move by 2023 to only procuring from companies that pay the real 

Living Wage, support good employment and have developed plans to become 

carbon neutral.   In addition, a commitment was made also improve supplier 

diversity by reserving some contracts for GM SMEs or VCSE organisations.  

Furthermore, GM NHS has been included in discussions with GMCA around 

“Driving Social Value in Greater Manchester Public Procurement” with a joint 

action plan being developed.  There are opportunities presented through the 

Page 83



 

50 

 

development of the ICS but will require capacity and embedding in the early 

design stages. The Growth Company has published a Progressive Procurement 

Policy and is tracking Equality, Diversity and Inclusion measures for their supply 

chain. This baseline will give them a better understanding of the impacts of 

procurement patterns. 

 

Working with Employer representative bodies to develop GM Local Skills 

Improvement Plan (LSIP): Development and funding for LSIPs are referenced in 

Levelling Up white paper, with leadership expected from Employer Representative 

Bodies. Local Skills Improvement Plans (LSIPs) aim to: put employers at the 

centre of the skills system; build a stronger and more dynamic partnership 

between employers and further education providers; and allow provision to be 

more responsive to the skills needs of employers in local labour markets. LSIPs 

will set out: the current and future skills needs; and how local provision needs to 

change to help people develop the skills they need to get good jobs and increase 

their prospects GM Chamber of Commerce currently exploring local LSIP options. 

 

Employment & Skills Delivery Programmes: There are a range of programmes 

being delivered which provide employment and skills support, with targeted 

support available across places and population groups. Locally commissioned and 

delivered activity has been developed responsive to employer and economic need, 

and with targeted interventions for particular cohorts eg GM Age Friendly employer 

toolkit, Future Workforce Fund programme, ESF NEET and Youth Employment 

programmes, Working Well programmes, Apprenticeship Levy matchmaking 

service, AEB, GMACs, Bridge GM.  

 

Skills - Responding to needs of the economy: Sector specific skills training 

activity is targeted at sectors with skills shortages and with forecast growth in 

demand.  The Fast Track Digital Workforce Fund is a joint venture between 

Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport, Greater Manchester Combined 

Page 84



 

51 

 

Authority and Lancashire Digital Skills Partnership, developed to address locally 

identified digital skills gaps and support Greater Manchester and Lancashire 

residents with accessible routes into digital employment. Future Workforce Fund 

has now supported almost 5,000 young people with 27% supported into a positive 

destination.” Other digital programmes include: GM Digital Curriculum, GM Digital 

Talent Pipeline, Digital Bootcamps. Significant investment is being put into the 

retrofit skills programme to meet the demand to be able to retrofit GM homes and 

buildings to improve efficiency of buildings and make more homes warm, safe and 

affordable for GM residents, this is alongside other wider investment in skills 

training to support the wider construction industry.  The Skills for Growth 

programmes provides a range of sector specific targeted activities to support the 

GM economy’s needs.  However it is not clear whether the scale of intervention 

will meet the growing need. The Local Growth Fund has funded 14 FE Capital 

projects, 10 of which have now completed and 4 of which are in delivery and 

making significant progress towards completion.   

 

Connected transport activities: Recognising the role of transport as a crucial 

enabler of access to places, services and centres, integrated transport 

developments and programmes form a key part of activity to support prosperity. 

The Bee Network is a fundamental strand of this providing interconnected, reliable, 

affordable public transport and active travel solutions for people across GM.  

Transport activity is being developed to support particular cohorts, including the 

Our Pass scheme, Care Leavers Pass and work underway for possible apprentice 

and job seekers ticketing offer. 

 

HS2 / Northern Powerhouse Rail: The HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail 

(NPR) Programme remains crucial to the future prosperity of Greater Manchester 

and the North, acting as a catalyst for regeneration, jobs, homes and economic 

growth.   Greater Manchester remains supportive of both HS2 and NPR, whilst 

maintaining a clear position that they must be delivered in a manner that fully 

complements the placemaking, local employment and sustainable growth 

Page 85



 

52 

 

objectives of the city region. The Greater Manchester HS2 NPR Growth Strategy 

‘The Stops are Just the Start’, funded by Government, was published in 2018 and 

provides the framework for this, alongside the GM Transport Strategy 2040.    

 

World Class Digital Infrastructure: Local Full Fibre Network Programme 

providing up to 2,700Km of new fibre optic broadband infrastructure, and will 

connect more than 1,500 public sites across the city-region. Delivered in 

partnership with Virgin Media Business (now VMO2), the £23.8M programme, plus 

existing investments in digital infrastructure, make this the UK’s largest LFFN 

programme and will underpin a range of digital transformation and smart city 

projects.  In its first year of delivery the programme has already delivered £11.8M 

of economic benefit to GM. The programme also has social value built into the 

contracting arrangements and has exceeded local employment targets, 

established the Greater Manchester Technology fund, which has supported over 

1,300 digitally excluded young people during the pandemic, and VMO2 staff have 

used annual volunteer days to support people across GM. This programme has 

also led to wider investment by VMO2 in the extension of its network which is 

helping to reduce the numbers of properties below 30Mbps. GM Advanced 

Wireless and 5G Strategy: The Strategy will provide a framework for public and 

private investment in digital infrastructure.  The activity is seeking to provide a 

public wireless platform to address connectivity cold spots in GM and contribute 

towards access to connectivity for citizens and visitors. Other programmes include: 

GM One Network, Digital Infrastructure Advisory Group, GM Data Mesh. 

 

 

Our self-assessment has shown in order for GM to improve further we need 

to respond to the issues below: 

 

Page 86



 

53 

 

The GMS seeks to drive prosperity for all people and places in GM and there is 

systemwide support for the development of ‘new models’ of growth, with a 

recognition of the need for all parts of Greater Manchester to be successful if the 

whole city-region is to thrive. However, we must recognise that within this context it 

is important that GM continues to maintain and further grow the economy, as per 

the directions set out in the Local Industrial Strategy 

There are lots of excellent examples of effective partnership working, design and 

programme delivery to provide economic interventions, investment activity, and 

targeted support, with notable shifts in services responsive to the changing needs 

generated by the pandemic. 

To deliver the GMS, and the levelling up agenda that it sets, GM needs to 

translate opportunities into economic benefit for all parts and communities 

of GM, whilst also positively impacting upon environmental, social and wider 

economic ambitions, for example through the development of the Growth 

Locations. We must not underestimate the challenge in taking this forward 

given the wider economic context including increasing inflation and stalling 

growth. 

 There are some good examples of ‘economically driven’ programmes 

addressing inequalities through the targeted provision or 

evaluation/monitoring of provision eg Local Full Fibre Network Programme, but 

there is potential for this approach to be used more broadly across 

programmes of activity including business support programmes, employment 

and skills support. 

 Similarly, whilst action to address our environmental ambitions is incorporated 

in business and economic activity through programmes such as the Energy 

Innovation Agency and Bee Net Zero, and is recognised within the Local 

Industrial Strategy, there is the potential to further maximise opportunities 

linked to our environmental goals and mitigate against the negative 

impacts of growth – for example better understand specific specialisms in GM 

related to Clean Growth frontier sectors and how these are translated on the 

growth to support our environmental ambitions, tailor advice to different sectors 

Page 87

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchesters-local-industrial-strategy/


 

54 

 

re what net zero actually means for their business/sector and how they can 

make journey to net zero. New and additional activity that is responsive to 

these agendas is also required. 

 There is good evidence of joining up across thematic areas to deliver on 

economic objectives, with alignment of skills provision, work with employers 

and sectors and understanding of specific thematic interventions and the role 

they play in developing economic opportunities.   However, it is notable that 

across some sectors, notably green and digital, skills supply and demand 

provision may struggle to deliver to the scale and volume required to 

meet current and projected future growth in some industries. In addition, it 

has been suggested that there are ‘breaks’ in the skills system which impact 

more widely eg break in adult funding at L3 impacts on those subsequently 

able to attain L4/5 skills. A better understanding is also required as to how 

addressing the environmental agenda is being built into the training 

programmes already in place across all sectors.  Interestingly, in some sectors 

there currently appears to be a lack of recognition/knowledge of the nature of 

potential future skills requirements suggesting the need for further work with 

employers going forward and a suggestion that employer investment in skills 

has fallen. 

 There is good evidence across the system of the role of transport as a key 

enabler to deliver on GMS ambitions.   Actions in place to deliver an integrated 

transport system will support the attainment of GM’s social, economic and 

environmental outcomes. There is effective partnership working in place, with a 

broad range of stakeholders engaged.  This joint working, from conception 

through to delivery needs to continue and be built on to ensure interventions 

being delivered are developed to provide an integrated and well planned from 

start to finish set of solutions / interventions. However, the need to be mindful 

of the potential differential take up of projects was identified e.g. the 

extent to which interventions such as shared mobility schemes, if introduced, 

are accessible to and used by all communities, with a considerable risk that 

some schemes are only accessed by more affluent communities. 

Page 88



 

55 

 

 There may be opportunities to broaden programmes and delivery to make 

them more systemic, particularly where there is a need for joining up across 

sectors / stakeholders.  For example under the provision of EV charging hubs, 

there appears to be a focus and coordination of charging hubs on public sector 

estates, but less clarity on how this connects, or if it connects, to wider private 

sector provision in this space, e.g. supermarkets, petrol stations etc.  

 

What the GM system can and needs to do… 

GM needs to drive a more inclusive approach to economic growth by 

considering, and where appropriate embedding, social and environmental 

goals within all activity to ensure future growth of the conurbation benefits 

all of GM’s people and places by:   

 

 Undertake a review of current activity to support the embedding of 

broader agendas within current policy and delivery including: 

Greener GM:  

o reframing actions required and referring more directly to the need to take 

action now in order to meet our 2024 carbon budget, en route to 2038 

carbon neutrality. 

o pivoting activity and associated funding to focus on our environmental 

ambitions and as part of this approach stop activity counter to these 

ambitions; and (ii) once activity has been pivoted across whole system 

funding allocations, identify gaps in the nature and level of funding 

required to action and thus achieve our ambitions 

Fairer GM 

o Acting with urgency to address inequality, recognising a lack of pivoted 

action coupled with the cost of living crisis is creating/has created a 

burning platform 

Page 89



 

56 

 

 Better communicate and tailor advice to different business sectors 

enabling them to understand the need for, and design and take appropriate 

actions to respond to, both the journey to net zero, and inequalities 

experienced by current and prospective workforce 

 Adopting more consistent approaches to the collection, analysis and use 

of data in the design and development of policy, but also in the collection of 

services user data for delivered activities More specific targeting so that in 

delivering a more prosperous GM, the economy and its opportunities are better 

understood and more accessible to people from diverse backgrounds, driving 

equity and fairness and increasing prosperity for all.  Underutilising skills and 

talent available, greater pool to draw from.  E.g. women in enterprise 

 Undertake a pipeline analysis/mapping to fully understand breaks in the 

skills system, and therefore understand better what can be done to address 

these. 

 Developing a programme to encourage employers, however small, to 

make a commitment to support skills development – could range for short-

term placements to Apprenticeship… 

 Implementing specific success measures / targets for projects and 

programmes including those linked to equalities and environmental 

measures, e.g. the development of the Growth Locations 

 Broadening the use of impact assessment tools (such as the Decision 

Support Tool) at inception phases of policy and delivery design to fully 

understand the conflicting and difficult trade-off between agendas, amending 

policy/programme design to address issues identified or, where not possible, 

ensure that mitigating measures are included within design of the 

policy/programme 

 Work with Government to further decentralise powers and resources which 

can unlock GM’s potential to deliver the GMS and national ambitions. 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

57 

 

  

Page 91



 

58 

 

Systemic / coordination / organisational areas for 

progression 

 

Our Ambition… 

To maximise the impact of our actions and ultimately achievement of our GM 

ambitions by further consolidating a system wide coordinated approach to 

activity, underpinned by our ‘Ways of Working’ 

 

What we are already doing as a Greater Manchester system… 

 

Throughout the collection of information for this update report many examples of 

good practice, effective coordination and successful delivery have been seen as 

set out in the Greener GM, Fairer GM and More Prosperous GM sections of this 

report previously. 

 

 

Our self-assessment has shown in order for GM to improve 

further we need to respond to the issues below: 

 

There are some excellent examples of partnership, coordinated approaches 

to activity underpinned by our ‘Ways of Working.’  Not unexpectedly however, 

given the size and complexity of the GM system as a whole, a number of systemic 

issues are apparent, which if responded to have the potential to improve 

partnership working, support the use and embedding of the ways of working in the 

Page 92



 

59 

 

GMS, enabled with support from Government, and ultimately drive improvements 

in outcomes, efficiency and effectiveness of collective actions being taken. 

GM needs to learn from and build on the excellent examples of partnership, 

coordinated approaches to activity underpinned by our ‘Ways of Working 

embedding them systemically, in order to maximise the impact of our 

actions and ultimately achievement of our GM ambitions. 

 

While information has been gathered on some of the activities being delivered in 

support of the GMS commitments for this report it has not been possible to form 

a view as to whether the collective actions being taken will deliver the GMS 

as a whole.  Good intelligence and lines of sight are in place by individual 

thematic lens or individual project /programme, but it has proven difficult to use this 

information to form an aggregate view of volume and scale of delivery to meet the 

GMS ambitions.  Further devolution from Government has the potential to support 

the better joining up of activities across thematic lenses, enabling a more holistic 

overarching view, taking a whole system / pipeline view of policy through to 

delivery.   However, given the focus of the GMS Progress Report on identifying 

issues which are significant in the delivery of the GMS in the round, rather than 

seeking to obtain an absolute picture of all activity underway, it is considered this 

approach has been sufficient for this first reporting cycle.  

 

GM continually demonstrates highly effective partnership working across GM 

agencies, sectors and networks.  There appears to be the potential to develop this 

further across themes / programmes, enabling greater whole system connectivity. 

Where good cross-thematic coordination / dialogue in strategy and delivery 

are in place this has resulted in shared objectives, collaboration on 

resources and an in-built understanding across thematic areas of shared 

outcomes and appreciation of the necessary interdependencies of other 

parts of the system to achieve identified outcomes.  Such practices should be 

Page 93



 

60 

 

more widely embedded and adopted across the GM system if the GMS 

ambitions are to be realised, and underpin our devolution asks of Government.  

 

Increased awareness, and more consistent use of the VCSE Accord will 

support the delivery of the GMS, particularly as a key enabler of the ways of 

working. There are examples of programmes where the VCSE sector is fully 

embedded in policy design and delivery infrastructure and through the current joint 

working to deliver the new Accord significant progress is being made. However, 

systemising more fully the use of the Accord will move from current activity, which 

in some programmes of work seems to be ad-hoc or not fully considered, and 

instead ‘hard wired’ the arrangements which will be crucial in enabling the full 

realisation of the potential of the sector towards achieving the GMS Commitments 

and Outcomes. 

 

Where good communication channels are in place, this is enabling effective 

policy design, delivery and partnership working, with opportunity to replicate 

this more widely across the GM system.  Successful communication channels, at 

all levels, and across all networks can support the development of more effective 

systemic delivery and support greater collective progress. The inconsistent 

use of language / terminology is further limiting whole system understanding of the 

policy and delivery landscape.  

 

GM is good at innovating and developing good practices, that learning, good 

practice or necessary change is not however routinely systemised or adopted 

more holistically.  There appears to be scope for the development of more 

opportunities for the GM system to share and embed learning and good 

practice, and to collectively develop a greater ‘collective memory’ of 

interventions, pilots and programmes that have proven successful from which to 

build. Consideration should be given to ways in which the GM system can identify, 

Page 94



 

61 

 

connect, amplify and elevate the really great work/initiatives/ways of working that 

are evident.   

 

GM has been highly successful in securing resources and devolved powers to 

enable us to deliver our strategic ambitions.  Across the system as a whole there 

are a large number of funding pots sources and activities delivering against the 

GMS.   There is however greater scope for more joined up funding sources, 

delivering on locally determined priorities and coordinated at the city-region level to 

increase impact and efficiency. Embedding the GM social value framework is 

supporting better outcomes through commissioning and procurement and there is 

further scope for the embedding of the GMS ways of working in UKSPF and future 

commissioning activity.   

 

There is wide recognition of the need for, and effectiveness of, localised and 

tailored services.  A proactive prevention agenda and place-based integrated 

working have the potential to support the GM system to better respond to 

community need.  Systemically however there needs to be greater capacity to 

reenergise this area, which is challenging in the current context with the cost of 

living crisis, budget and system capacity constraints, in the face of growing urgent 

need.   

 

Challenges and opportunities posed as the current health and care system 

transitions to the Integrated Care System (ICS) have been highlighted. There 

is good system recognition of the significant challenges posed in trying to respond 

to the backlog created by Covid and such a wide-ranging reorganisation taking 

place at the same time.  It is important for the whole of the GM system to continue 

to effectively engage with the ICS development and ensure that existing good 

practice, development of significant benefits and progressions achieved through 

the Health & Social Care Partnership are not lost and that the new infrastructure 

builds from that baseline. 

Page 95



 

62 

 

What the GM system can and needs to do… 

 

 The GMS ways of working will support the development and embedding of 

practices and approaches in support of achieving the GMS outcomes and 

commitments.  All parts of the GM system should undertake a review of 

current and future practices to consider how the ways of working are 

currently being used and where there are opportunities for learning and 

development.   

 Progressive procurement practices have the potential to unlock 

untapped potential and benefit for GM.  The GM Social Value Framework 

provides the mechanism by which this can be achieved.  Further review of 

current procurement practices and consistent use of the Social Value 

Framework going forward can support delivery of the GMS ambitions. 

 Learning from this Progress Report, and the self-assessment that has been 

undertaken, GM should consider the future role of established delivery 

groups in respect of their involvement in driving the GMS including 

their role in: leading/facilitating a more holistic view and delivery of collective 

actions in support of delivery of the GMS commitments; communicating and 

driving sharing and learning/good practice across groups/thematic areas. 

 Build the capacity to review the current activity on the prevention 

agenda and work together to determine ways in which this can be 

reenergised, balanced against the urgent need priorities.  

 

Delivering on the GMS, supporting greener, fairer, more prosperous national 

growth will require commitment from the Government to work in partnership 

through 

 

Further and faster devolution of powers and resources to GM which can unlock our 

potential to deliver on the ambitions we and Government have set, for example in 

areas such as: 

Page 96



 

63 

 

 Devolved arrangements and local flexibilities around post-19 skills and skills 

and technical / vocational post-16 

 Greater local influence over employment support, design and delivery  

 Development of the Bee Network and public transport improvements, in 

support of developing a London style integrated transport network 

 Work with Government to develop ways to improve standards and quality of 

GM’s private rental sector  

 Joint working with Government to develop new national standards for home 

building which are in support of local and national carbon neutrality goals  

 New and further developed partnering arrangements with Government, and 

departments, to deliver on our ambitious housing and regeneration plans 

 Work with Government to secure additional resources (including funding) to 

deliver shared priorities at pace and scale, including responding to local 

capacity constraints and responsive to current and future demand  

 Further devolved arrangements for GM proportions of fundings nationally 

allocated, e.g. Eco Funding  

 Work towards a devolved single pot for GM, enabling greater coordination, 

systemic alignment and delivery of more efficient and effective outcomes  

 Further our work with Government to improve collection of and access to 

data, in particular those datasets which can be analysed by communities of 

identity or small geographic areas  

 

  

Page 97



 

64 

 

Greater Manchester Strategy 

Commitment Overviews 

April 2022 

 

This document provides an overview report for GMS Commitments 1- 15 and sets 

out a ‘baselining’ position from which to better understand how each of the 

commitments is being delivered. 

It should be noted, this first output from the GMS delivery planning process 

has been undertaken to provide a baseline position and to build a collective 

view and understanding of the nature of activities being delivered in support of 

achieving the GMS commitments. It is intended that the delivery planning 

process further develops for the next iteration and that it is broader in scope 

and responsive to more systemic issues than the current focus on collation of 

activities being delivered.  

The commitment reports include: 

 An overview of shared commitment measures 

This provides a summary, work-in-progress performance report on the shared 

outcome indicators, and seeks to highlight variance by place and/or 

population group where finer-grained data are available. New GMS 

dashboards are currently in development, and will provide the latest 

performance information across the set of Performance Framework indicators. 

The final dashboards will be available at the end of April.  

 A summary of programmes of GMCA/GMHSP/TfGM led activity 

This provides an overview of key programmes and activity that will help to 

deliver the commitment.  In order to achieve the GMS commitments a 

systemwide approach will be required, however, for this initial overview report 

information has been collated solely in respect of GMCA/GMHSP/TfGM led 

activity which begins to identify how work is being taken forward to achieve 

the commitment. 

Page 98



 

65 

 

 Enabling ‘Ways of Working’ 

This sets out initial reflections on work being undertaken which demonstrates 

the use of and where possible the extent to which ‘Ways of Working’ detailed 

in the GMS are embedded in delivery. 

A lead group has been identified to have oversight of each of the commitments as 

detailed below.  

 

  

Page 99



 

66 

 

GMS Commitment Lead Groups 

 

Commitments  Lead Group 

1. We will drive investment into our growth locations, and 

use that to create opportunity in adjacent towns and 

local centres  

Directors of Place  

2. We will enable the delivery of resilient, safe and 

vibrant communities where everyone has access to 

essential services, local centres and high streets 

which are successful and reflective of their 

populations, and access to high quality culture and 

leisure spaces  

Police and Crime 

Steering Group  

Directors of Place  

 

3. We will ensure our local communities, 

neighbourhoods, villages, towns, cities and districts 

are protected and strengthened through the Places for 

Everyone Plan and Stockport Local Plan, with new 

homes delivered in line with our Zero Carbon 

commitments and Housing Strategy 

Planning & Housing 

Commission  

Directors of Place 

4. We will create a carbon neutral Greater Manchester 

by 2038, with better air quality and natural 

environment 

Green City-Region 

Partnership 

5. We will deliver a low carbon London-style fully 

integrated public transport system across bus, tram, 

train and bike 

Transport Strategy Group 

6. We will enable the delivery of world-class smart digital 

infrastructure 

GM Digital Steering 

Group 

7. We will realise the opportunities from our world-class 

growth and innovation assets, driven by our Local 

Growth Plans / Industrial Strategy to open up 

opportunities in all parts of the city-region 

LEP  

Page 100



 

67 

 

8. We will support our businesses to grow sustainably, to 

become as prosperous as they can be 

LEP  

9. We will support the creation of better jobs and good 

employment that has a purpose beyond growing 

shareholder value, utilising the opportunity to 

positively impact on our communities 

LEP  

10. We will ensure businesses are able to access the 

skills and talent they need, by provision of high quality 

learning and wrapping support around individuals, 

enabling them to realise their potential - with access to 

good work for those who can, support for those who 

could, and care for those who can’t 

Employment & Skills 

Advisory Partnership 

11. We will ensure all our children and young people 

leave education and training ready to succeed in the 

labour market with a balance of academic, technical 

and ‘life ready’ skills 

Children’s Board 

12. We will ensure digital inclusion for all, including under 

25s, over 75s and disabled people online 

GM Digital Steering 

Group  

13. We will ensure the delivery of safe, decent and 

affordable housing, with no one sleeping rough in 

Greater Manchester 

Planning & Housing 

Commission  

 

14. We will tackle food and fuel poverty experienced by 

Greater Manchester residents  

Reform Delivery 

Executive (Reform Board)  

15. We will reduce health inequalities experienced by 

Greater Manchester residents, and drive 

improvements in physical and mental health 

Integrated Care 

Partnership (once 

established) 

Page 101



 

68 

 

Commitment 1 We will drive investment into our growth locations, and use that to 

create opportunities in adjacent town and local centres  

 

1. Introduction 

Through the six growth locations around the city-region GM has the potential to 

translate accessible opportunities in all parts of the conurbation into a reality. The 

coming together of investment, development and transport plans, providing homes, 

employment and training provides extensive opportunities for GM’s people and 

places, with benefits being felt far further than just the site boundaries, and 

sustainable over the long term.  

As development of growth locations takes place, and wider benefits are realised, 

decisions and actions need to be taken cognisant of GM’s wider social, economic 

and environmental objectives, recognising that pursuit of one outcome is not always 

aligned to attainment of another, e.g. expanding development and the drive to net 

zero. This potential conflict of objectives needs to be given due consideration, and 

necessary trade-offs if this commitment is to be achieved in line with the wider GMS 

ambitions.  

The Growth Locations will make an important contribution to meeting the objectives 

of some of GM’s key plans as well as the GMS, the GM Five Year Environment Plan, 

Local Industrial Strategy, Transport Strategy 2040 and GM Places for Everyone 

(PfE) by supporting growth across the following key areas: Employment & Supply 

Chain; Education & Skills; Housing; Transport; Innovation; and Low Carbon.  

2. Progress Measures  

Employment space and housing growth  

We will report on the amount of employment space generated in the growth locations 

and the extent to which we are capitalising on opportunities for significant housing 

growth. Data on employment space growth are currently pending, dependent on 

further development of the PfE monitoring framework and complementary 

approaches in Stockport.   

Page 102



 

69 

 

Housing growth is being formally monitored under Commitment 3 (We will provide 

safe, decent, and affordable housing, with no one sleeping rough in GM), using data 

on net additional dwellings.  The indicators under this commitment are also being 

used to track housing growth related to investment and development in the Growth 

Locations, and how this translates to wider investment and development in adjacent 

towns and local centres.  There were 12,149 net additional dwellings across GM in 

2020-21, down compared to the previous year (13,742), but following a general 

upward trajectory since 2013-14.  The data are driven by a high proportion of net 

additions in the regional centre, and we are currently out-performing the target to 

deliver at least 25,000 new homes across GM over the 2021-24 period, equating to 

an average per year of some 8,700.  Note however that the target figure excludes 

Stockport, and will be revised to give a pan-GM number once the housing target for 

the Stockport Local Plan has been agreed. 

% increase in residential development in our main town centres  

Data is not yet available, but will similarly be collected through PfE and Stockport. 

Monitoring approaches are currently in development.  This measure will gauge the 

extent of residential development in town centres, as they regain their role as 

engines of growth for the city-region.  Thousands of new low carbon homes will be 

delivered over the next two decades through better use of under-utilised land.  We 

will monitor the increase in well-connected, sustainable, and good quality homes 

built over this period. 

3. Programme Activity Update  

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the Directors of Place.  Key activity currently includes: 

 

Places for Everyone 

Delivery of the Places for Everyone Plan, setting the spatial planning framework in 

which development in nine of the districts can be brought forward.  

Connected Transport Development and Investment 

Page 103



 

70 

 

The Growth Locations are being developed with integrated transport infrastructure as 

part of the design from the outset.  Some of the sites are providing direct 

connections to the public transport network, however others are more reliant on car 

travel.  

Specific development programmes are progressing well, including investment in the 

Bee Network.  

GM’s City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) funding allocation has 

now been confirmed which includes significant investments and developments which 

will connect to the Growth Locations and expand opportunities, and improve 

connectivity into and between local towns and centres. Under the performance 

framework (Commitment 5: We will deliver a low carbon London-style fully integrated 

public transport system across bus, tram, train and bike), the extent to which public 

transport users find the system to be integrated when making multi-modal journeys 

will be monitored. 

The Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) has now been reviewed by Government, 

and we will receive around half of the revenue support that we had asked for as part 

of our Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) submission. 

 

Housing Development 

Working with our key housing providers we will ensure that the housing offer in each 

location meets local need and offers a range of types and tenure to meet the 

aspirations of residents at different points in their lives. The scale of housing planned 

also offers significant opportunity to take a coordinated approach and leverage 

economies in delivering low carbon housing. 

The effective and ongoing management and allocation of capital funding 

programmes will support this delivery – the Getting Building Fund (£54.2m) and 

Brownfield Housing Fund which now totals £135m. 

Low Carbon  

It is essential that the plans for each of the Growth Locations build in GM’s zero 

carbon ambitions as an integral element of design and delivery. The scale of 

Page 104



 

71 

 

development planned offers real opportunities to coordinate low carbon infrastructure 

(e.g. district heating networks) and drive economies of scale in low carbon 

construction which will ultimately set a platform for more affordable low carbon 

delivery across the rest of GM. 

 

Partnership Agreements 

Tripartite agreements are in place with GMCA, HSCP and Social Housing Providers, 

enabling joint working across the sectors to deliver targeted and joined up response 

to social housing tenants and estates.  Also in place a MoU with the Environment 

Agency and United Utilities on sustainable water management, resilience and flood 

risk.  These arrangements will support driving wider investment into the Growth 

Locations.  

Retrofit and adaptation of existing buildings  

Activity continues to retrofit domestic properties, increasing energy efficiency and 

provide warm and safe homes in towns and local centres. Also wider delivery of the 

public sector building retrofit programme for the increased efficiency of existing 

buildings.  Under Commitment 13 (We will ensure the delivery of safe, decent and 

affordable housing, with no one sleeping rough in Greater Manchester ), the shift in 

energy efficiency of existing buildings, using Energy Performance Certificate data will 

be monitored 

College Specialisation Programme 

The Specialisation programme to support the Growth locations and sector specific 

skills delivery to ensure a pipeline supply of skilled labour to meet demand. The 

programme is progressing, led by GM Colleges Group.  GM has also been 

successful in securing funding for an Institute of Technology.  

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working  

The design and delivery of the Growth Locations requires cross partnership working, 

and the coming together of many factors and actors across the GM system to 

Page 105



 

72 

 

translate and deliver on the opportunities.  Ensuring the maximisation and 

capitalisation of opportunities is key to the overall success of the development of the 

Growth Location sites.  

Good partnership arrangements are in place, with formalised arrangements in some 

cases between key stakeholders.    Working closely with the localities to ensure the 

design and delivery of the Growth Locations is responsive to local need, building on 

local opportunities and recognising the uniqueness and distinctiveness of places and 

populations across GM.    

Innovation – Plans include proposals to work with GM academic institutions to drive 

innovation and R&D activity across the Growth Locations, supporting projects 

through Innovation GM and potential innovation deals. The Growth Locations cover 

significant innovation assets including Oxford Road Corridor, Advanced Machinery 

and Productivity Institute in Rochdale, Trafford Clean Energy Park, and the Salford 

Innovation Triangle,.  

As the Growth Locations develop effective communications with stakeholders, 

communities and wider investors will be crucial.  GM residents and businesses have 

to be aware of the opportunities and be able to access them in order for the widest 

possible benefits of these developments can be realised. Communications materials 

are now more widely available including a website and several announcements and 

developments publicised through the New Era for GM event.  

The development of the Growth Locations provides significant potential for 

progressive procurement practices and the embedding of social value within 

contracts.  This needs to be considered as plans are developed to ensure the 

potential is realised. 

If developed and delivered in line with the ambition for these sites, they have huge 

potential to level up across the conurbation.  Effective use of data and intelligence to 

understand the communities and localities will be needed to effectively target 

provision, promotion and engagement to ensure all people can benefit.  

Page 106



 

73 

 

Commitment 2 We will enable the delivery of resilient, safe and vibrant communities 

where everyone has access to essential services, local centres and high streets 

which are successful and reflective of their populations, and access to high quality 

culture and leisure spaces.  

 

1. Introduction 

This commitment is about ensuring our local centres and high streets are safe, 

attractive and meeting the needs of their populations.  This commitment is 

intentionally broad, in recognition of the many factors required to deliver local centres 

and places which people choose to live and work in and visit.   

The various facets of this take different forms including policing and safety, culture 

and leisure, sense of belonging, affordability and attractiveness of local housing 

markets, and the provision and accessibility of services and employment.  

This commitment is key in driving local opportunities, ensuring local economies can 

develop and diversify and that they are used and valued by their communities, and 

attractive to visitors, recognising the role of the visitor economy in the wider 

attainment of GMS ambitions.  

2. Progress Measures  

% of residents who feel ‘very’ or ‘fairly safe’ in their local area 

GM wants to see an improvement over time in the proportion of residents who feel 

safe in their local areas, and to see inequality gaps narrowing, in terms of variance 

both by place and across our diverse communities.  The data are survey-based and 

provide useful demographic information on respondents, helping to inform the 

targeting of services and responses.  Based on the data for the year to September 

2021, groups identified that feel less safe included: younger people (16-29 and 30-44 

year olds); people from certain ethnic backgrounds, including Asian; gay, lesbian or 

bisexual people; and those with a disability.  

Page 107



 

74 

 

No. of neighbourhood crimes1 

Strengthening GM’s communities and places, not least through implementation of a 

new model of neighbourhood policing, should have a positive impact on levels of 

neighbourhood crime.  Neighbourhood crime rates dropped significantly during the 

first lockdown of the pandemic, and have remained consistently below pre-pandemic 

levels; GM rates per 1,000 residents were, however, 54% higher than the England 

average for the year to September 2021. 

In 2021, there was significant variation in neighbourhood crime levels across GM 

(Manchester at 29.5 per 1000 residents, compared to Trafford 12.7 per 1000 

residents). Whilst needing to be used with caution due to relatively small sample 

sizes, the demographic data relating to victims of crime suggest that in 2021 Asian 

residents were disproportionately more likely to be victims of crime compared to 

White people, as were men compared to women.  

% of victims who are satisfied with overall service received from GMP  

Satisfaction levels appear to be improving over time, rising by more than 3 

percentage points between April – August 2001 (Wave 1 of the GM Victims Survey) 

and September – November 2021 (Wave 2); data for the latter period show that just 

over half of victims (51.4%) were satisfied with the overall service they received from 

Greater Manchester Police (GMP).  There was some variation across the districts in 

September to November 2021 , ranging from 40.4% satisfaction in Wigan to 57.6% 

in Trafford.  The data show that satisfaction varied by demographic / personal 

characteristic, with notably less satisfied groups including: men; Black people, and 

people of mixed heritage; and those who were bisexual, gay, lesbian or of ‘other’ 

sexual orientation.  

% of people responding ‘easy’ or ‘very easy’ to travel by any form of transport  

In support of the wider ambitions of this commitment and to contribute to core 

headline outcomes, a safe, affordable, accessible and interconnected transport 

network is crucial. This survey data, not yet available, will measure the proportion of 

                                            

1 Neighbourhood crimes comprise residential burglary, personal robbery, theft from the person, and vehicle 
crime. 

Page 108



 

75 

 

residents who report finding it easy to access key services, employment and leisure 

opportunities across GM.  

Under the shared outcomes, information is also being collated on the number of 

engagements by GM residents with cultural organisations supported by the 

GM Culture Fund. Post-pandemic data were not yet available, but in 2018-19, 4.6m 

GM residents engaged with cultural activities; this was up by some 3m on 2016, 

reflecting changes in the scale and focus of the Fund over recent years. There is 

large variation between the localities: in 2018-19, more than half of cultural 

engagements in the city-region were accounted for by residents of the city of 

Manchester. 

3. Programme Activity Update  

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the Police & Crime Steering Group, Directors of Place and Culture 

Steering Group.  Key activity currently includes: 

 

Delivering services in place 

The unified public services model is written into the GMS as a key enabler of 

achieving our commitments and ways of working. The unified model brings together 

key services and agencies, delivering in places and responsive to community needs. 

Development of health and care elements of place-based working, being built in as 

part of ICS design. Work is underway to integrate neighbourhood policing, 

community safety, fire and criminal justice services in neighbourhoods as part of the 

unified model.  

Development of health and care Locality Boards, to determine and drive local 

priorities for health and care system under ICS development now underway.  

Policing and crime 

Improvements in victims’ services are a key priority for GMP, with evidence being 

provided by and responsive to the Victim’s Survey results. The digitisation of victim’s 

Page 109



 

76 

 

services will be integrated within the commissioning of the new service and will 

provide better quality, more timely information, enabling service improvement.  

Work is underway to increase the diversity of the police and fire services at all levels.   

Equality, diversity and inclusion plans will soon be in place for both organisations, 

with both developing diverse leader’s programmes including plans to address career 

progression.  

Social prescribing and Live Well 

Working effectively across different policy areas to connect GM residents to social 

prescribing opportunities.  This builds on activity being led by localities and is 

supportive of multiple end outcomes, including supportive early intervention and 

prevention, social prescribing activities include access to green spaces and culture 

and leisure facilities. Health Coaching training has been developed and funded for all 

Social Prescribing Link Workers. National funding has been secured for green social 

prescribing and children and young people social prescribing and delivery of 

demonstrator projects are underway.  

Connected transport activities 

Recognising the role of transport as a crucial enabler of access to places, services 

and centres, integrated transport developments form a key part of activity to deliver 

this commitment. The delivery of priority Bee Network schemes, including town 

centres, Streets for All and Active Travel corridor will improve connectivity and travel 

choices for people. GM’s City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) 

funding allocation of £1.07bn (initially announced ahead of last year’s autumn 

Comprehensive Spending Review) has now been confirmed. This will be supported 

by £170m in local contributions, meaning around £1.2bn worth of investment in local 

roads, bus, train and tram services over the next five years, with new quality bus 

corridors, cycling and walking routes and improved transport infrastructure and 

connectivity for towns and high streets in the region. This will also support a move to 

a fully electrified bus fleet, with 50 new zero emission buses expected to serve 

Bolton and Wigan when the first phase of bus franchising is introduced on 17 

September 2023. Greater Manchester has also been awarded £94.8m as part of the 

Bus Back Better strategy, which will used to support affordable bus fares under 

Page 110



 

77 

 

franchising. A Shared Mobility Strategy is being developed, building on existing 

shared mobility modes in GM – Cycle Hire, Car Club EVs, e-cargo bike hire scheme 

and e-scooter trials.  

 

Resourcing activities 

Funding confirmed for the Green Spaces Fund to create new / enhance existing 

green spaces in areas where are needed most.  

Development of UKSPF Investment Plan and priorities will deliver activities which 

support the attainment of this commitment.  

A bid has been submitted to support the development of Ageing in Place 

programme, to support nine Naturally Occurring Retirement Communities projects 

across GM. 

Culture and leisure 

The Town of Culture annual award celebrates and highlights the distinctive creativity 

and diversity of towns across GM. Stalybridge is the 2022 Town of Culture, with a 

programme of activities being developed and investment to support delivery.  

The GM Culture Strategy seeks to ensure the stability of GM culture portfolio 

organisations, recognising the ongoing challenges many face post-pandemic. Work 

is underway to develop creative improvement districts across GM.  

Night-time economy 

Developed to support the night-time economy’s recovery and renewal post-

pandemic. Effective coordination of activity across portfolio areas and agencies is 

required to deliver this.  Ensuring safety elements, transport issues, employment 

challenges and changes in customer usages and behaviours come together to 

provide a platform for the development and restoration of GM’s vibrant night-time 

economy, in local centres as well as the regional centre.   Funding is being provided 

to night-time safety welfare schemes.  

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working  

Page 111



 

78 

 

This is a very complex commitment to report on, given the breadth of subject and the 

diversity of the stakeholders involved in its delivery.  However, it is also a useful way 

to understand how GM system working coordinates and operates. 

Across the extent of activity delivered under this commitment there is evidence of 

good and limited cross partnership working. There is evidence of the need for more 

and earlier engagement on some activities across agencies and partnership, to 

ensure actions being committed to can be delivered (when reliant on another 

stakeholder to deliver).  There are also some good examples of how the system 

comes together, such as delivery of social prescribing activities – where the level of 

coordination across the many activities and actors is apparent, seeking to ensure 

maximise impact and efficiency in delivery. 

Where so many stakeholders play a role, it is not always clear who takes 

accountability or resources some activities.  For example, resourcing of activities to 

improve safety of public transport at night, or perceived safety.  This sits across this 

agenda, but has a role for example with GMP, Local Community Safety 

Partnerships, TfGM, Culture and Leisure venues etc.  

There is evidence of organisations taking actions to diversify their workforces and 

leadership to build workforces who are more representative of the communities they 

serve, and who are also trusted by the communities  

The outcome measure which is tracking the engagement of GM residents with 

cultural venues, shows more than half of all engagements were from the City of 

Manchester.  Wider promotion of opportunities, improved access, reliability and 

safety of public transport may help improve this measure in other districts and should 

be given due consideration in further funding choices and wider connecting activities 

which can increase and promote accessibility and use of culture venues.  

There is evidence of some targeting of resources and activities, however, there 

seems to be more that could be utilised to greater effect.  

Safe and well used local centres are a crucial part of securing the future of many of 

our places across GM. The necessary support, improvement and development now, 

responsive to the change in demand and use post-pandemic, will be critical in 

safeguarding places across GM for future generations.  

Page 112



 

79 

 

Activities under this commitment support GM’s wider environmental objectives, 

improving green spaces, providing local services, ease of access to venues whilst 

supporting environmental improvements in local centres to ensure they are attractive 

places to live, work and visit.  

 

Page 113



 

80 

 

Commitment 3: We will ensure our local communities, neighbourhoods, villages, 

towns, cities and districts are protected and strengthened through the Places for 

Everyone Plan and Stockport Local Plan, with new homes delivered in line with our 

Zero Carbon commitments and Housing Strategy 

 

1. Introduction 

As a conurbation, GM is unique – a complex and interconnected city-region.  The ten 

localities are diverse, home to distinctive neighbourhoods, towns, cities, and the 

regional centre, each with its own identity, its own characteristics and its own 

community and cultures.  A decent home is considered a fundamental human right, 

but too often the housing market is not delivering this.  Housing has a huge influence 

on mental health and wellbeing, and both housing quality and housing costs have a 

major impact on our ability to keep homes warm, our physical health, how we are 

able to travel to work and how we maintain social connections. Living where you can 

afford and having security in knowing you don’t face the threat of rapid eviction helps 

us to put down roots and have a stable base, a sense of community and belonging. 

 

Protecting and strengthening GM’s places, through sustainable growth including 

safe, decent and affordable housing - homes to fit the needs and aspirations of 

current and future citizens – in all communities is therefore central to this 

commitment going forward. 

 

2. Progress measures 

 

Additional dwellings 

With ongoing increased demand for housing across the city-region, GM needs to 

build more homes, measured under this indicator by the number of net additional 

dwellings. There were 12,149 net additions across GM in 2020-21, down compared 

to the previous year (13,742), but following a general upward trajectory since 2013-

14.  The data are driven by a high proportion of net additions in the regional centre, 

Page 114



 

81 

 

and GM is currently out-performing the target to deliver at least 25,000 new homes 

across GM over the 2021-24 period, equating to an average per year of some 8,700.  

Note however that the target figure excludes Stockport, and will be revised to give a 

pan-GM number once the housing target for the Stockport Local Plan has been 

agreed. 

 

Reducing emissions associated with domestic properties 

Given the ambition for Greater Manchester to be carbon-neutral by 2038, it is vital 

that we reduce the emissions associated with our domestic properties.  Energy 

performance certificate (EPC) ratings are an indicator of how efficiently homes use 

energy – we want to increase the number of newly built homes across the city-region 

with the highest energy performance rating, A. 

 

In Greater Manchester in 2021, 0.36% of new properties built during the year had 

EPCs with an A rating.  Although an extremely small proportion, and a very small 

number of homes (only 51 in total), it was more than double the 2020 figure of 0.16% 

(22 homes). 

 

3. Programme Activity Update 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the Planning and Housing Commission. Key activity currently includes 

 

Places for Everyone 

Places for Everyone is our Joint Development Plan Document, setting the spatial 

planning framework in which development can be brought forward within the GM 

boroughs (except Stockport).  The Plan sets out how the nine boroughs should 

develop up until 2037 including identifying the amount of new development that will 

come forward across the districts, in terms of housing, offices, and industry and 

warehousing, and the main areas in which this will be focused.   

Page 115



 

82 

 

The Plan sets targets to build at least 164,881 dwellings over the period 2021 to 

2037.  It seeks to connect the supply of new housing to wider strategies and policies 

including around the quality of place, town centres and other spatial priorities, 

infrastructure provision including schools, health facilities and other social 

infrastructure as well as power, water and transport, access to open space, 

economic growth, flood risk and sustainability. This provides a spatial approach to 

the delivery of new homes integrated into a wider strategic framework and, once 

adopted, will give developers, landowners and investors a clearly articulated and 

consistent policy context to work within. 

 

The Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan was submitted to the Secretary of 

State in February 2022 and the examination is due in summer 2022, with adoption in 

2023. 

 

Housing Investment Fund 

GMCA manages a loan fund which supports housebuilders deliver projects within 

GM. Since its inception it has invested £571m into residential property supporting the 

development of 7,693 new homes. The Housing Fund is on track to achieve its target 

of delivering 10,000 new homes across GM. The Fund was £300m at its inception in 

2015 - to date that funding has been recycled 1.9 times. It continues to support a 

variety of schemes ranging from SME developers delivering small schemes of family 

homes to large strategically important apartment schemes in Manchester City Centre 

and Stockport Town Centre. The GMCA retains the surpluses’ generated by 

operating the Fund which have been used to support the GMCA Delivery Team 

which has been instrumental in facilitating the Brownfield and Getting Building funds, 

discussed below.  

 

Stockport Local Plan 

Page 116



 

83 

 

Being developed by Stockport, as the planning and development framework for the 

district, and complementary to the wider GM plan, with shared transport planning 

and connected to other GM strategies including the GM Housing Strategy. 

 

Delivery of Affordable Homes 

There are several different groups of households under particular pressure to be 

able to live in decent and affordable housing. As we come out of the pandemic and 

with rising living costs, this demand is only likely to increase. Through the supply of 

new homes, we should be seeking to provide better choices to ease those 

pressures, with a particular focus on those that the housing market does not 

currently reach i.e. people experiencing homelessness. That should include adding 

to the stock of social rented housing to reverse the losses from Right to Buy. There 

is a need to develop more supported housing for people whose needs are currently 

being inadequately met in mainstream housing, or in expensive and inflexible 

institutional settings. There should be the exploration of new models that help 

households to access home ownership in a way they can afford and sustain, or 

providing homes of all tenures better matched to the need of older households who 

are currently living in homes which present a risk to their wellbeing and continued 

independence. 

GMCA has signed an MOU with Homes England to drive additional investment and 

activity with investors. This will embed effective joint partnership working as business 

as usual in support of housing delivery and broader strategic objectives, agreeing a 

strategic partnership and quantum of support from both sides – this is a leading edge 

partnership as cited in the Levelling Up White Paper. 

GMCA has committed with Greater Manchester Housing Providers, Homes England 

and other partners to address these challenges and aim to deliver 50,000 affordable 

homes by 2038 with at least 30,000 being net zero carbon social rented homes.  

Collaborative work is currently ongoing to develop a joint pipeline and with districts, 

GMHP and other partners to remove barriers to delivery. In addition, work is being 

taken forward to lead a ‘whole system challenge’ approach to the delivery of new net 

zero social rented homes with an initial implementation plan approved at the March 

Page 117



 

84 

 

2022 CA meeting. Further financial resource is required to meet our social rent and 

net zero homes ambitions, but more fundamentally there are system-wide changes 

needed to the way new homes are built if net zero standards are to become 

embedded as ‘business as usual’. 

Get Building/Brownfield Land Funds 

Funding is being used to bring forward stalled sites that will ultimately see delivery of 

high quality housing and commercial / industrial floorspace across Greater 

Manchester Getting Building Fund (£54.2m) and Brownfield Housing Fund which 

now totals £135m.  

The brownfield funding will see the remediation of land across Greater Manchester 

that will deliver thousands of homes for Greater Manchester residents, delivering on 

Greater Manchester’s policy to develop brownfield sites first and bring unviable land 

back into use. 

 

Low Carbon Homes: Retrofit 

In order to address the need to reduce heat demand from existing homes to reach 

Greater Manchester’s zero carbon 2038 target, activity is underway to retrofit and 

adapt existing homes to provide safe, warm and affordable homes for all ages. 

Activity has included the Green Homes Grant programme, first phase completed and 

second phases underway with expected outputs c2200 domestic properties 

retrofitted, with increased EPC ratings. Under Commitment 13 (We will ensure the 

delivery of safe, decent and affordable housing, with no one sleeping rough in 

Greater Manchester), the shift in energy efficiency of existing buildings, using Energy 

Performance Certificate data will be monitored. 

 

To galvanise action in this arena, a Retrofit Action Plan has been launched with new 

delivery mechanisms including: Retrofit Accelerator and Heat Pump Accelerators 

being launched in March/April 2022 for the ‘Able to Pay Market’.  Expected outputs 

include c1000 retrofit assessments leading to 500 properties retrofitted in yr1 and 

500-750 air source heat pumps installed respectively. 

Page 118



 

85 

 

With regard to Social Housing Retrofit, our Local Authorities have collectively bid for 

c.£15m of Social Housing Decarbonisation funding, whereby registered providers of 

social housing can apply for funding to improve the energy performance of their 

social homes. The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund Bid was successful in 

February 2022 with expected outputs of 1,200 social housing retrofits being 

delivered by May 2023, thereby supporting social landlords to maximise available 

funding and increase the energy efficiency of their housing stock. A further bid round 

is anticipated in the Autumn, and preparatory work is underway. 

Skills to support our housing needs 

The scale of our housing challenge is evident and work with the construction sector 

and education and skills providers is required to deal with evident skills gaps, and 

with key developing partners to use the power of their supply chains to encourage 

skills development and retention within the industry, for new build and maintenance 

and retrofit of existing homes. The Local Industrial Strategy points to the potential for 

Greater Manchester to be a centre for new manufacturing technologies, helping 

minimise inefficiencies and delays that affect on-site construction, and raising the 

carbon and energy performance of homes. This could change perceptions of 

construction careers and help diversify the sector’s workforce. Supply chains located 

in Greater Manchester will capture economic benefit from housing growth. 

Currently activity in this area includes the £1.1m Retrofit Skills Hub commissioned 

through Skills for Growth programme and Adult Education Budget Local Level 3 

qualifications – including retrofit green skills.  However, this will be insufficient to 

meet the supply required to build/retrofit homes impacting upon our wider net carbon 

zero ambitions.  This is an area that requires further consideration, support and 

potentially resource. 

Innovation: Maximising modern methods of construction (MMC) 

In order to drive innovation to help achieve the quality and quantity of net zero 

homes at the pace required, there is ongoing development work in relation to: 

 New product development in MMC and off-site technologies, to drive the 

necessary innovation and remove practical barriers to off-site home delivery  

Page 119



 

86 

 

 Supporting establishment of Off-Site Performance Centre (OPC) in GM, to 

provide quality assurance, testing/ validation, new product development in MMC 

and off-site technologies 

 Unlocking the potential for collaboration and aggregation of demand to lever and 

accelerate transition to MMC, including the potential of the Off-Site Homes 

Alliance (OSHA) of social housing providers to be a route to address the key 

barriers to progress toward volume use of MMC and off-site techniques. 

Standardisation and aggregating demand are key to the wider adoption of off-

site manufacturing techniques in housing delivery, and social housing providers 

seem to offer the best route to achieving that, and thus leading the transition for 

the industry as a whole. 

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working 

From the update provided it is evident that significant partnership working is key in 

underpinning major programmes of activity which support our housing ambitions. For 

example, the delivery of new homes linked with transport investment in-progress or 

previously pursued Housing Infrastructure Fund bids, or business case development 

of Places for Everyone transport schemes. At the heart of GM’s plans is provision of 

safe, decent, warm, accessible and affordable homes, responsive to the needs of all 

of our communities. 

Agreements such as the MoU and Tripartite Agreements have created established 

opportunities to collaborate across agencies, working jointly on shared priorities, 

investment and delivery.  

There is evidence of use of data to inform policy development and targeted action – 

not least in the work that underpins the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan 

and the GM Housing Strategy.  Equalities data set out in key evidence documents 

including the GM Strategic Housing Market Assessment is being utilised to help 

direct and influence strategic and programme level decisions, complementing 

consideration of financial viability and deliverability.  

Ensuring that GM’s housing ambitions, link to stated environment ambitions and 

target for 2038 is evident across a number of programmes in particular the Retrofit 

Page 120



 

87 

 

Accelerator and Action Plan.  A partnership approach is critical in taking this forward, 

for example by ensuring that we have the skills training provision in place to support 

people to develop the skills required to deliver our retrofit programme.  Currently 

activity in this area includes the £1.1m Retrofit Skills Hub commissioned through 

Skills for Growth programme.  However, given the scale and long-term nature of the 

challenges being addressed, the often short term, inflexible and unpredictable nature 

of Government capital funding for retrofit of social housing, and the limited levers 

available to help homeowners and private landlords without the resources to fund 

their own retrofit works, substantial gaps undoubtedly remain to be bridged. 

There is evidence of innovation being utilised, with new modern construction 

methods being explored and the realisation of this innovation once development 

takes place. The availability of flexible resource arising from the generation of 

surpluses from GM Housing Investment Loan Fund investments provides a useful 

catalyst for innovation aimed at delivery of GM Housing Strategy objectives. 

Page 121



 

88 

 

Commitment 4: We will create a carbon neutral Greater Manchester by 2038, with 

better air quality and natural environment 

 

1. Introduction 

Climate change is the single biggest threat that the world faces, with human activities 

the main cause. The impacts of climate change are already here today in the 

increased frequency and magnitude of extreme weather events from heatwaves, 

droughts, flooding, winter storms, hurricanes and wildfires. Environmental challenges 

threaten the health and prosperity of our city-region. If we don’t all act now, these will 

only get worse and the consequences will be felt even further by future generations.   

 

2. Progress measures 

 

Amount of renewable electricity installed capacity 

Achievement of the 5-Year Environment Plan (5YEP) ambition to be carbon neutral 

by 2038 will require rapid acceleration in take-up of low carbon technologies, 

including adoption of greener ways to source the power and heat we use in our 

homes and other buildings. Increasing our use of energy generated from renewable 

sources is vital if we are to reduce reliance on fossil fuels and consequently reduce 

our carbon emissions.   

 

In 2021, 50.5 megawatts (MW) of renewable electricity was generated across the 

city region, a nearly ten-fold increase from the 2019 figure of 5.4MW. The GMS 

target to install a minimum additional 28MW in renewable electricity capacity by 2024 

was derived from the broader 5YEP target to deliver 45MW over the 2019-24 period, 

but is currently being tested to check that it is sufficiently ambitious in light of recent 

data trends. Forthcoming reporting will assess performance against the target 

trajectory and will quote the capacity generated per household in order to benchmark 

locally across the GM districts and compare with the national average.  

 

Page 122



 

89 

 

Number of trees planted per annum 

Planting trees and restoring woodlands for the people and wildlife of GM is a central 

element of our work to deliver a green recovery and tackle the climate emergency. 

Nature-based solutions, especially trees, are key to adapting our urban areas and 

making them more resilient to a range of environmental challenges including air 

quality, flood risk and extreme heat. Beyond this, they create better green spaces for 

nature and biodiversity, and bring important wellbeing benefits for our residents. 

 

In line with the 5YEP target to plant three million trees by 2035, the GMS target is to 

plant an additional 350,000 by 2024. In 2021, 188,244 trees were planted across the 

city-region.  The rate of planting has increased every year since 2018/19, with more 

than 100,000 trees planted in both 2020 and 2021. Forthcoming reporting will assess 

whether the scale of increase over recent years is in line with that required to meet 

the 2024 target, or whether it needs to be accelerated. Reporting will also need to be 

contextualised in light of the impact of Ash Die Back and other tree diseases such as 

Acute Oak Decline and Chestnut Bleeding Canker, which will have a considerable 

impact on our tree population – Ash Die Back alone is likely to remove up to 10% of 

GM’s tree stock, having a devastating impact on our parks, green spaces and street 

tree stock.  Monitoring will seek to understand the balance between tree losses and 

new planting, and in response, to assess the extent to which the 5YEP and GMS 

targets remain valid. 

 

Level of NO2 emissions and exceedances 

Poor air quality affects the health of GM residents, and particularly the most 

vulnerable, including those in deprived communities, children, elderly people and 

those with chronic conditions like asthma, heart disease, stroke and some cancers. 

GM is committed to cleaning up the air our residents breathe, whilst ensuring that 

jobs, livelihoods and businesses are not put at risk. 

 

Page 123



 

90 

 

GM is reporting on levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2), given its role as a major 

pollutant in urban areas and as the main type of air pollution being tackled by the 

Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan (GMCAP). Drawing on NO2 monitoring network 

data that track emissions across the city region, and focusing on sites where 

roadside emissions have been above legal limits, the number of sites that are 

compliant with legal limits will be monitored and report on the number of 

exceedances. Data for this indicator are currently being sourced, and will be reported 

in the forthcoming Tableau performance dashboards. 

 

The target for this indicator is to achieve compliance with the legal Limit Value (40 

µg/m3) for NO2, as identified with government through the GMCAP. The timeline for 

this ambition will be confirmed in July 2022, following work with government to 

review the GMCAP. 

 

Municipal / household waste recycling rate 

GM is committed to more sustainable modes of consumption and production, and to 

moving toward being a ‘circular economy’ in which we recycle a higher proportion of 

our waste and reduce the amount of waste we produce in the first place. The 

damage done to the environment by waste products can be avoided if more 

sustainable decisions are made at the point of production, and if consumers change 

the way end of life products are treated.   

 

In line with this commitment, waste recycling rates need to increase. Future GMS 

reporting will combine the recycling data for GM Waste Disposal Authority (GMWDA, 

covering nine districts, excluding Wigan) and Wigan (with separate, local waste 

disposal arrangements) to report a single GM position, and will clarify whether the 

indicator will focus on municipal and/or household waste. A GM target will also be 

set once clarity on central government’s focus is provided in the forthcoming national 

Resources and Waste Strategy. 

 

Page 124



 

91 

 

In 2020-21, Wigan had a household waste recycling rate of 53.2%, and GMWDA of 

47.7%. GMWDA outperformed the England average over the entirety of the 2013-14 

to 2020-21 period, as did Wigan since 2017-18, from which point its recycling rate 

has been higher than that for GMWDA.  

 

Shared outcome indicator – carbon emissions estimates per annum 

Performance against the metrics listed below will impact upon performance against 

the GMS shared outcome indicator on carbon emissions estimates, which will be 

tracked as a longer-term contextual indicator to which shared commitments across 

much of the wider Strategy will contribute.   

 

In 2019 (the latest available data), 11.8 megatons of CO₂ (MtCO₂) were emitted in 

GM. Transport emissions accounted for the largest proportion (39%), followed by 

emissions from domestic properties (32%). Future reporting will consider GM 

emissions alongside the carbon budget for the 2018 to 2038 period: to become 

carbon-neutral by 2038, GM must hold cumulative emissions between 2018 and 

2038 at under 67 MtCO₂. 

 

Energy Efficiency indicator  

Under Commitment 13 (We will ensure the delivery of safe, decent and affordable 

housing, with no one sleeping rough in Greater Manchester), the shift in energy 

efficiency of existing buildings, using EPC data will be monitored. 

 

 

3. Programme Activity Update 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the Green City Region Partnership. Key activity currently includes: 

Page 125



 

92 

 

Transport: Bee Network including bid to secure high proportion of electric bus 

fleet 

Greater Manchester has an ambition to become the first city region to develop a 

carbon neutral transport network.  Under the plans, the city region’s bus fleet will be 

50% electric by 2027 and 100% electric within a decade, a move that would 

singlehandedly reduce carbon emissions by 1.1 million tonnes. The Greater 

Manchester Ring and Ride fleet will also transition to zero emission technology by 

2027. Metrolink already runs on 100% renewable energy, and funding has been 

secured to the develop the next stage of plans for expanding the network. Active 

travel is also an important feature of plans including the Bee Network Cycle Hire 

Scheme. 

The Bee Network is GM’s vision for an integrated transport system which will join 

buses, trams, cycling and walking by 2024, with rail incorporated by 2030, 

transforming how people travel in Greater Manchester. GM’s hope is that by 

designing and delivering public transport as one system with local control and 

accountability, it will deliver an inclusive transport experience which leads to a 

change in behaviour with increased use of active travel and patronage of public 

transport. 

 

Funding via the City Regional Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS), Bus 

Service Improvement Plan and other funding (such as the Levelling Up Fund, from 

which several GM local authorities have been successful in securing funding) will 

form a significant step towards the Bee Network, as the first city region to take 

forward plans for bus franchising, integrated with our Metrolink network and with the 

largest cycling and walking network in development in the UK.   

 

GM’s City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) funding allocation of 

£1.07bn (initially announced ahead of last year’s autumn Comprehensive Spending 

Review) has now been confirmed. This will be supported by £170m in local 

contributions, meaning around £1.2bn worth of investment in local roads, bus, train 

and tram services over the next five years, with new quality bus corridors, cycling 

Page 126



 

93 

 

and walking routes and improved transport infrastructure and connectivity for towns 

and high streets in the region. This will also support a move to a fully electrified bus 

fleet, with 50 new zero emission buses expected to serve Bolton and Wigan when 

the first phase of bus franchising is introduced on 17 September 2023.  Greater 

Manchester has also been awarded £94.8m as part of the Bus Back Better strategy, 

which will used to support affordable bus fares under franchising.  

 

The CRSTS allocation (which was with Government for a decision until 4th April 

2022) looks likely to fund the following bus improvements asked for:   

 Quality Bus Transit – orbital corridor improvements 

 Bus Corridor Upgrades – development led corridor improvements 

 City Centre Bus – radial corridor improvements 

 Bus Pinch Points and Bus Stop Upgrades – cross-GM improvements 

 Customer Ticking and Information improvements 

 Expanded Zero Emission Bus fleet – with funding just confirmed for the 

provision of 1700 zero emission buses, 10% of the current fleet 

 

A Zero Emission Bus bid with Stockport through Government’s Zero Emissions Bus 

Regional Areas (ZEBRA) scheme has just been awarded. 

Roll-out of EV charging infrastructure, through GM CAP and OZEV taxi EV 

funding 

Early expansion of the electric vehicle charging point network has seen the 

introduction of several new rapid charge points across GM. EVCI Strategy was 

published September 2021 

However, the scale of transport decarbonisation challenge is very significant. There 

is potential to explore other options such as car clubs to further reduce carbon 

emissions. 

 

Decarbonisation of Local Authority/Fire Service Fleets 

Page 127



 

94 

 

Local Authorities are leading on work to decarbonise their fleets but the pace of 

activity will be an issue going forward. In addition, the Fire Service are exploring 

opportunities to procure EV Vehicles and increase infrastructure across the estate. 

 

Energy 

Go Neutral - Greater Manchester’s ‘Go Neutral Smart Energy’ is a GMCA-led ‘smart’ 

energy programme aiming to deliver impact against the city region’s carbon neutral 

2038 target, build our local green economy and make our energy supply more 

affordable. It is a 3-year programme which aims to accelerate the delivery of up to 

85MW of solar power generation with battery storage and electric vehicle charging 

infrastructure across Greater Manchester by trusted, stringently procured suppliers. 

Expected Outputs are the accelerated delivery of a £150m investment and increased 

renewable generation of up to 150MW across the region.  Building on the Go Neutral 

activity, given changes to the planning system, GM may want to re- explore 

opportunities for On-Shore wind power going forward. 

Energy Innovation Agency – is a new delivery mechanism to accelerate the 

introduction of energy related innovation to tackle the net zero challenge, increase 

energy security and bridge the energy innovation gap. Bringing together public 

sector expertise, world-leading GM University-led R&D expertise, and the 

entrepreneurship and investment of industry to both shorten the journey from 

discovery to deployment and to facilitate the rapid scaling of energy innovations. The 

first energy innovation challenge, to be launched in April, is to drive and a new 

innovative model for non-domestic buildings retrofit. Expected outputs include: new 

innovative models, services, and technologies developed and delivered across the 

region. 

 

Trafford Energy Park - A multi energy system deployed on one site including, Cyro 

storage, Battery Storage, renewable generation, Green Hydrogen Production 

alongside an existing Gas-powered peaking plant.  

Page 128



 

95 

 

Local Energy Market and Development of Local Area Energy Plans - The Local 

Energy Market project is looking to deliver a smarter local energy system that will 

revolutionise how energy is used, stored and distributed across Greater 

Manchester’s 10 boroughs. Proposals will pave the way for new technologies and 

low-carbon infrastructure in the future from renewable energy sources like air source 

heat pumps to solar panels and electric vehicle charging points.  

 

Low Carbon Homes: Retrofit 

 

In order to address the need to reduce heat demand from existing homes to reach 

Greater Manchester’s zero carbon 2038 target, activity is underway to retrofit and 

adapt existing homes to provide safe, warm and affordable homes for all ages. 

Activity expected outputs c2200 domestic properties retrofitted, with increased EPC 

ratings.  

 

To galvanise action in this arena, a Retrofit Action Plan has been launched including: 

Retrofit Accelerator and Heat Pump Accelerators being launched in March/April 2022 

for the ‘Able to Pay Market’.  Expected outputs include c1000 retrofit assessments 

leading to 500 properties retrofitted in year1 and 500-750 air source heat pumps 

installed respectively. 

With regard to Social Housing Retrofit, our Local Authorities have collectively bid for 

c.£15m of Social Housing Decarbonisation funding, whereby registered providers of 

social housing can apply for funding to improve the energy performance of their 

social homes. The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund Bid was successful in 

February 2022 with expected outputs of 1,200 social housing retrofits being 

delivered by May 2023, thereby supporting social landlords to maximise available 

funding and increase the energy efficiency of their housing stock. A further bid round 

is anticipated in the Autumn, and preparatory work is underway. 

 

Skills to support our retrofit/housing needs 

Page 129



 

96 

 

 

The scale of our housing challenge is evident and work with the construction sector 

and education and skills providers is required to deal with evident skills gaps, and 

with key developing partners to use the power of their supply chains to encourage 

skills development and retention within the industry, for new build and maintenance 

and retrofit of existing homes.  

Currently activity in this area includes the £1.1m Retrofit Skills Hub commissioned 

through Skills for Growth programme and AEB Local Level 3 qualifications – 

including retrofit green skills.  However, this will be insufficient to meet the supply 

required to build/retrofit homes impacting upon our wider net carbon zero ambitions.  

This is an area that requires further consideration, support and potentially resource. 

In addition, further wider exploration is required to ensure that skills provision is 

responsive to need across the whole environmental agenda. 

 

Public Sector Decarbonisation Programme 

 

The Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme is looking at how we can improve public 

sector buildings in Greater Manchester to make them greener and more energy 

efficient. Changes include swapping to air source heat pumps for heating, installing 

solar panels to generate and create electricity, improving insulation and swapping to 

LED lighting. Work is also underway looking at improving the monitoring and control 

of these systems to ensure that we can accurately measure energy usage. 

Activity relating to Public Sector Decarbonisation also includes the approval, due in 

April, of GM NHS Green Plan to provide a “Net Zero” NHS Service within GM 

Resource and funding to deliver the plan is awaiting approval.  In addition, the Public 

Sector Decarbonisation Smart Meter Programme is focused on the installation of 

smart energy technology in 600 buildings across GM with associated energy usage 

data reporting and analytics. 

 

Sustainable public sector procurement – CE Business Models, Local Levers 

Page 130



 

97 

 

Sustainable Procurement Strategy to be produced by Summer 2022 

Mini Climate E-Learning Tool for GMCA/LAs - E-learning tool is currently being 

developed and should be available to pilot in April 2022 

Journey to Net Zero is a fully funded online programme exclusively for SMEs in 

Greater Manchester that want to get on the path to net zero emissions, but aren’t 

sure where to start. With expert support, businesses build a strategic plan to cut their 

carbon footprint, reduce costs, minimise risk and capitalise on the many 

opportunities awaiting you in the net zero world. Following customer feedback, the 

Growth Hub have launched cohort 5 which started in February 2022 (25 GM SMEs 

registered) with a sixth cohort due to commence in April. There has been interest 

from a larger business requesting support to engage their GM SME supply chain on 

the Journey to Net Zero. Work is being taken forward to explore the options for 

delivering JTNZ to a wider business audience through the Bee Net Zero campaign. 

More broadly, under Commitment 8 (We will support our businesses to grow 

sustainably and be as prosperous as they can be), the number of GM businesses 

signed up to the Race to Zero campaign, a global initiative under the United Nations 

Framework Convention on Climate Change's (UNFCCC), will be tracked.  

 

Bee Net Zero is a Business Engagement Programme launched in October with targets 

of 12.5k/10% of GM businesses pledged to the Net Zero approach per annum and/or 

287.5k/10% KtCO2 of carbon footprint of GM businesses pledged to the Net Zero 

approach per annum with ambition to scale up further if Business Rates Funding is 

confirmed. Progress as at Quarter 3 2021/22 included the Bee Net Zero website 

developed with programme launched at Green Summit on 18th October and a 

business plan being developed with a request for funding to support delivery The 

detailed offer to businesses is being developed with the with LEP lead with an initial 

milestone set for 200 business sign ups by the end of Quarter 4 2021/22. The LEP is 

also working on exploring business-led carbon literacy training programme. 

Social Enterprise/Cooperative Activity 

GMCA has launched a co-design process for the development of a GM Community 

Wealth Hub to support and grow co-operatives, mutuals, social and community 

Page 131



 

98 

 

enterprises, staffed by people from the co-operative and community sector who 

understand the market’. This addressed one of the strands of community wealth 

building directly – plural ownership of the economy. 

In addition, the Social Enterprise Action Plan continues to be delivered, coordinated 

through the Social Enterprise Advisory Group. The focus on the plans is: Improving 

our understanding of SE and its contribution to the GM economy (‘Research & 

Intelligence’);  

Influencing public and business sector procurement (‘Influence Procurement’); 

Identifying potential markets and investment opps (‘Market opportunities and 

Investment’) and Raising awareness and profile (‘Raise awareness’). There is more 

work need to link this activity with the Environment Directorate. 

 

Natural Environment 

 

Green Spaces Fund 

The Greater Manchester Green Spaces Fund will give small grants to communities 

to clean up and improve pocket parks and local green spaces or create new ones 

where they are needed. Aims, eligibility, funding and delivery mechanism for the fund 

to be agreed by the end of March with fund open for applications later in the Spring. 

Local Nature Recovery Strategy 

A pilot Local Nature Recovery Strategy was published in October 2021. Work on a 

statutory LNRS will commence in the summer on publication of regulations and 

guidance by the UK government.  

IGNITION 

The IGNITION project is a 12-partner innovation project working across government, 

academia, business and communities to establish innovative ways of financing urban 

nature-based solutions (NBS) that build resilience to climate change. Final project 

event is planned for March with business models developed for pipelines of SuDS 

projects across the public estate and in a pilot area in Walkden, along with 

associated business cases. 

 

Page 132



 

99 

 

Natural Course 

As part of Natural Course, Greater Manchester organisations are work together to 

deliver integrated water management solutions, tackling issues such as diffuse 

pollution from urban and rural sources and flood risk management. 

 

Green Social Prescribing 

Towards the end of 2020, the GM Health and Social Care Partnership successfully 

secured half a million pounds-worth of funding to deliver green social prescribing 

activities across the city-region. These will connect people with nature-based 

activities such as food, growing community gardening and tree planting, improving 

mental health and wellbeing and the natural environment at the same time.. Pilot 

entering its second year of delivery with a focus on increasing the number of 

referrals with further engagement required from mental health trusts to drive these. 

So far £250,000 of national funding has been channelled into grass-roots community 

green destinations, providing communities and individuals suffering from the biggest 

health disparities the chance to access nature to help improve their health. Further 

funding is being made available for green destinations through the Together Fund 

and GM Environment Fund. There is learning in progress about how to increase 

access to nature-based interventions for people needing mental health support so 

that this becomes a standard offer raising the profile and awareness of the benefits 

of Greater Manchester’s natural resources. 

 

City of Trees 

City of Trees is delivering a green recovery and tackling the climate emergency head 

on, through planting trees and restoring woodlands for the people and wildlife of 

Greater Manchester. Working with communities, organisations, and businesses to 

build an ambitious movement, dedicated to planting a tree for every citizen within just 

five years. As reported under the GMS performance framework for this shared 

commitment, we will assess progress against the target to plant an additional 

350,000 trees by 2024, in line with the 5YEP target to plant three million trees by 

2035. 

 

Page 133



 

100 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain Offsite Delivery 

GM has declared a biodiversity emergency and has set out a series of projects which 

seek to recover and restore biodiversity, reverse habitat loss and explore what more 

can be done. A funding bid has been submitted to the Investment Readiness Fund 

(see below) to provide capacity. 

 

Infrastructure Tripartite Agreement 

A Memorandum of Understanding with the Environment Agency and United Utilities 

on sustainable water management working to increase resilience to flood risk and 

impacts of climate change was signed in 2021. Under the MoU, GMCA will work with 

the two organisations to ensure progressive improvements in sustainable water 

management across the city-region, enhancement of the natural environment and 

ensuring all future developments and critical infrastructure are resilient to flooding 

and the impact of climate change. 

 

Sustainable Production / Consumption 

Promote circular economy – Starting with Textiles: First Draft of CE Roadmap for 

Textiles to be completed by Spring 2022 

Resource Flow/Consumption mapping: Options paper has been produced, work to 

commence with academia Autumn 2022 

Development of GM’s Zero Waste Strategy: Strategy to be produced by Spring 2023 

Campaigns to householders to promote sustainable lifestyles: Green Cities website 

has been created. Social media campaigns are programme throughout the year. 

 

Sustainable Food 

Promote Food Reduction in Business/Schools/Public Sector - Food reduction 

campaigns will form part of the Promotion of Sustainable Lifestyles Programme 

which will run throughout 2022/23 

Good Food GM roadmap and Strategy - Good Food GM Vision is in its final drafting 

stage and an action plan to be produced by Autumn 2022 

Page 134



 

101 

 

Sustainable Food Procurement - A feasibility study for a North West Dynamic Food 

Procurement is currently being considered. 

 

The Greater Manchester Environment Fund 

The Greater Manchester Environment Fund is uniting public, private and 

philanthropic funders in a mission to tackle urgent environmental challenges facing 

the city region. The GMEF has attracted over £2m of funding to deliver 

environmental projects. 

 

Investment Readiness Fund projects 

First Natural Environment IRF project is underway, focussed on blending of 

biodiversity and carbon offsets to fund lowland peatland restoration at Chat Moss 

(Salford); Bid for second IRF project submitted in conjunction with the GMEF in 

February 2022.  

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working 

The information gathered for this update demonstrates the strength of partnership 

approach to deliver this commitment, with leadership and strategic approaches at the 

heart of convening a wide system of public, private and wider partners.   There is 

evidence of a broad range of stakeholders engaged in the agenda, and the 

development of successful and diverse partnerships to support priority setting, 

strategy development and delivery.  

A range of opportunities which require further exploration have been identified 

including: in respect of working with business to reduce commercial carbon 

emissions e.g. . work with businesses could link in with PV; exploring opportunities 

for On-Shore Wind Power; upscaling refrofit skills programmes – without which we 

will be unable to meet our retrofit ambitions, and more widely work to ensure that 

skills provision is responsive to need across the whole environmental agenda; 

systemwide approach to private EV charging; better linking our environment and 

community wealth hub activity. 

Page 135



 

102 

 

There are good examples of effective communication, notably given the take up of 

retrofit programmes and wider investments accessed by the public.  

The expansion and development of cross portfolio social prescribing activities 

demonstrates effective partnership working, with joint working on collective agendas.  

The extent to which data and intelligence is being used currently to target activity 

and resources is not clear, but would seem there is scope for this to be evidence led, 

with effective targeting at particular population groups or places.  

The data on recycling rates shows a variation in performance between GMWDA and 

Wigan, it would be interesting to understand the context and actions that are being 

taken that are translating into improved performance in Wigan compared to the wider 

GMWDA.  

From the information gathered it was not clear the extent to which programmes and 

delivery are systemic. Notable under the provision of EV charging hubs, with focus 

and coordination of charging hubs on public sector estates, but not clear how this 

connects, or if it connects to wider private sector provision in this space, e.g. 

supermarkets, petrol stations etc. 

Trafford energy park is a good example of positive innovation and translation into 

action.  This is something GM should be doing more of – a model which could be 

used with other large companies / commercial industry on large scale energy 

generation. 

 

Page 136



 

103 

 

Commitment 5: We will deliver a low carbon London-style fully integrated 

public transport system across bus, tram, train and bike 

 

1. Introduction 

Transport is a key enabler, linking people, goods and places and helping to deliver 

on our wider Greater Manchester (GM) ambitions. Increasing the ability of individuals 

to connect whilst reducing negative impacts is central to this commitment.  

 

2. Progress measures 

 

% of people who find it easy to use different forms of transport in one journey 

As part of our ambition for a more integrated transport system, GM wants to increase 

the proportion of residents who find it easy to use multiple modes of transport within 

a single journey. In 2021, three-quarters (75.6%) of survey respondents found it 

‘easy’ or ‘very easy’ to use different forms of transport. Some demographic groups 

found it more difficult to use multiple modes of transport within a single journey, 

however, including: women (slightly); 25-54 and 55-64 year olds; people from 

ethnically diverse communities; and people with a health problem or disability that 

limited their day-to-day activities. 

 

% of people who say they can afford to travel by public transport ‘as much as 

they like’ 

GM is committed to creating a more affordable transport system and wants to 

increase the proportion of residents who say they can afford to travel by public 

transport as much as they like. In 2021, nearly two-thirds (61.8%) of survey 

respondents agreed or strongly agreed that they could afford to do so. There was 

some variation by demographic group, with the following groups finding public 

transport less affordable than the average across all respondents: women; people 

from ethnically diverse communities; and people with a health problem or disability 

that limited their day-to-day activities. Older people (aged 65 and above) felt much 

Page 137



 

104 

 

more strongly than younger groups that they could afford to travel by public 

transport. 

 

% and total annual trips made by public transport / active travel  

To meet our 2038 carbon neutral ambitions, we want to see an increase in the 

proportion of total annual trips made in GM via public transport and active travel 

(walking and cycling). The overarching GM Right Mix targets – that were based on 

pre-COVID conditions – are currently being reviewed in light of the impact of the 

pandemic on transport usage. This will help inform a wider review of GM’s progress 

towards meeting its 2038 carbon neutral ambition.  

 

In 2019, two out of five GM trips (41%) were made by sustainable transport, 

representing 2.3m journeys. Walking was the main mode of transport for 70% of 

these trips, followed by public transport (24%) and cycling (5%). Considerable 

variation is evident across the ten districts, with 59% of trips in Manchester made by 

public transport or active travel, and 28% in Tameside. There was little difference 

between males and females; people with a disability or impairment were more likely 

to use public transport than those without (and less likely to engage in active travel), 

but the combined total was similar. 

 

It is important to emphasise that walking is a mode in its own right. In addition to 

providing support for public transport usage, walking is the most common form of 

‘transport’ and investment in it is important, especially when it comes to tackling 

pavement condition, obstructions and safety. 

 

 

% of the GM bus fleet that is zero emission (at the tailpipe) 

The radical reduction in emissions that is required to meet our 2038 carbon neutral 

ambitions requires more than just greater use of public transport and active travel – 

Page 138



 

105 

 

public transport also needs to be cleaner. GM will track the proportion of our bus 

fleet that is zero emission at the tailpipe. Over time, we expect the proportion of 

buses that meet this standard to increase, and under Priority 4 of the GM 5-Year 

Environment Plan, are committed to 100% of buses being zero emission at the 

tailpipe by 2035.  Our GMS target is to have 252 such buses by September 2024; 

this compares to a September 2021 baseline of 32 buses operating across GM that 

are zero emission at the tailpipe, representing 1.6% of the overall GM fleet of 1,957 

buses. 

The above metric, and others tracked under this and the wider set of shared 

commitments, will impact on the air quality indicator tracked under Shared 

Commitment 4 (We will create a carbon neutral Greater Manchester by 2038, with 

better air quality and natural environment). This reports on levels of nitrogen dioxide 

(NO2), given its role as a major pollutant in urban areas and as the main type of air 

pollution being tackled by the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan (GMCAP). Drawing 

on NO2 monitoring network data that track emissions across the city region, and 

focusing on sites where roadside emissions have been above legal limits, the 

number of sites that are compliant with legal limits will be monitored and the number 

of exceedances reported. Data for this indicator are currently being sourced, and will 

be reported in the forthcoming Tableau performance dashboards. The 2024 target 

for this indicator will be confirmed in July 2022, in light of the current review of the 

GMCAP being undertaken in collaboration with central government. 

 

3. Programme Activity Update 

 

Bee Network 

GM’s vision is for an integrated transport system which will join buses, trams, tram-

train, cycling and walking by 2024, with rail incorporated by 2030, transforming how 

people travel in Greater Manchester. Our hope is that designing and delivering public 

transport and active travel within one system – with local control and accountability – 

will deliver an inclusive transport experience. 

 

Page 139



 

106 

 

Sitting beneath the Bee Network vision, there are a series of programmes and 

actions in place which support the delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the 

whole commitment sitting with the Transport Strategy Group. Key activity currently 

includes the following areas. 

 

Bus Franchising 

Bus franchising is a key element of our Bee Network and the High Court decision on 

12 February to dismiss the legal challenge brought against our bus franchising 

process will have a significant impact in allowing us to take forward our plans in this 

regard.  Indeed, the Mayor has subsequently announced his ambition that, that 

under a franchised bus network, adult single journeys would cost no more than £2, 

and single child journeys no more than £1.  The move will be the first step towards 

the Greater Manchester public being able to access a more affordable public 

transport network.  

 

The Mayor has also set out a revised timetable for the introduction of bus 

franchising, which will see: 

 Regulated buses first introduced in Bolton and Wigan as well as parts of 

Salford and west Manchester from next autumn (2023) 

 Bury, Rochdale, Oldham and areas of north Manchester to follow in spring 

2024 

 Final tranche covering Stockport, Trafford, Tameside, south Manchester and 

remaining parts of Salford to follow by the end of 2024 

 

Invitations to negotiate will be issued shortly to prospective providers of bus services 

in Bolton and Wigan, as well as in parts of Salford and west Manchester. 

 

Bee Network delivery including via CRSTS and Bus Services Improvement 

Plan  

Page 140



 

107 

 

Funding via the City Regional Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS), Bus 

Service Improvement Plan and other funding (such as the Levelling Up Fund, from 

which several GM local authorities have been successful in securing funding) will 

form a significant step towards the Bee Network, as the first city region to take 

forward plans for bus franchising, integrated with our Metrolink network and with the 

largest cycling and walking network in development in the UK.   

 

GM’s City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) funding allocation of 

£1.07bn (initially announced ahead of last year’s autumn Comprehensive Spending 

Review) has now been confirmed. This will be supported by £170m in local 

contributions, meaning around £1.2bn worth of investment in local roads, bus, train, 

tram and tram-train services over the next five years, with new quality bus corridors, 

cycling and walking routes and improved transport infrastructure and connectivity for 

towns and high streets in the region. This will also support a move to a fully 

electrified bus fleet, with 50 new zero emission buses expected to serve Bolton and 

Wigan when the first phase of bus franchising is introduced on 17 September 2023.  

 

Greater Manchester has also been awarded £94.8m as part of the Bus Back Better 

strategy, which will used to support affordable bus fares under franchising.   

 

The CRSTS allocation looks likely to fund the following bus improvements asked for:   

 Quality Bus Transit – orbital corridor improvements 

 Bus Corridor Upgrades – development led corridor improvements 

 City Centre Bus – radial corridor improvements 

 Bus Pinch Points and Bus Stop Upgrades – cross-GM improvements 

 Customer Ticking and Information improvements 

 Expanded Zero Emission Bus fleet – with funding just confirmed for the 

provision of 170 zero emission buses, 10% of the current fleet 

 

Page 141



 

108 

 

In addition, CRSTS is likely to fund the following fixed-track interventions and 

development activities: 

 Redevelopment of Bury Interchange into a modern integrated operationally 

carbon neutral facility to meet current and future requirements for bus, 

Metrolink, tram-train and active travel. 

 

 Metrolink Stop Improvements Programme (MStIP) seeks to unlock greater 

patronage through identifying stop improvements which can overcome issues 

that may be hindering greater rapid transit mode share, such as improved 

accessibility and passenger safety and security. An initial 5-year programme 

of improvements will identify and address issues at stops that are below the 

standard our passengers expect / deserve and therefore have potential for 

delivering increased patronage. The Bury line (and some stops on the 

Altrincham line) have been initially identified with poor accessibility and stop 

environments due to heavy rail station legacy issues. The programme will 

discover patterns and scalable solutions for efficiency gains when MStIP is 

expanded across the network.  

 

 Travel Hubs programme to get more people to and from our rapid transit 

stops and stations and integrate active, shared and public transport modes to 

facilitate more multi-modal trips (complemented by Mobility Hubs, in 

neighbourhoods away from stops and stations). 

 

 Tram-Train Pathfinder (starting although not finishing within this CRSTS 

period).  This is the proposed scheme between Oldham and Bury via 

Rochdale and Heywood.  Further Tram-Train schemes could follow on from 

the successful implementation of Pathfinder and these are set out on Map 3 of 

the Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan 2021-26. 

 

 Early development activities for potential new stops on GM’s rapid transit 

network. 

Page 142



 

109 

 

 

The Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) has now been reviewed by Government, 

and we will receive around half of the revenue support that we had asked for as part 

of our Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) submission. 

 

Our submission included proposals for service improvements, fares and ticketing, 

network management and information (fleet and infrastructure now being picked up 

through CRSTS etc). BSIP also includes targets for journey time, reliability, 

passenger numbers and satisfaction and targets for service improvements. 

 

Zero Emission Bus Plans 

In March 2022, GM secured (£35.73m) from the Government’s Zero Emission Bus 

Regional Areas (ZEBRA) to support the introduction of 170 zero emission buses 

running from Stockport by 2024. They will replace the current fleet operated by 

Stagecoach Manchester from its Stockport depot. The operator will build a new 

depot for the e-buses and is to invest £37.2 million in the project. GMCA will provide 

£12.5 million, bringing the total investment to £86.8 million.  

 

HS2 

HS2 is the Government’s scheme to implement a new high-speed north – south 

railway network, from Manchester to London via Birmingham and Crewe. This is a 

major national infrastructure proposal that would be progressed over several 

decades and is being taken forward in several phases.  Phase 1, which is under 

construction will connect London with Birmingham and the West Midlands by around 

2030. Phase 2a, where parliamentary powers gained Royal Assent in 2021, will 

extend the route from the West Midlands to Crewe. The Phase 2b Western Leg is 

proposed to connect Crewe to Manchester by around 2040. 

The hybrid Bill which provides for the HS2 Phase 2b “Western Leg”, between Crewe 

and Manchester was deposited in Parliament by the Department for Transport (DfT) 

on 24th January 202.  The Bill includes provision for new high-speed rail stations 

Page 143



 

110 

 

(providing for HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail services) at Manchester Piccadilly 

and Manchester Airport, along with a tunnelled section of railway that will connect 

the respective stations and new high-speed infrastructure to connect HS2 services to 

the West Coast Mainline just before Wigan North Western. It also covers some 

provision of other related infrastructure, including new highways layouts and 

changes to car parking and Metrolink infrastructure being modified at the two 

stations.    

Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) is a proposal to deliver a high-speed rail network 

between Manchester, Liverpool, Leeds, Newcastle, Sheffield and Hull. The 

Government’s preferred outline plans for NPR are included in the recently published 

Integrated Rail Plan (IRP). The Bill does not cover the proposed NPR scheme, but 

does include ‘touchpoint’ elements to enable its future delivery.  

The HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) Programme remains crucial to the 

future prosperity of Greater Manchester and the North, acting as a catalyst for 

regeneration, jobs, homes and economic growth.   Greater Manchester remains 

supportive of both HS2 and NPR, whilst maintaining a clear position that they must 

be delivered in a manner that fully complements the placemaking, local employment 

and sustainable growth objectives of the city region. The Greater Manchester HS2 

NPR Growth Strategy ‘The Stops are Just the Start’, funded by Government, was 

published in 2018 and provides the framework for this, alongside the GM Transport 

Strategy 2040.    

TfGM continues to work closely with the GM partners on the HS2 NPR programme.  

The GM Partners are made up of GMCA, the GM Local Authorities directly impacted 

by the hybrid Bill proposals and / or the wider HS2 NPR programme, including 

Manchester City Council, Trafford Council, Wigan Council, Tameside Council, 

Salford Council and Stockport Council, and Manchester Airport Group.   

Initial reviews of the hybrid Bill confirm that many of GM’s concerns set out in 

consultation responses dating back to 2014 remain unresolved.  It is therefore 

considered necessary to oppose the Bill through the Parliamentary process to 

ensure GM’s concerns are considered prior to the Bill obtaining Royal Assent.  Many 

Page 144



 

111 

 

of these concerns are shared by one or more of the GM partners, and TfGM is 

working with the GM Partners to coordinate the response to the Bill.   

Overarching issues include: 

 Fully integrated, one-station solutions are needed for Piccadilly and the Airport 

with seamless integration between international, national, regional, and local 

transport modes, including accommodation of Metrolink, to support the vision for 

the ‘Bee Network’; an integrated, modern, and accessible transport network. 

 Integration of HS2 with Greater Manchester’s wider local policy is essential, 

including regeneration and land use around stations and along the route as set 

out in the Manchester Piccadilly Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF) and 

Local Growth Strategies; 

 HS2’s access strategy needs to be aligned with local transport strategy such as 

the ‘Right Mix’ objective for at least 50% of trips to be made using public 

transport, walking and cycling, including delivering an appropriate level of 

highway and parking capacity.  This includes the provision of wider connectivity 

such as Metrolink and multi modal interchange as well as local connectivity 

including active modes; 

 Appropriate mitigations must be in place to minimise the impact of HS2 on the 

local environment, carbon emissions and any disruption to local communities; 

 Station and rail infrastructure must be of a design and quality appropriate for the 

setting and acceptable to the Local Planning Authority; and 

 Maximising the opportunity to upskill the GM population is essential. 

 There is also a requirement to work with government the mechanisms for 

funding each part of the Growth Strategy package.  

 

We will continue to develop and implement the Growth Strategies to maximise the 

opportunities presented by HS2 and NPR, including wider connectivity to the High 

Speed network. 

 

  

Page 145



 

112 

 

Active Travel 

Comprising an infrastructure programme of nearly 200 schemes, delivered from an 

investment of circa £270m we are investing more than any other region outside 

London in the creation of the largest cycling and walking network planned in the UK.  

These schemes are being delivered in an integrated manner across CRSTS, Mayors 

Challenge Fund and Active Travel Fund primarily, although we continue to seek 

other opportunities to invest in the delivery of this key component of the Bee Network 

– a series of improvements to busy routes and along quieter streets that will be 

suitable for an unaccompanied 12 year old and will pass the ‘double buggy’ test – 

ensuring that the network meets or exceeds the required minimum standards set out 

in LTN 1/20 and more specifically achieves the standards of the GM Active Travel 

Design Guide. 

 

Increasing active travel by doubling walking and quadrupling cycling will require 

more than just infrastructure investment, however. Therefore, we are delivering a 

comprehensive range of activation and behaviour change measures to give people 

access to walking and cycling, including our plan to create the largest public bike 

share scheme outside London, and, introduce other forms of shared mobility as they 

develop.  We are working positively with communities on school streets, bike loan 

and library services and continue to support a comprehensive training programme.  

We wish to transform neighbourhoods into active, low traffic communities where 

people and place centred design dominates streets as opposed to being dominated 

by parked motor vehicles.  We are committed to tackling the obstruction and damage 

to pavements caused by vehicles parked on footways, verges and cycle tracks and 

paths. 

 

We will work with all relevant local partners in achieving this vision. 

 

Streets for All Schemes 

Page 146



 

113 

 

GM’s ambition is to design more welcoming and greener streets - which enable 

people to incorporate more physical activity into their daily lives; which have clean 

air; which are safe and secure for everyone; which provide good access to public 

transport and which are accessible for those with mobility impairments.  

 

This approach is for the 10 Greater Manchester local authorities and TfGM to 

develop and roll out, in partnership with residents, businesses, transport operators 

and emergency services, all working together and doing their bit.  

 

Streets for All helps to support both inclusivity and address our environmental 

concerns.  A number of strands of this work are being driven forward including: work 

in neighbourhoods, town and city centres, high streets and corridor proposals. 

 

Affordability and Accessibility  

Moving to the franchised bus network will help to address affordability issues.  In 

addition, other activity continues to make public transport more affordable and 

accessible, including:  

 

 Our Pass - membership scheme for young people who live in GM, and supports 

both school leavers and care leavers. Development work for 2022 cohort is 

currently underway with suppliers and to launch the application portal from 1st 

May 2022. In addition, evaluation is ongoing of scheme and improvements to the 

scheme in progress - a collaboration between The Growth Company and TfGM.  

In respect of the Care Leavers Pass liaison is ongoing with the GM Care Leavers 

Delivery Group, GMCA, and local authorities. One of the areas under review is 

the application process, with the aim to make it easier for care leavers to apply 

and to reduce the rate of incomplete and rejected applications. Work is also being 

undertaken to see where take-up is below expected numbers and how the 

delivery group can communicate to care leavers and care providers of the 

availability and benefits of the offer. Another consideration for TfGM is the 

Page 147



 

114 

 

extension of the concession eligibly age from 21 to 25, in line with the LA 

statutory care age. 

 Apprentice and Job Seekers ticketing offer scoping continuing with TfGM Policy 

team to provide SMART ticketing option for these groups that activates on first 

use. Development required for this product 

 Work with the Autistic Society to improve longer term access to free travel based 

on updated eligibility criteria acceptance. Interim improvements have been 

implemented. 

 Ongoing roll-out of the Access for All programme and development of potential 

new rail stations including: Walkden, Daisy Hill and Irlam stations.  This 

programme is however reliant on Government funding which impacts on the 

speed at which it can be rolled out.  Both this and the Autistic Society work have 

the potential to impact on the more negative responses made by disabled people 

in response to some of the survey-based performance metrics discussed above. 

It is evident that there is more work that we can do in this arena, in particular to 

ensure that we better understand and address the issues that impact upon those 

groups who are disproportionately affected by affordability and accessibility. 

 

Places for Everyone 

Places for Everyone is the Joint Development Plan Document setting the spatial 

planning framework in which development can be brought forward within the GM 

boroughs (except Stockport).  Our Transport ambitions have been integral to the 

development of the plan, which will be important in ensuring that they are taken 

forward in a coordinated manner.  The Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan 

was submitted to the Secretary of State in February 2022 and the examination is due 

in summer 2022, with adoption in 2023. TfGM and local authority partners will work 

together to refresh Local Implementation Plans (LIPs) which are designed to 

complement the GMTS 2040, Right Mix and carbon reduction targets and which 

have a focus on local trips within neighbourhoods and to local centres. It is important 

that they are up-to-date ahead of ‘Places for Everyone’ Examination in Public (EiP) 

Page 148



 

115 

 

to demonstrate how each local authority will deliver interventions associated with the 

allocations. 

 

4. Embedding the ways of working  

From the update information gathered it is evident that wide ranging partnership 

working underpins the delivery of major programmes in support of this commitment.  

Other areas of activity which support the commitment are well connected and the 

impact of supporting delivery in the attainment of this commitment are understood. At 

the heart of collective transport plans is the desire to deliver connected, affordable 

and accessible public transport, which drives improvements in health and wellbeing 

and responsive to needs of all our diverse communities and for households of all 

incomes.  

 

There is evidence of use of data and intelligence to inform policy development and 

decision making, including targeted services, and recognition of the scope to go 

further to deliver more targeted services responsive to evidenced equalities or place-

based intelligence, including stakeholder engagement in the understanding of issues 

or designing of responses.  There is current activity being explored and developed to 

support particular cohorts to access travel passes or discounted travel, such as job 

seekers, based on evidenced need.   

 

The successful attainment of this commitment is a key pillar in GM’s response to the 

climate emergency and forms a significant part of the policy response as the city-

region moves towards net zero carbon. 

 

Transport is a key enabler to GMS strategic ambitions, and is responsive to 

changing circumstances and needs.  Active travel has a key role to play in 

supporting GM residents through the cost of living crisis, with affordable 

interconnected transport across the whole city-region.   The collective vision for 

improvements in our active travel networks will be realised over time and in doing so 

Page 149



 

116 

 

ensure the people who need it most benefit from the improvements. The role of an 

affordable, integrated transport network is key to a successful future for Greater 

Manchester. There is clear understanding of the importance the development of the 

transport system has to play in ensuring it is able to meet current and future needs.  

 

Innovative responses are being explored and developed as part of the transport 

system development across the city-region. There is evidence of use of international 

examples and learning from other places.  

 

The use of the GMCA co-benefits tool and comprehensive equalities impact 

assessments is evident and supporting decision making by TfGM.  

 

The role of transport is key in supporting place-based working, and in enabling place 

level interventions, providing the connectivity between places and enabling improved 

access to all parts of the conurbation.  

 

There is limited evidence of the role of the VCSE sector in delivery of this 

commitment.  Although VCSE agencies and citizens are involved in some of the 

engagement activities in support of better transport design.  

 

Digital technologies underpin the delivery of this commitment, with smart ticketing, 

digital enabled networks and the delivery of real time information across the 

networks.  

Page 150



 

 

Commitment 6 We will enable the delivery of world-class smart digital infrastructure 

 

1. Introduction 

The provision, maintenance and development of world-class smart digital 

infrastructure across the city-region is fundamental to the achievement of our wider 

social, economic and environmental ambitions.   Fixed, mobile and advanced 

wireless digital connectivity has never been more important, and the rapid design 

and delivery of smart digital infrastructure will enable Greater Manchester to continue 

to develop and seeks to position our city-region as world leading in our digital 

ambitions. Ensuring people, places and businesses are connected via smart digital 

infrastructure will be crucial in unlocking GM’s potential, whether that be through 

enabling technologies encouraging more people to use public transport, coordinated 

health records to support clinical decision making and care provision, or the use of 

CCTV systems to support safe places.  

2. Progress Measures  

% of premises unable to access download speeds of at least 30 Mbit/s 

As part of new targeting approaches under the GMS, a floor target is being 

developed for the percentage of premises unable to access download speeds of at 

least 30 MBit per second (Mbps). Slow download speeds can impact negatively on 

both digital inclusion for GM residents and also the productivity of GM businesses. 

Baseline data have been collated to identify those parts of GM that under-perform by 

a considerable margin, and discussions are ongoing to finalise the approach and 

level at which to set the floor target. 

 

GMS also has a related higher-level shared outcome indicator relating to GM’s 

ambition to be recognised as a ‘world-leading digital city-region’, on the number of 

people employed in the digital industries. A new source (Data City) is being used 

to define the sector more comprehensively and track the volume of businesses 

and/or employees, but this work is ongoing and data are not yet available. In the 

interim, work is underway to consider how existing standard sources can be used to 

provide some contextual intelligence. 

Page 151



 

 

 

3. Programme Activity Update 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the Greater Manchester Digital Steering Group. Key activity currently 

includes: 

 

Local Full Fibre Network Programme 

The LFFN programme will provide up to 2,700Km of new fibre optic broadband 

infrastructure, and will connect more than 1,500 public sites across the city-region. 

Delivered in partnership with Virgin Media Business (now VMO2), the £23.8M 

programme, plus existing investments in digital infrastructure, make this the UK’s 

largest LFFN programme and will underpin a range of digital transformation and 

smart city projects.  In its first year of delivery the programme has already delivered 

£11.8M of economic benefit to GM. The programme also has social value built into 

the contracting arrangements and has exceeded local employment targets, 

established the Greater Manchester Technology fund, which has supported over 

1,300 digitally excluded young people during the pandemic, and VMO2 staff have 

used annual volunteer days to support people across GM. This programme has also 

led to wider investment by VMO2 in the extension of its network which is helping to 

reduce the numbers of properties below 30Mbps.  

 

GM One Network 

The creation of a single network infrastructure across a significant number of GM’s 

public sector organisations, enabling network services across the city-region to be 

provided more efficiently, securely and flexibly. The programme has identified 

opportunities for innovation and highlighted significant financial savings for those 

businesses involved over the 10 year period, alongside other wider benefits. 

GM Advanced Wireless and 5G Strategy 

The Strategy will provide a framework for public and private investment in digital 

infrastructure.  The activity is seeking to provide a public wireless platform to address 

Page 152



 

 

connectivity cold spots in GM and contribute towards access to connectivity for 

citizens and visitors.  

Digital Infrastructure in Developments 

Ensuring the use of planning guidance for the provision of competitive, fixed and 

mobile digital infrastructure for new development sites.  

Digital Infrastructure Advisory Group 

Joint working across sectors, providing opportunity for the sharing of ideas, emerging 

initiatives and challenges and allows for scrutiny and input from the private sector, 

recognising the importance of all sectors in the design, delivery and oversight of the 

development of digital infrastructure.  

GM Data Mesh 

Working in partnership across policy areas and partnerships, the GM Data Mesh 

seeks to provide digital capability, supporting the effective use of data from cross-

cutting strategic programmes and services.  

GM Care Record 

Provision of a shared digital care record for all 2.8m GM citizens, which is supporting 

decision making and direct care, clinical pathway transformation, research, service 

planning and design.  

NHS at Home 

A two-year programme is in development, building from the Covid experience, this 

work will create a blueprint for optimisation of “virtual wards”. This will include 

standard operating models and effective inclusive digital solutions.  

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working  

There is good evidence of current use of the ways of working in support of this 

commitment.  Examples of delivery activity from across policy areas were received 

and there is good connection and understanding of those activities.  

The information gathered for this update demonstrates the strength of partnership 

approach to deliver this commitment, with leadership and strategic approaches at the 

Page 153



 

 

heart of convening a wide system of public, private and wider partners.   There is 

evidence of a broad range of stakeholders engaged in the agenda, and the 

development of successful and diverse partnerships to support priority setting, 

strategy development and delivery. The effectiveness of the partnerships involved in 

this commitment suggests good communication strategies and approaches are in 

place.  It is not however clear how far or effectively communicated digital 

infrastructure plans and developments are disseminated to, or understood by, GM 

communities.  

The development of a digital download speed floor target is an innovative example of 

the use of data and intelligence to inform policy development and decision making. It 

should inform a targeted response that will help to reduce spatial variation and 

contribute to our ambition to reduce inequalities across the city-region. 

The effective delivery of this commitment will support GM’s environmental objectives, 

making remote access easier, enabling ease of use of public transport and through 

activities such as the use of planning guidance, and ‘dig once’ principles 

environmental harms from the installation of digital infrastructure can be minimised.  

There is evidence of targeting of services to meet need.  The targeted supply of 

technology to digitally excluded young people and the provision of targeted health 

care via digital solutions.   The responsiveness of service provision to the downloads 

speed floor target will be key to demonstrating how far services can go in responding 

to community need.  

The delivery of this commitment provides an example of good procurement practice, 

with social value contracted in with major suppliers.   The benefits of these contracts 

are being realised, and targeted to those people and places who need it.    

Innovation and innovative solutions are driving much of the activity under this 

commitment.  Seeking digital solutions to problems and ensuring good digital access 

for residents, businesses and visitors to GM.  The development of digital 

infrastructure is being delivered to meet the current need but also developed with 

future demand and requirements in mind.  

Page 154



 

 

Commitment 7: We will realise the opportunities from our world-class growth and 

innovation assets, driven by our Places for Everyone Plan, Local Growth Plans and 

Industrial Strategy to open up opportunities in all parts of the city-region.  

 

1. Introduction 

Greater Manchester benefits from world class growth and innovation assets. 

Attracting R&D investment based on Greater Manchester’s areas of strength and 

excellence, and translating this to drive economic growth nationally as well ensuring 

it supports economic growth in all parts of Greater Manchester is critical going 

forward. 

 

2. Progress measures 

 

Number of employees / companies in GM's frontier sectors  

Growth in the frontier sectors has the potential to power both the GM economy and 

the economy of the North of England, creating jobs of the future and putting the city-

region at the heart of the UK’s global competitiveness. Investing in these sectors, 

which include advanced materials and manufacturing, health innovation, digital, 

creative and media, and clean growth, will help GM to address some key challenges, 

such as health innovation and the need for rapid decarbonisation if we are to 

become carbon neutral by 2038. This measure seeks to see an increase in the 

number of employees and companies in GM’s frontier sectors. 

 

Drawing on a new source (Data City) to define the frontier sectors more 

comprehensively, using novel, machine learning approaches to the analysis of data 

scraped from company websites. This work is ongoing, so data are not currently 

available to report against this indicator. In the interim, work is underway to 

determine how existing standard sources of data can be used to provide some 

contextual intelligence. 

 

Number of innovation-active businesses  

Page 155



 

 

Innovation and technological change will be central to solving some of our key social 

and environmental challenges, and will enable GM to diversify its business base, 

transform ways of working, build vibrant places, create future resilience, support 

pathways to work, and tackle social issues.  To drive forward this change, GM needs 

to see an increase in the number of innovation-active businesses, and to open up 

the opportunities that innovation creates across all parts of the city-region. 

 

Data are not currently available to report against this indicator, which will also draw 

on data sourced from Data City (again, standard sources will be used for interim 

reporting).  Businesses will be given an innovation score based on machine learning 

approaches to data scraped from their websites, which will be compared to data from 

businesses known to be engaging in innovative activity. 

  

Page 156



 

 

 

3. Programme Activity Update 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the GM LEP. Key activity currently includes: 

Innovation GM 

Led by business, scientific, academic and local government leaders, Innovation 

Greater Manchester is a model for creating a network of innovation zones across 

towns and cities and leveraging science assets and strengths to support innovation-

led business growth in Greater Manchester, the North West, and the wider North. It 

is a blueprint for how cities and towns across the North can work in concert for 

mutual broad-based prosperity, levelling up through science and innovation.  The 

blueprint envisages a network of Innovation Zones that link labs and research 

institutions to industry in city centres, town centres and advanced manufacturing 

parks across Greater Manchester. Innovation Zones would ensure the growth fuelled 

by innovation brings economic and social benefits to every district, resulting in 

updated skills, good employment and places where people want to invest. 

It is closely aligned with UK national policy which seeks to deliver the Government’s 

laudable aims of achieving 2.4% of GDP related to R&D, establishing the UK as a 

science superpower and supporting international trade through global Britain. It 

demonstrates how deeper local-national partnerships, underpinned by shared 

outcomes and ring-fenced funds, can deliver more and better. 

 

The recent Levelling Up White paper made a headline commitment that BEIS will 

invest at least 55% of its R&D funding outside the Golden Triangle by 2024-25. In 

addition it announced three ‘Innovation Accelerators’ in Greater Manchester, West 

Midlands and Greater Glasgow. £100m is available to support these plans - there is 

a private sector match funding contribution required. GMCA is working with 

Government officials on a co-design process for the Accelerator, part of which will 

include developing a GM Innovation Plan and a Business Case to draw down the 

available funding.  

Advanced Materials & Manufacturing 

Page 157



 

 

Key strands of activity driving forward the Advanced Materials and Manufacturing 

Frontier sector include the Greater Manchester Advanced Materials and 

Manufacturing Alliance (GAMMA) which has taken forward action to launch 

Manufacturing Innovation Networks in partnership with the Growth Company with the 

aim of helping to identify and address industry innovation challenges, and 

opportunities. Work has also started on developing a full business case for 

investment for a ‘sustainable materials translational research centre’ to be located in 

the Atom Valley growth location. This centre would complement the Advanced 

Machinery and Productivity Institute (AMPI) which to-date has secured almost £40m 

through the Towns Fund and Strength in Places programme In addition, work is 

being undertaken to coordinate a GM sector response to the recently announced 

BEIS consultation on its UK Advanced Materials strategy. 

In addition, programme delivery continues on the Made Smarter programme which is 

focused on helping manufacturers to modernise by adopting digital technologies 

enabling them to become more productive and profitable, and support the growth of 

Greater Manchester’s economy. Delivery includes roll out of specialist industrial 

digital technology advice including project grants, student internships, workforce 

development advice, and leadership & management development. A 12 month 

extension was granted to March 2022 and the autumn spending review announced 3 

further years of funding to 2025. 

 

Health Innovation 

The Innovation Partnership on Healthy Ageing continues to meet regularly and work 

is currently underway to create linkages into both Innovation Greater Manchester 

and the new integrated care structure for the city-region. 

 

Digital and Culture 

A Digital Cluster Development Plan is being developed with evidence-based 

proposals to maximise economic growth from GM's key digital specialisms and 

assets.  The Plan focuses on  Cyber, E-Commerce and Median and Content. An 

eContent proposition is being developed which sets out the sub-sector assets of GM. 

Page 158



 

 

In addition, there is collaborative development of a GM Cyber Strategy to uplift the 

sector and shape future working. 

The COVID pandemic has hit the culture and leisure sector hard and through the 

Culture Recovery Plan, work is ongoing to draw on all available resources to support 

the sector, taking advantage of significant digital advances to widen access to 

culture, and a greater love and pride in our local place including through: the GM 

Music Commission established to advise the Mayor of GM on relevant matters; 

increasing national and international profile of GM talent; and agreeing with legal 

structure and governance of StreamGM.  

 

Clean Growth  

Ten Local Area Energy Plans and 1 GM Masterplan are under development and will 

be completed by July 22.  These will include activity associated with our 6 Growth 

Locations. 

 

We have established an Energy Innovation Agency with Greater Manchester’s 

Universities, public and private sector partners. The aim of the Agency is to 

accelerate the commercialisation of technologies which can reduce carbon 

emissions. Work is ongoing to fully establish the Agency and support a pipeline of 

innovations to commercialisation. 

 

Innovation Finance 

Innovation and Angel Finance:  Demand continues to be high across GM. High-

innovation potential, early-stage businesses haven't always been able to access the 

growth capital they need. GC Angels was formed to respond this imbalance in the 

early-stage equity market across the North. It invests alongside angel investors and 

funds, de-risking and unlocking deals with a focus on exciting, high-growth 

opportunities innovating across digital, creative and technology sectors GC Angels 

has successfully invested £2.8m of LGF funding leveraging £14m of private co-

investment, with a large and growing qualified pipeline of circa £22m. GC Angels 

Page 159



 

 

now needs to urgently address access to new capital and short-term options are 

being explored. 

 

Innovation and growth finance: GMCA manages its own investment funds. Its focus 

is to help companies operating in the key industrial sectors get access to the finance 

they need to grow. It achieves this via direct investment into GM based businesses 

alongside private sector investment and the creation of sector specific investment 

funds. Direct investments are typically in the region of £250k to £1.5m and have 

recently supported the establishment of a new challenger bank, a software developer 

which assists small and micro businesses and an innovative ecommerce service 

provider. In 2015 the fund established the Life Sciences Fund in partnership with 

Cheshire LEP, Cheshire East and Bruntwood. It has since supported over 40 

businesses across the region. Its success has led to the establishment of a second 

fund, this time funded alongside Cheshire LEP and Bruntwood, which is expected to 

go live during May 2022. The fund also provides finance to enable the construction 

of new placemaking commercial space, supporting the development of 194,192sqm 

of BREEAM accredited space and the redevelopment of c25Ha of Brownfield land. 

 

Places for Everyone 

Places for Everyone is the Joint Development Plan Document for 9 of the 10 

districts, setting the spatial planning framework in which development can be brought 

forward within GM. The overall spatial strategy of the Plan seeks to take advantage 

of the opportunities for delivering high levels of economic growth, whilst addressing 

the challenges for securing genuinely inclusive growth and prosperity.  Making the 

most of the key assets at the core of the conurbation is central to the approach, as 

this will be essential to maximising the competitiveness of Greater Manchester and 

driving economic growth across the city region. Securing major investment in the 

surrounding inner areas will be important to addressing the extensive deprivation in 

those neighbourhoods, as well as supporting the successful functioning of the core 

areas. The Plan also seeks to boost significantly the competitiveness of the northern 

parts of Greater Manchester, whilst ensuring that the southern area continues to 

make a considerable contribution to growth by making the most of its key assets. 

Page 160



 

 

The Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan was submitted to the Secretary of 

State in February 2022 and the examination is due in summer 2022, with adoption in 

2023. 

 

Growth Locations 

Set within the context of Places for Everyone, six ‘Growth Locations’ have been 

identified which represent opportunities for the whole city-region to bring forward 

development at a scale that can drive the transformational change we want to see in 

GM. The six Growth Locations are:  

• North East Growth Corridor (Atom Valley)  

• Eastern Growth Cluster  

• Airport & Southern Growth Corridor  

• Central Growth Cluster 

• Western Gateway  

• Wigan & Bolton Growth Corridor 

 

The growth locations will facilitate growth across a range of industries and in addition 

in the following areas: employment & supply chain, education & skills, housing, 

transport, innovation and low carbon.  In respect of innovation the plans include 

proposals to work with our academic institutions to drive innovation and R&D activity 

across the Growth Locations, supporting projects through Innovation GM and 

potential innovation deals. The Growth Locations cover significant innovation assets 

including Oxford Road Corridor and the Advanced Machinery and Productivity 

Institute in Rochdale, Trafford Clean Energy Park and the Salford Innovation 

Triangle. 

 

Stockport Local Plan 

Being developed by Stockport, as the planning and development framework for the 

district, and complementary to the wider GM plan, with shared transport planning 

and delivered as part of the wider GM Housing Strategy. 

 

Page 161



 

 

Infrastructure Tripartite Agreement 

A Memorandum of Understanding with the Environment Agency and United Utilities 

on sustainable water management working to increase resilience to flood risk and 

impacts of climate change was signed with GMCA in 2021. Under the MoU, GMCA 

will work with the two organisations to ensure progressive improvements in 

sustainable water management across the city-region, enhancement of the natural 

environment and ensuring all future developments and critical infrastructure are 

resilient to flooding and the impact of climate change. 

 

Focus skills capital on supporting growth locations and frontier sectors 

The Local Growth Fund has funded 14 FE Capital projects, 10 of which have now 

completed and 4 of which are in delivery and making significant progress towards 

completion.   

 

Skills for Growth is a £42m three-year programme funded by the European Social 

Fund. It has been designed to fill the occupational skills gaps identified by employers 

who have continually highlighted that they cannot find the technical skills in Greater 

Manchester required to support and grow their businesses. It has been designed to 

upskill and re-skill employed people across the city-region, which will put them in a 

better position to progress in their careers while supporting businesses to grow. 

£12.5m of skills provision commissioned and a further £10m planned over coming 

quarter.  It is a key element of supporting the skills needs of the frontier sectors. 

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working 

Following the pandemic, Greater Manchester has taken advantage of the opportunity 

to reappraise our economic priorities.  The LEP has developed a bold Economic 

Vision, enabling Greater Manchester to lead the local and UK economic recovery 

and development.  Based on the Independent Prosperity Review evidence base, the 

Economic Vision charts a new economic course, capitalising on Greater 

Manchester’s assets and the opportunities for economic growth through the regional 

centre and our growth locations, recognising our city-region can, and needs to be, at 

Page 162



 

 

the heart of driving social and economic innovation, and as it does so, with the 

renewed focus of people and planet first.   

From the update information it is evident that significant partnership working is 

happening to ensure that through our growth and innovation assets we open up 

opportunities across the conurbation.  Places for Everyone and the Stockport Plan 

provide the spatial planning framework to facilitate our plans and have involved wide 

partnership approach in their development, including development of the evidence 

base, in addition to widespread consultation on the plans. 

The recent work on Growth Locations has been developed within the context of the 

Local Industrial Strategy and building on our work with Frontier Sectors. In addition, 

delivery, business case development, and option exploration of transport 

investments to support key GM Growth Locations is taking place including 

allocations identified through Places for Everyone and the future Stockport Local 

Plan.  

The effective delivery of this commitment will support GM’s environmental objectives, 

in particular the focus on Clean Growth as a frontier sector.  However, it would be 

useful to understand in more detail the specific specialisms in Greater Manchester 

and how these are being translated into action on the ground. 

There is evidence of targeting of services to meet need.  Places for Everyone seeks 

to boost significantly the competitiveness of the northern parts of Greater 

Manchester, recognising the impact of deindustrialisation on these areas.  This is 

followed through with the Growth Locations work for example with the Advanced 

Machinery and Productivity Institute in Rochdale.  However there does appear to be 

scope for further disaggregation of data and targeting of services, not least housing 

provision, to meet community need.  

 

Page 163



 

 

Commitment 8: We will support our businesses to grow sustainably, to 

become as prosperous as they can be.   

 

1. Introduction 

As our economy rebuilds and recovers from the pandemic companies are having to 

innovate and change to survive.  We want to support our businesses to grow and 

develop sustainably, which in tandem ensures that good employment opportunities 

are accessible for our residents. Additionally, we want to embrace the renewed 

understanding and recognition by some of businesses’ purpose being beyond 

growing shareholder value, and with significant power to impact positively on their 

communities. 

 

2. Progress measures 

 

Number of GM businesses engaged by the Growth Company  

We want to support GM businesses to succeed, and specifically to maximise the 

effectiveness of Growth Company services in encouraging inclusive and sustainable 

economic growth across the city region. 

 

During the period from April to December 2021 (Quarter 1 to Quarter 3 2021/22), 

there were 17,668 engagements by the Growth Company with GM businesses.  

Cumulative data through to the end of the 2021/22 financial year (Quarter 4) will be 

included in future reporting, but the 2020/21 data show that the number of annual 

engagements increased by more than 200% compared to the previous year – this 

reflected increased activity in response to COVID-19, including the set-up of a new 

call centre, #HereForBusiness. 

 

Drawing from a different dataset on the characteristics of owners of businesses, the 

most recent annual data (for 2021/22) show that just over a quarter (27.2%) of 

business owners were female, higher than previous years, and around 1 in 8 

Page 164



 

 

(12.7%) were from an ethnic background.  Less than 4% of business owners were 

aged 16-25. 

 

Number of GM businesses signed up to the Race to Zero campaign 

Sustainable growth requires action from both the public and private sector, including 

pledges to reduce carbon usage.  GM aims to increase the number of businesses 

that support this by signing up to the United Nations Framework Convention on 

Climate Change's (UNFCCC) Race to Zero campaign.  Race To Zero is a global 

campaign to rally leadership and support from businesses, cities, regions and 

investors for a healthy, resilient, zero carbon recovery that mitigates future threats, 

creates good jobs and unlocks inclusive, sustainable growth. As of 2021, 59 active 

businesses in GM had signed up to the Race to Zero campaign.  This figure will be 

updated on a regular basis in order to track progress over time. 

 

In contribution to the GMS shared outcome on vibrant and successful enterprise, GM 

is committed to supporting new businesses to be established and subsequently 

thrive.  The higher-level shared outcome indicators include a measure on the 

number of business births, which we want to see rising across the city region.  In 

2019, there were 98.4 business births per 10,000 of the resident population in 

Greater Manchester, 1.2 below the England average, and down 7.5 compared to the 

2018 position.  Births decreased in six of the ten Greater Manchester districts 

between 2018 and 2019, but increased in Oldham, Stockport, Tameside and Wigan. 

 

3. Programme Activity Update 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the GM LEP. Key activity currently includes: 

Business support & investment: 

The Business Productivity, Innovation and Inclusive Growth programme initially 

commenced in 2018 and is focused on delivering sustainable and inclusive growth 

across the GM business base, enabling local businesses to survive and thrive led by 

Page 165

https://unfccc.int/climate-action/race-to-zero-campaign


 

 

GC Business Growth Hub, part of The Growth Company. With a clear focus on 

supporting businesses looking to grow through innovation, investment, 

internationalisation and workforce development, the range of services provided allow 

businesses to access a variety of support from light-touch information services, to 

more intensive support programmes and access to financial products. An evaluation 

of phase 1 of the BPIIG programme is being undertaken.  The next phase of BPIIG 

started in January 2022 via contract extension of the BPIIG Programme until June 

2023. As a result of the £8.1M GMCA funding, the Growth Hub have been able to 

leverage a further £8.2M of ERDF funding and £2.8M of other public and private 

funding giving a total funding package of £19.1M. Work is ongoing re commissioning 

Phase 2 of the programme. 

 

GMCA has re-commissioned a range of leadership & management support for SMEs 

from the GC Growth Hub in GM, which will be delivered until June 2023 under a new 

campaign and one-front-door called Greater Manchester Leadership Hive which will 

bring leadership and management training for SMEs together in one place. This will 

also include a new, pilot programme, ‘OPEN SME’ which will provide free, short-

course online training from GM Business Schools to help SME leaders improve 

profitability, sustainability and increase business growth. 

 

MIDAS is the inward investment promotion agency for Greater Manchester, with a 

strategic aim to secure significant levels of new investment for the city region to 

create and safeguard jobs. Performance remains strong in terms of projects 

concluding, with 51 project wins to date, creating 4,849 jobs and safeguarding 922. 

Project wins are 31% higher than this time last year and sit just 9 above the YTD 

pre-COVID-19 average (49). Jobs created is now over double the YTD pre-COVID19 

average of 2,350. 

Innovation and Angel Finance:  Demand continues to be high across GM. High-

innovation potential, early-stage businesses haven't always been able to access the 

growth capital they need. GC Angels was formed to respond this imbalance in the 

early-stage equity market across the North. It invests alongside angel investors and 

funds, de-risking and unlocking deals with a focus on exciting, high-growth 

Page 166



 

 

opportunities innovating across digital, creative and technology sectors GC Angels 

has successfully invested £2.8m of LGF funding leveraging £14m of private co-

investment, with a large and growing qualified pipeline of circa £22m. GC Angels 

now needs to urgently address access to new capital and short-term options are 

being explored. 

 

Journey to Net Zero: is a fully funded online programme exclusively for SMEs in 

Greater Manchester that want to get on the path to net zero emissions, but aren’t 

sure where to start. With expert support, businesses build a strategic plan to cut their 

carbon footprint, reduce costs, minimise risk and capitalise on the many 

opportunities awaiting you in the net zero world. Following customer feedback, the 

Growth Hub have launched cohort 5 which started in February 2022 (25 GM SMEs 

registered) with a sixth cohort due to commence in April. There has been interest 

from a larger business requesting support to engage their GM SME supply chain on 

the Journey To Net Zero. Work is being taken forward to explore the options for 

delivering JTNZ to a wider business audience through the Bee Net Zero campaign. 

 

Bee Net Zero is a Business Engagement Programme launched in October with targets 

of 12.5k/10% of GM businesses pledged to the Net Zero approach per annum and/or 

287.5k/10% KtCO2 of carbon footprint of GM businesses pledged to the Net Zero 

approach per annum with ambition to scale up further if Business Rates Funding is 

confirmed. Progress as at Quarter 3 2021/22 included the Bee Net Zero website 

developed with programme launched at Green Summit on 18th October and a 

business plan being developed with a request for funding to support delivery The 

detailed offer to businesses is being developed with the LEP lead with an initial 

milestone set for 200 business sign ups by the end of Quarter 4 2021/22. 

 

Enterprising You is a government-funded programme specially designed to support 

self-employed individuals, including those who work in the gig economy and small 

business owners in Greater Manchester. To the end of January 2022, the 

Enterprising You (EY) programme has seen 5,199 enquiries,1926 starts on 

programme, and is ahead of target on most outputs.  The programme has been 

particularly popular with female entrepreneurs. 

Page 167



 

 

 

The Peer Networks programme, delivered by the Growth Hub, was successful in 21-

22 in supporting 29 cohorts of 11 businesses (out of a target of 25) to engage in 

Peer learning with fellow business leaders. Unfortunately this nationally-funded 

programme has been discontinued as of April 2022, GMCA and GC Growth Hub are 

working together to find other ways to support businesses to engage in peer 

learning.  

 

GM Digital Business Support 

GM Digital Business Support: Business support is being provided through the 

Growth Company channels and vehicles including: The Digital Innovation 

Programme; Made Smarter; Digital and Technology Theme Support; ESF Skills 

Support for the Workforce; Digital Springboard, Tech adoption Service, Global Scale 

Up, Greater Connected, Exceed and Creative Accelerator Programmes; Creative 

Leaders Festival and through the efforts of Digital Account Managers in each LA 

area. 

 

Programme delivery continues on the Made Smarter programme which is focused on 

helping manufacturers to modernise by adopting digital technologies enabling them 

to become more productive and support the growth of Greater Manchester’s 

economy. Delivery includes roll out of specialist industrial digital technology advice 

including project grants, student internships, workforce development advice, and 

leadership & management development. A 12 month extension was granted to 

March 2022 and the spending review announced 3 further rounds of funding to 2025. 

 

Technology Adoption Service: A technology finder tool for SMEs to help them 

navigate back-office solutions to boost productivity & productivity is being piloted in 

GM in collaboration with the Greater London Authority. 

North West Cyber Resilience Centre 

A not-for-profit venture between North West Police forces and Manchester Digital 

aiming to equip business within our region with the skills and knowledge to protect 

Page 168



 

 

themselves from online attacks. The centre provides education, testing and training 

delivered by a team of trusted professionals, seconded police officers and Ethical 

Hacking students studying cybersecurity at local universities. 

 

Retail Crime Collaboration 

GMP retail crime steering group includes big 6 supermarkets, JD sports etc. An 

action plan was published in November in #ShopKind week with focus currently on 

increasing the ease of reporting to GMP and on repeat locations. 

 

Foundational Economy Programme 

Work is ongoing within both existing support structures and in creating new ones to 

understand better what works, as well as demonstrating leadership and building 

networks and collaborations that increase the capacity for positive change for both 

workers and businesses in the foundational economy. A work plan has been 

developed in collaboration with the steering group (GMCA, partners, LAs) a Fund is 

being developed to stimulate a series of experiential projects addressing specific 

"Challenge Areas" where innovative solutions could improve outcomes in the 

Foundational Economy, and provide learning on the resources and policy levers 

required to create wider development, and develop innovation capacity in the 

foundational economy. Complementary skills activity has also been commissioned, 

including new social care progression programmes.  

 

Social Enterprise/Cooperative Activity 

GMCA has launched a co-design process for the development of a GM Community 

Wealth Hub to support and grow co-operatives, mutuals, social and community 

enterprises, staffed by people from the co-operative and community sector who 

understand the market’. This addressed one of the strands of community wealth 

building directly – plural ownership of the economy. 

In addition, the Social Enterprise Action Plan continues to be delivered, coordinated 

through the Social Enterprise Advisory Group. The focus on the plans is: Improving 

our understanding of social enterprise and its contribution to the GM economy 

(‘Research & Intelligence’); Influencing public and business sector procurement 

(‘Influence Procurement’); Identifying potential markets and investment opportunities 

Page 169



 

 

(‘Market opportunities and Investment’) and Raising awareness and profile (‘Raise 

awareness’). 

 

Progressive Procurement 

It was announced in March that GMCA and local authorities will move by 2023 to 

only procuring from companies that pay the real Living Wage, support good 

employment and have developed plans to become carbon neutral. 

 

GM NHS has been included in discussions with GMCA around “Driving Social Value 

in Greater Manchester Public Procurement” with a joint action plan being developed.  

There are opportunities presented through the development of the ICS, but will 

require capacity and embedding in the early design stages.  

 

The Growth Company has published a Progressive Procurement Policy and is 

tracking Equality, Diversity and Inclusion measures for their supply chain. This 

baseline will give them a better understanding of the impacts of procurement 

patterns. 

 

 

Focus skills capital on supporting growth locations and frontier sectors 

The Local Growth Fund has funded 14 FE Capital projects, 10 of which have now 

completed and 4 of which are in delivery and making significant progress towards 

completion.  

 

Skills for Growth is a £42m three-year programme funded by the European Social 

Fund. It has been designed to fill the occupational skills gaps identified by employers 

who have continually highlighted that they cannot find the technical skills in Greater 

Manchester required to support and grow their businesses. It has been designed to 

upskill and re-skill employed people across the city-region, which will put them in a 

better position to progress in their careers while supporting businesses to grow. 

Page 170



 

 

£12.5m of skills provision commissioned and a further £10m planned over coming 

quarter. It is a key element of supporting the skills needs of the frontier sectors. 

 

Working with Employer representative bodies to develop GM Local Skills 

Improvement Plan (LSIP) 

Development and funding for LSIPs are referenced in Levelling Up white paper, with 

leadership expected from Employer Representative Bodies. GM Chamber of 

Commerce currently exploring local LSIP options. 

 

GM Age Friendly Employer Toolkit 

GMCA has become the first UK city-region to launch a toolkit designed to help and 

inform employers on the positive impact an age-friendly workplace can bring. The 

Age-Friendly Employer Toolkit includes information on flexible working, how to hire 

age-positively as well as advice on how to encourage career development at all 

ages, and is based the five principles established by the Centre for Ageing Better.  

 

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working 

The information gathered for this update demonstrates the strength of partnership 

approach to deliver this commitment, with leadership and strategic approaches at the 

heart of convening a wide system of public, private and wider partners.   There is 

evidence of a broad range of stakeholders engaged in the agenda, and the 

development of successful and diverse partnerships to support priority setting, 

strategy development and delivery. There are however,  areas where partnership 

approach could be further improved for example between the Skills and Economy 

portfolio areas in some activities, in respect of communication and procurement of 

services and Economy input to the Local Skills Improvement Plans. This will help to 

further cement the linkages to ensure that skills development is supporting growth in 

our frontier sectors and growth locations, as well as our wider economy. 

There are a broad range of programmes of activity to support business but the extent 

to which these are helping to address inequalities is unclear.  It is positive to see the 

Page 171



 

 

development of a programme to specifically support the Foundation Economy, which 

disproportionately employs some groups of people, for example women.  However, 

whilst there are some specific initiatives, such as the Guide to Age-friendly 

employment, going forward it will be important to understand how programmes are 

addressing inequality and helping to support the broader levelling up agenda. 

There is evidence of the use of data and intelligence to inform policy development 

and decision making.  However, beyond the demographic data that is collated under 

the performance metric on Growth Company engagements with GM businesses, 

reporting will only be limited intelligence on inequality perspectives relating to this 

shared commitment, and it would be beneficial to commit more publicly to reporting 

relevant programme-level data.  It would also be useful to understand how Journey 

to Net Zero and Bee Net Zero are aligned to Race to Zero, as tracked in the GMS 

Performance Framework, to maximise the number of GM businesses that make net 

zero commitments under this initiative. 

There are a range low carbon business support programmes, some being delivered 

through BPIIG some through other areas.  It would be useful to review the scale and 

impact of these programmes going forward. 

There is good evidence of a variety of programmes to provide digital innovation and 

support to businesses. 

It is pleasing to see progress being made in respect of progressive procurement and 

social value with delivery of the Social Enterprise Action Plan and the recent 

announcement relating to procurement by GMCA and the local authorities.  There is 

more work to do in this area for example through NHS procurement, with likely 

opportunities created as part of the design and development of the ICS.  

The breadth of programmes and apparent good take up of services suggests 

effective and targeted communication methods are in place, ensuring residents and 

businesses are able to access the support they need.  

Page 172



 

 

Commitment 9: We will support the creation of better jobs and good 

employment that has a purpose beyond growing shareholder value, utilising 

the opportunity to positively impact on our communities 

 

1. Introduction 

A good job can provide independence, income, confidence, as well as improving 

skills and opening up choices for an individual and reducing social isolation, and for 

an employer, good jobs will help them to grow and succeed through improved 

employment standards and delivering opportunities for people to progress, to 

support the health, development and resilience of their workforce whilst experiencing 

the business benefits that come alongside this. 

 

2. Progress measures 

 

% of employees paid above the Real Living Wage (RLW) 

As a central part of work to create better jobs for residents, GM is committed to 

becoming the first city-region in the UK in which all employers pay the real living 

wage (RLW) and offer living hours by 2030. To ensure that progress is on track to 

achieve this, GM wants the proportion of employees paid the RLW to increase to 

88% by April 2024. 

 

In April 2021 (provisional data), 80.9% of GM employees earned more than the 

RLW, up from 80.0% in 2020, but lagging the UK average of 82.9%. Progress will be 

tracked from this baseline against the trajectory towards the 2024 target position, to 

assess if we are on course to achieve our 2030 ambition. Male employees in GM 

were more likely to be paid above the RLW than women (82.7% and 79.1% 

respectively in April 2021). 

 

% of GM residents in ‘good work’ 

Page 173



 

 

GM wants to increase the proportion of residents in good work, and reduce variance 

between different resident groups. The GM residents survey shows that in February 

2022 some three-quarters of respondents were satisfied with their job (74%) and 

their working hours (72%), but only around half (52%) were satisfied with their pay. 

 

Job insecurity was quite high, with almost a fifth (18%) of respondents saying that 

they thought they were likely to lose their job and become unemployed in the next 

twelve months.  There was some variance by demographic group, with the following 

groups thinking they were more likely to lose their job: males; young people aged 16-

24; people with a health problem or disability that limited their day-to-day activities; 

and (in particular) people with a current caring responsibility.  There was little 

variance by broad ethnic group.  Further analysis will be undertaken of the February 

2022 survey findings and bringing them together with findings from the forthcoming 

survey in April 2022, to develop a better understanding across the various domains 

of good work that are explored, and potentially to come up with a composite 

measure that summarises the prevalence of good work across the city region. 

 

Activity under this shared commitment will impact on the GMS shared outcome 

relating to better jobs for GM residents, and over time should contribute to improved 

performance against the shared outcome indicators on median resident earnings 

and working-age employment rate.  In 2021, the median hourly pay of Greater 

Manchester residents (as an average across both full-time and part-time employees) 

stood at £13.03, £1.07 below the UK average.  The gender pay gap was 

considerable, with the median hourly pay of male residents being £1.79 higher than 

that for females.  The employment rate also lagged the national average by a 

considerable margin, standing at 71.9% in September 2021 for the GM working-age 

population, compared to 74.5% for the UK as a whole.  This metric lays bare the 

inequalities experienced by some groups: the employment rate for residents from an 

ethnic background in September 2021 was 14 percentage points below that for the 

working-age population overall, and for people with a disability was 23.4 points 

below. 

3. Programme Activity Update 

Page 174



 

 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the GM LEP. Key activity currently includes: 

GM’s real Living Wage (RLW) City Region campaign 

In November 2021, Greater Manchester became the first Living Wage City-Region 

officially recognised by the Living Wage Foundation. Through close partnership with 

the Foundation, Greater Manchester has put in place a dedicated taskforce working 

across different sectors of the economy to engage with employers and encourage 

them to support our ambitions. As of the start of April 2022, there are 466 accredited 

employers across Greater Manchester, up from 384 at the launch of the campaign. 

 

Building on the RLW campaign, it was announced in March that by the end of the 

year, more than half of Greater Manchester’s 10 boroughs will be paying the real 

Living Wage to directly and indirectly employed adult social care staff, soon to be 

£9.90 per hour. The remaining boroughs are on track to deliver the RLW for their 

adult social care staff soon after. 

 

Greater Manchester Good Employment Charter 

The Greater Manchester Good Employment Charter is a voluntary membership and 

assessment scheme which has been created to improve employment standards 

across all GM employers, regardless of size, sector or geography. Organisations – 

including public sector bodies, private sector businesses, service providers, the third 

sector, and voluntary and community organisations – can sign up to the Charter. 

 

Over 850 employers are engaged with the Charter Unit as of the start of April. The 

need for support on the effective introduction and management of flexible work 

continues through the Charter’s partnership work with Timewise, and they will 

continue to deliver a series of Masterclasses on various aspects of Flexible and 

Hybrid working and will provide a range of toolkits and guidance resources for the 

Charter. The Charter have also supported the GMCA and Timewise on the release 

Page 175



 

 

of the Greater Manchester Flexible Work Index which provides a baseline for the 

number of vacancies across GM that are available on a flexible basis. 

 

Self-employed support (including Enterprising You) 

Enterprising You (EY) is a government-funded programme specially designed to 

support self-employed individuals, including those who work in the gig economy and 

small business owners in Greater Manchester. To the end of January 2022, the 

Enterprising You programme has seen 5,199 enquiries, 1926 starts on programme, 

and is ahead of target on most outputs.  EY has appointed a number of providers to 

deliver one to many workshops replacing the previous model, and workshops will 

commence mid Feb 2022. EY has made a number of alliances with the new start up 

Visions team (CRF) to share best practice. The programme has been particularly 

popular with female entrepreneurs. 

 

Social Enterprise/Cooperative Activity 

GMCA has launched a co-design process for the development of a GM Community 

Wealth Hub to support and grow co-operatives, mutuals, social and community 

enterprises, staffed by people from the co-operative and community sector who 

understand the market’. This addressed one of the strands of community wealth 

building directly – plural ownership of the economy. 

In addition, the Social Enterprise Action Plan continues to be delivered, coordinated 

through the Social Enterprise Advisory Group. The focus on the plans is: Improving 

our understanding of SE and its contribution to the GM economy (‘Research & 

Intelligence’);  

Influencing public and business sector procurement (‘Influence Procurement’); 

Identifying potential markets and investment opportunities (‘Market opportunities and 

Investment’) and Raising awareness and profile (‘Raise awareness’). 

 

Progressive Procurement 

Page 176



 

 

It was announced in March that GMCA and local authorities will move by 2023 to 

only procuring from companies that pay the real Living Wage, are supporters of the 

Good Employment Charter and have developed plans to become carbon neutral. 

 

GM NHS has been included in discussions with GMCA around “Driving Social Value 

in Greater Manchester Public Procurement” with a joint action plan being developed.  

There are opportunities presented through the development of the ICS but will 

require capacity and embedding in the early design stages.  

 

The Growth Company has published a Progressive Procurement Policy and is 

tracking Equality, Diversity and Inclusion measures for their supply chain. This 

baseline will give them a better understanding of the impacts of procurement 

patterns. 

 

Entrepreneurial Activity 

Innovation and Angel Finance Demand continues to be high across GM. High-

innovation potential, early-stage businesses haven't always been able to access the 

growth capital they need. GC Angels was formed to respond this imbalance in the 

early-stage equity market across the North. It invests alongside angel investors and 

funds, de-risking and unlocking deals with a focus on exciting, high-growth 

opportunities innovating across digital, creative and technology sectors GC Angels 

has successfully invested £2.8m of LGF funding leveraging £14m of private co-

investment, with a large and growing qualified pipeline of circa £22m. GC Angels 

now needs to urgently address access to new capital and short-term options are 

being explored. Early discussions are underway with BBB following renewed funding 

of the BBB Regional Angel Programme, which, with a potential unlocking 

cornerstone from the GM review of business rates, may present an opportunity to 

build on the GC Angels more diverse investment model and create a scaled and 

more effective GM innovation finance solution. 

 

Page 177



 

 

Fund Her North: Fund Her North is a Northern-based, volunteer collective of over 30 

women (in VC’s, funding organisations and angel groups), with a combined 

investment power of over £650 million. The headline entrepreneur membership stats 

show a broad mix of entrepreneurs across all business life stage categories, and 

geographies, however the majority have no funding experience, which demonstrates 

the size of the challenge/need for our support. E.g. 19% were at the ideas stage, and 

85% have not raised funding before. 

Latest membership numbers: Total Members:248; Entrepreneurs 159; Investors 33; 

Other 56. The new website has recently gone live. 

 

Creative Workforce Plan and Freelancers’ Charter 

Talks have begun between the GMCA and the Centre for London on their 

programme of support for the self-employed, including how to adapt and adopt to a 

GM context, working with the Enterprising You programme. 

 

Working Well Programmes 

Working Well refers to a family of services that support people in Greater 

Manchester who are experiencing or at risk of long-term unemployment. Across the 

Working Well programmes almost 55,000 people have been supported, with 17,500 

supported into work, bringing in support and investment from a range of agencies, 

including direct health & care investment in the Early Help programme. Contracts are 

now live also for sector specific skills contracts (responsive to employer demand), 

and which have a focus on real living wage employment.  

GM Apprenticeship & Careers Service: Business opportunities 

GMACs helps young people explore and design their next steps before leaving 

school. The website brings together different stages of the career planning process, 

helping students navigate the choices open to them and develop the tools to start 

working life. It showcases what Greater Manchester can offer and provides a direct 

way to apply for courses, jobs and apprenticeships. Almost 120k log-ins have been 

provided for GMACs, using the analytics from GMACS to target our ask of 

businesses and a way of engaging growth sectors and underrepresented industries. 

Page 178



 

 

 

Skills for Growth (incl digital/technical) 

Skills for Growth is a £42m three-year programme funded by the European Social 

Fund. It has been designed to fill the occupational skills gaps identified by employers 

who have continually highlighted that they cannot find the technical skills in Greater 

Manchester required to support and grow their businesses. It has been designed to 

upskill and re-skill employed people across the city-region, which will put them in a 

better position to progress in their careers while supporting businesses to grow. 

£12.5m of skills provision commissioned and a further £10m planned over coming 

quarter. 

 

Apprenticeships and technical education employer engagement 

GMCA is continuing to provide system stewardship of apprenticeships and T-levels, 

and the Levy Matchmaking Service has matched 597 opportunities, with 476 

apprenticeship starts to date . The agreed total transfer value is £5,942,736 from 46 

levy donors – made up of 33 from the private sector and 13 public sector. 

 

GM Age Friendly Employer Toolkit 

GMCA has become the first UK city-region to launch a toolkit designed to help and 

inform employers on the positive impact an age-friendly workplace can bring. The 

Age-Friendly Employer Toolkit includes information on flexible working, how to hire 

age-positively as well as advice on how to encourage career development at all 

ages, and is based the five principles established by the Centre for Ageing 

 

GM ESF NEETs and Youth Employment programmes,  

Current GM wide programmes to support NEET young people include: 

Skills Support for Unemployed (led by The Growth Company) – offering one to one 

support to young people aged 15-24 to increase confidence and access 

employability skills. 

Page 179



 

 

GM Future Workforce Fund (led by The Princes Trust) – offering a range of courses 

and tailored support to provide vulnerable young people with the practical and 

financial support needed to stabilise their lives, develop self-esteem and confidence, 

and gain valuable skills for work. 

Going forward it will be important to maximise the delivery of programmes offered, 

including new programmes such as a GM ESF NEET & Youth Employment 

programme, which will support 6,000 young people aged 15-24. The £10m ESF 

NEET and Youth Employment programmes have been commissioned and gone live. 

 

Fast Track Digital Workforce Fund 

The Fast Track Digital Workforce Fund is a joint venture between Department for 

Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS), Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

and Lancashire Digital Skills Partnership (LDSP), developed to address locally 

identified digital skills gaps and support Greater Manchester and Lancashire 

residents with accessible routes into digital employment. Future Workforce Fund has 

now supported almost 5,000 young people with 27% supported into a positive 

destination. 

 

Other digital programmes include: GM Digital Curriculum, GM Digital Talent Pipeline 

 

Leadership & Management Programmes 

Greater Manchester Leadership Hive, launched in March, will bring together the best 

leadership and management training that the region can offer, all in one place. From 

workforce development to mentoring programmes and support with sustainability 

and inclusivity, the Hive gives small business leaders everything they need to run 

their business as effectively as possible. Business support programmes led by the 

Business Growth Hub will support a minimum of 290 businesses, create 180 jobs 

and develop 275 mentoring relationships between Jan 2022 and June 2023.  

OPEN SME will go live in Spring 2022 - a £2m investment from the GMCA and 

ERDF to support SME leaders to access world-class business leadership training in 

local business schools, through an online leadership & management programme. 

Page 180



 

 

The business schools of University of Manchester, Manchester Metropolitan 

University, Salford University, and Bolton University have come together with the 

business growth hub to develop this online modular learning platform for SME 

leaders to help them boost their profit and resilience. The programme will support a 

minimum of 400 GM SMEs before June 2023, though it is the intention to reach 

many more.  

 

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working 

The information gathered for this update demonstrates the strength of partnership 

approach to deliver this commitment, with leadership and strategic approaches at the 

heart of convening a wide system of public, private and wider partners.   There is 

evidence of a broad range of stakeholders engaged in the agenda, and the 

development of successful and diverse partnerships to support priority setting, 

strategy development and delivery. There are however, areas where partnership 

approach could be further improved for example between the Skills and Economy 

portfolios in respect of communication and procurement of services, Economy input 

to the Local Skills Improvement Plans, and closer working between the directorates 

on work around Leadership & Management Programmes. This will help to further 

cement the linkages to ensure that we are supporting both people and employers to 

obtain and retain good jobs. 

The real Living Wage Campaign is a key area of activity, increasingly important with 

the cost of living crisis critical going forward.  The data suggests that women are less 

likely to be paid the real Living Wage and it is therefore pleasing to note the recent 

local authorities pledge to stipulate payment of the real Living Wage in their 

contractual arrangements with adult care providers, since this is a sector with a 

predominance of women employees and high turnover of staff. 

It is pleasing to see the focus on the effective introduction and management of 

flexible work continues through the Charter’s partnership work with Timewise and 

that the Charter have also supported GMCA and Timewise with the release of the 

Greater Manchester Flexible Work Index which provides a baseline for the number of 

vacancies across GM that are available on a flexible basis.  Flexible working is often 

Page 181



 

 

important for groups experiencing inequality and those with caring responsibilities, so 

this work is welcome. 

 

There are a broad range of programmes of activity to support self-employed people 

but the extent to which these are helping to address inequalities is unclear.  Going 

forward it will be important to understand how programmes are addressing inequality 

and helping to support the broader levelling up agenda. Similarly, the extent to which 

Skills programmes are targeting inequality is unclear e.g. Skills for Growth, and it will 

be important to better understand this going forward. 

It is pleasing to see progress being made in respect of social value with delivery of 

the Social Enterprise Action Plan and the recent announcement relating to 

procurement by GMCA and the local authorities.  There is opportunity for embedding 

social value outcomes in the ICS development but will require resourcing.   

There is considerable evidence of the use of data and intelligence to inform policy 

development and decision making under this shared commitment.  Initiatives such as 

the real Living Wage City Region campaign and Good Employment Charter are 

collating data across a range of performance metrics that enable progress to be 

tracked, and this intelligence helps to inform decisions about onward delivery.  A 

wealth of data is captured in relation to many of the programmes detailed above; it 

would be useful to embed equalities monitoring as a central element in programme 

reporting, openly publicising the extent to which delivery is responding to spatial and 

demographic inequalities across the city region. 

 

Page 182



 

 

Commitment 10 We will ensure businesses are able to access the skills and talent 

they need, by provision of high quality learning and wrapping support around 

individuals, enabling them to realise their potential – with access to good work for 

those who can, support for those who could, and care for those who can’t  

 

1. Introduction 

This commitment is seeking to ensure GM businesses are able to access the skilled 

labour they require, to meet both current and future demand.   In order to deliver on 

this demand, GM is seeking to ensure residents have the suitable skills, knowledge 

and support required to access employment opportunities available.  The 

commitment also recognises that across GM some people are further from the 

labour market, and may require additional and tailored support to secure 

employment, and for some that employment may not be an achievable outcome.  In 

those instances, GM seeks to ensure all people are supported, and continues to 

invest in training and development for people, and support them in meaningful 

activities even if not paid employment.  

 

2. Progress Measures  

Trends in Adult Education Budget (AEB) starts and achievements  

The devolved Adult Education Budget (AEB) provides GM with more flexibility to 

support people to access the skills training they need for life and work, and to target 

provision so that businesses can access the skilled workforce they need. In 2020/21, 

there were 78,090 AEB starts, down 7,070 compared to the previous year. There 

was significant variation in the distribution of learners across the ten districts, ranging 

from 36% of all learner starts being Manchester residents to 5% in Bury, Stockport, 

Trafford and Wigan. 

Achievements were also down in 2020/21 at 62,400, 6,770 below the number in 

2019/20. On both starts and achievements, the majority were below Level 2 (67% for 

starts, and 70% for achievements), with much smaller percentages at Level 2 itself 

(31% and 28% respectively) and Level 3 (2% and 1%). 

Page 183



 

 

60% of AEB starts in 2020/21 were by non-White students, 57% by female students, 

and 14% by students with a learning difficulty, disability or health problem.   

Apprenticeship starts and achievements  

GM wants to see an increase in the number of apprenticeship starts and 

achievements, and to prioritise provision at the right level in sectors where 

employers across the city region are experiencing skills gaps and shortages.  We are 

also committed to addressing inequalities in the type of learners engaging in 

apprenticeship provision.  

In the 2020/21 academic year, there were 17,270 apprenticeship starts, down 140 

compared to 2019/20; 45% of starts were Advanced level apprenticeships, 30% 

Higher and 26% Intermediate.  8,700 apprenticeships were achieved, up 540 

compared to the previous year; 47% of these were Advanced, 20% Higher and 32% 

Intermediate. 

84% of GM starts in 2020/21 were by White students, down from 86% two years 

earlier; 55% were by female students, and 11% by students with a learning difficulty, 

disability or health problem.   

Activity under this shared commitment will contribute upwards to the GMS shared 

outcomes, and to relevant performance indicators including the proportion of the 

working-age population with Level 4+ (higher-level) skills, and the proportion 

with sub-Level 2 skills (Level 2 being effectively the functional entry point to the 

labour market).  On the former, in the year to December 2020, 39.2% of the GM 

working-age (16-64) population had Level 4+ qualifications, lagging the England 

average (42.8%) by more than three percentage.  Demographic data show that the 

proportion of young people aged 25-29 in GM with Level 4+ qualifications was higher 

than that for other age groups, and had increased considerably compared to the 

previous year.  Moving from younger to older age groups (with the exception of 20-

24 year olds, where a considerable proportion will be studying at Level 4 but not yet 

have achieved a qualification), the proportion with higher level skills reduced 

progressively.  Data for the year to December 2020 show that females were more 

likely to have Level 4 qualifications, with a gap of nearly 4 percentage points over 

males. 

Page 184



 

 

At the other end of the skills spectrum, in the year to December 2020, 24.8% of the 

GM working-age population (16-64) did not have a Level 2 qualification, exceeding 

the England average (22.0%) by nearly 3 percentage points. There was considerable 

variance across the ten districts, with a 6.1 percentage point gap between the lowest 

performing district (Rochdale) and the highest (Trafford).  Reversing the gender 

relationship seen in the Level 4+ data, men (27.3%) were more likely than women 

(22.4%) not to hold a Level 2 qualification. 

 

3. Programme Activity Update  

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the GM Employment & Skills Advisory Panel. Key activity currently 

includes: 

Employment & Skills Delivery Programmes 

There are a range of programmes being delivered which provide employment and 

skills support, with targeted support available across places and population groups. 

The activity update focuses on GM led activity and does not include the wider 

mainstream programmes and support offered by JCP. Locally commissioned and 

delivered activity has been developed responsive to employer and economic need, 

and with targeted interventions for particular cohorts.  

The GM Age Friendly employer toolkit has been published, and specialist over 50s 

employment pilot, currently testing a web-based support portal, personal coaching 

and person-centred procurement.   

Future Workforce Fund is a programme that by September 2022 will have co-

invested over £13 million from business and government to deliver innovative 

programmes to young people across GM to develop the confidence, skills, and 

experience to become more prosperous citizens and part of a growing and inclusive 

economy.  Delivered by the Princes Trust, over 4,500 young people have been 

supported since September 2019.  Mid-point evaluation has shared some valuable 

learning for us through the use of a test and learn approach which has helped to 

shape wider offers for young people including:  the expansion of our Pass scheme 

Page 185



 

 

for care leavers, widened access to CSCS cards for young people, and access to 

SIM cards and data for learning and work.  The programme pivoted to digital delivery 

to retain engagement through the pandemic and is now focusing the final stages of 

the programme on bespoke place-based offers shaped by GM localities. 

£10m ESF NEET and Youth Employment programmes have been commissioned to 

deliver an innovative engagement and mentoring programme for young people and 

young adults aged 15-24 who are affected by missed learning, and/or are 

disengaged from mainstream skills support offers, and/ or are not in employment or 

training.  By September 2023 the programmes will support 6000 young people to 

address identified barriers and achieve a positive progression towards work or 

earning.  Future funding around this activity is uncertain due to the changes from 

ESF to UKSPF funding, with UKSPF unlikely to be available to support until 2023. 

Across the Working Well programmes almost 55,000 people have been supported, 

with 17,500 supported into work, bringing in support and investment from a range of 

agencies, including direct health & care investment in the Early Help programme. 

Contracts are now live also for sector specific skills contracts (responsive to 

employer demand), and which have a focus on real living wage employment.  

The Apprenticeship Levy matchmaking service ensures that as many levy payers 

(public and private sector) as possible transfer unspent funds to non-levy payers 

negating the need for them to pay the 5% co-investment costs. The service has 

successful matched 597 opportunity, with 476 apprenticeship starts to date.  The 

agreed total transfer value is £5.9m from 46 lever donors.  

The AEB is expected to support c70,000 GM residents to access publicly funded 

skills courses and qualifications across a range of levels up, including L3 

qualifications.  

The Greater Manchester Apprenticeship and Careers Service (GMACs) is an offer 

directly commissioned for young people to be inspired, explore and apply for 

opportunities re their future including access to key labour market information and 

the successful Meet Your Future initiative connecting thousands of young people to 

inspiration people from business. 

The Bridge GM programme connects 226 schools and colleges with industry experts 

to ensure every young person has an experience with an employer in every year 

Page 186



 

 

they are in education to help inspire and connect young people to the future 

employment opportunities of Greater Manchester. 

 

Responding to needs of the economy 

Sector specific skills training activity is targeted at sectors with skills shortages and 

with forecast growth in demand.  The Skills Talent Pipeline project is seeking to 

ensure a future on-flow of people with the necessary skills and qualifications to meet 

the needs of the digital economy and growth sectors reliant upon those skills.  

Significant investment is being put into the retrofit skills programme to meet the 

demand to be able to retrofit GM homes and buildings to improve efficiency of 

buildings and make more homes warm, safe and affordable for GM residents, this is 

alongside other wider investment in skills training to support the wider construction 

industry.  

The Skills for Growth programmes provides a range of sector specific targeted 

activities to support the GM economy’s needs.  However it is not clear whether the 

scale of intervention will meet the growing need. 

Transport enabling learning & employment   

Delivery of a range of transport programmes and development will support the 

attainment of this commitment, providing the vital infrastructure to connect people to 

opportunities, employment and learning.    

The Bee Network is a fundamental strand of this providing interconnected, reliable, 

affordable public transport and active travel solutions for people across GM.    

Transport activity is being developed to support particular cohorts, including the Our 

Pass scheme, Care Leavers Pass and work underway for possible apprentice and 

job seekers ticketing offer.  

Provision for Business 

The GM Leadership & Management programmes activity are providing a range of 

tools, resources and training to develop leadership and management skills and 

capacity across GM businesses.  The Leadership Hive will bring together the best 

leadership and management training into one place.   Open SME will go live soon, 

the realisation of a £2m investment to support SMT leaders to access world-class 

Page 187



 

 

business leadership training, working collaboratively across GMCA, the Growth Hub 

and GM universities to develop an online modular learning platform for SME leaders.  

The Peer Networks Programme delivered via the Growth Hub has delivered above 

profile, in the current year 341 participants have signed up.  Unfortunately, the 

national programme has been funded for the 22/23 financial year, with GM currently 

exploring ways to keep peer-to-peer provision going.    

The Business, Productivity, Innovation and Inclusive Growth Programme (BPIIG) is 

delivered in support of creating a thriving and productive economy in all parts of GM. 

The programme focuses on building resilience and delivering sustainable and 

inclusive growth across the GM business base, enabling local businesses to survive 

and thrive. The programme has been extended to June 2023.  

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working  

There is evidence of a broad range of activities, delivery and investments in support 

of this commitment.  Given the expanse of things being delivered there seems to be 

scope for greater visibility of activity, especially when driven by different policy areas.  

The extent to which provision is duplicative or complementary is not clear, and 

highlights potential issues when the same organisations are receiving funding via 

several routes. 

There are good partnership arrangements within policy areas, in place in support of 

the development of Employment and Skills activities, but there is scope for greater 

communication and engagement across policy areas.  There are some good 

examples of highly effective cross-portfolio working, not least Working Well.   

Transport barriers are regularly reported as the single biggest reason why learners 

or job seekers are unable to access opportunities. The development of transport 

networks and accessibility / affordability responses being addressed through 

targeted interventions demonstrates effective connections between the system and 

evidences the interdependencies between portfolio areas.  

There is evidence of the targeting of activities and resources based on need, as 

identified through relevant data and intelligence. However, there seems to be scope 

for improvements in collection, collation and use of service user data, to better 

Page 188



 

 

monitor and directly target particular cohorts or places. There are some good 

examples of specifically targeted provision, not least the over-50s employment pilot, 

which is currently testing a web-based support portal, personal coaching and person-

centred procurement.   

There is evidence of progressive procurement and the use of social value in 

contracts, but it seems there could be more potential opportunities, given the size of 

the contracts being awarded.  

The development and delivery of Working Well demonstrates good innovation to 

meet community need. Investment in training and development overall will support 

wider innovation and opportunities within GM.  

Investment in skills provision and the tailoring of courses are being responsive to 

shifting demand resulting from the climate emergency and are ensuring a supply of 

skilled labour to meet both current and future demand.  

 

Page 189



 

 

Commitment 11 We will ensure all our children and young people leave education 

and training ready to succeed in the labour market with a balance of academic, 

technical and ‘life ready’ skills   

 

1. Introduction 

This commitment seeks to ensure all GM young people receive the best start in life, 

supported to be good learners and provided with the tools they need to live a good 

life. For young people to be equipped to succeed many factors need to be in place, 

including good education and training provision, safe and stable home environment, 

access to essential services and support, and supporting whole system approaches 

to ensure children and young people can get on and progress regardless of their 

background.   Poor childhood outcomes impact on overall life chances and outcomes 

later in life; through this commitment GM is seeking to provide a solid and successful 

platform from which children and young people can progress.  

2. Progress Measures  

% take up of funded childcare and early education places for 2 year olds 

This measure is one of the neighbourhood floor targets being tested, and assesses 

whether more disadvantaged families are accessing funded childcare places for 2 

year-olds, which will being benefits to their children’s educational, cognitive and 

socio-emotional outcomes, and support parents to balance home and work life. The 

latest data shows that GM performance (67.6% take up) outstrips the England 

average (61.8%), but there is substantial variance at locality level (57.1% - 87.8%).  

The floor target approach will promote a focus on place-based inequalities. Early 

Education Leads will focus on one prioritised neighbourhood where take up is low 

compared to the other neighbourhoods in their locality. By April 2024, the floor target 

will measure whether take up in these neighbourhoods has improved to the level of 

elsewhere, or by at least ten percentage points where this cannot be achieved. 

There will be a shared commitment to narrow the gap in take up between these 

areas and the rest of GM, with GM resources (e.g. VCSE grants; targeted 

communications campaigns) prioritised towards the places of greatest need, led by 

the evidence. 

Page 190



 

 

% of children at or above the expected level of development at 2-2.5 years 

This measure captures overall child development based on five areas, as assessed 

during the Healthy Child Programme 2 year review or integrated review. Over time, 

GM wants to see the proportion of children aged 2 to 2.5 who are at or above the 

expected level in all five areas of development to increase over time, and to narrow 

the gap between the city region and the England average. Although the national 

figure may have shifted by April 2024, this will require overall GM performance to be 

raised to 83%. The focus on this measure within the GMS also provides an 

opportunity to better understand how the assessment is delivered, identify variance 

across GM and support increased consistency. 

The latest data (April 2020 – March 2021) show a 10.5 percentage point gap 

between the GM and England average: 72.4% of GM children were at or above the 

expected level of development, compared to 82.9% nationally.  There was a drop in 

GM performance of 7.6 percentage points compared to the previous year, while the 

England average remained broadly similar, suggesting that inequalities that pre-

existed the pandemic may have been exacerbated in GM.  

Attendance at school: rate of pupil unauthorised absence (all age, all settings) 

The pandemic has shone a stark light on the importance of attendance at school for 

educational attainment and wider wellbeing, and consequently for the ongoing 

success of children and young people as they move forward in life.  A multi-agency 

approach is required to support improved attendance, including the provision of 

wrap-around support to enable children and young people to achieve their potential. 

GM want to reduce rates of unauthorised absence, with all children achieving good 

attendance, regardless of background or circumstance, with whole system early 

intervention before persistent absence becomes an issue. 

The latest published data (a combined view for the autumn 2020 and spring 2021 

terms) suggest a relatively positive picture for GM with regards to unauthorised 

absence, although the pandemic has disrupted data recording so performance 

needs careful interpretation. Across these two terms, the rate of unauthorised 

absence was 1.1%, down from 1.5% in the most recent equivalent two-term data 

release for 2018/19. 

% of young people reporting good or higher wellbeing (Year 10s) 

Page 191



 

 

#BeeWell is a £2m collaboration between the University of Manchester, GMCA and 

the Anna Freud Centre. Based on research with nearly 40,000 Year 8 and 10 pupils 

across GM, it measures young people’s wellbeing and aims to bring about positive 

change in GM communities as a result.  

GM wants to see an increase in the percentage of young people reporting good or 

higher wellbeing, with a particular focus on prioritised neighbourhoods. Initial 

#BeeWell survey data show that 73% of Year 10s across GM reported good or 

higher wellbeing; the remaining 27% reported low wellbeing.  The primary 

quantitative gauge of success within GMS will be to judge, by April 2024, if the 

overall % of young people reporting good or higher wellbeing has improved from this 

baseline position.  However, beyond this, and supporting #BeeWell’s place-based 

approach to young people’s wellbeing, a neighbourhood floor target is currently in 

development for this measure.  This will focus on reducing the range or ‘spread’ of 

wellbeing scores across the 66 GM neighbourhoods by April 2024, and will support 

how best practice can be shared most effectively through a locally-determined, 

place-based targeting approach. 

Trends in transitions for our young people, including priority cohorts, across 

childhood 

We are committed to supporting children and young people as they navigate key 

transition points in their education and journey towards adulthood, and most 

particularly for more vulnerable groups. 

This indicator considers a number of constituent measures, which will be reported 

flexibly at different stages of the GMS life course.  For this initial reporting round, we 

will focus on: 

 the % of young people in ‘priority groups’ who are NEET or whose activity is 

‘unknown’ – including looked after children, care leavers, and children and 

young people with special educational needs.  The latest data suggest that 

12.4% of this ‘priority group’ in GM aged 16 and 17 in are NEET or their 

activity is unknown, 2.6 percentage points above the England figure (9.9%).  

We want to narrow the gap with the national average over time. 

 relevant metrics relating to school and college learners (Year 7-13) accessing 

and benefitting from the GM Apprenticeship and Careers Service (GMACS). 

Page 192



 

 

 relevant metrics on secondary schools and colleges delivering integrated 

careers education that connects with employers. 

The approach to reporting against the second and third measures is currently being 

finalised. 

3. Programme Activity Update  

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the GM Children’s Board. Key activity currently includes: 

Bridge GM Transformation Programme ‘New Capabilities for a New World’ is a 

Headteacher programme with world renowned partner Ashoka. 15 GM Heads 

forming a collaborative to integrate into education provision new approaches to life 

readiness, careers and personal development to allow young people to contribute 

fully and gain fair access to economic opportunities in their region. This first step 

change making programme of work is designed to anchor schools and colleges to a 

sustainable model for careers education to support the 226 schools and colleges 

currently working towards consistent and high quality integrated careers 

programmes on a par with other education strategic priorities. 

 

The Greater Manchester Apprenticeship and Careers Service (GMACs) is an 

offer directly commissioned for young people to be inspired, explore and apply for 

opportunities re their future. To date almost 120,000 log-ins have been provided for 

young people for the service.  A refreshed version of GMACS will launch in early 

2022, with improved capabilities for more intuitive site navigation. The refresh will 

incorporate the former Bridge GM website providing dedicated pages for GM’s 

business community to link with education. The service offer for school leavers has 

been developed to support effective transition of young people from school as they 

move onto further education, training or employment. The package of advice, 

courses and support are built into the GMACs website.  

£10m ESF NEET and Youth Employment programmes have been commissioned 

to deliver an innovative engagement and mentoring programme for young people 

and young adults aged 15-24 who are affected by missed learning, and/or are 

Page 193



 

 

disengaged from mainstream skills support offers, and/ or are not in employment or 

training.  By September 2023 the programmes will support 6000 young people to 

address identified barriers and achieve a positive progression towards work or 

learning.  Future funding around this activity is uncertain due to the changes from 

ESF to UKSPF funding, with UKSPF unlikely to be available to support until 2023. 

Future Workforce Fund is a programme that by September 2022 will have co-

invested over £13 million from business and government to deliver innovative 

programmes to young people across GM to develop the confidence, skills, and 

experience to become more prosperous citizens and part of a growing and inclusive 

economy.  Delivered by the Princes Trust, over 4,500 young people have been 

supported since September 2019.  Mid-point evaluation has shared some valuable 

learning for us through the use of a test and learn approach which has helped to 

shape wider offers for young people including:  the expansion of our Pass scheme 

for care leavers, widened access to CSCS cards for young people, and access to 

SIM cards and data for learning and work.  The programme pivoted to digital delivery 

to retain engagement through the pandemic and is now focusing the final stages of 

the programme on bespoke place-based offers shaped by GM localities. 

A Curriculum for Life is at a Beta stage of development and will be co-designed 

and co-developed with young people. 

#BeeWell 

Use of the information generated by the survey will inform policy and decision 

making, available at neighbourhood level and informed by the reported responses of 

GM’s young people.   The #BeeWell Champions Social Prescribing Pilot has 

invested to train approx. 200 young people who will run mental health campaigns 

and commission destination activities in their school and local areas.  

Our Pass  

Now in its third year, the Our Pass provides free travel on buses in GM aimed at 

GCSE leavers (16-18) and care leavers (18-21) to help them access training and 

employment opportunities.  More than 100,000 cards have been issued and more 

than 18m journeys taken since its launch.   An evaluation of the scheme is currently 

underway and improvements planned based on feedback from stakeholders.  

Green Schools Programme  

Page 194



 

 

The campaign aims to connect and support schools to do more within the classroom, 

to tackle the fabric and the outside of their buildings and to help guide young people 

into the green work sector after high school.   

Supporting Families Programme 

The programme supports families to access the help they need to address multiple 

disadvantages through whole family approaches, predominantly delivered through 

keyworkers. The Government has extended the programme for a further three years, 

with GM set to receive c£15m in 2022/23 with the expectation that a minimum of 

4511 additional families will be supported.  

School Readiness Programme 

An early education focus on improving take up of funded 2 and 3 year old early 

education offer.  The baseline of the floor target has now been established.    Activity 

under this programme  includes targeted comms campaigns for hard to reach 

communities, e.g. recent work to disseminate marketing assets to promote in areas 

with Pakistani and Bangladeshi communities; early years hub pilot and development 

of early years workforce academy to provide a highly trained workforce.  

GM Early Education  

The pilot programme provides an extension of the Early Years Application to be used 

in early years setting across GM, providing additional information on communication 

needs using established assessments.  Promotional work is underway to increase 

parent / carer usage of the app, with almost 2000 signed up in Bury & Rochdale.   

Planning work underway to pilot in Salford and Rochdale to allow early education 

settings to complete speech and language assessments using the app. Work is 

underway for wider roll out in all 10 districts.  

Care Leavers Digital Support 

A pilot has been launched to test models for addressing digital poverty in care 

leavers, responsive to analysis suggesting all 3,900 care leavers in GM are believed 

to be digitally excluded in some way.  The pilot, now live in Salford will support 40 

care leavers with a comprehensive package of support including aces to free data for 

12 months, free devices through Salford Council donation scheme and free digital 

skills training to support hem t o build their skills and confidence online.  

Page 195



 

 

Data Accelerator & Supporting Families  

Following successful bid to the Data Accelerator Fund, work has begin to determine 

how GM can maximise the potential of the project.  Ongoing conversation with 

Centre for Data Ethics and Innovation supporting with the documenting of benefits 

while maintaining transparency and ongoing discussion with the Cabinet Office on 

how new legislations can support GM objectives.    

Safety and support 

A range of activities are led by GMFRS in partnership with localities and schools to 

support young people to be safe and provide training opportunities. These include: 

- Delivery of prevention education programmes – will contribute to educating 

young people in fire ,road and water safety 

- Firesetters programme 

- Fire Cadets scheme 

- Expanded Prince’s Trust programme 

- Operational crews, schools engagement activities 

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working  

There is evidence of good and well established partnership working and 

collaboration across a number of areas of work focussed on improving the offer for 

children & young people in Greater Manchester. The publishing of the first Greater 

Manchester Children & Young People’s plan(2019-2022) in 2019 has accelerated 

this cross-agency collaboration. The priorities for the new GM Children & Young 

People will build on this focussing on the issues that children & young people and 

families tell us are important to them such as recovering from the pandemic 

(including education recovery) plus mental health and wellbeing whilst also 

responding to the issues that are fundamental to having safe and effective children’s 

services system such as workforce recruitment and retention, social and emotional 

development in the early years and tackling high cost of LAC placements. 

There is good evidence of joined up approaches, and the connection of services to 

ensure young people have the skills required to succeed and are able to access 

Page 196



 

 

opportunities, e.g. Our Pass and the development of social prescribing solutions 

based on the #BeeWell survey findings.  

There is notable targeting of activity especially with early years provision, seeking to 

ensure those children and families hardest to reach are being supported.  The 

continued development of whole family approaches and early help across GM 

supported by investment through the Supporting Families programme recognises the 

wider influencing factors in enabling children and young people to succeed.  

The Green Schools Programme is a good example of responding to the climate 

emergency, developed from the growing concerns and expressed desire for action 

by GM’s young people.  

Innovative solutions are being developed and rolled out, including the use of digital 

technologies to support improved quality assessments and provision of appropriate 

service responses.  Furthermore, the development of two neighbourhood floor 

targets under this shared commitment is an innovative example of the use of data 

and intelligence to inform policy development and decision making. It should inform a 

targeted response that will help to reduce spatial variation and contribute to our 

ambition to reduce inequalities across the city-region. 

The investment in workforce training for early years providers through the Academy 

demonstrates an understanding of the need for a highly skilled and well trained 

workforce to support overall improvements in early years and sustainability and 

retention of the workforce.  

The transition support and services have been developed to recognise the particular 

challenges faced by young people at key transition points.  GM’s young people have 

been disproportionately impacted by the pandemic, and the effective targeting of 

services and support, and collective partnership actions will need to be sustained as 

those impacts will be far reaching and long lasting.  

From the information provided it has not been possible to identify if progressive 

procurement practices are being used. There is scope for embedding of social value 

within contracts for provision of children and young peoples services.  

Page 197



 

 

Commitment 12 We will ensure digital inclusion for all, including under 25s, over 

75s and disabled people online 

 

1. Introduction 

Ensuring all people and places in GM have good internet access, can access digital 

services, and benefit from opportunities from an increasingly digitised society 

underpins the Greater Manchester Strategy. Digital inclusion activities seek to 

ensure internet access for those facing the greatest disadvantage and risk of 

exclusion, ensuring all people are digitally included.  In order to achieve the 

overarching outcome of GM becoming a world-leading digital city-region, actions are 

being taken to fix the digital divide which exists, reducing social isolation, supporting 

equity of opportunity, and ensuring everyone in GM can benefit.  

2. Progress Measures  

% of residents not accessing the internet in the last 3 months 

Limited (or no) access to the internet is a key factor in digital exclusion. GM is 

committed to ensuring that all our diverse communities have good internet access 

and can benefit from the opportunities that an increasingly digitised society brings.   

Unsurprisingly, internet usage has risen significantly in recent years, with 7.9% of 

residents having not accessed the internet over the past 3 months in 2020, a 

significant improvement compared to 2014 (14.8%). Whilst the trend in GM is 

reflective of the regional and national data, there is some variance below city-region 

level, with the North West of the conurbation (covering areas of Bolton & Wigan) 

reporting lower levels of access: 11% of residents did not access the internet here in 

2020.  

% of GM residents who are digitally excluded  

Digital exclusion can result from multiple factors including lack of access to 

technology and connectivity, limited digital skills and support, and issues around 

affordability and/or motivation. In order to improve our understanding of how 

individuals and communities are affected, we have included a new set of questions 

in a Greater Manchester residents’ survey, initially run with nearly 1,400 respondents 

in February 2022.  

Page 198



 

 

Early findings suggest that 92% of respondents felt that their household was 

confident in using digital services online.  For the priority groups that are being 

targeted by GM, the position varied: 98% amongst young people aged 16-24; 59% 

for people aged 65 and above (the sample was too small to report on those aged 

over 75, the focus for GM); and 92% for people with a disability.  93% of respondents 

had access to devices that allowed them to access the internet and use digital 

services online; 92% could afford access to the internet; 89% had consistent and 

reliable access to an internet connection; 87% felt they had the skills they need to 

access and use digital services online; and 81% had the support they needed to 

access and use digital services online.  Across the majority of these domains, older 

people and those who were disabled responded less positively. 

Learners taking digital skills courses funded under the GM Adult Education 

Budget (AEB) 

The lack of basic digital skills is a key driver of digital inclusion. GM is committed to 

supporting digital skills development to address this, but also needs to ensure that 

more people are equipped with the higher-level digital skills required by employers 

across the city region.  Data are not currently available, but when processed will 

report on the number of GM learners taking Adult Education Budget (AEB)-funded 

courses relating to digital skills. The dataset should also provide insight into the 

demographic information of learners, so variance in engagement and achievement 

by population group can be explored, identifying potential inequalities.  

We also have a related higher-level shared outcome indicator relating to GM’s 

ambition to be recognised as a ‘world-leading digital city-region’, on the number of 

people employed in the digital industries. We are using a new source (Data City) 

to define the sector more comprehensively and track the volume of businesses 

and/or employees, but this work is ongoing and data are not yet available. In the 

interim, we will consider how we can use our standard sources to provide some 

contextual intelligence. 

 

3. Programme Activity Update  

Page 199



 

 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the GM Digital Steering Group. Key activity currently includes: 

Digital Inclusion Taskforce and Digital Inclusion Action Network  

A collaboration of over 150 public, private and VCSE sector members to share 

information, resource and good practice and drive forward scaled delivery of initiative 

to address digital exclusion.  The network, led by the Mayor, meets monthly to drive 

direct action to deliver digital enablement across GM.  The focus of the network is to 

respond to the needs of the target groups u25s, over75s and disabled people.  

Tackling Digital Poverty 

A cross-sector collaboration to align policy change priorities for an approach to 

government policy change to support the achievement of connectivity as an 

affordable utility and regulation of telecoms, with locally based tariff system to 

improve affordability. 

GM Digital Inclusive Homes 

A scalable pilot being run through GM social housing providers for the provision of 

connectivity and skills support, with evidence being gathered which will inform wider 

roll out. This initiative is working with the GM Ageing Hub to ensure the needs of 

older people are met.  

GM Care Leavers Initiative  

Joint working underway with telecoms companies to establish the potential for 

providing care leavers with internet access, improving their access to services, social 

life and employment opportunities.  Planned activity is to pilot and then scale up to all 

4,200 care leavers in GM each year.  

Digital Bootcamps 

Provision of locally funding training and skills development to meet employer and 

economy needs.  Digital bootcamp supported c1500 residents to retrain into a digital 

role over 2019-21. 70% of completers progressed to an interview and to digital jobs 

for 55% of completers. Further funding has been secured to scale up bootcamps in 

2022/23. Additionally, targeted use of the Adult Education Budget to ensure a 

Page 200



 

 

pipeline supply of people with digital skills will support the needs of digital employers 

and the wider economy.  

GM Data Bank 

Developed as GM arm of the National Data Bank created by the 

GoodThingsFoundation and supported by telecoms industry, the GM Data Bank will 

provides free mobile data to eligible GM citizens. This complements locality support 

programmes through the network of over 300 online centres in Greater Manchester. 

Digital Primary Care 

Programme is underway to optimise the use of digital technologies to improve 

efficiencies and experience in primary care.  This programme includes user 

experience design and inclusion factors.   

GM Single Point of Contact 

Provision of online and telephone single point of contact with information, advice and 

opportunities relating to digital inclusion for both residents and organisations.  

GM Digital Technology Fund  

Developed during the pandemic, this is a strategic campaign to generate donations 

of digital devices, data and connectivity, providing support to digitally excluded young 

people for online learning, access to services and to socialise. 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working  

The activity being led in support of this commitment, demonstrates highly effective 

and broad partnerships.  The convening power of the GMCA is being utilised to bring 

an extensive range of stakeholders together behind this collective ambition in the 

absence of a national programme. The successful coordination of activities, 

resources and targeted of interventions is clear.  The effectiveness and well 

evidenced joining up of activities demonstrates good communication mechanisms 

are in place between partners and stakeholders.  There would appear however to be 

scope for further development and targeted activity when trying to engage specific 

population groups or places.  

Page 201



 

 

Across the public sector there is collaborative work underway to develop and apply 

principles and tools to embed inclusive best practice in all GM portfolio and 

programme delivery.  

Activities are being specifically targeted to support all people to drive out digital 

exclusion.  The use of data, intelligence and evidence are informing decision making, 

as evidenced by the provision of equipment under the Digital Technology Fund, or 

designed with the GM Ageing Hub to be responsive to the needs of older people.  

The targeting of activity for specific population groups is being effective in supporting 

those most digitally excluded, including the example of activity to provide digital 

equipment to care leavers.  The Digital Exclusion Risk Index (DERI) tool, developed 

by GMCA and accessible to all, is being used to calculate the risk of digital exclusion 

and identify areas in need of additional support.    

 

There is also evidence of user insight and experience being drawn upon in the 

design and development of digital solutions across the partnership working. 

However, there may be scope for development in this area, particularly when 

seeking to access particularly hard to reach sectors of society.  

There is good evidence of progressive procurement practices with social value built 

into contracts.  The leverage of resource, capacity and capability is being effectively 

used to support priority needs.  This spans across several areas of work supporting 

this commitment, and is being built in as part of the ICS development.  

Through use of the social value charter, some of the activity commissioned in 

support of this commitment, is supporting GM’s wider environmental objectives, 

taking account of organisations environmental credentials or commitments as part of 

that decision making process.  

The activity and development of responses under this commitment demonstrate 

innovative solutions, responsive to need and capitalising on opportunities as they 

arise. There is clear strategic intent of the wider roll out of successful interventions 

and programmes, and the desire for pandemic related innovations to be embedded 

and mainstreamed where appropriate.  

Page 202



 

 

Driving out digital exclusion is equipping people now and for the future with the 

necessary skills, knowledge and access to services, social life and education that 

are fundamental to modern life.  

Page 203



 

 

Commitment 13: We will ensure the delivery of safe, decent and affordable housing, 

with no one sleeping rough in Greater Manchester 

 

1. Introduction 

Housing plays a central part in people’s ability to live good lives. Everyone needs 

and deserves a safe, decent and affordable home to provide the stable foundation 

for everything else that they want to achieve for themselves and their family. When 

this is not available or accessible the impacts on individuals and society as a whole 

can be severe and long lasting, as is seen all too clearly in people’s experiences of 

homelessness and rough sleeping.  

 

2. Progress measures 

 

% of energy performance certificates (EPC) / display energy certificates (DEC) 

for existing buildings (excluding new build) with a net movement in the 

reporting year from a rating of D or below to C and above 

Decent homes are important to wellbeing, but there are few indicators that give us an 

understanding of the quality of our housing. However, energy performance 

certificates (EPCs) show how efficiently homes use their energy, important for both 

household financial security and our wider sustainability and low carbon ambitions. 

We want to increase the number of homes that are improving their energy 

performance from a D-rating or below to C and above. 

 

In GM in 2021, 15.2% of the 10,769 EPCs undertaken for existing domestic 

properties moved from below D to a C and above, showing that their energy 

performance had improved since a previous EPC was undertaken. This proportion 

varied considerably across the ten districts. 

 

Number of new affordable homes built per annum 

Page 204



 

 

At a time when housing is increasingly unaffordable for many people, more needs 

therefore to be done to build affordable homes for purchase and rent, and thereby 

help to address the inequalities that are built into the housing market. Work is 

therefore underway to increase the number of affordable rented and home 

ownership properties built in the city-region. 

 

In 2020, there were 1,659 affordable home completions across Greater Manchester. 

This was a reduction on the 2019 total of 1,908. 

 

This indicator has a GM target to build more than 1,500 affordable homes per annum 

through to 2024, exceeding average annual delivery over the 2015-2020 period. The 

target is currently being reviewed in light of recent trends to ensure that it represents 

a sufficiently ambitious goal and aligns properly with the 2038 target under Places for 

Everyone, following which tracking of progress against it will begin when the 2021 

data become available. 

 

Number of people sleeping rough 

GM is committed to supporting our most vulnerable citizens.  As set out in the 

Greater Manchester Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2021-2026, one of the key 

priorities over recent years has been to end rough sleeping across the city-region. 

 

In autumn 2021, there were 84 people sleeping roughin Greater Manchester on a 

single typical night, a considerable reduction compared to the 2019 figure of 142, 

and less than a third of the number (266) seen in 2017 when rough sleeping had 

risen to its highest level over recent years. 

 

Around half (43) of people sleeping rough in 2021 were in the city of Manchester, 

with six districts accounting for the remainder, and zero rough sleepers in three 

districts. 

 

Page 205



 

 

The target is to reduce rough sleeping across Greater Manchester to zero by 2024, 

from a baseline of 120 in 2020.  The 2021 total of 84 people sleeping rough in the 

city region on a single night is ahead of the target position for this date by 6.7%. 

 

3. Programme Activity Update 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment 

sitting with the Planning and Housing Commission. Key activity currently includes 

 

Decent Homes 

Work is ongoing to retrofit and adapt existing homes to provide safe, warm and 

affordable homes for all ages. By August 2022 expected outputs of c.2200 domestic 

properties retrofitted, with increased EPC ratings. 

 

To galvanise action in this arena, a Retrofit Action Plan has been launched with new 

delivery mechanisms including: Retrofit Accelerator and Heat Pump Accelerators 

being launched in March/April 2022 for the ‘Able to Pay Market’.  Expected outputs 

include c1000 retrofit assessments leading to 500 properties retrofitted in yr1 and 

500-750 air source heat pumps installed respectively. 

With regard to Social Housing Retrofit, our Local Authorities have collectively bid for 

c.£15m of Social Housing Decarbonisation funding, whereby registered providers of 

social housing can apply for funding to improve the energy performance of their 

social homes. The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund Bid was successful in 

February 2022 with expected outputs of 1,200 social housing retrofits being 

delivered by May 2023, thereby supporting social landlords to maximise available 

funding and increase the energy efficiency of their housing stock. A further bid round 

is anticipated in the Autumn, and preparatory work is underway. 

Both the Good Landlord Scheme and Good Landlord Charter will help to improve the 

quality of the private rented sector.  The Levelling Up White Paper proposes the 

introduction of a new national landlord register and we are working with DLUC to 

better understand and influence how that might work.   The White Paper also 

Page 206



 

 

proposes the extension and review of the ‘Decent Homes Standard’ to cover the 

private rented sector, and together with the landlord register this could provide a 

solid foundation for our GM Good Landlord Charter. 

 

Affordable Homes 

There are several different groups of households under particular pressure to meet 

the cost of their homes. As we come out of the pandemic and with rising living costs, 

this demand is only likely to increase. Through the supply of new homes GM should 

be providing better choices to ease those pressures. That should include adding to 

the stock of social rented housing to reverse the losses from Right to Buy. There is a 

need to develop more supported housing to provide more effective routes away from 

homelessness, and for a range of others whose needs are currently being 

inadequately met in mainstream housing, or in expensive and inflexible institutional 

settings. GM should also explore new models that help households to access home 

ownership in a way they can afford and sustain, or providing homes of all tenures 

better matched to the need of older households who are currently living in homes 

which present a risk to their wellbeing and continued independence. 

The cost of housing can be a challenge to different cohorts within the housing 

system across Greater Manchester - including those needing access to social rent or 

trying to maintain a tenancy as welfare rules are squeezed, private renters sharing 

and saving as prospective first time buyers looking for routes into home ownership, 

people in unstable employment in any tenure, older owner occupiers without the 

resources to maintain a decaying property, and people living in overcrowded 

properties because they cannot afford or access a home large enough to meet their 

needs.  

GMCA has signed an MOU with Homes England to drive additional investment and 

activity with investors. This will embed effective joint HE/GM partnership working as 

business as usual in support of housing delivery and broader strategic objectives, 

agreeing a strategic partnership and quantum of support from both sides – this is a 

leading edge partnership as cited in the Levelling Up White Paper. 

GMCA is committed with Greater Manchester Housing Providers, Homes England 

and other partners to addressing these challenges relating to afford able housing 

Page 207



 

 

and aim to deliver 50,000 affordable homes by 2038 with at least 30,000 being net 

zero carbon social rented homes.  Collaborative work is currently ongoing to develop 

a joint pipeline and with districts and GMHP to remove barriers to delivery.. In 

addition, work is being taken forward to lead a ‘whole system challenge’ approach to 

the delivery of new net zero social rented homes. 

Safe Homes 

The Gender-Based Violence Board has defined ‘Housing’ as one of its priorities over 

the next 12-18 months. A multi-agency working group will be established over the 

coming weeks with a view in due course to implement the Domestic Abuse Housing 

Alliance’s ‘Whole Housing Approach’ across Greater Manchester. 

 

Health and Housing 

A safe, warm and secure home underpins people’s ability to build a better quality of 

life; it improves general health outcomes and enables people to maintain 

independence. Poor housing is a driver of poor health and of pervasive and growing 

health inequalities. However, housing also has a huge influence on mental health 

and wellbeing, affordability has a major impact on the ability to keep homes warm, 

and how able people are to travel to work and maintain social connections.  

 

Recognising the above, a Tripartite Agreement has been signed between GMCA, 

GM Housing Providers and GMHSCP bringing together a broad coalition of key 

organisations working together (with Homes England) to address housing, place, 

health and inequality issues at GM scale - Priorities for joint working on implementing 

the Agreement have been agreed with the core group. This includes collective efforts 

on supported housing, housing and ageing, improving homes, housing and mental 

health (including dementia) and creating healthy communities. 

Healthy Homes/Home Improvement Agency:  There is ongoing work to develop a 

baseline healthy homes service available across GM to ensure safe, warm, dry 

home for vulnerable, largely older households in owner occupation leading to a 

reduction in health risks for vulnerable households, reduced demand for social care 

Page 208



 

 

and NHS interventions. This includes work jointly with H&SCP, districts and GMHP 

to achieve agreed path and funding package to achieve implementation. 

System Change to End Rough Sleeping 

There is continued investment in and development of new ways of working to end 

rough sleeping through regional programmes, including A Bed Every Night, Housing 

First, Community Accommodation Programme (Tier 3), and the Young Persons 

Homelessness Prevention Pathfinder. Rough sleeping has reduced by 57% in four 

years and will continue to innovate to progress this target.  

 

Integrated Health & Homelessness 

Work is progressing towards a coordinated Health system response to 

homelessness and rough sleeping with a focus of embedding principles of Inclusion 

Health. At a system level in Greater Manchester, this will allow for practical solutions 

to address many of the health inequalities experienced by GM’s homeless population 

through: 

 embedding the principles and standards into commissioning practice  

 by working with existing services to actively consider how they interact with and 

support people who are homeless.  

 actively enabling access to the mainstream by employing more flexible service 

and engagement models 

 create levers that encourage services to re-direct time and resource to those 

who need it most 

Going forward it will be important to ensure a place for Homelessness within the future 

architecture of the ICS to enable connection of this work into the wider focus on health 

inequalities, and also to confirm appropriate leadership and future governance 

arrangements that will support this to happen.  

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working 

Homes should provide a key stable foundation for people’s lives and  their health 

and broader quality of life. From the update provided it is evident that significant 

partnership working is key in underpinning major programmes of activity which 

Page 209



 

 

support our safe, decent, affordable housing ambitions. The interlinkage between 

housing and health for example, is recognised with the Tripartite Agreement between 

GMCA, GM Housing Providers and GMHSCP bringing together a broad coalition of 

key organisations working together to address housing, place, health and inequality 

issues at GM scale.  Arrangements such as the tripartite agreement also provide 

strong foundations for good leadership between agencies, with opportunities for 

other stakeholders to take leading roles, notably engaging Housing Providers, 

drawing on their clear and evidenced understanding of the needs of their tenants and 

ensuring interventions are designed responsive to those needs.  

There is evidence of use of data to inform policy development and targeted action – 

not least in the work that underpins the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan. 

This will help to ensure that for example, our new homes are well connected, 

enabling our residents to travel work and education.  Although based on the 

information available there appears to be potential for increased targeting of services 

and housing provision to better tailor responses to meet community needs. We also 

have detailed modelled data on the likely retrofit requirements and current condition 

of every home in GM, a vital resource in directing available resources for retrofit 

action. 

There are programmes focussed on the housing needs of particular communities for 

example, Young Persons Homelessness Prevention Pathfinder and Age-friendly 

housing and planning programme with a Framework for Creating Age-Friendly 

Homes and Design for Life reports published and launched. Use of data to better 

target housing provision to groups with particular characteristics might be an area 

that requires further future exploration. 

Ensuring that our housing ambitions, link to our environment ambitions and target for 

2038 is evident, and indeed critical given the interplay between equality and 

environment. Programmes to support these interrelated objectives include for 

example our target to deliver at least 30,000 net zero carbon social homes by 2038.  

Work is currently ongoing to develop a joint pipeline and with districts and GMHP to 

remove barriers to delivery via the Housing Solutions Group. In addition, work is 

being taken forward to lead a ‘whole system challenge’ approach to the delivery of 

new net zero social rented homes. 

Page 210



 

 

The improvements being undertaken to existing housing stock and the significant 

plans in place to build more new dwellings are based on assessments of both 

current and future need. It is acknowledged however numbers of homes alone is not 

the solution, accessibility, affordability and the right stock in the right places needs to 

be part of the overall approach.  

Page 211



 

 

Commitment 14 We will tackle food and fuel poverty experienced by Greater 

Manchester residents  

 

1. Introduction 

This commitment seeks to ensure GM residents experiencing poverty – as indicated 

by food and fuel poverty – are able to access the support they need and develop a 

series of activities which not only respond to current needs, but also support up-

stream preventive measures that aim to eradicate poverty for all communities and all 

places in GM.  Financial insecurity often underpins the food and fuel poverty 

experienced by many of GM’s residents however it is recognised that referring to 

specific types of poverty can be problematic. Those experiencing ‘food poverty’ are 

also likely to experience ‘fuel poverty’ or have difficult decisions to make. The 

underlying issue of poverty itself therefore needs to be central as practical measures 

are taken forward.  

Food insecurity across Greater Manchester has worsened due to the pandemic. The 

escalating cost of living crisis will further entrench these challenges, demonstrating 

the need for GM to develop a better understanding of food insecurity and poverty 

across the city-region and put in place the appropriately resourced responses.  

Fuel poverty is experienced by a significant number of GM households, with many 

people unable to afford the cost of sufficiently heating their homes.  The significant 

increases in fuel prices, and further rapid increases predicted will drive more people 

across GM into fuel poverty, with households having to make critical decisions 

between whether to heat or eat.   

Finally, the sheer volume of associated activity taking place at local and hyper-local 

levels makes it difficult to maintain a clear and current view of everything that is 

responding to poverty in GM. Responses to this commitment are therefore provided 

from a pan-GM perspective with a recognition of the impressive array of work also 

taking place locally. 

 

2. Progress Measures  

% of households that are food insecure 

Page 212



 

 

This measure seeks to show a reduction in the proportion of residents experiencing 

food insecurity, an issue that predates the pandemic but was exacerbated by it, and 

on which the challenges will only increase as the cost of living crisis impacts.  Data 

are being gathered through the addition of specific food insecurity questions into the 

GM Residents Survey; the first output from that question is now available, drawing 

on fieldwork undertaken in February 2022.  

A third (33%) of survey respondents had experienced food insecurity over the last 12 

months, with a further 12% having only marginal food security, and therefore being 

at risk of becoming food insecure.  Respondents from low-income households 

(47%), minority ethnic groups (44%), those aged 16-44 (43%), and those with a 

disability (38%) were more likely to be food insecure. In terms of some of the specific 

questions from which the headline assessment of food security has been made, over 

the last 12 months, almost a third (31%) of respondents had worried about their food 

running out before they could afford to get more, or could not afford a balanced meal 

(30%). A quarter (25%) ran out of food before they could afford to get more. Almost a 

quarter (24%) of respondents had cut the size of their meals or ate less than they 

wanted because there wasn’t enough money for food; parents of children in early 

years, respondents reporting health issues or disabilities, minority ethnic groups, and 

younger respondents (16-24) all reported particular issues. 

 

Unsecured Loan Debt to Income Ratios 

GM seeks to reduce the levels of financial insecurity across the city-region, by 

supporting vulnerable residents with access to finance, improve their financial 

management and maximise incomes.  

Data on levels of unsecured loans across GM give an indication on spatial variation 

in levels of debt, but may be misleading as higher debt per household can be 

concentrated in more affluent parts of GM, and lower debt in more deprived areas. 

We are therefore combining data on debt levels with household income, to provide a 

ratio of debt to income. This shows some correlation with deprivation, but further 

analysis is required. Higher levels of debt per unit income appear to be concentrated 

in particular areas, including parts of Bolton, east and south Manchester, Oldham, 

Rochdale, Salford, Tameside and Wigan.   

Page 213



 

 

The higher-level shared outcome indicator relating to children in low-income 

households is directly relevant and reflects GM’s commitment to supporting more 

families out of poverty (defined here as relative low income, which is less than 60% 

of average household income). In 2020, nearly a third (31.5%) of children in GM 

were living in relative low-income households.  The proportion varied considerably 

across GM’s 66 neighbourhoods, from 72.4% in Coldhurst, St Mary’s and Alexandra 

(Oldham) in 2020, to 4.6% in City Centre (Manchester). 

The GMS Performance Framework is necessarily high-level, and intended to be 

supplemented by wider sources of insight and intelligence. Other measures to track 

progress in this area include Healthy Start Voucher take-up, Free School Meal 

eligibility and Pension Credit uptake. Agreed definitions and statistics are also 

available for Fuel Poverty and Fuel Stress.  

 

3. Programme Activity Update  

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently 

supporting delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment to 

be sat with the new GM Reform Delivery Executive. Key activity currently includes: 

GM Food Security Action Network 

The GM wide network is now well established with three multi-sector action groups 

formed and focusing on, 1. Increasing uptake of healthy start vouchers, 2. Ending 

holiday hunger, 3. Doing more for those that miss out.  A range of activities are 

delivered to support these with a 12 month action plan being developed.  

Activities under the action network include:  

- Ensuring supply of food to food banks, as donations are reducing, but demand for 

food banks continues to increase 

- A continued dialogue with big supermarkets, seeking commitment that they will 

sell their own produce at cost to any VCSE organisation in GM buying food for 

food banks. 

- Also opportunity for greater promotion and take up of healthy start vouchers 

direct through the supermarkets 

Page 214



 

 

- Joint working to establish GM Youth Food Board, supporting healthy food 

provision and responsive to food insecurity.  

- Scoping establishment of ‘Community Shop’ in deprived areas (areas classed as 

food deserts), food provision, cooking skills and opportunities for the co-location 

of support services /benefits advice etc.  

- Continuing to lobby Government and local MPs on the right to food campaign and 

wider poverty issues.   

A feasibility study is being undertaken for a North West Dynamic Food Procurement 

system – providing sustainable food procurement across GM and wider NW. Digital 

solutions are being explored to track food distribution and avoid food waste. 

Poverty Action Review  

The joint programme has been established with GM Poverty Action to identify 

practical steps and actions that GMCA and partners might take to tackle poverty 

across the city-region. This will also build understanding of local experiences of 

poverty and help shape future policy direction.  Engagement work is now well 

underway with interviewing of partners and senior leaders across GM to understand 

gaps and avoid duplication in provision.  

Responding to Fuel Poverty 

There is not currently a defined programme of work directly responsive to fuel 

poverty, the impetus for much of the work is in pursuit of carbon reduction and 

environmental challenges. 

The support for people to heat their homes is not as readily available as for food 

access and greater coordination / promotion of support available would be beneficial 

to residents.  

There is scope for the development of a roundtable with energy companies, and 

development of schemes to donate rebates, where rebates could be used to heat 

homes and support wider benefits advice. There is lots of discussion and potential 

activity across GM in response to these issues, to avoid duplication and maximise 

effectiveness it would be prudent to develop coordinated responses under the 

broader umbrella of poverty. 

Building Retrofit 

Page 215



 

 

The social housing decarbonisation programme is delivering improvements to homes 

to increase the energy efficiency of properties to EPC rating C or above.   The Green 

Homes Grant funded activity is supporting the retrofit and adaptation of existing 

domestic homes, increasing EPC ratings and providing safe, warm and affordable 

homes.  Expected outputs across both programmes c.3400 properties.  

Pension Top Up Campaign 

A new programme of activities has been agreed in February, with social media 

assets and messaging around cost of living.  The promotion of the availability of 

pension credits supports those people who are eligible to access the funds available 

to them.  There are however local system capacity constraints, with welfare and 

benefits support staff currently operating above capacity and with reported difficulties 

in keeping up with demand.  

Supporting Families 

The Supporting Families programme continues to provide targeted interventions to 

families, predominantly delivered through keyworkers.  Government has announced 

the extension of the programme for a further 3 years with GM due to receive c£15m 

in 2022/23, with the expectation of supporting at least 4511 additional families.   

The Salford integration pilot continues to be supported by a range of partners to 

address food poverty and healthy weight in early years, this will be further explored 

as a potential area of good practice.  

4. Embedding the Ways of Working  

Across this agenda there is good evidence of effective and far reaching parentship 

working and collaboration.  Established networks draw on cross-sector agencies and 

development of new activity is seeking to ensure additional offers are 

complementary to and not duplicative of existing provision.  

There is evidence of more distributive leadership across partners responding to this 

agenda than in other parts of the system, reflective of the fundamental role a vast 

number of stakeholders have to play in responding to communities experiencing 

poverty.  

There is evidence of effective targeting and support for those who need it, and use of 

data and evidence, along with digital solutions to ensure those who need it most 

Page 216



 

 

have access to the necessary support and services. It is not clear the extent to which 

evidence is being used to target in response to specific equalities groups, this is an 

area for development.  New sources of data such as the emerging evidence on food 

insecurity from the GM residents’ survey will be invaluable in providing insight and 

helping us to target activity to where it is needed most. 

While effective and innovative solutions are being put in place, the overwhelming 

narrative around this agenda is the scale and pace required and recognition of the 

rising tide of communities in need, exacerbated by covid and now due set to 

increase further as the cost of living crisis impacts. There are for example already 

challenges in the system, such as the capacity of welfare and benefits staff to keep 

up with demand, so while targeted campaigns such as the take up of pension credit 

is being promoted and developed via the GM Ageing Hub, the local welfare teams 

need to have in place the capacity to deal with the increase in demand this 

generates.   These whole system approaches need to build capacity across the 

whole cycle of activity to ensure GM residents are able to benefit from the support on 

offer.   

There was clear evidence of the understanding and need for activity, over and above 

the current, particularly in response to fuel poverty and the rising cost of fuel.  This 

needs coordination and a senior system lead accountable for the oversight, 

coordination and alignment of activities to support across the wider poverty agenda.  

The rising challenges faced by many GM families and households means that many 

of the current service responses are focusing on the current crisis response.  It 

seems therefore, understandably, that the prevention and early intervention activities 

have lessened or in some cases, stopped altogether.  Reported challenges by VCSE 

provider organisations refer to the ongoing increase in demand and the 

organisations having little capacity or funding to support preventative actions.   

Getting preventative actions and early intervention back into delivery as soon as 

possible seems the only way to prevent a further escalation of both the scale and 

complexity of demand in the future.  It is however understood resources are limited, 

and therefore current urgent need is taking priority over preventative measures.  

It has not been possible to identify if progressive procurement is being used, 

however work with large companies such as supermarkets and energy companies 

Page 217



 

 

are seeking to ensure the maximum possible social benefits can be achieved from 

the activities being undertaken.  

Page 218



 

 

Commitment 15: We will reduce health inequalities experienced by Greater Manchester 

residents, and drive improvements in physical and mental health 

 

1. Introduction 

Everyone in Greater Manchester deserves to live well. Yet people here die younger than 

people in other parts of England. Cardiovascular and respiratory illnesses mean people 

become ill at a younger age and live with their illness longer than in other parts of the 

country. GM’s growing number of older people often have many long term health issues to 

manage. And the pandemic has exacerbated health inequalities - covid mortality rates are 

25% higher in Greater Manchester than in England as a whole, and are highly unequal 

within the city-region, with mortality rates 2.3 times higher in the most deprived areas, 

compared to the least deprived. Inequality is damaging the lives of our people, both here 

and now and in the long-term, with widely varying crime, health, education, skills and 

economic outcomes for our residents. The evidence and experience from the pandemic, 

has provided us with an expanded view to consider the interaction and interdependencies 

of inequality and for example, health, housing, employment, environment, education and 

skills, and transport. 

 

2. Progress measures 

 

% of adults reporting ‘high’ or ‘very high’ satisfaction with their life  

GM wants to ensure good lives for all, and is committed to supporting and improving 

health and wellbeing across the city region, particularly for the most vulnerable residents 

and communities. Around three-quarters (74.0%) of adults in GM reported high or very 

high levels of life satisfaction in 2020/21, a 6.0 percentage point drop compared to 2019/20 

– this is very likely to reflect the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, but 

adaptations to the survey methodology from which the data are derived may also have 

skewed the findings.  

 

At district level, high or very high life satisfaction varied from 80.2% in Stockport to 69.9% 

in Manchester, a gap of more than ten percentage points. Substantial reductions in high or 

Page 219



 

 

very high life satisfaction between 2019/20 and 2020/21 were evident in Trafford (down 

some 10 percentage points), Bury and Manchester (both down around 8 points); however, 

note that the district level findings should be treated with some caution, given relatively 

small sample sizes. The GM Residents’ Survey asks the same question as that used for 

the national wellbeing dataset, with a larger local sample that allows us to understand 

variance for key population groups. Although direct comparison cannot be made (the local 

survey is more recent, and the methodology is different), a higher proportion of disabled 

people had low satisfaction in February 2022, as did those aged 45-54.  

 

% of adults reporting high levels of anxiety  

The pandemic has had a considerable impact on levels of anxiety amongst our residents. 

In 2020/21, 26.2% of adults in GM experienced high levels of anxiety, an increase of 4.3 

percentage points compared to 2019/20.  The ongoing impact of the pandemic is self-

evident, but again, changes in the survey methodology may be distorting the data. 

 

A similar caveat to that for life satisfaction also applies to district level reporting on levels of 

anxiety. According to the data, there was a gap of 2.7 percentage points between the best 

performing district in 2020/21 (Oldham, where 24.7% of adults reported high levels of 

anxiety) and the worst (Tameside, 27.4%). Between 2019/20 and 2020/21, the largest rise 

in anxiety was recorded in Trafford (up more than 9 percentage points); in contrast, levels 

of anxiety fell by 0.5 points in Stockport. Again, we can draw on findings from the GM 

Residents’ Survey on the same question to understand variance by demographic group, 

although care should be taken not to compare directly given the different nature of the 

national and local surveys. According to the GM findings for February 2022, a higher 

proportion of disabled people had higher levels of anxiety, as did Muslims, carers and 

respondents with children. 

 

% of people who are active or fairly active  

Engagement in physical activity underpins better physical and mental health, supports 

social and economic inclusion, and contributes to GM’s active travel and low carbon 

ambitions.  GM wants to increase the proportion of people who are active or fairly active, 

with all our residents able to lead an active life regardless of background and circumstance 

Page 220



 

 

– the GMS target is ‘to narrow inequality gaps across our communities, and in doing so to 

contribute to the GM Moving in Action ambition of “active lives for all” by 2031.’ 

 

In 2020-21, 69.5% of adults in GM adults (aged 16 and above) were either active or fairly 

active; this was 2.4 percentage points lower than in 2019-20. In terms of inequality gaps, 

levels of activity in 2020-21 were lowest amongst GM residents aged over 75 (21.7 

percentage points below the active / fairly active average for all adults), disabled people 

(15.1 points below) and those in a lower socio-economic group (12.9 points below).  

Conversely, there was greater engagement in physical activity amongst people in a higher 

socio-economic group (11.2 percentage points above the active / fairly active average for 

all adults), those aged 16-34 and those identifying as not having a disability (both 4.9 

points above). 

 

% of GM residents who are overweight or obese  

GM wants all residents to lead healthy lifestyles, and is committed to reducing levels of 

excess weight and obesity throughout all parts of the city region. In 2019-20, 65.6% of GM 

adults (aged 18 and above) were overweight or obese, an increase of 1.3 percentage 

points compared to 2018-19, and 2.8 percentage points above the England average. 

 

There was considerable spatial variation by district, with the proportion of adults who were 

overweight or obese in 2019/20 ranging from 59.3% in Trafford (down 4.7 percentage 

points from 2018/19) to 73.0% in Wigan (up 2.5 points). Nearly a quarter (24.0%) of GM 

reception-age children (4-5 year olds) were overweight or obese in 2019/20, 1.0 

percentage points above the national average (23.0%).  For Year 6 children (aged 10-11), 

the proportion was higher still, at more than a third (37.7%), 2.5 percentage points above 

England as a whole (35.2%). 

 

% of adults (18+) who are current smokers  

Smoking is a key driver of premature mortality related to cardiovascular disease, cancer 

and respiratory disease, and is the single largest behavioural contributor to the socio-

economic gap in life expectancy.  GM is committed to ‘making smoking history’ for all by 

2030. The shorter-term GMS target is to reduce the proportion of GM adults (aged 18 and 

above) who smoke to 10% by 2024, down from 16% in 2019.  Meeting this target will 

Page 221



 

 

require the gap to be narrowed for certain groups, with a particular focus on reducing 

smoking prevalence amongst routine and manual workers. 

 

In 2020, 14.9% of adults in GM were current smokers, 1.1 percentage points lower than in 

2019 (16.0%).2  This was 2.8 percentage points higher than the England average (12.1%), 

and the widest gap since 2016.  Performance was broadly in line with the trajectory 

towards the 2024 target, with the 2020 position just 0.1 percentage point above the 

anticipated target position (14.8%). There has been a noticeable downward trend in the 

proportion of GM adults (aged 18-64) working in routine and manual occupations who are 

current smokers, decreasing from 36.3% in 2011 to 24.5% in 2019.  However, despite this 

improvement, the 2019 figure remained 8.5 percentage points above that for all adults 

aged 18 and above (16.0%).  

 

GM also has a strong focus on reducing smoking in pregnancy.  In Quarter 2 2021/22 (July 

to September 2021), 9.6% of women were known to be smokers at the time of delivery.  

This was down 0.9 percentage points compared to the same period in the previous year 

(10.5%, in Quarter 2, 2019/20), but 0.6 percentage points above the England average 

(9.0%). 

 

No. of emergency hospital admissions due to falls per 100,000 adults aged 65 and 

over 

GM wants to support older people to remain independent for longer. There are few 

indicators that provide useful intelligence on ‘ageing well’, but falls is a good proxy for the 

ability of older people to lead independent lives in their own homes.  

 

GM wants to reduce the number of emergency hospital admissions of residents aged 65 

and over caused by falls.  In 2020/21, there were 2,338 admissions per 100,000 residents 

aged 65 and over, 15.6% above the England average (2,023), but down from 2,445 for the 

previous year.  Rates varied considerably across the city region, from 1,893 per 100,000 in 

Bolton to 3,148 in Wigan. Future reporting against this indicator will draw on Secondary 

                                            

2 : There were notable methodological differences between the 2020 dataset and those for previous years, so 
comparison between the 2020 and earlier data should be undertaken with caution 

Page 222



 

 

Use Services (SUS+) data for GM, which will enable us to understand variance by key 

demographic groups, and potentially to understand spatial variation at sub-district level. 

 

The above measures, and many others across the set of GMS shared commitments, will 

contribute to the range of shared outcomes outlined in the Strategy, and our over-arching 

ambition to ensure ‘good lives for all’.  Of particular relevance is the shared outcome 

indicator on healthy life expectancy at birth, which sets out the estimated number of 

years a new-born baby might live in good general health, and varies considerably across 

Greater Manchester.  We want to narrow spatial inequalities where evident, and are also 

interested in the gap in healthy life expectancy between men and women (no other 

demographic breakdowns are available). 

 

In Greater Manchester in 2017-2019, healthy life expectancy for women was 61.1 years 

and 61.8 for men.  The relative position and gap between female and male healthy life 

expectancy has been fluid since 2009, with the recent data reversing the trend between 

2013-15 and 2016-18 when female healthy life expectancy was longer than male. 

For both sexes, healthy life expectancy varied across the 10 Greater Manchester districts, 

with a gap of more than 6 years between the lowest and highest performing areas. 

 

3. Programme Activity Update 

There are a series of programmes and actions in place which are currently supporting 

delivery of this commitment, with oversight of the whole commitment sitting with the 

Integrated Care Partnership once established.  In the meantime, the shadow Joint 

Planning and Delivery Committee will oversee the commitment.  

The programmes have been grouped under broad headings given the scope of activity: 

public service reform; wellbeing (including social prescribing); early intervention and 

prevention; children and young people (including maternity); physical activity; housing and 

environment; and COVID recovery 

Key activity currently includes: 

Public service reform 

 Integrated Care System  

Page 223



 

 

The transition of GM’s health and care system from the current health & Care partnership 

structures to the new Integrated Care Partnership is currently underway.  Significant work 

is being undertaken to determine the shape and form of the new integrated care system, 

building on the successes of the devolved health & care arrangements already in place 

across the city-region.  The development work for the Integrated Care Strategy - which is 

the responsibility of the Integrated Care Partnership - is underway, and will be in place by 

the end of the year.  Recruitment to the new infrastructure is continuing at pace, and the 

development of all statutory functions are being established. This work will continue over 

coming months to develop an integrated health and care system for the whole of GM, 

including development of systems and structures which embed equality and capitalise on 

commissioning opportunities for progressive procurement as part of a social value 

framework.  

 

 Population Health 

Proposals for Population Health functional requirements at GM and locality / place-based 

levels were agreed at the ICS Transition Board in February 2022. Confirmed continued 

investment in good start and good work activities. 

A Build Back Fairer Expert Assessment Group has been established to provide expert 

interpretation of inequalities intelligence and data as a means of identifying priorities and 

driving activity. The headline strategic approaches and commitments, are being built into 

the ICS embedding and systematic approaches 

 

 Delivering services in place 

The unified public services model is written into the GMS as a key enabler of achieving our 

commitments and ways of working. The unified model brings together key services and 

agencies, delivering in places and responsive to community needs. Development of health 

and care elements of place based working, being built in as part of ICS design. Work is 

underway to integrate neighbourhood policing, community safety, fire and criminal justice 

services in neighbourhoods as part of the unified model.  

Development of health and care Locality Boards, to determine and drive local priorities for 

health and care system under ICS development now underway.  

 

Wellbeing (including social prescribing) 

Page 224



 

 

 Social Prescribing 

A Live Well working group has been established with membership from HSCP, GMCA, 

VCSE. The Live Well programme will build on local prescribing services and create a GM 

Live Well minimum offer, designed with communities and offering routes into supported 

activities, information and advice across all 10 districts.  

 

GM H&SCP successfully secured half a million pounds to deliver green social prescribing 

activities across the city-region. These will connect people with nature-based activities 

such as food, growing community gardening and tree planting, improving mental health 

and wellbeing and the natural environment at the same time. So far £250,000 of national 

funding has been channelled into grass-roots community green destinations, providing 

communities and individuals suffering from the biggest health disparities the chance to 

access nature to help improve their health. Additionally, the Greater Manchester Green 

Spaces Fund will give small grants to communities to clean up and improve pocket parks 

and local green spaces or create new ones where they are needed. Aims, eligibility, 

funding and delivery mechanism for the fund to be agreed by the end of March with fund 

open for applications later in the Spring. 

 

 #BeeWell 

GMCA is working with the University of Manchester and Anna Freud Centre to deliver 

#BeeWell in secondary schools across the city region from 2021 to 2024. Producing 

school-level and neighbourhood insights and mobilising a coalition of partners to bring 

about place-based and youth-led change in young people’s wellbeing. More than 200 

Greater Manchester schools have signed up to take part and the first-round of surveys 

was completed in Autumn 2021 and received almost 40,000 responses from young people 

(representing approximately 60% of all young people in their age bracket). School-level 

and neighbourhood insights will be produced on young people’s wellbeing in the form of 

data dashboard by end of March.  #BeeWell will also launch a social prescribing pilot, 

funded in part by Children in Need, to train young people in peer-support to become 

#BeeWell Champions and access a commissioning pot of £20k per neighbourhood. 

 

 A Social Glue (Creative Health) 

Page 225



 

 

Commissioned by the Great Place project in Greater Manchester Combined Authority and 

authored by Dr Clive Parkinson, A Social Glue sets out how culture and creativity 

contribute to the health and wellbeing of the people of GM and how the time has never 

been better to champion and expand this agenda. A Social Glue looks to GM becoming 

the world’s first Creative Health City Region, where, by 2024, heritage, culture and the arts 

will play a key part in the health and wellbeing of its diverse residents and workforce. A 

working group has been established, the second edition of A Social Glue edited for 

publication and partnership established with National Centre for Creative Health to 

produce national event; and Dr Rebecca Gordon Nesbitt (Kings College) commissioned to 

support the workplan development. 

 

 GM Mental Wellbeing Programme 

This programme is aimed at: building the capacity and capability within the GM system to 

promote good mental health; challenging the stigma associated with poor mental health; 

and strengthen system leadership. Activity includes: 

 Over 4,000 responses to a ‘Big Mental Wellbeing Conversation’ to better 

understand residents’ needs and opinions and provide a comprehensive evidence 

base for future policies and initiatives. 

  £225,000 in grants to over 140 voluntary, community and grassroots organisations, 

for activities which were evaluated to have a positive impact on the wellbeing of a 

diverse range of groups and communities.  

 Delivering ‘Connect 5’ training to around 1,500 participants, including over 200 

trained as ‘train the trainers’.  

 Adapting ‘Living Life To The Full’ materials into 15 common languages and 

supplementing online access with in-person sessions. 

 Embedding mental wellbeing into key city region-wide initiatives such as the Good 

Employment Charter and GM Moving, including through the provision of toolkits and 

best practice.  

 Piloting a GM / Centre of Mental Health ‘Mental Health for all’ equalities initiative in 

three local authority areas, with broad coalitions of community organisations, people 

with lived experience, civil society, business, and public services collaborating to 

produced shared mental health equality action plans. 

 

Early intervention and prevention 

Page 226



 

 

 Supporting vulnerable and marginalised women 

GMHSCP co-investment of £200k to contribute to the GMCA/MOJ contract with the GM 

Womens Support Alliance to support improved access to health checks and cancer 

screening for vulnerable and marginalised women. 

 

 Domestic Violence 

GMHSCP co-investment of £400k to support development of GM Standards for 

identification, support and referral of victims of domestic violence in health and care 

settings and development of a workforce development programme that takes a trauma 

responsive care approach to Gender Based Violence and is co-designed with diverse 

communities 

 

 Older people 

A range of partnership responses to support people to age well in GM. The GM Falls 

Prevention report has been launched and Falls Collaborative established. An Older 

People’s Network campaign on suicide and mental health campaign has been held, and 

broader activities led by the GM Ageing Hub. 

 

 Drugs and alcohol 

The GM Drug and Alcohol Transformation Board is co-chaired by the Deputy Mayor and 

will meet for the second time in March 2022. The Board will oversee the development and 

reporting of a GM Drug and Alcohol Strategic Outcomes Framework and identify the 

commitments it wishes to prioritise for implementation in the GM Drug and Alcohol 

Strategy (2019-2023). 

 

 Making Smoking History 

Greater Manchester continues to deliver its unprecedented and evidence-based Making 

Smoking History strategy.  Based on the World Health Organisation’s ‘MPOWER’ model, 

with a ‘G’ added to represent the growth of a social movement, delivery has been through 

a partnership of city region, local authority borough and community-based programmes - 

including those led by our vibrant VCSE sector, the NHS in Greater Manchester and 

GMCA. The model provides a framework for system-wide transformation at scale to tackle 

our single largest driver of health disparities between the most and least affluent quintiles. 

Page 227



 

 

 

 Ending New Cases of HIV 

Continued delivery of GMHSCP-funded HIVe programme, and additional £3million NHSE 

investment from 22/23 to establish Opt Out HIV testing in the emergency departments in 

Salford and Manchester. 

 

 Diabetes prevention 

Investment of £340k for diabetes prevention (structured education), low calorie diet and 

digital weight management pathways alongside additional investment in leadership to 

support these programmes. 

 

Children and Young People  

 

 Obesity in Reception aged children 

GM is a pathfinder site for an NHSE national integration pilot (one of 5 nationally) with 

investment of £300k for 3 years from 2021/22.   This proof-of-concept test site in Salford 

will integrate systems vertically and horizontally to prevent obesity in reception age 

children. This will increase the quality of care in obesity, integrate physical and mental 

health services and support an integrated approach to achieving fairer and healthier food 

systems and integrated approaches to preventing and managing children that are 

overweight and obese in the early years.GM has been successful in implementing a tier 3 

CEW (complications from excess weight) service covering all GM children and young 

people. Operational from Q4 22/23 

 

 Childhood asthma 

 Implementation of national Asthma Care Bundle, with a targeted approach to areas of 

higher deprivation levels 

 

 The Early Years integrated solution 

The app provides parents and carers of children across GM with a digital application to 

complete assessments that are currently paper-based and ensures that parents and 

carers have access to both completed assessments and other supporting information 

Page 228



 

 

completed by the professional and gives the user much more control over their own data. 

Early Years integrated solution Roll-Out project will aim to deliver the Early Years 

Integrated Solution across all 10 GM localities. Early Years Application – Early Education 

extension Roll-Out project is responsible for the implementation of the Early Education 

extension to the Early Years Application to be used in early year settings (e.g. nurseries) 

across GM. The primary purpose of the extension is to allow for the capture of 

communication needs using established WellComm assessments. 

 

 Digital Personal Child Health Record 

Digitisation of the child health records (Red Book) using existing GM Digital Platform 

capabilities and Early Years Integrated Solution.  

 Improved maternity outcomes 

The GM Local Maternity System (LMS) have undertaken an Equity Assessment 

addressing the inequalities in outcomes in maternity for mothers and babies. 

Implementation plan is in development for publication Sept 2022. Implementation of 

Continuity of Carer teams, focused on populations with higher areas of deprivation and 

Black and Asian mothers Implementation of Saving Babies Lives Care Bundle to reduce 

still birth rates. 

 

Physical activity 

 

 GM Moving 

GM Moving is the comprehensive plan to reduce inactivity and increase participation in 

physical activity and sport that is aligned to the Greater Manchester Population Health 

Plan priority themes and wider reform agenda. GM Moving brings together partners in 

Greater Manchester, including GM Active to work together collaboratively. Activity focused 

around: Active lives for all; Widening Access and Participation in Sport, Leisure, Walking 

and Active Travel; Active Places; Integrated system; Culture Change. The programme is 

reflective of prioritising, resourcing and delivering results. 

 

Housing and environment 

Page 229



 

 

A safe, warm and secure home underpins people’s ability to build a better quality of life; it 

improves general health outcomes and enables people to maintain independence. Poor 

housing is a driver of poor health and of pervasive and growing health inequalities. 

However, housing also has a huge influence on mental health and wellbeing, affordability 

has a major impact on the ability to keep homes warm, and how able people are to travel 

to work and maintain social connections.  

 

The Tripartite Agreement between GMCA, GM Housing Providers and GMHSCP brings 

together a broad coalition of key organisations working together (with Homes England) to 

address housing, place, health and inequality issues at GM scale - Priorities for joint 

working include collective efforts on supported housing, housing and ageing, improving 

homes, housing and mental health (including dementia) and creating healthy communities.  

There is ongoing work to increase supported housing provision to meet need by taking 

forward relevant elements of GM Ageing Strategy, local supported housing strategies, etc 

to ensure greater provision of high-quality supported living options for GM residents.  The 

ongoing work with partners to take forward residential elements of agreed RetrofitGM 

Action Plan, including retrofit accelerator and social housing decarbonisation will help to 

ensure that housing is warm and free from damp and mould – key elements in living well. 

 Healthy Homes/Home Improvement Agency 

There is ongoing work to develop a baseline healthy homes service available across GM 

to ensure safe, warm, dry home for vulnerable, largely older households in owner 

occupation leading to a reduction in health risks for vulnerable households, reduced 

demand for social care and NHS interventions. This includes work jointly with H&SCP, 

districts and GMHP to achieve agreed path and funding package to achieve 

implementation. There is technology in place which could allow joined up risk stratification 

work across agencies – this could be an area for development, but  information 

governance issues would need to be considered and resolved. 

Covid Recovery 

 

 Healthcare COVID recovery 

The recovery plan will build upon the successful collaborative and structured approach 

employed during COVID to manage the significant challenges of recovery. The plan will 

build upon the previously agreed Provider Federation Board (PFB) operating model and 

Page 230



 

 

put forward areas of focus - it will cover Urgent Care; Elective Care; specialist and fragile 

services; Cancer; Mental Health; Clinical support services; Community services; Health 

inequalities; Finance; Workforce and Digital. In some cases, the areas of focus are not 

new pieces of work as there are relevant activities already happening.  The delivery detail 

will be part of annual operational plans and high level metrics for the key areas of focus 

will be developed. The plan will provide a framework for a holistic set of actions, key risks 

and mitigating actions. It will be a key element of the broader emerging ICS Strategy. 

 

 

 

4. Embedding the Ways of Working   

Across this agenda there is good evidence of effective and far-reaching partnership 

working and collaboration which is key in recognising and addressing the interaction and 

interdependencies between health, inequality, housing, employment, environment, 

education and skills, and transport. 

The work underway to establish the new ICS will further these partnerships and embed 

strong collaborations in the structures from the outset. The recognition of the need for the 

development of services and response for health and care needs, and the understanding 

of the wider determinants of health provides for a solid foundation for the ICS, and the 

opportunities to further develop from successes seen under the current health & social 

care partnership model. However, the significant work, time and efforts required to 

establish such a complex and large infrastructure is putting strain on the system at a time 

when the overall health and care system is facing a workforce crisis, continuing to respond 

to the impacts of covid and as financial constraints (especially in the care sector) become 

even more challenging.  

The creation of the ICS for GM does however provide a significant opportunity for the 

furthering of neighbourhood working and there is evidence of locality led planning and 

neighbourhood service responses in place.  There is good evidence of the effective 

targeting of services to meet particular needs, although it has not been possible to assess 

the scale of interventions compared to current or forecast demand (notable particular with 

mental health services and support).   

There is evidence of some effective targeting and support for those who need it, and 

considerable use of data and evidence, along with digital solutions, e.g. Early Years 

Page 231



 

 

Integrated Digital Solution. There is some indication that evidence is being used to target 

in response to specific equalities groups e.g. GM Moving with person and community 

centred approaches. The Build Back Fairer framework and BBF Expert Assessment Group 

will help to further ensure that interpretation of inequalities intelligence and data is used to 

identify priorities and drive activity going forward. Indeed, the headline strategic 

approaches and commitments, are being built into the ICS embedding and systematic 

approaches.   

 

GM NHS Green Plan and programmes such as GM Moving help to support GM’s 

Environmental Ambitions. Additionally, the retrofit accelerator and social housing 

decarbonisation support both our green ambitions and have a positive impact on health by 

ensuring that housing is warm and free from damp and mould. 

Work is underway to develop a social value framework supporting the ICS development, 

with conversations underway to determine the extent to which the agreed GM social value 

framework can meet specific NHS requirements and go further in supporting the whole of 

the ICS activity.  

 

The health and care sector faces significant workforce challenges.  Staff shortages 

continue to be challenging at all levels, and the continued pressure of workload due to the 

pandemic continues to worsen the impact. Workforce issues are being embedded within 

the ICS development, not just in terms of overall workforce numbers but also seeking to 

embed greater diversity and equality within the design and delivery of the new integrated 

system.  

 

There are examples of innovation driving activity e.g. Early Years Integrated Digital 

Solution but it has been suggested that there are other potential areas for activity that 

could be further developed e.g. Housing/health  - there is technology in place which could 

allow joined up risk stratification work across agencies, but  information governance issues 

would need to be considered and resolved. It has not been possible to assess how wider 

Health Innovation activity being driven forward through the Local Industrial Strategy, is 

impacting locally. Health Innovation Manchester has an active portfolio of innovation 

projects that are being deployed across Greater Manchester to help improve local people’s 

health and wellbeing. These include using new technology and devices, digital products 

and tools, optimising medication and modifying practice. Projects span all aspects of 

health and care including maternity, cardiovascular, cancer, respiratory, mental health and 

Page 232



 

 

frailty, as well as cross cutting themes such as patient safety, medicines and precision 

health. 

 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date:  27 July 2022 

Subject: UK Shared Prosperity Fund – Update and Next Steps 

 

Purpose of Report:  

 

The attached report seeks approval of GMCA to submit the GM UKSPF Investment Plan to 

Government by 1st August 2022. Submission will be online via a template form. 

The report provides background to the new UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF), the 

domestic replacement for EU Structural Funds such as ESF and ERDF and details of the 

Greater Manchester UKSPF Investment Plan, it sets out the: 

 GM governance model for UKSPF 

 engagement and development process undertaken by GMCA to build the GM UKSPF 

Investment Plan 

 the strategic context of the national Levelling Up Missions and GMS and alignment 

of the GM Investment Plan to these  

 key elements of the Investment Plan for approval prior to on-line submission to 

Government by 1 August 2022; and 

 next steps to implementation of the GM UKSPF programme. 

The report outlines the high level Investment Plan.  Prior to October 2022, GMCA will work 

with partners to develop a detailed Implementation Plan for UKSPF for 2.5 years ending 

March 2025. This is expected to start delivery from October 2022. 

  

Page 235

Agenda Item 9



 

Recommendations: 

 

The GMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to: 

 Note the attached GMCA report setting out the high-level GM UKSPF Investment 

Plan which will go to GMCA on 29th July for submission to Government by 1st 

August 2022. 

 Consider how and when Scrutiny may wish to see reports on UKSPF 

implementation planning process.   

 Consider how Scrutiny will review UKSPF impact alongside its consideration of 

other GMCA place based regeneration activity in Greater Manchester.  

 

Contact Officers: 

Simon Nokes, Executive Director, GMCA  

simon.nokes@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

Alison Gordon, Assistant Director - Business Innovation & Enterprise, GMCA  

alison.gordon@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

Page 236

mailto:simon.nokes@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:alison.gordon@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority  

Date:  29 July 2022 

Subject: UK Shared Prosperity Fund – GM Investment Plan 

Report of: Councillor David Molyneux,  Portfolio Lead for Investment and Eamonn 

Boylan  Portfolio Lead Chief Executive for Investment 

 

Purpose of Report: 

This report provides background to the new UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF), the 

domestic replacement for EU Structural Funds such as ESF and ERDF and details of the 

Greater Manchester UKSPF Investment Plan.  The report sets out the: 

 GM governance model for UKSPF 

 engagement and development process undertaken by GMCA to build the GM 

UKSPF Investment Plan 

 key elements of the Investment Plan for approval prior to on-line submission to 

Government by 1 August 2022; and 

 next steps to implementation of the GM UKSPF programme. 

Recommendations: 

The GMCA is requested to: 

1. Approve the GM UKSPF Investment Plan set out within this report. 

2. Agree GMCA should submit the GM UKSPF Investment Plan to government by 1st 

August. 

3. Note the next steps on implementation 

4. Agree the GM UKSPF Implementation Plan should come to GMCA in October 2022 

for agreement. 

Contact Officers: 

Alison Gordon, GMCA alison.gordon@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

 

Page 237

mailto:alison.gordon@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


Equalities Impact, Carbon and Sustainability Assessment: 

 

Risk Management 

Key risks identified in the GM UKSPF Investment Plan are: 

1. Programme Finances - Grant funding from UKG is not secured in line with the 

published timeline by GMCA as anticipated resulting in delays to delivery.  

2. Contract and Legal - Delays to the execution of the legal documents.  

3. Staffing and Recruitment – Insufficient staff recruited to deliver the UKSPF 

programme in Greater Manchester. 

4. Contract Monitoring – UK Government radically alters its proposed UKSPF 

monitoring expectations midway through the programme. 

Mitigation has been identified and there will be further refinement and updating of the risk 

register over the lifetime of the Fund 

Legal Considerations 

As projects and programmes are identified over Summer 2022. GMCA legal will ensuring 

identified routes to market (e.g. grants, commissions, etc) are compliant with subsidy 

control and grant funding agreements and contracts are fully compliant with UK law and 

ensure risk is managed appropriately. 

Impacts Questionnaire
Impact Indicator Result Justification/Mitigation

Equality and Inclusion G

Health G

Resilience and 

Adaptation
G

Housing

Economy G

Mobility and 

Connectivity

Carbon, Nature and 

Environment
G

Consumption and 

Production

Zero carbon and environment are cross cutting priorities across the entirety of the GM UKSPF 

programme therefore it is expected that all funded activity will make a positive contribution, 

particuarly in terms of carbon reduction.  The Investment Plan also includes a specific 

intervention focussed on improving gree spaces.
Further Assessment(s): Equalities Impact Assessment and Carbon Assessment

Contribution to achieving the 

GM Carbon Neutral 2038 target

Positive impacts overall, 

whether long or short 

term.

Mix of positive and 

negative impacts. Trade-

offs to consider.

Mostly negative, with at 

least one positive aspect. 

Trade-offs to consider.

Negative impacts overall. 

Page 238



Financial Consequences – Revenue 

The GMCA allocation of non-Multiply UKSPF over the three years to 2024/5 is 

£83,850,595 - £10,176,043 2022/3, £20,352,086 2023/4 and £53,322,466 2024/25. 

Indicatively, a maximum of £69,522,727 of this allocation will be revenue as the UKSPF 

national prospectus sets a minimum capital spend of 10%, 13% and 20% respectively for 

each year of the Fund. The total annual allocation will be received by GMCA in October 

2022, April 2023 and April 2024. 

Financial Consequences – Capital 

The GMCA allocation of non-Multiply UKSPF over the three years to 2024/5 is 

£83,850,595 - £10,176,043 2022/3, £20,352,086 2023/4 and £53,322,466 2024/25. 

Indicatively, a minimum of £14,327,868 of this allocation will be capital as the UKSPF 

national prospectus sets a minimum capital spend of 10%, 13% and 20% respectively for 

each year of the Fund. The total annual allocation will be received by GMCA in October 

2022, April 2023 and April 2024. 

Number of attachments to the report: 2 (annex A and B) 

Comments/recommendations from Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

 

Background Papers 

Tracking/ Process  

 Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in the GMCA Constitution  

Yes / No [Delete as appropriate] 

Exemption from call in  

Are there any aspects in this report which means it should be considered to be exempt 

from call in by the relevant Scrutiny Committee on the grounds of urgency?  

No 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

27th July 2022 

Page 239



1. Introduction 

1.1 The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is a replacement domestic fund for EU 

European Structural Investment Funds (ESIF), which covered funds such as ERDF 

and ESF following the UK leaving the EU. The current ESIF programme period spend 

extends to late 2023, with many of Greater Manchester’s business support and skills 

and employment programmes funded until 2023. 

1.2 The Levelling Up White Paper released early in 2022 set out how UKSPF will support 

the UK Government’s wider commitment to level up all parts of the UK by delivering 

on each of the four parts of Levelling Up: 

 Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards, especially in those places 

where they are lagging. 

 Spread opportunities and improve public services, especially in those places 

where they are weakest. 

 Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially in those 

places where they have been lost. 

 Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places lacking 

local agency 

1.3 The primary goal of UKSPF is building pride in place and increasing life chances 

across the UK, while recognising the acute challenges town centres and communities 

have faced during the Covid pandemic.  This will be achieved across three 

Investment Priorities: 

 Communities and place 

 Local business; and  

 People and skills.  

1.4 GMCA has been identified as the UKSPF Lead Authority for Greater Manchester.  

This means that GMCA will be the accountable body for the three-year GM UKSPF 

non-Multiply allocation of £83,850,595 and will be responsible for the management 

and administration of the fund.  GMCA is also the Lead Authority for the Multiply adult 

literacy programme element of UKSPF, which is running slightly ahead of the non-

Multiply UKSPF process.  The GM Investment Plan principles for Multiply were 

agreed at GMCA in June and the Multiply Investment Plan has been submitted to 

Government earlier in July. 

Page 240



1.5 In mid-April 2022, Government published the UKSPF Prospectus that set out the 

requirements for GM’s UKSPF allocation to be secured.  GMCA will be required to 

produce and submit to Government a high-level UKSPF Investment Plan by 1 August 

2022, subject to Government approval of the Investment Plan UKSPF will then be 

released to GMCA from October 2022 onwards.  

1.6 This report sets out the key areas of GM’s UKSPF Investment Plan which are 

compliant with Government guidance and focus on how UKSPF can help to deliver 

the agreed Greater Manchester Strategy shared commitments.  

 

2. GM UKSPF Governance 

2.1 The UKSPF Prospectus sets out that lead authorities should establish a 

comprehensive, representative and balanced UKSPF Local Partnership Board.  The 

Board’s role is to provide guidance and offer advice to GMCA on strategic fit and 

deliverability of the activity funded by UKSPF over the next three years, however, 

GMCA will remain the accountable body for UKSPF and will need to ensure all 

programme risks are effectively managed as well as having final sign off on all activity.  

2.2 This Board re-purposes and builds on the successful Greater Manchester ESIF/SUD 

Sub-Committee membership put in place when GMCA secured Intermediate 

Body/Co-Financing status for ESIF.  GMCA’s UKSPF governance is fully compliant 

with Government guidance as set out in the UKSPF Prospectus and includes public, 

private and VCSE representatives.  

2.3 The Board will be supported by a GMCA UKSPF Officer Team as well as by senior 

Greater Manchester officers with relevant GM policy portfolio responsibility and 

serviced by GMCA Democratic Services Team as set out below. 

Page 241



2.4 Prior to submission of the GM UKSPF Investment Plan, the Local Partnership Board 

will have met twice with opportunity to input into the development of the Investment 

Plan and to ensure they are sighted and supportive of the Plan, subject to GMCA 

approval. 

 

2.5 The UKSPF Prospectus also sets out the role of MPs in UKSPF, in that MPs should 

be closely engaged in the design and delivery of UKSPF and should be invited to join 

the Local Partnership Board.  GM has 27 MPs which would make this impractical and 

as the Prospectus allows, GMCA has established a GM MP UKSPF Engagement 

Group to which all GM MPs are invited.  This sits alongside the regular engagement 

LAs have with MPs.  As well as ensuring MPs views have been sought on the 

development of the Investment Plan, MPs will be asked to review the GM UKSPF 

Investment Plan prior to submission and should indicate their support for the Plan. 

Failure of one or more MPs to support the Investment Plan would not prevent 

consideration of the Plan by Government.   

3. Partner and stakeholder engagement 

3.1 GMCA has worked closely with all ten local authorities on the development of the 

Investment Plan. This has included seeking views from the ten Greater Manchester 

local authorities using briefings, questionnaires and a series of workshops to shape 

Page 242



the high-level priorities reflected in the Investment Plan. Named GMCA officers 

have also been working with each Local Authority alongside GMCA senior Policy 

Leads to coordinate and inform the development of the Investment Plan. 

3.2 GMCA has also worked with a range of policy leadership groups including for 

example Greater Manchester’s Directors of Place where membership is the senior 

Economic Development officers across GM organisations and LAs; the Local 

Economic Strategy Programme Development Executive which includes public, 

academic and health leads; the Economic Resilience Group including local authority 

economic leads, business organisations and other partners; and the GM 

Employment Skills Advisory Panel (ESAP) which represents wider networks of core 

public private and civic stakeholders and partners across Greater Manchester’s 

education, skills, employment support and health landscape as well as a number of 

national partners on the Plan development. 

3.3  GMCA has engaged with and sought the views of the Greater Manchester private 

sector and business network representatives as well as a range of providers 

through our wider governance structures via presentations and discussions. This 

includes the Greater Manchester Business Representative Organisations and the 

GM Local Enterprise Partnership. GMCA has also engaged with Greater 

Manchester universities outlining the GMCA approach to UKSPF investment via 

existing regular meeting mechanisms. 

3.4 GMCA recognises the critical importance of VCSE organisations in supporting and 

delivering the ambitions of Greater Manchester as recognised by GM VCSE Accord 

framework for collaboration. As a result, officers have worked with the VCSE sector 

represented by the GM VCSE Leadership Group, in the development of the high-

level Investment Plan including a VCSE webinar hosted by the VCSE Leadership 

Group.  GMCA officers will ensure the VCSE sector are involved in the 

Implementation planning stage which will follow submission of the Investment Plan. 

4. GM UKSPF Investment Plan Approach 

1.1 The GM UKSPF Investment Plan builds upon the Greater Manchester Strategy 

(GMS) published in early 2022.  The principles and shared commitments set out 

within the GMS align closely with the UK Government’s Levelling Up agenda and 

the primary goal of the UKSPF to build pride in place and increase life chances 

across the UK. Not only does the GMS make clear the contribution Greater 

Manchester will make to the national Levelling Up ambitions and missions, but it 

Page 243



also recognises the importance and urgency of the need to level up within Greater 

Manchester, particularly post-pandemic.  

1.2 The UKSPF Prospectus asks Lead Authorities to develop a high-level Investment 

Plan for the use of their UKSPF allocation and submit it for approval to Government 

by 1 August 2022.  The short timescale to develop and submit an Investment Plan 

means that places do not have to identify projects for funding at submission stage, 

or routes to market, and that places should take a strategic approach to the Plan 

development in order to take advantage of the significant flexibilities UKSPF offers 

when compared to previous EU structural funds.  Taking this approach, the GM 

Investment Plan is focussed on a limited number of high-level interventions and 

outcomes that will allow GM to retain maximum flexibility as well as a holistic 

approach to delivery over the three-year funding period. 

1.3 As the GMS recognises the importance of a limited number of cross-cutting 

priorities, so does the GM Investment Plan.  This means that rather than identifying 

a limited number of dedicated UKSPF interventions across the Investment Plan, our 

approach to realising our carbon neutrality and environmental ambitions will be 

woven across all UKSPF investment and implementation in Greater Manchester.  

The same approach will be taken to reducing inequalities and embedding social 

value, which are key pillars of the GMS, in that all investment will contribute to 

increasing equity within and across GM. 

1.4 Many of the challenges and opportunities outlined in the Investment Plan below 

cannot be addressed by a single policy area or intervention in isolation; rather, they 

require an integrated response. Therefore, as part of a wider funding and 

investment landscape that includes the devolved and integrated Adult Education 

Budget and Working Well programmes, Future High Streets Funding, Levelling Up 

Funding, Community Renewal Funding, Community Ownership funding, and local 

resources raised in the city-region such as through Business Rates, GMCA and 

partners will work to ensure that all UKSPF programmes are complementary, add 

additional value and do not duplicate existing activity. 

1.5 Within the Investment Plan, GMCA has set out the evidenced challenges and 

opportunities across the three UKSPF Investment Priorities of Communities and 

Page 244



Place, Local Business and People and Skills as reflected in the GMS and 

summarised below (and set out in full in Annex A): 

 Communities and Place – the GM Investment Plan focusses on the 

importance of and challenges our city and town centres and high streets 

face, as well as our cultural offer and our green spaces, both pre and post 

pandemic.  This sits alongside the importance of using UKSPF to support a 

strong and sustainable VCSE sector across GM, a sector that evidenced 

their reach and trusted status within communities during the extended 

lockdowns much of GM faced, using the GM VCSE Accord.  The Investment 

Plan highlights the opportunities to use UKSPF to restore and improve our 

green spaces, city and town centres and high streets, and how culture, 

creative and heritage assets, organisations and events can re-animate our 

centres to create exciting places residents and visitors want to visit and 

business wants to locate.   

 Local Business – as evidenced in the GMS and the Local Industrial Strategy, 

the challenges and causes of low and differential productivity are reflected in 

the GM UKSPF Investment Plan. The Plan highlights the opportunities for 

UKSPF investment to support increasing innovation across the frontier and 

foundation businesses in all parts of GM, support entrepreneurship and the 

start-up and scale up of new and micro-businesses, as well as creating new 

economic models via social businesses, and new attractive spaces for 

businesses to innovate and grow across the city-region's towns and growth 

locations. 

 People and Skills - There are multi factorial challenges highlighted in the 

GMS, Prosperity Review and the Local Skills and Labour Market Plan, 

particularly in the areas of low skills and access to digital inclusion low 

earning, these more acutely impact the those not in education, employment 

or training (NEET) the over 50’s and those in areas with higher levels of 

deprivation.  With all of these factors in mind, GMCA and Greater 

Manchester’s Employment and Skills Advisory Panel (ESAP) have 

established four core strategic priorities under which the opportunities and 

Page 245



actions around People and Skills can be marshalled, and to which the 

UKSPF interventions identified will contribute:  

o Young people leave education and training ready to succeed in the labour 

market, with a balance of academic, technical and ‘life ready’ skills  

o Adults can acquire the skills, mindset and support they need to fulfil their 

career potential and adapt to changing employer needs throughout their 

lives, from entering employment for the first time through to highly skilled 

careers and retraining  

o Employers have access to a system that is flexible, resilient and 

adaptable, and which meets their needs in the rapidly changing 21st 

century world of work, driving a sustainable economic future for GM in 

which companies compete on the basis of high productivity, good quality 

work, and excellent employment practices  

o Residents are supported by a welfare system, under Universal Credit, 

that provides access to good work for those who can, support for those 

who could, and care for those who can’t.  

 

1.6 The GM UKSPF Investment Plan focusses on a limited number of “overarching” 

UKSPF interventions, outcomes and outputs within each of the three UKSPF 

Investment Priorities that GMCA will report to Government, in order to allow 

maximum flexibility on delivery over the three years of the fund.  These 

“overarching” interventions will allow a wide range of activity under each, as well as 

the ability to flex funding over the lifetime of UKSPF, and are set out below 

Table 1: GM UKSPF Overarching Interventions  

Communities and Place Local Business People and Skills 

E1 – Funding for improvements to town 

centres and high streets, including better 

accessibility for disabled people, including 

capital spend and running costs. (capital and 

revenue)  

E19 – Investment in research and 

development at the local level 
E33 – Employment support for 

economically inactive people 

Page 246



E3 – Creation of and improvements to local 

green spaces, community gardens, 

watercourses and embankments, along with 

incorporating natural features into wider 

public spaces 

E23 - Strengthening local 

entrepreneurial ecosystems and 

supporting businesses at all stages of 

their development to start, sustain, 

grow and innovate, including through 

local networks. 

 

E34 – Courses including basic, life and 

career skills 

E6 –Support for local arts, cultural, heritage 

and creative activities. 
E22 – Enterprise infrastructure and 

employment/innovation sites  

 

E37 – tailored support for the 

employed to access courses 

E11 – Investment in capacity building and  

infrastructure support for local civil society 

and community groups 

E26 – Growing the social economy  

 

1.7 Interventions E11 and E26 are specifically targeting VCSE sector capacity, however 

GMCA will work with GM local authorities and the GM VCSE Leadership Group to 

ensure that the VCSE sector plays a significant role across all interventions. 

1.8 Cross cutting themes reflecting GMS “fairer, greener, more prosperous” and set out 

in 4.3 above, will be reflected and embedded across all Interventions rather than 

stand alone.   

1.9 The Investment Plan will require spend to be identified each year across each of the 

Interventions identified as well as indicative outcomes/outputs to be achieved by the 

end of 2024/25. These can be refined as projects and programmes are defined in 

the coming months. 

1.10 The interventions, financial allocations and indicative outcomes and outputs are set 

out in Annex B. 

2. GM UKSPF Implementation Plan development 

2.1 As described elsewhere in this report and following the guidance set out in the 

UKSPF Prospectus, the GM UKSPF Investment Plan is a high-level plan setting out 

challenges and opportunities GM faces and ensuring the overarching UKSPF 

interventions and outcomes identified align with addressing these. This sits 

alongside assurance that strong governance is in place and that GMCA and 

partners will be able to develop and deliver on these interventions.  

Page 247



2.2 Work will now start on the development of a comprehensive GM UKSPF 

Implementation Plan.  Working with partners and stakeholders GMCA will agree a 

proportionate and inclusive approach to the development of projects and 

programmes alongside their strategic fit and deliverability and appropriate routes to 

market to ensure the highest level of impact over the three years of the UKSPF 

investment, as well as developing robust communications, reporting, monitoring and 

performance management systems again proportionate to the scale of investment. 

2.3 To align with the expected approval of the GM Investment Plan by Government, the 

Implementation Plan is expected to come to GMCA for approval in October 2022. 

3. Recommendations 

6.1 The recommendations can be found at the front of this report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 248



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annex A:  

UK Shared Prosperity Fund   

  

Investment Plan Template   

  

Local challenges and opportunities  

In this section, we will ask you:  

 If you've identified any challenges or opportunities, you intend to support  

 Which of the UKSPF investment priorities these fall under  

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE COMMUNITIES 

AND PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY?  

(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible  

  

Overarching strategic context for the UKSPF  

Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) has a comprehensive understanding of the myriad 

challenges and opportunities facing Greater Manchester and its people, businesses and places. These 

are encapsulated in the shared commitments made in the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) – a 

Page 249



highly integrated strategy which aims to make Greater Manchester a greener, fairer and more 

prosperous city-region.   

Published in early 2022, the principles and shared commitments set out within the GMS align closely 

with the UK Government’s Levelling Up agenda and the primary goal of the UKSPF to build pride in 

place and increase life chances across the UK. Not only does the GMS make clear the contribution 

Greater Manchester will make to the national Levelling Up ambitions and missions, but it also 

recognises the importance and urgency of the need to level up within Greater Manchester, particularly 

post-pandemic.   

As such, the GMS is at the heart of this Investment Plan for UKSPF.   

The GMS and the plans and reports contained within will be referenced throughout the three 

individual Investment Priorities that make up this Investment Plan. However, we wanted to also 

highlight how the GMS commitments align with the required cross-cutting local and national policies 

and priorities of the UKSPF as outlined in point 2.6 of the Prospectus and shown below:   

  

Net zero and nature recovery, and supporting green growth  

Greater Manchester has already adopted a science-based commitment which gives us a total carbon 

budget and a carbon neutral target date of 2038 which makes clear our overall net zero ambition and 

vision for Greater Manchester.    

Meeting this ambition requires working in different ways and is why GMCA launched the UK’s first 

regional Clean Growth Mission for Greater Manchester. The Mission focuses both on rapidly reducing 

our carbon emissions and stimulating business innovation to achieve our goals. It does this by 

intentionally moving away from ‘policy silos’ by breaking down the barriers between traditional sectors 

and groups, thereby enabling the whole of the system to be responsive to the climate emergency and 

work together to achieve carbon neutrality to the benefit of all our people and places.   

In the same way, all partners in Greater Manchester also have a clear commitment to taking the actions 

outlined in the Greater Manchester 5-year Environment Plan, which sets out what needs to be done – 

both in terms of urgent action and innovation that will accelerate future change – that will put Greater 

Manchester on the pathway to become a clean, carbon neutral and climate resilient city-region with a 

thriving natural environment and circular, zero-waste economy.   

In light of the above, this means that rather than identifying a limited number of dedicated UKSPF 

interventions across the Investment Plan, our approach to realising our carbon neutrality and 

environmental ambitions will be woven across all UKSPF investment and implementation in Greater 

Manchester.  

   

Addressing inequalities  

The Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS), which has equity as one of its three key pillars, has been 

shaped and informed by the Independent Inequalities Commission and the Marmot review of health 

equity in Greater Manchester, which have provided expert insight and intelligence into the scale of the 

inequalities challenge in Greater Manchester, as well as proposing potential solutions.   

  

Their work shows how historical and contemporary systemic and institutionalised discrimination and 

prejudice has resulted in entrenched inequalities, rooted in long-standing structural issues of poverty 

Page 250

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf


and disadvantage. In addition, the impacts of the pandemic have been unequal and unfair, 

highlighting and deepening inequalities which have existed for many years, and also created new 

inequalities.   

  

When inequalities are reduced, everyone benefits. This Investment Plan for UKSPF therefore aims to 

help Greater Manchester level up both across our city-region and nationally and move towards a 

more equitable society, with all people able to access the opportunities to progress, develop and 

flourish in their lives. It will do this by making sure that all investment supports our diverse 

communities appropriately, but it will also actively target resource at the people and places facing the 

greatest obstacles in life. More information on how GMCA will ensure the UKSPF helps to address 

inequality can be found in the Public Sector Equality Duty of this Investment Plan.  

  

Wider funding landscape  

Many of the challenges and opportunities outlined in this Investment Plan cannot be addressed by a 

single policy area or intervention in isolation; rather, they require an integrated response. Therefore, as 

part of a wider funding and investment landscape that includes the devolved and integrated Adult 

Education Budget and Working Well programmes, Future High Streets Funding, Levelling Up Funding, 

Community Renewal Funding, Community Ownership funding, and local resources raised in the city-

region such as through Business Rates, GM will work to ensure that all UKSPF programmes are 

complementary, adds additional value and do not duplicate existing activity.   

 

Other key principles informing implementation and delivery  

In a similar vein to the cross-cutting local and national policies and procedures discussed above, we 

will also be ensuring that a number of key principles are embedded across all UKSPF programmes, 

projects and investment throughout the Implementation Plan development phase, which will take place 

over Summer 2022. These include social value (which will be discussed in more detail in the Project 

Selection section) and the importance of building in and growing digital inclusion across interventions, 

where appropriate, will also be a key theme.  

Further details on the Implementation Plan development can be found in the Stakeholder Engagement 

and Support section of this Investment Plan, but in essence it will see GMCA continue to engage widely 

with stakeholders across the public, private and VCSE sectors as we determine criteria for the 

prioritisation of investment, develop projects and programmes or calls as relevant, identify the preferred 

routes to market and confirm the appraisal, monitoring and risk frameworks.   

  

Local Challenges in Greater Manchester for Communities and Place  

Our Places  

Although there is a real sense of pride in our local places, the GMS shows the strength of this varies 

across Greater Manchester, creating a levelling up challenge within the city-region. In 2020/21, the 

Greater Manchester Police and Crime survey of 13,000 GM residents showed that 72% felt proud of 

their local area. This ranged from 62% among residents of GM's most deprived areas, up to 85% of 

those living in least deprived areas. This figure has remained fairly stable since 2019; however it rose 

to 80% of GM residents during the first lockdown (April to June 2020, total sample of 3,250). This 

Page 251



trend has not been sustained among all groups however, with perceptions among younger people 

rapidly falling below pre-pandemic levels following the first lockdown, potentially as the economic 

realities set in. Our challenge is to invest in our communities and places to recapture the sense of 

pride in place evidenced during the pandemic.  

As a conurbation, Greater Manchester is unique – a complex and interconnected city-region. Our ten 

localities are diverse, home to distinctive neighbourhoods, towns, cities, and the regional centre, each 

with its own identity, its own characteristics and its own community and cultures, alongside six strategic 

growth locations – strategic sites that that will drive transformational economic growth alongside our 

city and town centres.  

Many of our high streets, town and city centres were struggling pre-pandemic, with the growth in online 

retail, lack of diversity in the high street and a tired day and night-time offer leading to increases in 

vacant units, decreasing footfall and increases in anti-social behaviour. The impact of the pandemic on 

our town and city centres and high streets has been significant and unequal across Greater 

Manchester, and has in many places only served to accelerate the pre-pandemic challenges.    

This has been reflected in a number of surveys conducted with residents across Greater Manchester’s 

towns. One, focussing upon one of our larger town centres, found that:  

 85% of respondents visit the town centre in the daytime but only 27% visit in an evening  

 Features of the town centre that were rated ‘bad’ by residents included:  

o feeling safe after dark (32% of respondents)  

o places to go for entertainment (25%)  

o places to eat / drink (24%).   

 A further resident survey of another Greater Manchester town centre found there was:  

 A lack of diverse offer: According to the survey findings, 45% of respondents said investment 

in better leisure facilities would encourage them to visit the town.  

 A lack of employment opportunities: The survey showed 40% of respondents would not live in 

the town centre due to a lack of employment opportunities.   

 Varying quality of public realm and disconnected Town Centre: 84% of respondents would not 

live in the town centre, identifying the town centre environment as a contributing factor.  

 Poor maintenance of existing assets: 69% of respondents considered the market and square 

to be either average or poor.  

  

Post-pandemic, return to town and city centres has been slow and geographically and 

demographically uneven.  The closure of the hospitality sector – as well as cultural assets – during 

the extended lockdowns Greater Manchester experienced has reduced residents’ desire to return, 

something exacerbated by the staffing/labour market challenges that many businesses in the sector 

are reporting. We face a significant challenge to bring residents and visitors back to these places and 

venues and restore pride in our places to ensure our town centres and high streets will once again 

become the engines of growth for our city-region. In consultation with the ten Greater Manchester 

local authorities as part of this Investment Plan development, all support regeneration of our city and 

town centres and high streets, the majority looking at how the culture, creative and arts sector can 

support the reanimation of these places to increase footfall, creating a more attractive day and night-

Page 252



time environment and in turn, diversifying the offer to rebuild places where people want to live, work 

and visit.  

Greater Manchester’s cultural offer has been hard hit by the pandemic, with audiences nervous about 

returning, and many of the volunteers essential to the operation of many venues unable to 

return.  Nevertheless, Greater Manchester’s cultural offer from local arts groups and community 

theatres to internationally significant organisations are described in resident consultations as one of the 

things they are most proud of. Greater Manchester faces a challenge to restore and grow easy access 

for all of our residents to high quality cultural opportunities, recognising the significant benefits this can 

bring for our places, economy and for resident health and wellbeing and community cohesion.   

One of the positives of the pandemic has been a re-found pride in and use of our green spaces. Parks, 

public gardens and other outdoor spaces have been rediscovered, with clear demand to bring nature 

closer to and integral to our public realm. However, challenges exist with regards to financing the 

maintenance and accessibility of these spaces, ensuring they are reflective of and inviting and safe for 

all residents, and capitalising on the momentum of increased visits during 2020/21 to restore pride in 

these assets and start to “green” our public realm.  

   

Our communities  

The pandemic has highlighted the importance of strong communities who take care of each other, but 

also shone a light on inequalities such as health and digital access that exist and persist between 

Greater Manchester and the rest of the country, between localities in Greater Manchester, within 

localities and across specific groups within our population. The inequalities experienced by Greater 

Manchester’s communities are entrenched, systemic and intergenerational. If we are to achieve equity, 

we must first understand and respond to the interconnected, complex, and personal causes of 

inequality. The Greater Manchester UKSPF Implementation Plan will therefore ensure that a focus on 

equity is woven across all UKSPF programmes, projects and investment.   

The Greater Manchester Police and Crime survey mentioned earlier showed that all Local Authorities 

in Greater Manchester reported a significant improvement in perceptions of their area during the first 

pandemic lockdown as communities came together with support from our VCSE sector and wider 

public services. In this, we owe a debt of thanks to our VCSE sector, whose role during the pandemic 

was of critical importance in locally tailored delivery, as well as a stepping stone for residents and 

communities to the public sector. The reach and support these local organisations provided created a 

tangible sense of local pride, bringing communities together to get through difficult times.   

It is important that we can build on the role and capacity of the VCSE sector across Greater 

Manchester to help address the challenges identified in the GMS and across all Investment Priorities 

in our UKSPF Investment Plan. This has been recognised in the development and application of a 

unified way of working across VCSE organisations, GMCA, GM Health and Social Care Partnership 

and the ten local authorities that make up GM – the GM VCSE Accord.    

The Accord sets out how signatories will work together with the GM VCSE sector represented by the 

GM VCSE Leadership Group, to further develop how we work together to improve outcomes for GM’s 

communities and residents by sustaining the valuable work of VCSEs in GM and creating a more 

resilient sector, including through:  

Page 253

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/communities/voluntary-community-and-social-enterprise-accord/


 A shared understanding of the contribution that VCSE organisations make towards tackling 

inequality in society, creating a more inclusive economy and addressing the climate crisis  

 The building of effective partnerships and relationships between the statutory sector with 

VCSE organisations across different geographies (for example GM-wide, district-wide, or in 

neighbourhoods and communities)  

 A 5-year programme of work which aims to maximise the ability of VCSE organisations to 

really make a difference in communities and localities  

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE COMMUNITIES AND PLACE 

INVESTMENT PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT?  

(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible  

  

Although the challenges set out in the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) relating to communities and 

place are considerable and will require long term investment at scale, we believe that UKSPF can sit 

at the heart of addressing some of these challenges, alongside the considerable amount of 

complementary investment in Greater Manchester’s districts linked to the Government’s levelling up 

ambitions.  

Greater Manchester and its constituent local authorities understand that our city and town centres and 

high streets will be the drivers of growth and recovery in Greater Manchester, and that alongside a 

high-quality environment create places that people want to live, work and visit.  

Many of our local authorities have Levelling Up Fund, Future High Streets or Towns Fund programmes 

that are focussed on regeneration of town and city centres, with a significant proportion focussed on 

driving restoration and repurposing of cultural and heritage assets in town centres or high streets.  

After consultation with our ten local authorities as part of the development of this Investment Plan, we 

will focus UKSPF investment across four Communities and Place interventions that we believe offer 

the most impactful opportunities to restore pride in place in our city and town centres, high streets and 

much-loved green spaces as well as supporting critical social infrastructure. UKSPF activity will 

complement other levelling up funds and aim to leverage public and private sector investment wherever 

possible in order to build on the distinctive and unique identity of each place, maximising the local 

culture, heritage and recreational offers, providing safe, sustainable local centres which are reflective 

of, and responsive to, the needs of their communities supported by a sustainable VCSE sector.   

Firstly, UKSPF will allow us to support our high streets and town centres with investment tailored to 

each place through a mix of capital and revenue funding to restore the town centre environment and 

improve the public realm. These investments will be tailored to each place and will drive interest, 

excitement, local pride and economic growth. The tailored nature of the response to each town centre 

will determine the scale and range of interventions that will be required to regenerate, diversify and 

improve the offer and environment in that place. This funding will respond directly to the challenges 

and opportunities set out in resident surveys about tired high streets and town centres, with a lack of 

diversity and vibrancy in the offer as well as issues of anti-social behaviour often exacerbating the 

challenges our centres face.   

Secondly, the pandemic connected communities with local green spaces, from formal parks and nature 

reserves to more informal, and often smaller green and blue spaces. These now much-loved spaces 

provided opportunities to meet, relax or exercise, improving health and well-being and reducing social 

Page 254



isolation, which is challenging when local authority maintenance budgets are limited.  There is clear 

demand from residents for both more and improved existing green spaces which are accessible to all, 

as well as a strong environmental case for increasing and improving green spaces across Greater 

Manchester as reflected in the GM Five-Year Environment Plan. Examples could include the creation 

of new “pocket parks” or greening the public realm in town centres to restoring traditional features of 

some of our Victorian parks to supporting “Friends of” groups. Projects will be developed during the 

Implementation Planning phase working with local authority partners whilst ensuring wide community 

engagement to identify improvements that will create spaces that residents and visitors can be proud 

of.  

Thirdly, there is a strong evidence base that cultural and creative led regeneration creates exciting 

and vibrant places that people want to live, visit and work in – examples include Manchester’s 

Northern Quarter, Liverpool’s Baltic and Dublin’s Temple Bar. More recently, Stockport has been 

awarded £2.63m from DCMS under the Cultural Development Fund for a new Creative Campus in 

the heart of the Town Centre, one of only six locations in the UK.  

  

In 2021, the Arts Council published the “A High Street Renaissance”.  This report found that:  

62% of UK adults agree that cultural experiences on the high street give them a sense of pride about 

their local area.  

 More than two thirds of UK adults (69%) agree that cultural experiences on the high street 

make their local area a better place to live.  

 Cultural participation can have a significant positive effect on civic pride among children and 

young people. The report cites recent academic work that found that children who engage 

with cultural organisations are 58% more likely to volunteer for those and other local cultural 

institutions in adulthood, and 78% more likely to donate to those organisations as they grow 

up.  

 83% of residents who had visited heritage sites or projects in their area agreed that visiting 

had helped them understand more about the history of their area.  

 Multifunctional high streets re-establish them as hubs for social connection and celebrate 

their roots and unique character. Recent surveying sees tomorrow’s city centre as fulfilling 

many roles: a place to meet friends (91%); and a place to go for arts and culture (83%).  

  

Although challenging to quantify, the same report considered a series of case studies that showed 

positive impacts of investing in culture in our city and town centres and high streets.  Some examples 

include:  

 Vauxhall One16 created Summer Screen, a programme of free open-air screenings in an 

underused open space, which attracted over 7,000 visitors in its first year – a sharp increase 

in footfall.   

 See No Evil, a street art project in Bristol, turned a derelict thoroughfare into a tourist 

attraction, with footfall increased by 75% and enquiries about vacant premises increased by 

70%.  

 92% of visitors to Lincoln’s Great Magna Carta weekend say that the festival inspired them to 

return to the city, with 18% of visitors to the festival spending over £100 on retail and 

Page 255



hospitality in the city.  

  

As described elsewhere, many of Greater Manchester’s Levelling Up/Towns Fund/Future High Street 

programmes have culture-led regeneration at their heart, recognising the evidence set out 

above.  Using UKSPF revenue funding aligned wherever possible with Levelling Up type funding, there 

is a significant opportunity to invest in arts, cultural and heritage activities to re-animate our city and 

town centres and high streets, changing a tired day and night-time offer into an exciting and diverse 

range of activity that is reflective of the unique nature of our places.    

Activity will support arts and cultural organisations that are highly valued by Greater Manchester 

residents and visitors to create programmes of activity that will draw residents and visitors from farther 

afield, and drive spend, footfall and dwell time. A buoyant visitor economy / hospitality sector will also 

provide opportunities for employment, skills development, and in-work progression within relevant 

sectors.  

There are multiple examples of cultural events large and small across Greater Manchester, from the 

internationally significant Manchester International Festival which showcases new talent and 

programmes to the world, to our first GM Town of Culture programme. The latter was awarded to Bury 

in 2020, alongside a £50,000 grant from GMCA. Bury put forward an ambitious and exciting programme 

called “Happy” celebrating the comedienne Victoria Wood in 2021. This hugely successful programme 

was delivered while the country was under some form of restrictions for more than half the year. 

Throughout the year there were a host of programmes, initiatives and events, including Happy Festival 

(with The Halle), investment in local artists and a final two-week festival, Burrs Live, which saw the Bury 

park play host to Head For The Hills featuring Everything Everything and Badly Drawn Boy.   

UKSPF will provide the opportunity to invest in more cultural and creative activities and events across 

Greater Manchester, bringing arts and culture to much loved places and communities, increasing 

engagement, supporting places and again celebrating local pride in our places and cultural 

organisations.  

We also recognise that the pandemic allowed residents to reconnect with their neighbourhoods and 

some of the wealth of heritage assets within Greater Manchester – from the Lancashire Mining Museum 

in Wigan to Stockport’s Hat Museum and Salford’s Ordsall Hall. We know that our heritage assets 

support extensive volunteering programmes that in turn support the health and wellbeing of our 

residents and reduce isolation. However, many have suffered during the pandemic, losing volunteers 

and momentum after extended periods of lockdown but recognising the valuable support provided to 

many of our cultural and heritage organisations through the national Culture Recovery Fund, there is a 

real opportunity to grow with local support.  We intend to use UKSPF to support our heritage assets to 

sustain and grow engagement with communities, reinforcing the tangible evidence of pride in our history 

we saw during 2020 and 2021. Investment will be tailored to each place and detailed plans and 

programmes will be developed during the UKSPF Implementation Plan development stage that will 

take place over Summer 2022.  

Finally, the challenge of the pandemic led to an increased sense of community spirit, where neighbours 

and communities came together to support each other, often supported by our local VCSE sector to 

reach into communities in a way that mainstream provision cannot, to ensure people were supported 

to access provision and to reduce the risk of isolation during a difficult period.  

Page 256



This often hyper-local activity created a pride in our communities with people getting to know 

neighbours and local places better and generating in many places a new sense of “ownership” or 

“investment” with many examples of new community activity from local volunteers litter-picking to new 

local interest groups forming, all of which create new social and human capital in places which in the 

past may have felt disconnected. This newfound active citizen empowerment may offer a significant 

opportunity to support previously disengaged residents and communities to access mainstream 

provision to help them move closer to employment or volunteering or to become more engaged in their 

local areas for example.  

Again, UKSPF offers a real opportunity to build on this emergent opportunity and particularly how this 

could be supported and nurtured by our VCSE sector. Greater Manchester is home to over 17,000 

voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise organisations who are well-networked with strong, 

distributed leadership, established communications channels and have evidenced their ability to 

convene and act as a sector around general or specific strategic challenges. We will work with our 

localities and VCSE sector through the newly agreed GM VCSE Accord, investing UKSPF alongside 

GMCA, Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership and Local Authorities to strengthen 

the social infrastructure capacity across Greater Manchester, which will ensure the VCSE sector is able 

to support increasing engagement across communities to provide the vital stepping stone to public 

services.   

In light of the challenges and opportunities identified above for the Communities and Place 

Investment Priority, we feel that the following four interventions will therefore be the most appropriate 

to meet the relevant shared commitments in the GMS:   

  

E1 – Funding for improvements to town centres and high streets, etc  

E3 – Creation and improvements to local green spaces, etc  

E6 – Support for local arts, cultural, heritage and creative activities  

E11 – Investment in capacity building and infrastructure support for local civil society and community 

groups  

  

The GMS includes the following shared commitments that are relevant to the UKSPF Communities 

and Place Investment Priority:  

  

 We will drive investment into our growth locations and use that to create opportunities in 

adjacent town and local centres  

 We will enable the delivery of resilient, safe and vibrant communities  

 We will reduce health inequalities experienced by GM residents, and drive improvements in 

physical and mental health  

 We will create a carbon neutral GM by 2038, with better air quality and natural environment  

 We will ensure digital inclusion for all.  

The selected interventions will also contribute to the overarching national Levelling Up Mission 9: By 

2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre and engagement in local 

culture and community, will have risen in every area of the UK, with the gap between top performing 

and other areas closing as well as the associated objectives that link to Missions 7, 8 and 11.  

Page 257



  

  

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE SUPPORTING 

LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY?  

(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible  

  

The Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) commits GMCA to creating a greener, fairer and more 

prosperous Greater Manchester. It also embeds a vision for our economy that will enable Greater 

Manchester to lead local and UK economic recovery and development. This will be done by 

capitalising on Greater Manchester’s assets and the opportunities for economic growth – through the 

regional centre, towns and our growth locations – recognising our city-region can, and needs to be, at 

the heart of driving social and economic innovation, and with a renewed focus on people and planet 

first.  

  

This vision and ambition commits us to adopting new approaches to innovation, in order to diversify 

the business base, transform ways of working, build vibrant places, create future resilience, support 

pathways to work and tackle social issues. As our economy rebuilds and recovers from the 

challenges created and exacerbated by the pandemic, we will support our businesses to grow and 

develop. This includes recognising the key role that a skilled and talented workforce plays in a 

successful business and thus the importance of ensuring that our education and skills provision is 

focussed on business need. In tandem this requires us to ensure that employment opportunities are 

accessible for our residents – as they have the skills required by employers.    

The GMS commits us to working with our diverse business base to attract new investment, drive 

innovation and development across sectors, and continue to develop collaborative, positive 

partnerships with our business community to drive prosperity throughout the city-region, supported by 

our five universities providing research and academic excellence.  

  

The GMS includes the following shared commitments that are relevant to the UKSPF Supporting 

Local Business Investment Priority:  

 We will drive investment into our growth locations and use that to create opportunities in 

adjacent town and local centres.  

 We will realise the opportunities from our world-class growth and innovation assets, driven by 

our Places for Everyone Plan, Local Growth Plans and Industrial Strategy to open up 

opportunities in all parts of the city-region.  

 We will support our businesses to grow sustainably and be as prosperous as they can be.  

 We will support the creation of better jobs and good employment that has a purpose beyond 

growing shareholder value, utilising the opportunity to positively impact on our communities.  

 We will ensure businesses are able to access the skills and talent they need, and people are 

able to realise their full potential – by provision of high-quality learning and wrapping support 

around individuals – with access to good work for those who can, support for those who 

could, and care for those who can’t.  

  

Page 258

https://aboutgreatermanchester.com/the-greater-manchester-strategy-2021-2031/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/4838/places-for-everyone.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/2132/gm-local-industrial-strategy-web.pdf


The GMS also integrates the science-based target GM has already adopted which gives us a total 

carbon budget and a carbon neutral target date of 2038. Urgent action is needed, together with 

innovation that will accelerate future change. Action needs to start now, using the tools and 

technologies already available as well as to stimulate innovation in new technologies and processes, 

in new business models and in how we are all engaged, educated and upskilled.  GM recognises that 

moving quickly on decarbonisation holds the key to enabling better jobs, more sustainable 

businesses and good lives for all. This is why we launched the UK’s first regional Clean Growth 

Mission for Greater Manchester via our Local Industrial Strategy, mobilising everyone around our 

mission for a carbon neutral city-region and breaking down the barriers between traditional sectors 

and groups. The Mission focuses both on rapidly reducing our carbon emissions and stimulating 

business innovation to achieve our goals. Our ways of working in support of the attainment of the 

Clean Growth Mission enables the adoption of approaches that are reflective of the links, 

complexities and roles of individuals, agencies and networks in delivering the agreed aims.  The 

approach focuses on problem-solving challenges facing society, which require many different sectors’ 

involvement to solve.  

  

As well as the commitments on Low Carbon, the GMS adopts and takes forwards the other priorities 

in the Greater Manchester Local Industrial Strategy and the robust evidence base provided by the 

Greater Manchester Independent Prosperity Review (GM IPR) – the evidence base for Greater 

Manchester’s Local Industrial Strategy and economic policy. In 2019 the GM IPR – chaired by 

Professor Diane Coyle – was led by a panel of six eminent economists1 who provided an assessment 

of Greater Manchester’s economy and the factors contributing to its performance. This included the 

challenges relating to productivity improvements and ensuring businesses and people in all parts of 

the city-region were becoming more productive and more prosperous. The review combined analysis 

of the latest official statistics available with bespoke commissioned research and insights from 

innovation and economic theory to provide recommendations for policy, strategy, devolution and 

commissioning / service design in GM.  

  

The IPR placed a great deal of emphasis on tackling inequalities as part of GM’s economic strategy, 

one example being the correlation between sluggish productivity improvements on the one hand and 

limiting long-term physical and mental health conditions on the other. The Reviewers noted that GM 

had begun responding to these issues through the roll-out of the Good Employment Charter, and 

Working Well (Work and Health) Programmes (and now more recently the Real Living Wage 

campaign in the city-region), but recommended tacking inequalities should continue to be a core 

focus of economy strategy.  

  

The primary challenges affecting Greater Manchester’s business base and productivity identified by 

the review included:  

 Productivity levels in Greater Manchester have long been around 10% lower than the national 

average, and the severity of the shock caused to UK labour productivity during the financial 

crisis and subsequent recession means productivity growth in GM (as nationally) has 

remained stubbornly low ever since.   

Page 259

https://www.gmgoodemploymentcharter.co.uk/


 Differences in productivity within sectors account for more of the shortfall in productivity in 

GM than differences between sectors – i.e. there are high productivity and low productivity 

firms in every one of our sectors, meaning GM will continue to benefit from actions that 

improve the foundations of productivity across our whole economy.    

 Key factors that were thought to explain GM’s lower productivity compared to other cities in 

England include the lower proportion of highly-skilled residents; the lower number of 

managerial and professional jobs; and the proportion of jobs in science and technology 

sectors.   

 The strong number of start-ups/per population appears to have been a significant driver of 

productivity performance for GM compared to other city-regions, and GM has a higher 

proportion of start-ups per head than the UK average (NB recent research shows this has 

fallen more in GM than elsewhere during the pandemic, but that GM still has a higher 

proportion of start-ups per head).  

 There are a significant proportion of older small firms that have decided not to or have not 

been able to scale-up.   

 GM’s export value per head of population was £2,380 – significantly lower than comparator 

areas like Birmingham (£6,141), Bristol (£4,639), and Leeds (£2,582).  

 Business investment in R&D and innovation was lower in GM than comparable city-regions, 

and analysis of total intramural R&D expenditure (i.e. R&D undertaken ‘within the walls of 

firms’) showed R&D spending had fallen since the 2008 recession. The main challenges 

identified by businesses were a lack of finance to support innovation, low in-house knowledge 

and skills to develop and manage innovation, and low knowledge of funding and support for 

innovation.  

 The IPR also found a strong link between productivity and health in GM, citing the potential to 

reduce the productivity gap between the North and the UK average by 30% through 

increasing participation in the workforce by addressing ill health. It also found that working 

people in the North experiencing a spell of ill health were 39% more likely to lose their job 

compared to their counterparts in the rest of England.  

 The picture of productivity change varies within GM, depending upon the mix of local 

employment sectors and the value of the economic activities within sectors performed 

locally.   

  

In conclusion, the IPR Panel recommended that business support activity should therefore be 

coordinated to radically improve the productivity of businesses across all sectors by:  

 Strengthening the leadership and management capacity of business leaders, including 

leaders from all minority groups and female business leaders.  

 Increasing innovation adoption.   

 Raising levels of exports and investment in international trade.   

 Increasing Good Employment and job quality.  

 Increasing skills utilisation.  

Page 260



 Supporting the evolution of sectors that are large employers in GM like retail, hospitality and 

care to increase their capacity for innovation and transition to higher value business models, 

providing good and well-paid work.  

 More piloting and testing of innovative approaches to business support – particularly around 

support for better health in the workforce.    

  

The IPR Panel reconvened in 2020 in light of the pandemic, which reinforced the conclusions of the 

2019 review, and led the panel to urge GM to take further steps to:   

 [Support] businesses in the foundational economy in Greater Manchester to adopt a 

sustainable footing, enabling them to identify ways to adopt higher value business models 

while preventing further employment losses.   

 Encourage better management in the ‘long tail’ of firms, including those whose sustainability 

is threatened by this crisis.  

  

As part of the preparation for the UKSPF investment plan, Greater Manchester’s local authorities and 

Business Representative Organisations were asked to define the challenges affecting businesses in 

their localities. Challenges that were identified by multiple stakeholders included the following, which 

echo the issues and calls to action in the IPR and commitments in the GMS:  

 Limits around the availability of the right kinds of space for the different kinds of sectoral 

growth needed to e.g. shift more economic activity into technical and science-led activity as 

recommended by the IPR. Examples given included: creating spaces for Advanced 

Manufacturing in Bury; office space – inc. digital, innovation, start-up and grow on space in 

Wigan; good quality industrial and creative space in Salford; high quality office-based 

innovation spaces in Heywood, Middleton, Stockport and Littleborough; and grow-on space 

connected to Ashton Old Baths in Tameside.  

 A declining town centre retail offer, in particular the presence of void / wrong-sized units and 

the need to diversify town-centres including by supporting the growth of the night time or 

experiential economy outside the regional centre.   

 The need to address the uneven economic growth identified by the IPR, which noted 

accelerated growth around assets in areas such as the Regional Centre, Oxford Road 

Corridor, Salford Quays and Manchester Airport linked to tradeable frontier sectors and 

clusters of knowledge-economy jobs, whilst performance in GM’s town centres has been 

more mixed, and areas of significant deprivation remain including in neighbourhoods close to 

growth assets.  

 The complexity of transitioning from a low pay / low skills economy and growing knowledge 

economy jobs, as well as the need to increase businesses’ resilience and ambition after the 

pandemic and during ongoing economic shocks.  

 Transitioning businesses to net zero – which is both a challenge and an opportunity, as the 

IPR recognised. Some authorities highlighted this for specific types of business e.g. 

manufacturing, logistics and engineering firms and SMEs.  

 The need to support businesses with a longer pipeline of innovation-related support than is 

presently available nationally – i.e. access-style support that would enable business leaders 

Page 261



to subsequently connect with more ambitious programmes like Made Smarter or angel 

investors or University-led programmes and business innovation networks.      

 The need for export grants and support in response to the new international trading regime 

post EU-exit, e.g. intellectual property advice and help financing market visits and meetings 

with potential partners.  

  

  

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS 

INVESTMENT PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT?  

(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible  

  

The Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) adopts the evidence from the Independent Prosperity 

Review (see challenges section above) and GM Local Industrial Strategy that sets out Greater 

Manchester’s assets, research excellence (driven by a world class higher education sector), talent 

and innovation potential within the frontier sectors of clean growth: UK’s first city-region Clean Growth 

Mission; health innovation: largest life sciences cluster outside South East England with high potential 

opportunities in diagnostics and healthy ageing; advanced materials and manufacturing: home of 

graphene and complementary advanced manufacturing base, and digital, creative and media: 

significant clusters in cyber security, broadcasting, culture, content creation and media.  

  

The GMS recognises that a focus on our frontier and tradeable sectors has the potential to drive local 

and UK growth, create the jobs of the future, as well as address some of society’s biggest challenges 

including achieving net zero carbon emissions and meeting the challenges of an ageing population. 

Driving the growth of these sectors through increased R&D and a culture of creative innovation 

across our wider business base will help to increase investment and productivity, and create future 

jobs, both locally and for the UK.   

  

Our ability to connect with the world is also central to improving our productivity, promoting our 

strengths, attracting investment and talent, driving international research collaboration and increasing 

our export propensity. Following the pandemic, maintaining and developing our international links will 

be vital to the city-region’s prosperity but our connections with other places will also support us to 

address shared challenges including climate change and inequality.    

  

Ensuring our approach to industry and investment translates into growth, innovation and opportunity 

in all parts of Greater Manchester going forward is central to the GMS. Our focus is therefore not just 

on our frontier sectors, but also to develop the foundational economy within Greater Manchester, to 

support the creation of higher paid and better jobs.   

   

The foundational economy supplies everyday but essential goods and services, ensuring the effective 

functioning of society and the economy, and it makes up a large proportion of the jobs and 

businesses in Greater Manchester. The true value of many of our foundational economy sectors and 

workers was never more apparent than during the pandemic response, with many foundational 

Page 262



economy sectors employing key workers, providing the essential services needed through the 

emergency response and beyond. The value of these economies will also be essential to the 

recovery of our town centres, cities and high streets, not least the significant foundational jobs in the 

night time economy, and hospitality specifically, which needs our support to grow back better, 

stronger and fairer.  

  

As we drive economic prosperity we will continue to celebrate, support and develop new economic 

models. The social economy currently makes up around 20% of the economy and the sector is 

important in addressing inequalities with The Kruger Report highlighting that 30% of jobs created in 

the poorest neighbourhoods are in social enterprises. As part of our wider programme of activity 

focused on foundational economy sectors, we will support the role of social enterprises, co-ops and 

‘non-extractive’ business which can provide wider opportunities for Greater Manchester’s people and 

places, enabling a different pattern of wealth distribution, to the greater benefit of more of our society, 

including Community Wealth Building, taking a people-centred, co-designed approach to economic 

development, which redirects a greater share of wealth back into local places and benefitting local 

people.  

  

The Independent Prosperity Review also identified economy-wide factors affecting opportunities for 

economic growth and development in the city-region, including:  

 Greater Manchester has the most diverse economy in the UK – creating many routes to 

growth and improvement – including through the development of new specialist sub-sectors 

and niches.   

 GM has productive businesses in every sector of its economy, with the highest productivity 

being Financial and Professional Services, Utilities, Advanced Manufacturing, and Digital 

Industries.   

 The frontiers of GM’s economy include businesses, innovator and science and technology 

that has the potential to address some of society’s biggest challenges, as well as increasing 

investment and creating future industries and jobs locally and for the UK.  

 GM is the global gateway to the North of England, at the centre of the Northern Powerhouse 

with assets, particularly in our four frontier sectors, important to UK’s global standing, driving 

innovation and technological change in solving some of the world’s biggest social and 

environmental challenges.  

 Productivity improvements have been achieved recently – despite a context that was far 

more challenging than the one that preceded the global financial crisis – driven by continued 

growth in output and employment in high value economic activities, and among GM 

businesses that are exporters or trade internationally.  

 The potential for further GM-wide productivity improvements, along with the prospects for 

spreading the benefits of high value employment growth to all areas of GM, depend 

substantially on a continuation and strengthening of the positive trends seen in the last ten 

years. This has implications for a broad range of policy areas, including transport, planning 

and housing, and trade and inward investment.  

Page 263



 Over the long term, efforts to support the development of new business models and more 

effective services and management practices in the foundational economy should create 

opportunities for productivity improvements, better quality services and improvements in job 

quality and levels of equality in the city-region.  

  

The IPR Panel reconvened in 2020 in light of the pandemic and provided further advice for 

accelerating progress against their recommendations relating to GM’s business and economic 

opportunities. These included:  

 Protecting and accelerating growth in GM’s world-class strengths via substantial government 

investment and long-term R&D funding in strong local collaborations and supporting 

investment in places (e.g. within identified Manufacturing Innovation Parks).  

 Building back better post-pandemic and reaping productivity rewards from pursuing higher 

value business models across the economy as a whole – including supporting international 

linkages, strong leadership and management, and better skills utilisation and innovation. 

These are proven, through the research for the Prosperity Review, to have tangible 

productivity outputs.   

 Supporting businesses to raise employment standards in order to support the pursuit of 

higher productivity initiatives as a key priority post pandemic.  

 Looking to take advantage of the opportunities from the technological innovation and 

behavioural and practical changes needed to avert an environmental crisis and reach GM’s 

2038 zero-carbon ambitions. This could include further training and opportunities for skilled 

employment in innovative green sector firms; mechanisms for spin-out companies to develop 

easily; and access to funding and support for green innovation activities.  

  

As part of the development of the UKSPF Investment Plan, GM’s local authorities and Business 

Representative Organisations were asked to define the opportunities to support businesses in their 

localities. Opportunities identified by multiple stakeholders included a number that directly confirm 

and carry-forward the IPR recommendations:  

 Increasing business R&D capacity via specialist support linked to innovation / R&D 

including:   

o Developing the Innovation-Greater Manchester initiative, including seeking 

complementary alignment between UKSPF and the GM Innovation Accelerator Pilot 

with Government announced in the Levelling Up White Paper.  

o Stepping-stones on to Made Smarter and innovation programmes   

o Mentorship for firms completing innovation programmes  

o Engaging growth potential businesses to identify support for their future R&D activity  

 Continuing to provide a core business support offer that adds value to existing support, 

working in conjunction with the already established Greater Manchester Growth Hub, to 

support GM’s diverse business base including:  

o Greater support for district centres and smaller local centres particularly focused on 

retail (which was previously out of scope for ERDF)  

Page 264



o Sector specific support (such as in the green tech, manufacturing, health innovation 

and digital sectors)  

o Start up and scale up support and support to improve business resilience amongst 

micro-firms  

o Moving to higher value, higher skill and higher wage business models – e.g. via Build 

a Business  

o Raising awareness of business support and related offers.  

 Supporting the transition to Net Zero and industrial decarbonisation, including for 

manufacturing, engineering, and logistics firms.  Stockport are already creating 110,000 sq.ft. 

of light industrial space at Cheadle Eco Park, which aims to achieve the highest sustainability 

standards and been net zero in both construction and operation.  

 Working to support alternative enterprises (CIC, SE, Co-Ops etc) and social innovation.  

 Support to attract high value businesses and jobs to Growth Locations – e.g. innovation 

roadmaps supported and promoted by local businesses and attractive to inward investors.   

 Co-working spaces to address a lack of co-working capacity and support for very early-stage 

businesses.  

 The potential to create attractive places for businesses to locate and invest in conjunction 

with developing the retail, night time, cultural and creative offers around town centres.   

  

There are also opportunities that come from the ‘Ways of Working’ that set out how we will deliver the 

GMS. We are committed to linking different funding streams and activity to create added-value and 

‘crowd-in’ investment around our core commitments. For the Supporting Local Business Investment 

Priority, the particularly relevant funding sources will be Retained Business Rates, Towns Fund, 

Levelling Up Fund and the funding that is agreed with Government under the Innovation Accelerator 

Pilot.  

  

In light of the challenges and opportunities identified above for the Supporting Local Business 

Investment Priority, we feel that the following four interventions will therefore be the most appropriate 

to meet the relevant shared commitments in the GMS. In doing so they will also contribute to the 

overarching national Levelling Up Mission 9: By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with 

their town centre and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every area of the 

UK, with the gap between top performing and other areas closing as well as the associated objectives 

that link to Missions 1 and 2.  

 E19: Increasing investment in research and development at the local level. Investment to 

support the diffusion of innovation knowledge and activities. Support the commercialisation of 

ideas, encouraging collaboration and accelerating the path to market so that more ideas 

translate into industrial and commercial practices.  

 E22: Investing in enterprise infrastructure and employment/innovation site development 

projects. This can help to unlock site development projects which will support growth in 

places.  

Page 265



 E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems, and supporting businesses at all 

stages of their development to start, sustain, grow and innovate, including through local 

networks.  

 E26: Support for growing the local social economy, including community businesses, 

cooperatives and social enterprises.  

  

  

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE PEOPLE AND 

SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? (In Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland this should also 

include challenges relating to Multiply)  

(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible  

The evidence on Greater Manchester’s primary labour market and skills-related challenges is 

contained in a number of key reports (for example, the Local Skills Report and Labour Market Plan, 

Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) and the technical reports for its Industrial Strategy).  

  

Greater Manchester’s goal is to deliver ambitious improvements in skills and employment for the 2.8 

million people living in the city-region. Central to this is developing a responsive, integrated labour 

market system that enables all people to achieve their full potential and which provides the talent that 

Greater Manchester’s businesses need for the future.  

  

The GMS includes the following shared commitments that are relevant to the UKSPF People and 

Skills Investment Priority:  

 We will support the creation of better jobs and good employment that has a purpose beyond 

growing shareholder value, utilising the opportunity to positively impact on our communities;  

 We will ensure businesses are able to access the skills and talent they need, and people are 

able to realise their full potential – by provision of high-quality learning and wrapping support 

around individuals – with access to good work for those who can, support for those who 

could, and care for those who can’t.  

  

The pandemic has been felt unequally, hitting more deprived areas harder. As the 2019 Index of 

Multiple Deprivation (IMD) data shows, Greater Manchester figures prominently in deprivation 

measures. Just over a fifth of the neighbourhoods in Greater Manchester fall into the bottom 10% of 

most deprived neighbourhoods nationally in respect of employment and income. Meanwhile, in terms 

of skills deprivation, 13% of Greater Manchester neighbourhoods fall into the bottom 10%, although 

this masks significant variation between districts (in Oldham, for example, 30% of neighbourhoods 

are amongst the most deprived on skills).  

  

The pandemic has created particular problems around increased rates of economic inactivity. The 

economic inactivity rate at the end of 2021 in Greater Manchester was just under 25% (24.5% in GM 

compared with 23.4% nationally). As always, city-regional figures mask the scale in individual 

districts. In Oldham 32.4% were inactive (Rochdale and Bolton had 30% inactive).   

  

Page 266

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/5802/gm-esap-local-skills-report-update-march-2022-final.pdf
https://aboutgreatermanchester.com/the-greater-manchester-strategy-2021-2031/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/


These constitute high proportions and suggest a need for integrated programmes of bespoke support 

to help people facing multiple and complex barriers back towards/into the labour market. Evidence 

suggests the rise is driven primarily by health considerations and is concentrated among men.  

  

For example, among 50 to 64-year-olds, inactivity rates in Greater Manchester were hovering just 

under 30% in 2021. For the UK as a whole the proportion was 26%. Among younger people, the Not 

in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) rates are high (about 16% of 16 to 24-year-olds in 

Greater Manchester). Furthermore, inactivity remains a particular issue among certain social groups. 

Members of ethnic minority communities are significantly more likely to be inactive in Greater 

Manchester (32% for working age ethnic minority people compared with 21.5% for white working age 

people in 2021 – and the proportion inactive was as high as 43% among ethnic minority communities 

in districts such as Bolton.   

  

In addition to heightened inactivity, Greater Manchester also has a range of other significant labour 

market challenges. These include:  

  

 A traditional challenge is low skills (8.3% of the population in GM do not have qualifications). 

In some parts of GM this proportion goes higher (in Manchester, Oldham and Rochdale more 

than 10% of the population do not have any qualifications; this compares with a national 

average without qualifications of 6.7%). Meanwhile, there are clear gaps between GM and 

national averages at other qualification levels. For example, on level 4+ – the kind of skill 

levels associated with professional and managerial work – there is a pronounced gap, 

whereby 39% of Greater Manchester’s residents have a level 4 qualification compared with 

43% as the national average. In some of GM’s districts, the proportion with level 4 skills is 

much lower – as low as 26% in Tameside and 29% in Oldham. This links to an ongoing issue 

with lower productivity in the city-region. Productivity is about 10% below the UK average and 

the gap seems to have widened in recent years.  

  

 Basic and digital skills levels are also an issue, as is digital exclusion which, in an 

increasingly online world, goes beyond skills for residents with limited access to digital 

devices and experiencing data poverty. In turn, this affects the quality of life of GM residents, 

as well as their ability to participate in the labour market, and to access the skills and 

employment services/provision that might enable them to do so.  

  

 The issue of job quality is also increasingly apparent. This is unlikely to be addressed by 

skills interventions alone. Job quality is a complex term, but if judged by wages, just under a 

fifth of GM’s employees earn less than a living wage (a similar proportion fall below the low 

pay threshold of two thirds of the median). Again, some districts of GM have far higher 

proportions (e.g., In Tameside, 28.4% earn less than a living wage). It is difficult to progress 

from low wage work in many large sectors such as retail, hospitality, care and cleaning. The 

issue of low pay also links to concern about low productivity in the city-region and is a long-

Page 267



standing challenge; even prior to the pandemic, average pay in GM had not recovered to 

levels seen before the 2008/09 financial crisis.  

  

 Ageing society and older workers: Whilst employers and funders often prioritise training for 

young people, demographic change means that by 2041 the over-50 population is expected 

to account for 83% of forecasted total population growth. GM has below national average 

economic activity rates for over-50s, a situation worsened by the pandemic, with older 

workers more likely to experience long-term unemployment and economic inactivity – in 

effect, entering unplanned and often involuntary early retirement. As many as 80% of the 

‘missing million’ of individuals who have moved into economic inactivity as a result of the 

pandemic are aged over 50, and ONS data shows that one-third of unemployed people aged 

over 50 have been out of work for at least a year, while one in five have been out of work for 

at least two years; this compares with 20% and 8% of those aged under 50 respectively. With 

traditional employment support less effective for older workers, there is a need to maintain 

and update the currency of work-relevant knowledge and skills, and to build on the activity in 

partnership between GM and the Centre for Ageing Better that has made Greater 

Manchester the first place in the UK recognised by the World Health Organisation as an age-

friendly city-region.  

  

 In addition to the proportion of young people not in education, employment or training 

(NEET), ensuring that our young people have clear lines of sight into the labour market, 

together with the support, advice and opportunities to help them get there, is crucial. During 

the pandemic, the number of employer encounters and other opportunities shown to reduce 

the risk of periods of worklessness in the longer term dropped significantly, and the impact on 

young people’s health, well-being and aspirations is likely to be significant. This was reflected 

in the Bee Well survey carried out in 2021 that captured the voices of 40,000 young people 

and showed amongst other things that:   

  

o Sleep: 40% of young people say they do not normally get enough sleep to feel awake 

and concentrate on schoolwork during the day. The average time spent on social 

media is 4.4 hours a day.  

o Physical activity: 67% of young people are still getting involved in sport outside of 

school at least once a week, while 4 in 5 feel they have good, very good or excellent 

physical health. However, only 1 in 3 young people are reaching the recommended 

levels of physical activity.   

  

 Ensuring the ‘system’ functions to enable transitions remains an important challenge for the 

city-region. Connecting skills providers with information from businesses about their needs, 

and connecting young people, job-hunters and those seeking to retrain/up-skill with 

information about careers, progression pathways and skills provision are both critical steps, 

enabled by sectoral Skills Intelligence reporting and close partnership working between 

Page 268

https://gmbeewell.org/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/work-and-skills/esf-skills-for-growth/current-skills-gaps-in-greater-manchester/


different local actors and co-ordinated through the Employment and Skills Advisory Panel 

(ESAP).   

   

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT 

PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT? (In Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland this 

should also include challenges relating to Multiply)  

(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible  

  

Documents which set out GM’s priorities for reform include the Prosperity Review (part of the process 

of developing the Industrial Strategy), the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) and Local Skills 

Report and Labour Market Plan referenced in the challenges section above.    

  

Whilst the challenges are significant, so too are the opportunities. In particular, GM holds a unique 

range of devolved/delegated functions which, with strong alignment between devolved and national 

activity, has the potential to deliver substantially more in terms of positive outcomes than simply the 

sum of the parts. With our devolved adult skills functions/Adult Education Budget, the GM Working 

Well (Work & Health Programme) suite of employment support, devolved health & social care, and 

other individual programmes/initiatives, there is an opportunity to create progression pathways 

towards, into, and within the labour market – especially those sectors with inclusive growth potential – 

to help our residents get ahead in life and in work.   

  

With all of these factors in mind, GMCA and Greater Manchester’s Employment and Skills Advisory 

Panel (ESAP) have established four core strategic priorities under which the opportunities and 

actions around People and Skills can be marshalled, and to which the UKSPF interventions identified 

will contribute:  

  

 Young people leave education and training ready to succeed in the labour market, with 

a balance of academic, technical and ‘life ready’ skills  

 

 Adults can acquire the skills, mindset and support they need to fulfil their career 

potential and adapt to changing employer needs throughout their lives, from entering 

employment for the first time through to highly-skilled careers and retraining  

 

 Employers have access to a system that is flexible, resilient and adaptable, and which 

meets their needs in the rapidly changing 21st century world of work, driving a 

sustainable economic future for GM in which companies compete on the basis of high 

productivity, good quality work, and excellent employment practices  

 

 Residents are supported by a welfare system, under Universal Credit, that provides access 

to good work for those who can, support for those who could, and care for those who 

can’t.  

  

Page 269

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/2132/gm-local-industrial-strategy-web.pdf
https://aboutgreatermanchester.com/the-greater-manchester-strategy-2021-2031/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/5802/gm-esap-local-skills-report-update-march-2022-final.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/5802/gm-esap-local-skills-report-update-march-2022-final.pdf


  

The Local Industrial Strategy identifies several proposals as opportunities. These include ensuring 

business engagement, supporting quality learning provision, initiatives to help low earners progress in 

work, supporting employers to retain older workers and those with health problems and securing 

high-quality apprenticeship opportunities.   

  

The Local Skills Report & Labour Market Plan 2022/23 identified a range of opportunities for the city-

region relating to people and skills, including but not limited to:   

  

1. Continuing to develop services and programmes that support life- and work-readiness for 

those furthest from the labour market, including skills and employment support but also wider 

life and career skills such as financial literacy, digital inclusion, and health & wellbeing 

support. This includes developing a commissioning strategy for the Adult Education Budget 

from the 2023/24 academic year onwards that complements and aligns with employment 

support and other skills activity, including relevant aspects of UKSPF and Multiply, while 

avoiding duplication, competition and displacement.  

 

2. Developing targeted test and learn activity to tackle barriers and support progression 

towards, into and within work, including tailoring support for priority cohorts of residents 

and/or communities of identity, including those with protected characteristics, who might be 

disproportionately under-represented in the labour market or otherwise experiencing complex 

/ multiple barriers to accessing education, training, employment and related services.  

 

3. Aligning relevant skills and employment support services/interventions across GM’s public 

services, including the VCSE sector and health/social care networks, in ways that maximise 

the reach and impact of those interventions and recognise the strong links between heath, 

skills and work, especially for those who are (or who are at risk of becoming) economically 

inactive.  

 

4. Completing/taking forward findings from employer-led industry skills and labour market 

intelligence reports in key sectors, to strengthen links between employers’ needs and the 

skills offer/curriculum. In the short term, courses designed and commissioned in response to 

these intelligence reports have been delivered via GM’s ESF Skills for Growth programme 

which concludes in Sept 2023, leaving a gap in tailored support for the employed to access 

skills provision.   

 

5. Working with employers and education/training providers to increase opportunities in 

technical education for both young people and adults (including T-levels, Traineeships, 

Apprenticeships and higher technical qualifications), ensuring that GM has a thriving 

technical skills landscape that is shaped by timely labour market information, supported by a 

careers offer with clear lines of sight and progression pathways into/within careers, and 

Page 270

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/5802/gm-esap-local-skills-report-update-march-2022-final.pdf


delivered by a skills and employment support landscape that is easily navigated by 

individuals and employers alike.  

 

6. Work with employers to shift the skills dialogue and drive demand for / investment in 

upskilling and better skills utilisation, leveraging mechanisms such as the GM Good 

Employment Charter.  

 

7. Greater Manchester’s ambition for carbon neutrality by 2038 and the clean growth challenge 

as set out in GM’s Five Year Environment Plan carries multiple skills opportunities and 

challenges, including (but not limited to) investing in innovation and development of new 

technologies, new approaches to the design, construction and maintenance of cleaner 

buildings, transport and other infrastructure, ensuring that the skills are in place to update and 

retrofit the existing infrastructure, and supporting businesses, communities and residents to 

develop their ‘carbon literacy’ and adopt cleaner practices. These matters are being 

considered in detail within the sector deep dives, both in relation to Low Carbon Buildings 

and the Green Economy, and to the wider implications in other sectors, such as 

Manufacturing, Logistics and Rail.  

 

8. Our ambitions to be one of the best places in the world to grow up, get on and grow old, and 

to be recognised as a world-leading digital city-region, cannot be realised unless we focus on 

getting the foundations right. The ability to get online and to function safely and effectively is 

vital in an increasingly digital world, and baseline digital skills and proficiency in common 

software/tools are an entry ticket into the labour market. Greater Manchester has prioritised 

access to digital skills and an enhanced entitlement within our devolved AEB funding policy 

that goes beyond the statutory minimum (Level 1), supporting relevant learning which meets 

the Essential Digital Skills Framework up to and including Level 2.  

  

In addition, the recent dedicated consultation with local authorities that took place as part of the 

development of the UKSPF Investment Plan sought to understand district prioritisation of challenges 

and opportunities. This consultation included a workshop that brought partners together, including a 

local DWP representative. Key priority areas included:  

 Employment support programmes for example Skills for Growth and Working Well   

 Need for more skills development in areas for the future such as green skills   

 Greater support for local schemes e.g. Youth Hub and New Pioneers projects, in-work 

progression projects and women’s start-up networks.  

  

Alongside these priorities were a series of ideas for future projects including ideas for better system 

functioning, proposals to address low skills, unemployment, inactivity, basic skills and green skills; and 

calls or greater efforts to address the preponderance of low wage, low skill work in local authority areas.  

  

In light of the challenges and opportunities identified above for the People and Skills Investment Priority, 

we feel that the following three interventions will therefore be the most appropriate to meet the relevant 

Page 271

https://www.gmgoodemploymentcharter.co.uk/
https://www.gmgoodemploymentcharter.co.uk/


shared commitments in the GMS. In doing so they will also contribute to the overarching national 

Levelling Up Mission 9: By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 

and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every area of the UK, with the gap 

between top performing and other areas closing as well as the associated objectives that link to 

Missions 1, 6, 7 and 8.  

  

E33 – Employment support for economically inactive people  

E34 – Courses including basic, life and career skills  

E37 – Tailored support for the employed to access courses  

  

  Interventions  

In this section, we will ask you about:  

 Interventions you’ve chosen for each year of funding  

 Outcomes you want to deliver  

 Any interventions that are not listed here  

 How these interventions fall under the UKSPF investment priorities, and your 

rationale for them  

 Interventions not included in our list will be assessed before being approved, where 

you will need to show a clear rationale, how the intervention is value for money, what 

outcomes it will deliver and how you will monitor and evaluate the intervention. This 

may include a theory of change or logic chain.  

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE COMMUNITIES AND PLACE 

INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY.  

Outcome  

  

Tick if 

applicable  

Jobs created     

Jobs safeguarded    

Increased footfall    

Increased visitor numbers     

Reduced vacancy rates    

Greenhouse gas reductions    

Improved perceived/experienced accessibility    

Improved perception of facilities/amenities    

Increased number of properties better protected from flooding and coastal erosion    

Increased users of facilities / amenities    

Improved perception of facility/infrastructure project    

Increased use of cycleways or paths      

Increase in Biodiversity    

Increased affordability of events/entry    

Page 272



Improved perception of safety    

Reduction in neighbourhood crime    

Improved engagement numbers     

Improved perception of events    

Increased number of web searches for a place    

Volunteering numbers as a result of support    

Number of community-led arts, cultural, heritage and creative programmes as a result of 

support  

   

Increased take up of energy efficiency measures    

Increased number of projects arising from funded feasibility studies     

Number of premises with improved digital connectivity    

None of the above    

  

SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE COMMUNITIES AND 

PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE.  

Intervention  

A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.   

E1 – Funding for improvements to town centres and high streets, including better accessibility for 

disabled people, including capital spend and running costs. (capital and revenue)  

E3 – Creation of and improvements to local green spaces, community gardens, watercourses and 

embankments, along with incorporating natural features into wider public spaces  

E6 – Support for local arts, cultural, heritage and creative activities  

E11 – Investment in capacity building and infrastructure support for local civil society and community 

groups  

  

  

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE SUPPORTING LOCAL 

BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY.  

Outcome  

  

Tick if 

applicable  

Jobs created     

Jobs safeguarded     

Increased footfall    

Increased visitor numbers    

Reduced vacancy rates    

Greenhouse gas reductions     

Number of new businesses created     

Improved perception of markets    

Increased business sustainability    

Page 273



Increased number of businesses supported    

Increased amount of investment    

Improved perception of attractions    

Number of businesses introducing new products to the firm    

Number of organisations engaged in new knowledge transfer activity     

Number of premises with improved digital connectivity    

Number of businesses adopting new to the firm technologies or processes     

Number of new to market products    

Number of R&D active businesses    

Increased number of innovation active SMEs    

Number of businesses adopting new or improved products or services    

Increased number of innovation plans developed    

Number of early stage firms which increase their revenue following support    

Number of businesses engaged in new markets    

Number of businesses engaged in new markets    

Number of businesses increasing their export capability    

Increased amount of low or zero carbon energy infrastructure installed    

Number of businesses with improved productivity     

Increased number of projects arising from funded feasibility studies     

Increased number of properties better protected from flooding and coastal erosion    

None of the above    

  

SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE SUPPORTING LOCAL 

BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE.  

Intervention  

A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.   

E19: Increasing investment in research and development at the local level. Investment to support the 

diffusion of innovation knowledge and activities. Support the commercialisation of ideas, encouraging 

collaboration and accelerating the path to market so that more ideas translate into industrial and 

commercial practices.  

E22: Investing in enterprise infrastructure and employment/innovation site development projects. This 

can help to unlock site development projects which will support growth in places  

E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems and supporting businesses at all stages of their 

development to start, sustain, grow, and innovate, including through local networks.  

E26: Support for growing the local social economy, including community businesses, cooperatives, and 

social enterprises.  

  

  

  

Page 274



WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS 

INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY.  

Outcome  

  

Tick if 

applicable  

Number of economically inactive individuals in receipt of benefits they are entitled to 

following support  

  

Increased active or sustained participants of UKSPF beneficiaries in community groups 

[and/or] increased employability through development of interpersonal skills  

   

Increased proportion of participants with basic skills (English, maths, digital and ESOL)     

Number of people in supported employment [and] number of people engaging with 

mainstream healthcare services  

  

Number of people sustaining engagement with keyworker support and additional 

services  

  

Number of people engaged in job-searching following support     

Number of people in employment, including self-employment, following support     

Number of people sustaining employment for 6 months    

Increased employment, skills and/or UKSPF objectives incorporated into local area 

corporate governance  

  

Number of people in education/training    

Increased number of people with basic skills (English, maths, digital and ESOL)    

Fewer people facing structural barriers into employment and into skills provision     

Increased number of people familiarised with employers’ expectations, including, 

standards of behaviour in the workplace  

  

Fewer people facing structural barriers into employment and into skills provision    

Number of people gaining a qualification or completing a course following support     

Number of people gaining qualifications, licences, and skills     

Number of economically active individuals engaged in mainstream skills education, and 

training.  

  

Number of people engaged in life skills support following interventions    

Number of people with proficiency in pre-employment and interpersonal skills 

(relationship, organisational and anger-management, interviewing, CV and job 

application writing)  

  

Multiply only - Increased number of adults achieving maths qualifications up to, and 

including, Level 2.   

   

Multiply only - Increased number of adults participating in maths qualifications and 

courses up to, and including, Level 2.  

   

None of the above    

  

  

Page 275



SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS 

INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE.  

Intervention  

A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.   

  

E33 – Employment support for economically inactive people  

E34 – Courses including basic, life and career skills  

E37 – tailored support for the employed to access courses  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

Annex B: GM UKSPF Intervention and Allocation Overview 

Page 276



 

 

 

 

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

 

 

 

GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 

Date:     27 July 2022 

Subject: Forward Plan of Key Decisions 

Report of: Nicola Ward, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 

 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

 

To provide the Committee with the latest Forward Plan of Key Decisions (Appendix A) to 

ensure that they are informed of the forthcoming decisions to be taken by the GMCA, GM 

Mayor or any delegated officer or committee. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

The Committee is asked to use the Forward Plan to identify any potential areas for further 

scrutiny at future meetings. 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 

 

Nicola Ward, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 

nicola.ward@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

 

Page 279

Agenda Item 10

mailto:nicola.ward@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS:  1 JULY 2022 TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2022 Published on 1 July 2022 

What is a Forward Plan of Key Decisions? 

 

The Forward Plan is a published list of the key decisions 

which are due to be taken by the GMCA, one of its 

committees, the Mayor or delegated to an officer. 

 

These decisions must be published on the Forward Plan 

at least 28 clear days before the decision is to be 

taken, whether in public or private. The Forward Plan is 

updated at least once a month. 

 

This Forward Plan of Key Decisions has been prepared 

in accordance with Combined Authorities (Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit 

Committees) Order 2017 (‘the Order’). 

 

The Forward Plan is published on the GMCA’s website 

www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk and hard copies are 

available at the offices of: 

 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority  

& Greater Manchester Mayor  

Churchgate House 

Oxford Street  

Manchester M1 6EU 

What is a Key Decision? 

 

A key decision defined by ‘the Order’ is a decision 

which, in the view of the Greater Manchester 

Combined Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, would result in any of the decision 

makers listed: 

 

(i) incurring expenditure over £500,000, or 

making significant savings of £500,000 or 

more relating to the budget for the service 

area to which the decision relates; or 

(ii) be significant in terms of its effects on 

persons living or working in an area of more 

two or more wards or electoral divisions of 

Greater Manchester. 

 

The role of the GMCA Scrutiny Committee is to 

contribute to the development of GMCA’s strategies 

and policies, to scrutinise decisions of the decision-

makers listed above and to consider any matter 

affecting those who live, work, study or run 

businesses in Greater Manchester. 

How to find out more on these 

proposed decisions 

 

The report (other than those which 

contain confidential or exempt 

information) relating to these decisions 

will published on the GMCA’s website five 

working days before the decision is to be 

made see www.greatermanchester- 

ca.gov.uk. 

 

For general information about the 

decision- making process please contact: 

 

 

  GMCA Assistant Director Governance,  

  Scrutiny & Business Support 

Julie Connor  

julie.connor@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk 

P
age 281

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
mailto:julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


2 

 

Decision title Decision 

Maker 

Planned 

Decision 

Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to 

be considered 

Officer Contact 

GM Devolved 

Adult Education 

Budget: Free 

Courses for Jobs 

Level 3 Offer 

funding distribution 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

29 Jul 2022 

 

To consider, note and 

approve the proposed 

plan to distribute 

devolved ‘Free Courses 

for Jobs Level 3 Offer 

(ringfenced)’ funding. 

Report and 

recommendation 

 

Sharon.kelly@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk  

 

Award of Security 

Services contract 

 

Treasurer 

GMCA 

 

13 Jul 2022 

 

To decide the supplier 

for the new Security 

Services contract 

starting 01/10/2022 for 2 

years with the option to 

extend 3 x 12 months 

(max 5 years) 

BMG Report, 

Tender Award 

Report 

 

Carys.hopcyn@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk  

 

Levelling Up Fund 

Round 2 Large 

Transport Bid 

Approval and 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

Between  24 

Jun 2022 and 

30 Jun 2023 

 

To approve the 

submission of Large 

Transport Bid on behalf 

of the GMCA to Round 2 

GMCA Report 

27/06/2022 - 

Levelling Up 

Fund: Large 

Simon.warburton@tfgm.com  

 

P
age 282

mailto:Sharon.kelly@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.kelly@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Carys.hopcyn@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Carys.hopcyn@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Simon.warburton@tfgm.com


 

3 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Submission 

 

 of the Levelling Up 

Fund. 

Transport Bid. 

LUF Bid 

Docuement 

 

Invitation to tender 

- For the delivery 

of works to 

remediate the 

drainage at GMCA 

Bredbury Landfill - 

issue decision and 

award letters 

 

Treasurer 

GMCA 

 

27 Jul 2022 

 

Budget allocated £1.1m  Pre-procurement 

checklist 

completed by 

lead project 

stakeholders 

Michael Kelly & 

Iain Jones 

(Waste & 

Resources team) 

 

 

Carys.hopcyn@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk  
 

Greater 

Manchester 

Resource and 

Waste Strategy - 

Outline Proposals 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  2 

Jan 2023 and 

31 Mar 2023 

 

To agree outline 

proposals and to 

commence public 

consultation  

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

David Taylor 

david.taylor@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk 

 

P
age 283

mailto:Carys.hopcyn@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Carys.hopcyn@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

4 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

CRSTS Zero 

Emission Bus 

(ZEB) Programme 

- "First 50" 

Procurement Plan 

 

Chief 

Executive 

Officer 

GMCA & 

TfGM 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

30 Dec 2022 

 

29 Jul 2022 

 

To approve the fleet 

procurement plan for the 

CRSTS “First 50’ Zero 

Emission Buses and the 

budget (and associated 

drawdown) to enable the 

fleet to be procured. 

Report with 

recommendation

s 

 

Daniel.fisher@tfgm.com  

 

Zero Emission Bus 

Regional Areas 

(ZEBRA) Stockport 

Project - Budget 

Confirmation and 

Deployment Plan 

Update 

 

Chief 

Executive 

Officer 

GMCA & 

TfGM 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

30 Dec 2022 

 

29 Jul 2022 

 

To approve the 

deployment plan for the 

ZEBRA bus fleet and 

Stockport depot 

relocation projects. To 

approve the budgets 

(and associated 

drawdown) to enable the 

project to proceed.   

Report with 

recommendation

s 

 

 

Daniel.fisher@tfgm.com  

P
age 284

mailto:Daniel.fisher@tfgm.com
mailto:Daniel.fisher@tfgm.com


 

5 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Authority 

 

City Region 

Sustainable 

Transport 

Settlement 

(CRSTS) 

governance and 

assurance 

 

Chief 

Executive 

Officer 

GMCA & 

TfGM 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

26 May 2023 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

26 May 2023 

 

To approve allocations 

and Governance and 

Assurance 

arrangements for the 

CRSTS Programme and 

then the relevant 

drawdown of funding for 

specific schemes as and 

when required.   

Report and 

recommendation

s 

 

Simon.warburton@tfgm.com  

 

Bus Services 

Improvement Plan 

(BSIP) 

 

Chief 

Executive 

Officer 

GMCA & 

TfGM 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

28 Apr 2023 

 

To confirm the award of 

the Bus Services 

Improvement Plan fund 

from Government, to 

allocate funds from the 

award to implement bus 

fare reductions and to 

Report with 

recommendation

s 

 

 

Steve.warrener@tfgm.com  

P
age 285

mailto:Simon.warburton@tfgm.com
mailto:Steve.warrener@tfgm.com


 

6 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

approve further 

allocations of funding for 

specific schemes set out 

in Greater Manchester’s 

Bus Service 

Improvement Plan.   

Greater 

Manchester: Low 

carbon Skills Fund 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

30 Sep 2022 

 

Subject to a successful 

bid to the Low carbon 

Skills Fund, delegate 

authority to GMCA 

Treasurer and Solicitor, 

in consultation with the 

Lead Portfolio Holder to: 

 

a) Sign a Grant 

Funding agreement with 

BEIS to receive grant 

funding for a GM Low 

carbon Skills Fund 

feasibility Programme; 

Paper on the 

proposed 

Greater 

Manchester Low 

carbon Skills 

Fund Feasibility 

Programme 

 

Sean.owen@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk  

 

P
age 286

mailto:Sean.owen@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Sean.owen@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

7 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

and  

b) expend the 

awarded grant funds by 

defrayed agreements via 

the funding partners i.e., 

cr13 public body 

partners including Local 

Authorities 

 

Any expenditure and/or 

claims, will be subject to 

confirmation of delivery 

and quality assurance 

checks. 

Greater 

Manchester: Social 

Housing 

Decarbonisation 

Fund 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

30 Sep 2022 

 

Subject to a successful 

bid to the Social 

Housing 

Decarbonisation Fund 

Wave 2, delegate 

authority to GMCA 

Paper on the 

proposed 

Greater 

Manchester 

Social Housing 

Decarbonisation 

 

Sean.owen@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk  
 

P
age 287

mailto:Sean.owen@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Sean.owen@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

8 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Treasurer and Solicitor, 

in consultation with the 

Lead Portfolio Holder to: 

a) Sign a Grant 

Funding 

agreement with 

BEIS to receive 

grant funding for 

a GM Social 

Housing 

Decarbonisation 

Fund Wave 2 

Retrofit 

Programme; and  

b) expend the 

awarded grant 

funds by defrayed 

agreements via 

the funding 

partners i.e., cr 

Fund Wave 2 

Retrofit 

Programme 

 

P
age 288



 

9 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

17Registered 

Providers and or 

Local Authorities 

 

Any expenditure and/or 

claims, will be subject to 

confirmation of delivery 

and quality assurance 

checks.  

Greater 

Manchester: Public 

Sector 

Decarbonisation 

Scheme Phase 3b 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

30 Sep 2022 

 

Subject to a successful 

bid to the Public Sector 

Decarbonisation 

Scheme Phase 3b, 

delegate authority to 

GMCA Treasurer and 

Solicitor, in consultation 

with the Lead Portfolio 

Holder to: 

a) Sign a Grant Funding 

agreement with BEIS 

Paper on the 

proposed 

Greater 

Manchester 

Public Sector 

Decarbonisation 

Scheme Phase 

3b 

 

 

Sean.owen@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk  
 

P
age 289

mailto:Sean.owen@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Sean.owen@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

10 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

to receive grant 

funding for a GM 

Public Sector 

Decarbonisation 

Scheme Phase 3b 

feasibility 

Programme; and  

b) Expend the awarded 

grant funds by 

defrayed agreements 

via the funding 

partners i.e. public 

funding partners 

including Local 

Authorities 

 

 

Any expenditure and/or 

claims, will be subject to 

confirmation of delivery 

P
age 290



 

11 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

and quality assurance 

checks.  

Award of the 

Brownfield 

Housing Fund 

Additional £27m 

Allocation Tranche 

to District 

Schemes 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jun 2022 and 

31 Jul 2022 

 

Award of the Brownfield 

Housing Fund Additional 

£27m Allocation 

Tranche to District 

Schemes 

Report with 

recommendation

s 

 

Neil Waddington 

neil.waddington@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk 

 

Supported 

Apprenticeship 

Programme 

Rollout 

 

GM Mayor 

 

Between  2 

May 2022 and 

31 Aug 2022 

 

 

To agree to support 3 

GM Local Authorities 

with small grants of £25k 

to develop a supported 

apprenticeship 

programme targeting 

people with SEND or an 

EHCP. This funding has 

been set aside through 

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

 

Nic.hutchins@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk  

P
age 291

mailto:Nic.hutchins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Nic.hutchins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

12 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

underspends on 

previous budgets. 

 

This builds on the 

successful Removing 

Barriers to 

Apprenticeships project 

delivered by Salford 

Council. 

All LA’s will be invited to 

submit an EOI to take 

part in the project, with 

the 3 most closely 

meeting the criteria 

being chosen. Additional 

funding is being sought 

for the remaining LA’s to 

take part as phase 2 of 

the project. 

Greater Greater 29 Jul 2022 To agree GMCA Report with Alison Gordon 

P
age 292



 

13 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Manchester UK 

Shared Prosperity 

Fund - Investment 

Plan 

 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

 Investment Plans for the 

UK Shared Prosperity 

Fund, ahead of 

submission to 

Government 

recommendation

s 

 

alison.gordon@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk 

 

Salford Bolton 

Network 

Improvements 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

31 Dec 2022 

 

Funding Approval  Reports with 

recommendation

s 

 

Steve Warrener 

steve.warrener@tfgm.com 

 

Appointment of 

biowaste treatment 

contractors 2022-

2026 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

28 Dec 2022 

 

To appoint biowaste 

treatment contractors to 

manage 15 ‘tonnage 

packages’ (lots) of 

biowaste collected from 

households across 

Greater Manchester 

from 2022 to 2026 

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

 

Paul.morgan@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk  

Revenue and Greater Between  1 Approve revisions to Report with Rachel.rosewell@greatermanchester-

P
age 293

mailto:Paul.morgan@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.morgan@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Rachel.rosewell@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

14 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

capital budget 

updates 

 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Jul 2022 and 

28 Dec 2022 

 

revenue budget and 

capital programme  

Recommendatio

ns 

 

ca.gov.uk  

 

Local Growth Deal 

( 1, 2 and 3) six 

monthly progress 

update 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

31 Dec 2022 

 

To grant Full or 

Conditional Approval 

and/or release funding / 

approve expenditure 

and  allocate/reallocate 

funding across the 

programme for schemes 

within the Growth Deal 

1,2,3 and/or the 

Transforming Cities 

Fund. 

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

Steve Warrener 

steve.warrener@tfgm.com 

 

Transforming 

Cities Fund 2 - 

Challenge Fund 

Approval and 

Funding 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

31 Dec 2022 

 

To grant Programme 

Entry, Full or Conditional 

Approval and/or release 

funding for cycling and 

walking schemes within 

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

Steve Warrener 

steve.warrener@tfgm.com 

 

P
age 294

mailto:Rachel.rosewell@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

15 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

 the Transforming Cities 

Fund – Challenge Fund. 

Greater 

Manchester 

Housing Funds 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

31 Dec 2022 

 

To conditionally approve 

housing investments to 

proceed to due diligence 

and/or note commercial 

changes to existing 

investments 

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

Michael Walmsley 

Michael.Walmsley@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk 

 

Agreement to 

using further 

Greater 

Manchester 

Housing 

Investment Loan 

Fund surpluses 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

31 Mar 2023 

 

To agree the further use 

of Greater Manchester 

Housing Investment 

Loan Fund (GMHILF) 

surpluses to support the 

delivery of the GM 

Housing Strategy   

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

Michael Walmsley 

Michael.Walmsley@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk 

 

Land Acquisition 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Between  24 

Jun 2022 and 

29 Jul 2022 

Approval to acquire a 

site and the cost of 

acquisition be included 

report with 

recommendation

s 

Steve Warrener 

steve.warrener@tfgm.com 

 

P
age 295



 

16 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Authority 

 

 into the Capital 

Programme 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Property Funds 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

28 Dec 2022 

 

To conditionally approve 

property investments to 

proceed to due diligence 

and/or note commercial 

changes to existing 

investments. 

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

Michael Walmsley 

Michael.Walmsley@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Business Funds 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

28 Dec 2022 

 

To conditionally approve 

business investments to 

proceed to due diligence 

and/or note commercial 

changes to existing 

investments, including 

where relevant 

negotiated settlements. 

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

Kirsteen Armitage 

kirsteen.armitage@greatermanchestre-

ca.gov.uk 

 

Large Scale Foam 

Making Equipment 

(Firefighting) 

Treasurer 

GMCA 

 

Between  1 

Jul 2022 and 

28 Dec 2022 

Approval to award 

successful bidders a 

place on a Framework 

Contract Award 

Report 

 

Leon Parkes 

parkesl@manchesterfire.gov.uk 

 

P
age 296



 

17 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

  for use by North West 

FRS’s which will also be 

available for National 

FRS’s to utilise. 

Forthcoming 

Changes to the 

Bus Network in 

Greater 

Manchester 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jan 2022 and 

31 Dec 2022 

 

To approve forthcoming 

changes to subsidised 

bus services.  

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

Stephen Rhodes 

stephen.rhodes@tfgm.com 

 

Mayors Cycling & 

Walking Challenge 

Fund 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

Between  1 

Jan 2022 and 

31 Dec 2022 

 

Approval to release 

funding to progress the 

development and 

delivery of cycling and 

walking schemes and 

programmes. 

Report with 

Recommendatio

ns 

 

Steve Warrener 

steve.warrener@tfgm.com 

 

ESF Skills for 

Growth 

Commissioning 

Chief 

Executive 

Officer 

Between  1 

Apr 2021 and 

31 Oct 2023 

To proceed with the 

procurement and 

contracting of providers 

Report with 

recommendation

s 

 

Gemma.marsh@greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk  

P
age 297

mailto:Gemma.marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

18 

Subject / Decision Decision 
Maker 

Planned 
Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

 GMCA & 

TfGM 

 

Greater 

Manchester 

Combined 

Authority 

 

 

29 Jul 2022 

 

and activity relating to 

the GM Skills for Growth 

programme. 

 

 

P
age 298


	Agenda
	4 MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT AND ANNUAL DECLARATION OF INTEREST FORM
	Members Code of Conduct Appendix A
	Members Code of Conduct Appendix B - Register of Interest Form

	5 TERMS OF REFERENCE
	7 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	8 GREATER MANCHESTER STRATEGY - PROGRESS REPORT
	8.a GMS Progress Report July 2022 GMCA_

	9 UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND
	UKSPF Investment Plan 29 July 2022_GMCA

	10 FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS
	Forward Plan of Key Decisions 1st July 2022 - 30th September 2022 Greater Manchester


